
CITY OF THE DALLES PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA 

CITY OF THE DALLES 

"By working together, we will provide services that enhance the vitality of The Dalles." 

Page 1 of 342 

AGENDA 

PLANNING COMMISSION 

August 15, 2024 

5:30 p.m. 

City Hall Council Chambers 

313 Court Street, The Dalles, Oregon 

Via Zoom 

https://us06web.zoom.us/j/82327794645?pwd=c1d2UGhUb1BoVithR0tFUzczcWtXQT09 

Meeting ID: 823 2779 4645      Passcode: 001537 

Dial:  1-669-900-6833 or 1-253-215-8782 

Upon request, the City will make a good faith effort to provide an interpreter for the deaf 

or hard of hearing at regular meetings if given 48 hours’ notice.  To make a request, 

please contact the City Clerk and provide your full name, sign language preference, and 

any other relevant information.   

Contact the City Clerk at (541) 296-5481 ext. 1119, or amell@ci.the-dalles.or.us. 

1. CALL TO ORDER

2. ROLL CALL

3. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

4. APPROVAL OF AGENDA

5. APPROVAL OF MINUTES – June 6, 2024

6. PUBLIC COMMENT – During this portion of the meeting, anyone may speak on any

subject that does not later appear on the agenda.  Five minutes per person will be allowed.

7. QUASI-JUDICIAL PUBLIC HEARING

APL 037-24 of SPR 544-24, Bob Wickwire

Request:  Appeal of the administrative approval of Site Plan Review (SPR) 544-24 on

July 12, 2024, for the approval to construct 116 for-rent apartments, over =/-9,500 sq. ft.

of retail space, resident amenities and building services in a  =/-96,000 gross sq. ft., five-

story, mixed-use building.

8. RESOLUTION

A. Resolution PC 623A-24:  Denial of APL 037-24, Bob Wickwire

B. Resolution PC 623B-24:  Approval of APL 037-24, Bob Wickwire

https://us06web.zoom.us/j/82327794645?pwd=c1d2UGhUb1BoVithR0tFUzczcWtXQT09
mailto:amell@ci.the-dalles.or.us


CITY OF THE DALLES PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA 

CITY OF THE DALLES 

"By working together, we will provide services that enhance the vitality of The Dalles." 

Page 2 of 342 

9. STAFF COMMENTS / PROJECT UPDATES

10. COMMISSIONER COMMENTS / QUESTIONS

11. ADJOURNMENT

______________________________________________________________________________ 

Meeting conducted in a room in compliance with ADA standards. 

Prepared by/ 

Paula Webb, Secretary 

Community Development Department 



MINUTES  
Planning Commission Meeting 
June 6, 2024 
Page 1 of 22 

PLANNING COMMISSION 

MINUTES 

PLANNING COMMISSION 
June 6, 2024 

5:30 p.m. 

City Hall Council Chambers 
313 Court Street, The Dalles, Oregon  97058 

Via Zoom / Livestream via City Website 

PRESIDING: Cody Cornett, Chair 

COMMISSIONERS PRESENT: Addie Case, John Grant, Mark Poppoff and Nik Portela 

COMMISSIONERS ABSENT: Philip Mascher and Maria Peña 

STAFF PRESENT: Director Joshua Chandler, Secretary Paula Webb 

CALL TO ORDER 
The meeting was called to order by Chair Cornett at 5:30 p.m. 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
Chair Cornett led the Pledge of Allegiance. 

APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
It was moved by Grant and seconded by Poppoff to approve the agenda as submitted.  The 
motion carried 5/0; Case, Cornett, Grant, Poppoff and Portela voting in favor, none opposed, 
Mascher and Peña absent. 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
It was moved by Poppoff and seconded by Cornett to approve the minutes of February 1, 2024 as 
submitted.  The motion carried 5/0; Case, Cornett, Poppoff and Portela voting in favor, none 
opposed, Grant abstained, Mascher and Peña absent. 

PUBLIC COMMENT 
None. 

DRAFT

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 3 of 342



MINUTES  
Planning Commission Meeting 
June 6, 2024 
Page 2 of 22 

 
PLANNING COMMISSION 

QUASI-JUDICIAL PUBLIC HEARING 
CUP 212-24, Chris Hodney 
Request:  Approval of a height increase to exceed the maximum allowed height of the underlying 
zoning district for a mixed-use, multi-family development.  The proposed height of the building 
is 60 ft., which exceeds the maximum building height within the Central Business Commercial 
(CBC) zoning district of 55 ft.  The applicant is also requesting an extension of the one (1) year 
expiration of the Conditional Use Permit (CUP) to three (3) years.  The Applicant is proceeding 
with a Site Plan Review (SPR) to site and construct the development concurrently with this CUP 
application; however, the SPR approval is conditional on the approval of this CUP. 
Chair Cornett read the rules of a Public Hearing.  He then asked if any Commissioner had ex 
parte contact, bias or a conflict of interest, which may preclude an impartial decision.  Hearing 
none, he opened the public hearing at 5:37 p.m. 
Director Chandler presented the staff report and presentation, Attachment 1. 
Commissioner Grant asked if it was normal to have a vote brought to the Commission prior to a 
Site Plan Review. 
Director Chandler replied it is contemplated in the Code [The Dalles Municipal Code (TDMC or 
Code)], which provides a two-step process.  The first step is the conceptual review process.  The 
second step is review of the site and construction of the site for the Site Plan Review. 
Chris Hodney, Hacker Architects, 555 SE MLK Jr Blvd., Portland, Oregon 97214 
Mr. Hodney stated he is representing the developer and property owner.  He shared a 
presentation, Attachment 2. 
Mr. Hodney stated it was important to his client that the design of the building is authentic to the 
time and place it is built. 
Commissioner Poppoff asked for the net ceiling height of the first floor.  Mr. Hodney replied he 
expects 15 to 17 ft. 
Chair Cornett invited comment from proponents.  There was none. 
Chair Cornett then invited comment from opponents. 
Dan Meader, 911 E. 7th Street, The Dalles 
Mr. Meader is a land use planning consultant, and has worked on many projects throughout the 
region.  He is currently working for 13 small cities and three counties.  Mr. Meader noted his 
understanding of the laws. 
Mr. Meader shared his concern, stating there has been a grave error in the way this application 
was processed.  The listed conditional uses in the Central Business Commercial (CBC) District 
include automotive service stations, automatic teller machines, conference and visitor convention 
centers, community facilities and contractor shops, among others.  They are all a specific land 
use. 

DRAFT

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 4 of 342



MINUTES  
Planning Commission Meeting 
June 6, 2024 
Page 3 of 22 

 
PLANNING COMMISSION 

Under Development Standards [TDMC, Section 10.5.050.060] the building height is “55 ft. 
maximum, except 75 ft. maximum with a conditional use permit.”  He asked where that came 
from.  It does not fit with the conditional uses listed; it is not the same type of use.  It is a 
mechanism to skip going through a variance.  A variance is the required process. 
Mr. Meader said there has been a mistake.  He understands it is in the Code, but it is improper.  It 
should be a variance.  He read, “A variance may be granted whenever a strict application of the 
requirement of this Title would impose unusual practical difficulties on one or more property 
owners, or unnecessary hardships on one or more properties.  The authority provided by this 
Article to grant variances does not extend to the use regulations in any zone district or overlay.”  
[TDMC, Section 10.3.070.010] 
A variance is what most cities use to allow people to step outside the ordinance a small amount, 
not a conditional use.  All land use activities regulated by cities and counties are supposed to 
have clear and objective standards in their ordinance.  This just says get a conditional use. 
Mr. Meader urged the Commission not to make a decision tonight.  Listen to the Staff and City 
Attorney.  I believe that they have to understand that this is incorrect.  The variance is the 
process that should be followed. 
Chair Cornett asked if there was something in the Code for the CBC [Central Business 
Commercial] District that says a variance should be used instead of a conditional use permit? 
Mr. Meader replied there is nothing in the CBC Code that says a variance should be used. 
Chair Cornett noted the Code says a conditional use permit should be used.  Why would we use a 
variance instead of a conditional use? 
Mr. Meader replied a conditional use permit is for a type of land use, like a service station.  The 
conditional use does not fit the actual process the applicant is undergoing. 
Chair Cornett said the process is explicitly outlined in the Code. 
Mr. Meader stated he could see that he was not making himself clear.  He wanted to have 
standing, which was all he needed. 
Chair Cornett said he understood “the way it is typically done” is fair to say, but thought that 
“typically” processed would be used in the event nothing else explicitly stated how to process the 
application. 
Mr. Meader said typically people will come in and want to exceed whatever the ordinance 
limitation is and the staff will say, “You need a variance.”  Mr. Meader said he did not know 
where this came from.  The last model of this ordinance he read, instead of saying the 
conditional uses listed below, said these are the only conditional uses that can be granted in this 
zone.  It did not include the height as a conditional use, it was listed separately.  It does not fit. 
Chair Cornett asked for Mr. Meader’s suggestion.  Mr. Meader replied, “They need to go back 
and go through the variance process.” 
Chair Cornett then asked if a variance process was not outlined in the CBC zone…  Mr. Meader 
interjected that it is not outlined in any zone.  It is part of the land use actions available to the 
City and applicants.  In the Code there is a list of tentative or proposed land use actions; the 

DRAFT

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 5 of 342



MINUTES  
Planning Commission Meeting 
June 6, 2024 
Page 4 of 22 

 
PLANNING COMMISSION 

variance is one of them.  It is not listed in residential or commercial zones.  It is just there in the 
TDMC. 
Chair Cornett stated this is new information, and not part of the agenda packet.  The Commission 
does not research things for a specific meeting, things that are beyond the agenda packet. 
Mr. Meader said he understood this was new information and was not urging the Commission to 
deny this tonight.  He asked the Commission to continue and have Staff research the issue.  He 
thought an error had been made. 
Chair Cornett asked Mr. Meader why he thought this was important.  Mr. Meader replied he is 
adamantly opposed to this project. 
Chair Cornett said, to be clear, you are suggesting the applicant pursue a variance, even if the 
City allows a conditional use permit, to reach quite possibly the same result.  Mr. Meader 
replied, quite possibly, but perhaps not. 
Director Chandler said he would argue that this is not new information.  Director Chandler 
joined the City in 2018; this is how the Code has read.  If an earlier Planner added this into the 
Code to create this flexibility in the event a development like this were to come along, maybe 
that was contemplated prior to 2018.  Director Chandler added he definitely wanted to be clear, 
that it was not added for this project. 
City Attorney Kara offered some insight with the conditional use permit issue.  Attorney Kara 
said he understood Mr. Meader’s position.  Mr. Meader is trying to draw a conclusion that 
because the Code standard in 10.5.050.060, which lists the development standards in the CBC 
zone, indicates a 75 ft. maximum is allowed with a conditional use permit, that the Commission 
has the choice allow up to a 75 ft. maximum for conditional uses.  That is not what the Code 
says.  The Code says it allows up to a 75 ft. maximum with a conditional use permit combined 
with the language indicated that stems from the conceptual, two-step process which contemplates 
the use of a conditional use permit.  The Code is clear that it allows the Planning Commission to 
authorize up to 75 ft. structures as a development standard applicable to developments located 
within the CBC-2 zone and any other part of the CBC zone.  The bottom line, as far as the City is 
concerned with respect to its own Code, is that this has been a long-standing Code.  It very 
clearly contemplates the use subject to the conditional use process review and approval, which is 
a public process. 
Mr. Meader respectfully disagreed with Attorney Kara.  Mr. Meader did not expect the 
Commission to make a decision tonight.  Mr. Meader wanted to establish that he has standing. 
Deliberations 
Commissioner Poppoff said if the applicant went with the 15 ft. height, the result would be 
similar to the height of the Council Chamber.  He did not see any overreaching need for a 20 ft. 
height on the first floor. 
Commissioner Grant replied it opens up the commercial area for other markets to take place. 
Commissioner Poppoff replied the only building of that height downtown is the Commodore, 
several blocks away.  Even at 55 ft., this would dominate the entire neighborhood. 

DRAFT

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 6 of 342



MINUTES  
Planning Commission Meeting 
June 6, 2024 
Page 5 of 22 

 
PLANNING COMMISSION 

Commissioner Portela felt the structure would need extra height when thinking about the large 
tanks used by breweries.  He said brewery equipment is quite large, and understood the request 
for more space rather.  He did not feel an additional 5 ft. would make a huge difference. 
Commissioner Grant asked if height was discussed with previous uses.  Chair Cornett replied, 
yes.  Commissioner Grant said breweries require a lot of space; a brewery would not be possible 
without the extra space. 
Commissioner Grant asked if, when we go from 55 ft. to 75 ft. in the conditional use, we are 
going off the criteria met in the staff report.  Director Chandler replied, yes.  The Code allows an 
increase in height of up to 75 ft. 
Chair Cornett stated this application is the same as the application approved two years ago.  The 
only difference is the request for additional time for the applicant to work on their project.  The 
Commission follows the Code. 
It was moved by Grant and seconded by Poppoff to vote on the increased height separately from 
the request for additional time. 
Chair Cornett did not think vote could be separated; both items are part of the same application.  
Director Chandler said technically, a condition could be amended in the event the Commission 
wants something different.  That action would need to be shown in an amended condition.  At 
the end of the day, the decision would be whether to approve this application. 
Chair Cornett asked which condition Commissioner Grant would like to change.  Commissioner 
Grant replied he would like to vote and deliberate on them separately.  He was unsure if he had 
enough information to vote on that subject.  He said we have no previous example on expanding 
the period.  We have one year, with an extension of one year; then it can return to the 
Commission.  He understood the request for the flexibility with a three-year period, however, 
many things could happen in three years.  He was unsure how he felt about the extension. 
Chair Cornett invited Commissioner Grant to share his apprehension for discussion. 
Commissioner Grant noted we have a motion and second on the floor to vote on them separately; 
we would have to have deliberation and then vote on each part.  Correct? 
City Attorney Kara asked Secretary Webb if there was a motion and second.  She replied yes, but 
there was no vote.  Attorney Kara then asked for the motion.  She replied the motion was to vote 
separately on the height increase and extension of time.  Attorney Kara said the Commission 
could vote on the motion. 
Chair Cornett called the vote.  The motion failed 3/2; Cornett, Case and Portela opposed, 
Poppoff and Grant in favor, Mascher and Peña absent. 
City Attorney Kara added the appropriate way to do what Commissioner Grant intended is to 
have a discussion connected with the three-year portion of the condition.  If Commissioner Grant 
is otherwise in support of the resolution, the proper way is to adopt Resolution PC 622-24 as 
amended, and then to amend that condition.  If the Commission supports the approval of the 
height variance, it would simply be to amend that condition regarding the extension of time. 

DRAFT

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 7 of 342



MINUTES  
Planning Commission Meeting 
June 6, 2024 
Page 6 of 22 

 
PLANNING COMMISSION 

Chair Cornett asked what Commissioner Grant proposed as opposed to three years.  
Commissioner Grant replied he did not have anything that gave him the inclination to exceed 
what is already in the Code.  
Chair Cornett said the staff report noted the applicant is 14 months from beginning construction.  
That means that two months prior to construction they will be before the Commission again.  
Commissioner Grant replied if the time period is in the Code, the applicant would need a 
compelling argument for the extension.  The verbiage says we have one year, and extends one 
year.  He then asked Director Chandler if that was correct. 
Director Chandler replied once construction begins, it extends for one additional year.  Chair 
Cornett stated in the application, the applicant already said it would go for more than one year.  It 
is basically a nonstarter for the applicant if we are not going to give the extension. 
Commissioner Grant said, as far as setting precedence, are we just going to extend the time?  
Chair Cornett did not think so.  He thought it was a fair point, but said this is not a regular 
project, but one of the largest projects the downtown has ever seen.  We use our best judgement 
to decide. 
Commissioner Portela asked if the Commission did extend for three years and approve it for one 
year, we would literally be voting again in a year on the height variance alone, correct?  Chair 
Cornett replied, yes. 
Director Chandler asked the Commission to imagine the amount of uncertainty placed on an 
applicant.  An applicant would be 12 months into the design, then return to the Planning 
Commission again for a decision.  Twelve months of hiring architects and engineers – it is 
difficult to imagine how much that would cost.  It is 14 months before the applicant reaches the 
point to break ground. 
Chair Cornett stated it is normal for a conditional use permit to be greater than a year in some 
other city.  Commissioner Grant replied we are not in another city.  He understood the time, but 
said unless the Code is changed before future projects come along, that argument will be brought 
to the Commission. 
Director Chandler said in the Code, the following statement allows the Commission to make this 
decision:  “In the case of unavoidable delay or an extensive construction schedule, the 
Commission may extend the time limit for the completion of the project.”  There is flexibility for 
the Commission to make a decision, potentially on a case-by-case basis.  There is no set metric 
of time to extend that period, but from the information provided, one could argue that this 
application has an extensive construction schedule. 
It was moved by Cornett and seconded by Portela to adopt Resolution PC 622-24, approving 
Conditional Use Permit 212-24, with the proposed conditions of approval based on the findings 
of fact and conclusions of law set forth in the agenda staff report.  The motion passed 3/2; 
Cornett, Case and Portela in favor, Poppoff opposed, Grant abstained, Mascher and Peña absent. 
The public hearing closed at 6:48 p.m. 

DRAFT

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 8 of 342



MINUTES  
Planning Commission Meeting 
June 6, 2024 
Page 7 of 22 

 
PLANNING COMMISSION 

RESOLUTION 
Resolution PC 622-24:  Approval of CUP 212-24, Chris Hodney, Hacker Architects 
It was moved by Cornett and seconded by Poppoff to adopt Resolution PC 622-24 approving 
Conditional Use Permit 212-24 with the proposed conditions of approval based on the findings 
of fact and conclusions of law set forth in the agenda staff report.  The motion passed 3/2; 
Cornett, Case and Portela in favor, Poppoff opposed, Grant abstained, Mascher and Peña absent. 
 
STAFF COMMENTS / PROJECT UPDATES 
Director Chandler stated we are in the middle of our Housing Production Strategy (HPS) 
process.  This will continue through the end of the year.  He appreciated everyone’s attendance 
and participation at the May 2, 2024 meeting.  The next step will include interviews with local 
housing producers to receive input on struggles or barriers they deal with in producing housing. 
The next Planning Commission and City Council joint session will be held July 18, 2024.  Staff 
will distribute the information prior to the meeting.  If unable to attend the meeting, feel free to 
forward comments. 
Development is ramping up; Staff is receiving multiple applications.  The pre-application/Site 
Team calendar is full. 
In the next few months, Staff will work on updates to the flood plain ordinance.  We anticipate 
adoption near the end of the year. 
Director Chandler complimented RARE Planner Ann Moorhead.  We have been graced with her 
work over the past few months; she will leave the City in mid-July.  Ms. Moorhead has done 
amazing work.  Director Chandler encouraged the Commission to visit one of her projects, 
“Illuminate the Dalles.”  This features a projector system that recreates and projects images of 
the ghost signs on the Gitchell Building. 
 
COMMISSIONER COMMENTS / QUESTIONS 
Commissioner Grant asked if Planning Commission meetings would ramp-up in the future.  
Director Chandler replied, yes.  The department is short-staffed, and taking on some larger 
projects, such as Code revisions.  The multiple applications received take priority over Code 
revisions.  Director Chandler hopes to move on with meetings in the next few months.  Meetings 
in July and October for Housing Production Strategy are already scheduled.  The schedule is 
planned on an as-needed basis depending on the necessity of a quasi-judicial hearing. 
Commissioner Grant said the meetings are necessary to keep the Commission informed; the last 
meeting minutes were from February.  Director Chandler replied we lost our Senior Planner in 
March; she was handling most of the long-range planning.  After that, Staff needed to move into 
current planning.  He appreciates the Commission’s patience. 
Chair Cornett stated he is unable to attend the July 18 meeting. 
 

DRAFT

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 9 of 342



MINUTES  
Planning Commission Meeting 
June 6, 2024 
Page 8 of 22 

PLANNING COMMISSION 

ADJOURNMENT 
Chair Cornett adjourned the meeting at 6:54 p.m. 
___________________________________________________________________________ 
Submitted by/ 
Paula Webb, Secretary 
Community Development Department 

SIGNED: ____________________________________ 
Cody Cornett, Chair 

ATTEST: ____________________________________ 
Paula Webb, Secretary 
Community Development Department 

DRAFT

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 10 of 342



MINUTES  
Planning Commission Meeting 
June 6, 2024 
Page 9 of 22 Attachment 1 

PLANNING COMMISSION 

DRAFT

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 11 of 342



MINUTES  
Planning Commission Meeting 
June 6, 2024 
Page 10 of 22 Attachment 1 

 
PLANNING COMMISSION 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
  

DRAFT

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 12 of 342



MINUTES  
Planning Commission Meeting 
June 6, 2024 
Page 11 of 22 Attachment 1 

 
PLANNING COMMISSION 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
  

DRAFT

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 13 of 342



MINUTES  
Planning Commission Meeting 
June 6, 2024 
Page 12 of 22 Attachment 1 

 
PLANNING COMMISSION 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
  

DRAFT

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 14 of 342



MINUTES  
Planning Commission Meeting 
June 6, 2024 
Page 13 of 22 Attachment 1 

PLANNING COMMISSION 

DRAFT

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 15 of 342



MINUTES  
Planning Commission Meeting 
June 6, 2024 
Page 14 of 22 Attachment 1 

PLANNING COMMISSION 

DRAFT

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 16 of 342



MINUTES  
Planning Commission Meeting 
June 6, 2024 
Page 15 of 22 Attachment 1 

 
PLANNING COMMISSION 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
  

DRAFT

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 17 of 342



MINUTES  
Planning Commission Meeting 
June 6, 2024 
Page 16 of 22 Attachment 1 

 
PLANNING COMMISSION 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
  

DRAFT

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 18 of 342



MINUTES  
Planning Commission Meeting 
June 6, 2024 
Page 17 of 22 Attachment 1 

 
PLANNING COMMISSION 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 

DRAFT

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 19 of 342



MINUTES  
Planning Commission Meeting 
June 6, 2024 
Page 18 of 22 Attachment 2 

 
PLANNING COMMISSION 

 

 DRAFT

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 20 of 342



MINUTES  
Planning Commission Meeting 
June 6, 2024 
Page 19 of 22 Attachment 2 

PLANNING COMMISSION 

DRAFT

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 21 of 342



MINUTES  
Planning Commission Meeting 
June 6, 2024 
Page 20 of 22 Attachment 2 

PLANNING COMMISSION 

DRAFT

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 22 of 342



MINUTES  
Planning Commission Meeting 
June 6, 2024 
Page 21 of 22 Attachment 2 

 
PLANNING COMMISSION 

 

 DRAFT

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 23 of 342



MINUTES  
Planning Commission Meeting 
June 6, 2024 
Page 22 of 22 Attachment 2 

 
PLANNING COMMISSION 

 

 
DRAFT

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 24 of 342



Staff Report, APL 37-24, Bob Wickwire 
Page 1 of 32 

 

 

 

 

STAFF REPORT 
 Appeal No. 37-24 

of 
Site Plan Review No. 544-24 – Chris Hodney, Hacker Architects 

Basalt Commons 
 

Procedure Type: Administrative 

Assessor’s Map: Township 1 North, 13 East, Section 3 BD 

Tax Lots: 6700, 6800, 6900 

Address: 523 E. 3rd Street 

Zoning District: “CBC” Central Business Commercial 

Sub-district: CBC-2 

Prepared by: Joshua Chandler, Community Development Director 

Date Prepared: August 8, 2024 
 

Appeal 
On July 12, 2024, the Community Development Director (Director) approved Site Plan Review 
(SPR) No. 544-24 (Application) submitted by Chris Hodney (Applicant). The Application 
proposed approval to construct 116 for-rent apartments, over +/-9,500 sf of retail space, resident 
amenities and building services in a +/- 96,000 gross sf, five-story, mixed-use building.  
On July 22, 2024, Bob Wickwire (Appellant) submitted and Community Development 
Department (CDD) received Notice of Appeal No. 37-24, an appeal of the Director’s decision to 
approve SPR 544-24, (APL 37-24).  

Appeal Issues 
APL 37-24 describes six (6) reasons the Planning Commission should grant the appeal request 
and reverse the Director’s previous decision: 
 

1. Parking.  
a. Parking issues are still unresolved. 

CITY of THE DALLES 
313 COURT STREET 

THE DALLES, OREGON 97058 
  

(541) 296-5481 ext. 1125 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT 

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 25 of 342



Staff Report, APL 37-24, Bob Wickwire 
Page 2 of 32 

b. The parking study is not realistic. No one will park three blocks away to purchase 
or shop for furniture especially the elderly who are a big portion of our customer 
base.  

c. The City has rules for parking and no way to enforce. 
d. On-site parking – 38 spaces for 116 apartments. On-site parking is inadequate for 

a project of this size. 
e. Even with the City providing a public parking lot for this project’s tenants, there 

is still inadequate parking for this development; thereby affecting surrounding 
businesses because parking spaces will used by those tenants.  

f. The waiver for parking should not be granted and the design of the project should 
incorporate adequate parking the tenants on-site; 

2. Height of Building. Building exceeds the 55’;  
3. Airborne dust nuisance. How are they going to mitigate this? If I have to incur costs to 

maintain a clean environment for my customers and employees due to dust and 
contaminations, what will be the procedure for reimbursement be?; 

4. On-site parking is accessible from the alley. Alley needs to be repaved and that should be 
required to be done and paid for by the property owner; 

5. Why is just 3rd and Laughlin streets designated no parking from 9 am to 6 pm for 
tenants? It should be E. 3rd, Laughlin, E. 2nd, and Jefferson streets; and  

6. How is the City going to sweep the other streets when they only restrict parking on 3rd 
Street on Fridays between 12 pm and 7 am?  

a. If this project is completed, how is the City going to sweep the streets and address 
snow removal? 
 

Scope of Review 
A copy of Appellant’s Notice of Appeal is attached to and made part of this staff report. Pursuant 
to The Dalles Municipal Code (TDMC) 10.3.020.080(A), an appeal is reviewed by the Planning 
Commission at a de novo evidentiary hearing. Consistent with ORS 227.175(10)(a)(E), tonight’s 
hearing allows for and the Planning Commission must consider the presentation of all relevant 
testimony, arguments, and evidence it accepts at the hearing. 

Staff response to Appeal Issues 
1. Parking 

Appellant’s first reason for reversing the Director’s decision is on the grounds of parking, with 
multiple concerns on the matter referenced above. Overall, it seems Appellant believes the 
proposed 35 parking spaces are inadequate to serve a development of 116 residential dwelling 
units in the Central Business Commercial (CBC)-2 (CBC-2) zone district, even with the addition 
of a planned City-owned public lot adjacent to the development. Furthermore, Appellant requests 
the off-street parking waiver for properties located within the CBC-2 zone Sub-district not be 
granted for this development. Lastly, Appellant seems to believe the Parking Management Plan 
and Parking Demand Assessment (PMP/PDA) submitted with the development is “unrealistic”, 

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 26 of 342



Staff Report, APL 37-24, Bob Wickwire 
Page 3 of 32 

in that “no one will park three blocks away to purchase or shop”, specifically regarding furniture 
shopping. 
Staff has provided a comprehensive analysis of parking requirements in Findings #68-91 below. 
Specifically, Findings #68 and #69 discuss allowed vehicle parking reductions, waivers, and 
exemptions pursuant to TDMC 10.7.020.040.  
One of these parking waivers applies to all properties located within the CBC-2 zone Sub-district 
and is codified as TDMC 10.7.020.040(D), which states:  

Off-Street Parking Waiver. Minimum off-street parking spaces required by Article 7.060: 
Minimum and Maximum Off-Street Parking Requirements may be waived for the following: 

1. The property is located within the boundaries of a legally adopted parking 
assessment district that provides district-wide parking facilities. 

2. The property is located within Sub-district CBC-2 in the Central Business 
Commercial district, as defined in Section 10.5.050.020: Sub-Districts. 

The subject property is located within the CBC-2 zone Subdistrict, but outside of the “adopted 
parking assessment district” (i.e., the Central Business Zone Boundary, pursuant to TDMC 
6.08.020), further discussed below. Therefore, the subject property is eligible for an off-street 
parking waiver. At the time of Application submission, Applicant proposed to apply this waiver 
to the development, resulting in an overall reduction of proposed parking spaces (35), rather than 
an outright waiver of all parking spaces. Pursuant to TDMC 10.2.020(C), the word “may” is 
permissive, allowing all property owners the option to exercise this provision for the benefit of 
their development. State law requires only “clear and objective” standards be applied to housing 
developments and directs cities to amend their municipal codes to remove permissive (i.e., 
subjective) language connected with housing development standards. However, when subjective 
language exists in a city’s municipal code concerning housing, the right to exercise such 
subjective standards for the development’s benefit is reserved to the applicant, not Appellant or 
even the City itself, consistent with ORS 197A.400(3)(a)—put another way, if a developer opts 
for their application to be reviewed under a city’s subjective standards, a city doing so is not a 
basis to challenge the decision under Oregon law.      
The second parking reduction, referenced in Finding #69 below, allows for modification to the 
number of required parking spaces with the submission of a PMP/PDA prepared by a licensed 
professional engineer, which requires (1) a parking demand analysis for the project, (2) a project 
vicinity off-street parking supply and demand analysis, and (3) a shared parking analysis. 
Applicant submitted a PMP/PDA for review at the time of Application submission. Upon review, 
staff determined the PMP/PDA demonstrated the overall parking occupancy within the study 
area has significant parking availability (both on- and off-street during peak hours) to absorb the 
additional parking demand created from new development.  
One issue raised by Appellant is that the PMP/PDA is “unrealistic”, specifically with respect to 
the distance parkers will walk for purposes of furniture shopping. Staff would agree that the 
purchasing of large bulk items, such as furniture, is not feasible to any reasonable walking 
distance, but rather requires the use of nearby loading zones and/or spaces. Currently, the City 
does allow for 30-minute loading/unloading in all alleyways downtown, which may be of benefit 
to Appellant’s future customers.  

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 27 of 342



Staff Report, APL 37-24, Bob Wickwire 
Page 4 of 32 

Regarding the walking distance for parkers, “three blocks” is not a recognized City standard for 
parking distances; however, it is the standard for acceptable distances to restroom facilities for 
Mobile Food Vendors (i.e., food trucks) within the City (TDMC 8.29.030): 

Outdoor seating may be allowed (a maximum of four tables and six seating spaces per 
table) only when a readily available restroom facility is located within one-quarter mile 
or five-minute walk from the mobile food unit. 

For reference, one-quarter mile is equal to 1,320 feet. Within Downtown The Dalles/CBC zone 
district (and measured from the center point of the street using GIS), three blocks (east to west) is 
roughly 850 feet and three blocks (north to south) is roughly 1,100 feet. Although the one-
quarter mile figure does not pertain to parking requirements, it does provide some comparison to 
existing code provisions within TDMC. Staff discussed the “three block” reference with regional 
parking experts (Rick Williams of Rick Williams Consulting), and they concluded that, overall, 
there are many variables to account for when determining a “realistic” distance for parkers 
within a specified distance; with that said, they recommend employing the general industry 
standard of 750’-800’ for the average transient parker and 1,250’ for district employee parkers. 
With downtown parking catering to all user types (residents, visitors, employees, etc.), the 800’-
1250’ standard is relatively proportionate to the three-block distance used in the PMP/PDA.  
Another concern raised by Appellant is in reference to the new City-owned parking lot adjacent 
to the development site. Appellant appears to be reaching the incorrect conclusion by stating “the 
City is providing a public parking lot for this project’s tenants.” For clarification: the City and 
the Columbia Gateway Urban Renewal Agency entered into an Intergovernmental Development 
Agreement in December 2023 for the redevelopment of a former car dealership into a new 23-
space public parking lot (addressed 600 & 608 East 3rd Street). Although current data shows an 
adequate supply of free on-street parking within Downtown The Dalles/CBC zone district, recent 
approved/constructed and proposed developments downtown are likely to create added off-street 
parking demand. In addition to the proposed development, these developments include Wasco 
County’s administrative relocation into the GOBHI building (401 East 3rd Street), a new grocery 
at 315 Federal Street, and the Tony’s Building site redevelopment (401 East 2nd Street). The 
location of this new parking lot complements public parking lots in the Downtown The 
Dalles/CBC zone district. The City currently owns a developed parking lot across the street from 
Old St. Peter’s Landmark (providing westside public parking), the East 1st Street parking lots 
between Washington and Laughlin Streets (providing north/central public parking), and a 
parking lot adjacent to the roundabout (providing eastside public parking). Practically, the 
roundabout parking lot is not readily accessible for Downtown The Dalles/CBC zone district 
residents, employees, and customers, and is often used as a park-and-ride facility. The new 
parking lot adjacent to Applicant’s proposed development would be more central to the 
Downtown The Dalles/CBC zone district core and should better meet eastside public parking 
needs. Upon completion, the lot will have the same restrictions and availability as all other City 
parking lots, and will not be reserved for any one specific use.   
In addition to the above-mentioned concerns regarding parking, Appellant states the City has 
rules for parking and no one to enforce. At this time, the City’s Code Enforcement Division 
enforces all parking violations on a complaint-driven basis. Those violations may include 
abandoned vehicles (TDMC 5.040.090), storage of motor vehicles on streets (TDMC 6.040.140), 
improperly parked vehicles, recreational vehicles, boats, and trailers (TDMC 6.040.160), and 

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 28 of 342



Staff Report, APL 37-24, Bob Wickwire 
Page 5 of 32 

enforcing parking restrictions within the City’s Central Business Zone Boundary (TDMC 6.08), 
with three citations issued in the last year.  
The information compiled with the PMP/PDA, as well as current data with an ongoing 2024 
Downtown Parking Assessment and supporting Advisory Committee, will further outline tools 
and techniques the City may use to manage parking within the Downtown The Dalles/CBC zone 
district area once possible constraints are identified in the future.    

2. Building Height
Appellant’s second reason for reversing the Director’s decision is their claim the proposed 
building height exceeds the 55-foot building height permitted outright in the CBC zoning district. 
As stated in TDMC 10.5.050.060 Development Standards, within the CBC zoning district, the 
maximum building height is “55 ft., except 75 ft. maximum with a conditional use permit.” 
Applicant proposes a 60-foot building height (excluding all “necessary roof structures” pursuant 
to TDMC 10.6.090.010(A)(3)), less than 75 feet. Applicant submitted a Conditional Use Permit 
for this height increase (CUP 212-24) on May 6, 2024. On July 22, 2024, the City Council 
approved CUP 212-24 to allow the proposed development height of 60 feet. A final City Council 
resolution is scheduled for the September 9, 2024, regular City Council meeting and represents 
the City’s final decision on CUP 212-24.     

3. Airborne Dust Nuisance
Appellant’s third reason for reversing the Director’s decision is their concern regarding how dust 
will be mitigated with this development and questions the reimbursement procedure in the event 
additional maintenance is needed to provide a clean environment for their customers. Similar to 
all development permits, the following condition of approval is required during construction of 
the proposed development:  

4.a. The Applicant shall prevent the formation of any airborne dust nuisance and shall be
responsible for any damage resulting from failure to do so.

Any nuisance concerns that may arise with this development will be addressed on a complaint-
driven basis, like all other concerns on all other developments.  

4. Alley Improvements
Appellant’s fourth reason for reversing the Director’s decision is their claim that the alley 
abutting the proposed development site to the north needs to be repaved and should be a 
requirement and paid for by the property owner. During the pre-application (Site Team) for the 
proposed development on April 25, 2024, City staff discussed multiple right-of-way (ROW) 
improvements required at the time of development. These requirements are addressed in Finding 
#92 below and include half-street ROW improvements, including a complete curb, gutter, 
sidewalk system, two new ADA ramps at the corner of East 3rd and Jefferson Streets and East 3rd 
and Laughlin Streets, and resurfacing of the entire alleyway to the north of the development. The 
following revised condition of approval is required to be completed by Applicant prior to 
occupancy:  

5.c. All required improvements, including all ROW improvements and alleyway
resurfacing, shall be installed prior to occupancy.

All required improvements associated with the proposed development are Applicant’s 
responsibility.  

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 29 of 342



Staff Report, APL 37-24, Bob Wickwire 
Page 6 of 32 

5. Downtown Parking District Restrictions 
Appellant’s fifth reason for reversing the Director’s decision is their claim parking restrictions of 
building tenants should not only include those on East 3rd and Laughlin Streets, but also on East 
2nd and Jefferson Streets. As referenced in Finding #69, no tenant of the development may park 
along the East 3rd and Laughlin Street frontages during the hours of 9:00 a.m. through 6:00 p.m. 
and all violators will be towed at their own expense. That requirement is not development 
specific but is rather an existing requirement of all persons at their place of employment, 
business profession, or residence, when said placement of employment, business profession, or 
residence is located within the Central Business Zone Boundary (Attachment 5), pursuant to 
TDMC 6.080.020. The Central Business Zone Boundary was first adopted City Council in 1986 
by General Ordinance 86-1078 (with later revisions in 1990, 2004, and 2004) and placed parking 
restrictions on several street frontages within the CBC zone district, including the 500 block of 
East 3rd and Laughlin Streets immediately abutting the proposed development site, and East 2nd 
Street. Jefferson Street is currently not included within the Central Business Zone Boundary. As 
stated in TDMC 6.080.010, all future revisions to the Central Business Zone Boundary area may 
be adopted by City Council by resolution. For purposes of this land use review, Staff referenced 
only those street frontages (East 3rd and Laughlin Streets) immediately abutting the development 
site; however, tenants of the development are also restricted from parking in areas as shown on 
Attachment 5. To provide clarification on district-wide parking restrictions, condition of 
approval 6.f. has been modified from the original ongoing condition referenced in the SPR 544-
24 Staff Report to read as follows:  

6.f. Pursuant to TDMC 6.080.020, no tenant of the development (commercial or 
residential) may park along the public streets in the Central Business Zone Boundary 
the E. 3rd Street and Laughlin Street frontages during the hours of 9:00 a.m. through 
6:00 p.m. and all violators will be towed at their own expense. 

Any additional street frontages not currently included in the Central Business Zone Boundary 
may only be added upon City Council resolution. At the date of this staff report, no additional 
restrictions are being proposed.   

6. Street Sweeping and Snow Removal 
Appellant’s sixth reason for reversing the Director’s decision is their concerns regarding street 
maintenance, specifically street sweeping and snow removal. During the April 25, 2024, Site 
Team meeting, City staff discussed parking restrictions along the East 3rd Street frontage of the 
development to mitigate issues with routine street sweeping. Currently, the City conducts routine 
street sweeping within the Downtown The Dalles/CBC zone district area on Friday mornings, 
with snow removal occurring as dictated by then-current weather conditions. To mitigate any 
disruptions to those services, an ongoing condition of approval (6.g.) was provided in the SPR 
544-24 Staff Report and restricts parking along the East 3rd Street frontage during the hours of 
12:00 p.m. through7:00 a.m. on days when sweeping occurs. Although the current schedule for 
that service occurs on Fridays, it may be adjusted by the City at any time with minimal notice.  
After further consideration of this requirement, staff determined no other street frontage within 
the Downtown The Dalles/CBC zone district area has restricted parking for ongoing street 
sweeping or snow removal purposes, nor is such a requirement referenced in TDMC. As a result, 
condition of approval 6.g. from the SPR 544-24 has been removed from this development 
approval, and is instead provided as an ongoing recommendation of the development. 

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 30 of 342



Staff Report, APL 37-24, Bob Wickwire 
Page 7 of 32 

6.g. To allow for weekly street sweeping within the downtown area, no tenant of the
development (commercial or residential) may park along the E. 3rd Street frontage
during the hours of 12pm-7am each day of sweeping. At this time, sweeping occurs each
Friday morning, but may change at a later date in the future.

Upon project completion, City staff will continue to sweep and remove snow on all downtown 
streets in the same manner as currently practiced.  

Process 
Applicant submitted a Site Team request on April 25, 2024, and the meeting was held on April 
25, 2024. Following that Site Team meeting, the City provided Applicant meeting notes on April 
29, 2024. Applicant submitted the Application and materials for SPR 544-24 on May 7, 2024. 
Following that submittal, staff deemed the application incomplete on May 14, 2024, and 
requested additional information to include with the application materials. Applicant submitted 
the remainder of the application materials on May 29, 2024. A Notice of Application for 
Administrative Action was mailed consistent with TDMC 10.3.020.040(C) on June 10, 2024, to 
property owners within 100 feet, as well as any affected governmental agency, department, or 
public district within whose boundaries the subject property lies.  

REQUEST:  Applicant is requesting approval to construct 116 for-rent apartments, over +/-
9,500 sf of retail space, resident amenities and building services in a +/- 96,000 gross sf, five-
story, mixed-use building. This document is limited to Site Plan Review only.  
CDD has reviewed two other land use applications for the Basalt Commons Mixed Use 
development:  

• Minor Partition (MIP 438-24): Consolidation of 3 parcels. Approved on June 18, 2024.
• Conditional Use (CUP 212-24): Allow height increase from 55’ maximum to 60’.

The Conditions of Approval address the timing and approval of those applications in relation to 
the proposed development of the property. 

NOTIFICATION:  Property owners within 100 feet, City Departments and Franchise Utilities. 

COMMENTS RECEIVED: No comments received as of the date this staff report was 
published.     

REVIEW CRITERIA: 
City of The Dalles Municipal Code 
Title 10 Land Use and Development 

Section 10.3.020.080 Appeal Procedures 
A. De Novo
FINDING #1:  The Planning Commission’s hearing is de novo. Consistent with ORS 
227.175(10)(a)(E), tonight’s hearing allows for and the Planning Commission must consider 
the presentation of all relevant testimony, arguments, and evidence it accepts at the hearing.  
Criterion met.  

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 31 of 342



Staff Report, APL 37-24, Bob Wickwire 
Page 8 of 32 

B. Right to Appeal Decisions.
FINDING #2:  Appellant is a party of record because they submitted comment on June 20, 
2024, during the 14-day comment period for the Application. Criterion met.  
C. Filing Appeal.
FINDING #3:  On July 22, 2024, Appellant submitted the Notice of Appeal to CDD, which 
was within 10 days of the Notice of Decision of SPR 544-24. The Notice of Appeal was filed 
with the CDD during normal business hours and date stamped upon receipt. Criterion met.  
D. Notice of Appeal.
FINDING #4:  TDMC 10.3.020.080(D)(3) provides every notice of appeal shall include the 
“specific grounds why the decision should be reversed or modified, based on the applicable 
criteria or procedural error.” The Notice of Appeal describes six reasons why the Appellant 
should reverse the Planning Commission’s decision. Staff will address the issues raised in the 
Notice of Appeal regarding applicable criteria of the Code and/or procedural errors. 
Criterion met.  
E. Jurisdictional Defects.
FINDING #5: Staff determined no jurisdictional defects exist with the APL 37-24 request. 
Criterion met.  
G. Notification of Appeal Hearing.
FINDING #6: Appropriate mailings to property owners within 300 feet and notice to 
affected departments and agencies were made on August 1, 2024. Criterion met.  

Article 3.030 Site Plan Review 
Section 10.3.030.020 Review Procedures  
A. Process.
FINDING #7:  As a condition of approval, this decision requires a detailed site plan, 
construction/design plans, and landscaping plans, consistent with all other conditions of 
approval, to be approved by the Community Development Director and the City Engineer 
before a building permit is issued.  Criterion met with conditions. 
B. Applications.
FINDING #8:  Digital copies of all required plans have been submitted.  Staff determined no 
paper copies are required at this time. Criterion met. 
C. Review.
FINDING #9:  Pursuant to TDMC 10.3.020.040, an SPR application is processed as an 
Administrative Action unless elevated to a Quasi-Judicial Action. Following receipt of APL 
37-24, this Application has been elevated to a Quasi-Judicial Action for Planning
Commission consideration. Criterion met.
D. Public Works Requirements.
FINDING #10:  See Finding #7.  Criterion met.

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 32 of 342



Staff Report, APL 37-24, Bob Wickwire 
Page 9 of 32 

E. Detailed Landscape Plans.
FINDING #11:  See Finding #7.  Criterion met.

Section 10.3.030.040 Review Criteria
A. City Ordinance Provisions.
FINDING #12:  Provisions for the proposed development are further addressed in 
subsequent findings.  Criterion met. 
B. Public Facilities Capacity.
FINDING #13:  A Site Team meeting was held on April 25, 2024, with staff detailing the 
public facilities existing to the site and the facility requirements for the proposed 
development. It is Applicant’s responsibility to determine specific site needs for the proposed 
development. Upsizing or upgrading of existing utilities will incur additional System 
Development Charges payable to the City. Additional fees will be collected through a 
separate building permit process.  A condition of approval is included and requires all 
construction and design plans for public infrastructure, improvements, or ROW be approved 
by the City Engineer. Utility and ROW Improvement Plans (Attachment 1, C100-600) were 
submitted with the application. In addition, a specific building setback from an existing 
powerline was required by Northern Wasco County PUD.  The Site Plan (Attachment 1, 
SPR-01) submitted with the application shows the required setbacks from the exiting power 
lines.  Criterion met with conditions. 
C. Arrangement of Site Elements.

1. Promote pedestrian, bicycle, and vehicular safety and welfare.
FINDING #14: The site plan illustrates pedestrian walkways and bicycle parking to promote 
pedestrian, bicycle, and vehicular safety.  Details regarding these features will be addressed 
in the subsequent findings in this Staff Report. Criterion met. 

2. Preserve and maintain public amenities and significant natural features.
FINDING #15:  No significant natural features were identified at the subject site.  No public 
amenities exist on site per the Existing Conditions Plan (Attachment 1, C-101).  Criterion 
met. 

3. Avoid traffic congestion.
FINDING #16:  Applicant included a Turning Movement Plan (Attachment 1, C-202) 
indicating how vehicle circulation will be managed on site to avoid traffic congestion. 
Vehicular access to the site is taken from the alley via one way in and one way out access. In 
addition, a Traffic Impact Study (TIS), included as Attachment 2, was submitted as the 
proposed development will result in the creation of 16 or more dwelling units, pursuant to 
TDMC 10.10.060(A)(1).  City Staff reviewed the TIS and determined the proposed 
development would not require additional traffic mitigation tactics to control congestion at 
any of the nearby intersections.  Criterion met. 

4. Minimize potential adverse impacts on surrounding properties.
FINDING #17:  This Staff Report addresses additional zone standards and other TDMC 
requirements in subsequent findings. A PMP/PDA, included as Attachment 3 was provided 

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 33 of 342



Staff Report, APL 37-24, Bob Wickwire 
Page 10 of 32 

to address the impacts and mitigation of impacts of additional parking on the surrounding 
properties. Criterion met. 
D. Design Standards – All Development.

1. Scale.  Buildings with walls greater than 80 feet in length shall include street
façades that are varied and articulated at regular 20-, 30-, 40- or 50-foot intervals along
the façade to provide the appearance of smaller buildings.  Articulation shall be achieved
through the use of offsets, jogs, variation of finishes, projections, windows, bays, porches,
traditional storefront elements, entries or other similar distinctive changes.

FINDING #18:  Attachment 1, SPR-08 Exterior Elevations, depicts the proposed building 
articulation, which comprises an overall length of 301 feet along East 3rd Street and a width 
of 66 feet along Jefferson and Laughlin Streets. To accommodate the building’s length, the 
design incorporates shifts in the building plane along East 3rd Street, breaking the massing 
into varied façade widths ranging between roughly 37 and 92 feet. The choice of irregular 
and varied intervals in the façade was intentional to emulate the district’s building widths, 
creating deeper usable outdoor seating at the ground floor, and directly reflecting the varied 
residential unit types within the building's upper floors. Each resulting façade is further 
articulated with a regular rhythm of piers reflecting the unit widths and the rooms within. 
On the upper floors, pier spacing is varied and infilled with a variety of window types, accent 
material panels, and small (Juliette) balconies. Those varied infill strategies reflect the 
diversity of living uses and enable residents to activate the façade and connect with the 
outdoors. 
The ground floor is differentiated from the upper façades in height, material, and amount of 
glazing and storefront. Pier spacing is widened to allow for transparency and visual 
connection from the sidewalk to the commercial space within. Storefront windows and 
entries are recessed into the façade to provide necessary articulation and shadow relative to 
the height of the ground floor. Criterion met. 

2. Parking Location.
FINDING #19:  Attachment 1, SPR-01 and SPR-02, illustrate the proposed parking area, 
which is an open, tuck-under surface parking lot. The lot is located along and accessed from 
the northern alley. The parking lot is set back from both Laughlin and Jefferson Streets and 
screened with the building and landscaped outdoor courtyard. Criterion met. 

3. Fences/Walls.
FINDING #20:  No fences and/or walls are proposed in the front and/or corner side yards.  
Criterion not applicable.  

4. Parking Lot Landscaping.
FINDING #21:  TDMC 10.7.030.040 (B) provides it is not applicable in alleys and 
accessways. All proposed parking is screened from Jefferson and Laughlin Streets by the 
building and a landscaped courtyard. Refer to Attachment 1, SPR-01, SPR-02, and L-500. 
Criterion not applicable. 

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 34 of 342



Staff Report, APL 37-24, Bob Wickwire 
Page 11 of 32 

5. Pedestrian/Bicycle Circulation.
FINDING #22:  The proposed site plan is depicted on Attachment 1, SPR-01 and SPR-02. 
All retail entries and the residential lobby entry (which is the single shared residential 
entrance) are directly accessed and connected to the public ROW via sidewalks along 
Laughlin, East 3rd, and Jefferson Streets. On-site parking is connected to the residential lobby 
at the southeast corner of the lot, with retail access provided along East 3rd Street. This 
proposed development does not include open space areas. All sidewalks are not less than 5 
feet in width. Criterion met. 

6. Building Orientation.
FINDING #23:  The proposed building is oriented directly to all streets, with residential unit 
windows, balconies, and storefront entries equally oriented along all street facades. Refer to 
Attachment 1, SPR-01, and SPR-08. Criterion met. 

7. Front Porches.
FINDING #24: There is no front setback required and no front porches are proposed.  
Criterion not applicable.   

8. Trim and Details.
FINDING #25:  Prefinished sheet metal trim and flashing will be utilized at all windows, 
doors, and cladding seams to provide visual detail, scale, and durability to the upper floors of 
the building. The ground-floor storefront and entry areas will utilize durable trim and steel 
accent materials to accentuate the storefront windows, transoms and canopies and integrate 
mechanical venting. Refer to Attachment 1, SPR-08. Criterion met. 

E. Design Standards – Residential. In addition to design standards for all development, the
following standards shall apply to the different types of residential development:

2. Multifamily dwellings (3 or more units) shall:
a. Have variation in roof plane and elevation. This standard is met by providing one

of the following details:
i. Eaves on all sides of the building;

ii. An overhang or projecting roof form, for example, over a front porch;
iii. An offset along the ridge of the highest roof form that is at least 1 foot in

height; or
iv. At least one secondary roof form in addition to the primary or largest roof

elevation, such as a cross-gable, dormer, or similar roof form as shown in
Figure 1 below.

v. For 3 and 4 dwellings exceeding 25 feet in height, eave or parapet at 25 feet
and pitched roof for remainder of height.

FINDING #26:  Flat rooflines are required in the CBC-2 Subdistrict per TDMC 
10.5.050.080(B)(2), and maximum setbacks are zero feet per TDMC 10.5.050.060. 
Therefore, items 2.a.ii, iv, and v are not applicable to a multifamily building within the CBC-
2 Sub-district. 
The proposed massing articulation provides significant variation of the elevation/building 
plane and a varied roofline. The building is a flat roof building like other downtown 

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 35 of 342



Staff Report, APL 37-24, Bob Wickwire 
Page 12 of 32 

buildings in context and therefore has no eaves or ridgelines in the roof. Instead, a stepped 
parapet line is provided at each alternate massing (as permitted by TDMC 
10.5.050.080(B)(2)) and is offset 16 inches in height and 12 inches in depth to reinforce the 
feeling of separate buildings provided by the massing. Refer to architectural elevations on 
Attachment 1, SPR-08. Criterion met. 

b. Have stairways to upper floors which are illuminated to a minimum of 1 foot
candle (11 lux) and protected by a canopy or enclosure from wind, rain, sun, and
snow.

FINDING #27:  All residential units and spaces on upper floors are accessed via internal 
elevator, corridor, and stairways. These accessways will be protected from external elements 
and lit with a minimum of 1.0-foot candle as required by the Building Code. Refer to 
Attachment 1, SPR-02 through SPR-07.  Criterion met. 

c. Locate any garages or carports at least 10 feet behind the front building line.
FINDING #28:  The parking lot is separated from the front building line (East 3rd Street) by 
42 feet (the depth of the retail), as depicted on Attachment 1, SPR-01.  Criterion met. 

d. Provide individual covered dwelling unit entrances, such as covered front
porches, portico or similar architectural detail.

FINDING #29:  All residential units share a common lobby entrance along East 3rd Street. 
All units are at the upper floors (2-5) and have individual entries located off an internal 
corridor. Refer to Attachment 1, SPR-02 through SPR-06. Criterion met. 

e. Have articulation such that no individual wall plane that is more than 500 square
feet in area; wall planes must be broken up by changes in plane of not less than 1
foot.

FINDING #30:  The proposed design reflects the scale of the context and the buildings in the 
CBC-2 Sub-district and of urban mixed-use, pedestrian-oriented development. The building 
is articulated into primary building planes ranging between 2,500 sf and 4,200 2,800-5,500 sf 
and are separated from each other by 7 feet of depth. 
Each façade plane is further articulated by regularized window alignments and material 
detailing, and a horizontal band of material change at every floor. Windows and accent 
materials are recessed into the primary fiber cement panel material by 2 inches and contrast 
in color to the primary façade. This effectively articulates the façade into planes ranging 
between 35 and 80 square feet. See Attachment 1, SPR-01 and SPR-08, for building 
articulation.  Criterion met. 

f. Have a horizontal line that breaks up the vertical mass of the building; this
standard is met by providing a belt course, bellyband, change in materials or color,
or similar detail that extends the width of all exterior walls.

FINDING #31:  The ground-floor is differentiated from the upper floors with a material 
change – from plastered brick along the ground-floor to fiber-cement panels at the upper 
floors. The horizontal band of brick is 34 inches tall, and is additionally strengthened with a 
2-inch-tall, recessed shadow line and horizontal break. Each upper floor is further articulated
with a 7-inch-tall horizontal band at each floor line. See Attachment 1, SPR-08, for details.
Criterion met.

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 36 of 342



Staff Report, APL 37-24, Bob Wickwire 
Page 13 of 32 

g. Where multifamily use is combined with a nonresidential use (mixed-use), the site
plan review standards of this section (multifamily dwelling design) shall apply.
Additionally, as applicable, nonresidential ground floors shall have a weather
protection canopy or awning, corner entrance (entrance is within 20 feet of corner,
for corner buildings) and ground floor detailing.

FINDING #32:  The proposal combines ground-floor non-residential (retail/restaurant) with 
residential use on the upper floors and is in compliance with the SPR standards for 
multifamily design. The proposed design is illustrated in Attachment 1, SPR-01, and SPR-08. 
Changes in building plane are provided with the 7-foot-deep shifts in the proposed massing. 
The ground floor is articulated with brick piers and varied-width bays to differentiate picture 
windows vs. retail entries. All entrances are oriented directly to the streets and public ROW. 
Canopies provide weather protection at all storefronts and entry openings along Laughlin, 
East 3rd, and Jefferson Streets. Primary retail entries are at or within 20 feet of the corner, and 
secondary retail entries/exits will be spaced along the street frontages between. The primary 
residential entry is approximately 23 feet west of the southeast building corner. Criterion 
met.  
F. Lighting.
FINDING #33:  Exterior lighting on the proposed building is illustrated on Attachment 1, 
SPR-10 and SPR-11. All exterior lights illuminate the immediately adjacent on-site spaces, or 
pedestrian path and entries at the surrounding ROWs. There are no adjoining properties – all 
are separated by a public ROW; however, the provided photometric plan (Attachment 1, 
SPR-11) illustrates the lighting levels will not exceed 1.0 ft. candle at the rear property line 
adjacent to the alley which is adjacent to buildings on an adjoining property. Criterion met. 

G. City Engineer Approval.
FINDING #34:  Attachment 1, C-200, C-201, C-300, C-400, and C-500 illustrate all 
proposed plans for the infrastructure and ROW affected by the proposal. All proposed civil 
design work is in accordance with city standards. Curb Ramp Design Exception Requests 
have been provided with this application for the ADA curb ramps at Laughlin and at 
Jefferson streets. A condition of approval is included that requires any construction/design 
plans for any public infrastructure, improvements, or ROW affected by, or located within, the 
proposed development site be approved by the City Engineer prior to issuing a building 
permit.  Criterion met with conditions. 
J. Improvements Required of Development.
FINDING #35:  Staff will address this criterion in subsequent findings. Criterion met with
conditions. 

Section 10.3.030.070 Time Limits and Extensions 
FINDING #36:  Pursuant to TDMC 10.3.030.070 (A),  

The duration of the site plan review approval shall be one year from the date of final 
approval. Construction must be commenced and diligently pursued toward completion 
within the one year period or the site plan approval shall expire, and a new application 
required 

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 37 of 342



Staff Report, APL 37-24, Bob Wickwire 
Page 14 of 32 

For long-term and ongoing projects expected to be completed over a period of years, a 
specific schedule for completion of project phases may be a condition of approval (TDMC 
10.3.030.070(C)). In previous discussions, Applicant mentioned this project will certainly 
require an extended period of time for final design, permitting, and construction, and 
requested the one-year expiration period outlined in TDMC 10.3.030.070(A) be extended to 
three (3) years. After further review, staff determined an initial three (3) year extension 
request may not be granted from the onset of Application approval; therefore, the application 
shall be valid for a period of one (1) year from the date of the Notice of Decision. As a 
condition of approval, the Applicant is required to submit a specific schedule for completion 
of project phases to ensure construction is diligently pursued toward completion.  
Additionally, TDMC 10.3.030.070(B) provides for an extension of up to twelve months, 
approved by the CDD Director, if submitted no less than one month prior to the expiration of 
SPR approval. Criterion met with conditions.  

Article 10.5.050 CBC Central Business Commercial District: Sub-district 2 Downtown 
Core  
Section 10.5.050.030 Permitted Uses 
A. Primary Uses:

• Food Services
• Professional and admin. Offices and services
• Residential uses as Follows: CBC-2, All dwellings so long as the ground floor is a

permitted commercial use
• Retail Uses

FINDING #37:  Proposed uses are tabulated on Attachment 1, SPR-02. The proposed uses of 
multifamily residential, retail (or leasable commercial such as restaurant) are permitted 
outright within the CBC-2 zone, provided that the ground floor is a permitted commercial 
use. The entire ground floor is commercial use except for the lobby and leasing spaces for the 
apartment entry. All residential units are located on upper floors. Criterion met.  

Section 10.5.080.060 Development Standards 
Setbacks: 
Front and Corner Side- 0 ft maximum* *Applicant may request up to 15-foot exception 
where outdoor seating for food service is proposed. 
Side and Rear- No min or max, except 15 ft. where shares lot line with residential zone* 

FINDING #38:  The proposed building footprint is depicted in Attachment 1, SPR-01 and 
SPR-02. The proposed development is built up to the ROW for the majority of the front and 
side lot lines (facing Laughlin, East 3rd, and Jefferson Streets). The building is set back 7 feet 
from the property line at two locations along East 3rd Street. That setback is intended to 
expand the usable sidewalk for outdoor retail/café seating, help activate the pedestrian 
walkways and storefront, and further articulate the overall bulk of the building to meet other 
standards. As illustrated in SPR-01, the upper stories of the building step back 1.5 feet from 
the ground floor to accentuate the ground floor and allow separation from existing power 
lines at the Jefferson and Laughlin Street frontages. The property does not share a lot line 
with a residentially zoned property.  

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 38 of 342



Staff Report, APL 37-24, Bob Wickwire 
Page 15 of 32 

Pursuant to TDMC 10.2.030, “setbacks” are defined as 

“The minimum allowable horizontal distance from a given point or line of reference, 
which for purposes of this Title shall be the property line unless otherwise excepted, to 
the nearest vertical wall of a building or structure, fence, or other elements as defined by 
this Title.”   

Staff determined the nearest vertical wall of the proposed building complies with the zero-
setback requirement of the CBC-2 Subdistrict. Criterion met. 

Lot Size, Width, Depth: No minimum/one full City block maximum provided any public 
rights-of-way are maintained 

FINDING #39:  As previously mentioned, the proposed development includes three separate 
land use applications, including a Minor Replat (MIP 438-24) to consolidate three parcels 
into a single lot, surrounded on all frontages by public street and alley. That application was 
approved on June 18, 2024. With the approval of MIP 438-24, the parcel will be less than a 
full city block and meet the maximum lot size requirement. A condition of approval will be 
added by staff requiring the Final Plat be approved prior to the issuance of building permits. 
Criterion met with conditions.  

Building Height: 55 ft. maximum, except 75 ft. with a conditional use permit. 
FINDING #40:  TDMC 10.6.090.010(A)(3) provides an exception to the underlying zoning 
district building height limits for necessary structural components of a building not used for 
human occupancy and measuring less than 75 feet in height in nonresidential zones. For 
consideration of the Application, the Applicant demonstrated an overall physical building 
height of 63 feet, 4 inches, including 3 feet, 4 inches of “necessary roof structures”; however, 
Applicant presented a proposed building height of 60 feet for purposes of areas used for 
human occupancy. The additional building height of 5 feet, which exceeds the maximum 
permitted outright building height in the CBC zoning district, is being reviewed under 
Conditional Use Permit CUP 212-24. In the event CUP is not approved, a condition of 
approval is included and requiring Applicant, prior to final plan approval, to either 
demonstrate a CUP for the 60-foot building height is approved or submit revised plans 
complying with the permitted outright building height of the underlying zoning district (55 
feet). Criterion met with conditions. 

Building Orientation: Primarily toward a street or designated accessway rather than a 
parking area. 

FINDING #41: The proposed building and all primary building entrances are oriented to the 
surrounding streets. Criterion met. 

Pedestrian Access: All building entrances shall have a clear pedestrian connection to the 
street and sidewalk per 10.5.050.070.C 

FINDING #42: Refer to Attachment 1, SPR-01 and SPR-02. The building entrances are 
immediately open and adjacent to the surrounding ROW at Laughlin, East 3rd, and Jefferson 
Streets. Criterion met. 

Off-Street Parking 
FINDING #43: Staff will address this criterion in subsequent findings. Criterion met. 

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 39 of 342



Staff Report, APL 37-24, Bob Wickwire 
Page 16 of 32 

Landscaping 
FINDING #44: Staff will address this criterion in subsequent findings. Criterion met. 

Access Management 
FINDING #45: See Finding #62. Criterion met. 

Section 10.5.050.070 Design Standards- All Development 
A. Exterior Elevations.
FINDING #46:  The building elevations are depicted on Attachment 1, SPR-08. 
Architectural features such as building plane offsets, differentiation of the ground floor, 
varied window and opening infill, Juliet balconies, and detailed storefront openings help to 
articulate the overall façade and give prominence to the pedestrian level. 
Specifically, the following horizontal and vertical features are used: 

Horizontal Features – 
The whole building length is broken down into five building plane changes with offsets 
to more relate to the existing context and adjacent building scales. Each building plane is 
further articulated horizontally with piers which mark the rhythm of structure and 
residential rooms within. Between the piers, regular stacks of varied-width window 
openings are punctuated by accent panels, casements, and Juliet balconies. 
Vertical Features – 
A material change, a 32-inch-tall masonry ‘belly band’, and metal shadow reveal 
differentiate the ground floor from the upper floors. Storefront window and entry 
openings are vertically articulated with sills raised 2 feet above the sidewalk, and a strong 
transom and canopy datum 12 feet above the sidewalk. Each upper floor is delineated 
with a horizontal 7-inch-tall fiber cement trim board. At the roofline, the parapet 
comprises a fiber cement trim board, and a detailed 16-inch-tall metal coping which sets 
back 12 inches. The additional height request allows the ground floor to have a civic 
scale that matches existing patterns. Criterion met. 

B. Entries.
FINDING #47: Refer to Attachment 1, SPR-01 and SPR-02. All commercial space entries 
are primarily located at the corners, and secondary entries will be located along the streets. 
Residential units on the upper floors are accessed through a shared residential lobby and 
leasing area along East 3rd Street, and individually entered through internal corridors at the 
upper floors. No exterior stairways are proposed. Criterion met. 

C. Pedestrian Walkways.
FINDING #48: Refer to Attachment 1, SPR-01. Concrete sidewalks extend to the recessed 
building entrances with shortest practical distance and easy access. The pedestrian sidewalks 
are on three sides of the building with the vehicle driveway/aisle being located and separated 
from the building in the north along the alley. Criterion met. 

Section 10.5.050.080 Design Standards – Sub-district CBC-2 
B. Sub-District CBC-2 (Downtown Core)

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 40 of 342



Staff Report, APL 37-24, Bob Wickwire 
Page 17 of 32 

1. Building Exteriors.
FINDING #49:  Building materials are provided on the building elevations in Attachment 1, 
SPR-08 and SPR-09. The proposed building is primarily clad with masonry at the ground 
floor, and fiber-cementitious paneling at the upper floors. No wood, metal siding, or vinyl 
materials are proposed as primary materials. The upper floor fiber-cement panels will be 
arranged and detailed to minimize panel edges and joints and mimic a similar scale and 
arrangement of joints that would be seen in commercial plaster or brick facades (floor line 
joints, vertical joints at each pier). Secondary materials will include aluminum storefront; 
prefinished sheet metal flashings, copings, and fascia panels; and durable steel detailing at 
storefront openings and entries. Tertiary materials include reclaimed wood siding, art 
screening, and murals. Staff interprets this code provision to apply directly to primary 
building finishes only, as standard building construction materials will inevitably include to 
some degree wood, metal, or vinyl materials. For example, common commercial and 
residential storefront and window systems include all three of these materials and is evident 
in the majority, if not all, of the existing buildings in the surrounding downtown area. 
Criterion met.  

2. Roofs.
FINDING #50:  Refer to Attachment 1, SPR-08 and SPR-07. The proposed building utilizes 
a flat roof. Criterion met. 

3. Minimum Building Height.
FINDING #51:  Pursuant to TDMC 10.5.050.080(B)(3), within the CBC-2 Sub-district, 
buildings shall be at least 16 feet minimum height with a façade having the architectural 
appearance of a 2-story structure. As previously mentioned, the proposed building height is 
60 feet. See Finding #40 for height specific conditions of approval.  Criterion met. 

Article 6.010 Landscaping Standards 
Section 10.6.010.030 General Provisions 
B. Landscaping Plans
FINDING #52:  Landscaping plans were submitted with the Application.  Criterion met.
C. Completion Prior to Occupancy.
FINDING #53:  A condition of approval is included and requires all landscaping and 
improvements be completed, or financially guaranteed per the provisions of TDMC 
10.9.040.060(I): Performance Guarantee prior to occupancy.  Criterion met with 
conditions. 
E. Maintenance.
FINDING #54:  An ongoing condition of approval is included and requires all landscaping, 
buffering, and screening be irrigated and maintained.  Criterion met with conditions. 

G. Trees in Public Rights-of-Way.
FINDING #55:  As shown on landscape plans (Attachment 1, L-200 through L-760), street 
trees are provided along the street frontages of East 3rd, Jefferson, and Laughlin Streets. A 
condition of approval is included and requires the street trees be selected from the City’s list 

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 41 of 342



Staff Report, APL 37-24, Bob Wickwire 
Page 18 of 32 

prior to final plan approval. In addition, Applicant is required to obtain all applicable City 
permits for the planting of these trees. Criterion met with conditions. 
H. Preservation of Significant Trees.
FINDING #56:  Staff determined no tree species exist on or abutting the subject property.  
Criterion not applicable. 
J. Irrigation Systems. Irrigation systems shall be required where necessary to assure
survival of plant materials.
FINDING #57: Attachment 1, L-600, illustrates an irrigation system to assure survival of 
plant materials.  Criterion met. 
K. Vision Clearance.
FINDING #58: Pursuant to TDMC 10.6.100.020, vision clearance at street intersections and 
alley intersections with streets shall not be required in the CBC - Central Business 
Commercial District. Criterion not applicable. 
L. Fences.
FINDING #59: See Finding #15.  Criterion not applicable.

Section 10.6.010.060 Street Trees
A. General. Street trees shall count toward the required landscape requirement. Street trees
shall be planted and maintained in accordance with the following standards for all public
street frontages, and along private street and accessways more than 150 feet long. Street
trees shall be required in all zoning districts where there is a designated planting strip in the
public right-of-way. Selection of species may be made from the recommended tree list
provided by the Director.
FINDING #60:  As shown on landscape plans (Attachment 1, L-200 through L-760), street 
trees are provided along the street frontages of East 3rd, Jefferson, and Laughlin Streets. The 
tree species are required to be consistent with the tree list provided by CDD. A condition of 
approval is included and requires the street trees be selected from the City’s list prior to final 
plan approval. Criteria met with conditions.   
B. Spacing.
FINDING #61:  The Planting Plan (Attachment 1, L-500) shows trees spaced 30 feet on 
center.  Criterion met. 
C. Planting Requirements.
FINDING #62: Pursuant to TDMC 10.6.010.060(C), trees planted within 5 feet of 
permanent hard surface paving or walkways shall use special planting techniques and 
specifications approved by the Public Works Director. As a condition of approval, all street 
tree planting systems must be approved by the Public Works Director, or designee, prior to 
final plan approval. Criterion met with conditions. 
D. Fire Hydrants.
FINDING #63: Pursuant to TDMC 10.6.010.060(D), street tree clearance from fire hydrants 
shall be as specified in the Uniform Fire Code as adopted by the local fire protection district. 

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 42 of 342



Staff Report, APL 37-24, Bob Wickwire 
Page 19 of 32 

As a condition of approval, the Mid-Columbia Fire and Rescue Fire Marshal must approve 
all proposed street tree locations prior to final plan approval.  Criterion met with 
conditions. 
E.  Location. 
FINDING #64: As a condition of approval, the City Engineer must approve all proposed 
street tree locations prior to final plan approval to ensure compliance with TDMC 
10.6.010.060(E).  Criterion met with conditions. 
G.  Clearance. 
FINDING #65: As an ongoing condition of approval, trees shall be pruned, by the property 
owner, to provide a minimum clearance of 9 feet above sidewalks and 14 feet above street 
and roadway surfaces.  Criterion met with conditions. 

Section 10.6.010.070 Required Landscaping by Zone 
CBC-2:  none 
FINDING #66: There are no on-site landscape requirements in the CBC-2 Sub-district.  
Criterion met. 
Article 6.050 Access Management 
E.  Emergency Access. 
FINDING #67: Pursuant to TDMC 10.6.050.030(E), all development shall be arranged on 
site so as to provide safe and convenient access for emergency vehicles. The proposed 
development will provide unobstructed access on East 3rd, Laughlin, and Jefferson Streets, as 
well as providing alley access. Criterion met. 

Chapter 10.7 Parking Standards 
Section 10.7.020.040 Allowed Motor Vehicle Parking Reductions, Waivers, and 
Exemptions 
D.  Off-Street Parking Waiver. Minimum off-street parking spaces required by Article 7.060: 
Minimum and Maximum Off-Street Parking Requirements may be waived for the following: 

2.     The property is located within Sub-district CBC-2 in the Central Business 
Commercial district, as defined in Section 10.5.050.020: Sub-Districts. 

FINDING #68:  As previously mentioned, the subject property is located within the CBC-2 
Sub-district. Pursuant to TDMC 10.7.020.040(D)(2), the minimum off-street parking 
requirement may be waived for properties located within the CBC-2 Sub-district. The 
Applicant proposed to apply this waiver to the development prior to formal Application 
submission. This parking waiver provision provides flexibility in overall parking 
requirements and complements Comprehensive Plan Goal #10 Housing, Policy 14 which 
states:  

“Development standards in residential and mixed use areas shall provide for flexibility in 
site planning and development. Standards shall consider flexibility for lot sizes, setbacks, 

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 43 of 342



Staff Report, APL 37-24, Bob Wickwire 
Page 20 of 32 

accessory residential uses on the same lot, parking, alleyways and other development 
features.” 

In addition, as discussed in Finding #51, Staff determined from the submitted PMP/PDA 
(Attachment 3) that the existing parking demand and off-street parking analysis support this 
proposed development. Criterion met.  
F.  Parking Management Plan. The off-street parking requirements in Article 7.060: 
Minimum and Maximum Off-Street Parking Requirements may be reduced or added to based 
on an approved parking management plan submitted by the applicant which adequately 
demonstrates that the plan will meet the parking needs of the proposed project without 
negative impact to adjacent uses. The approving authority shall approve, approve with 
conditions, or deny the parking management plan. The parking management plan must 
include the following and be prepared by a licensed professional engineer: 

1.  A parking demand analysis for the project. 
2.  A project vicinity off-street parking supply and demand analysis. 
3.  A shared parking analysis. 

FINDING #69:  Applicant voluntarily provided a PMP/PDA (Attachment 3) prepared by a 
licensed professional engineer and complying with the provisions of TDMC 
10.7.020.040(F)(1)-(3) and submitted it to be reviewed concurrently with the SPR 
application.  
Demand Analysis 
As referenced in the PMP/PDA, in using a “stacked demand” analysis, the proposed 
development would require up to 199 total parking spaces. The stacked demand is the total 
peak hour demand for each use layered on top of one another without considering any 
potential reductions to overall parking totals. Conversely, a “shared demand” analysis 
determined that the proposed development would require up to 152 parking spaces at a peak 
parking demand (8:00 p.m. through 9:00 p.m.), the time when restaurant crowds and 
residents are at or returning home for the evening. Both of those totals do not account for the 
35 on-site parking spaces proposed with this development. In doing so, the stacked demand 
model would result in the need for 164 on-street parking spaces and 117 on-street parking 
spaces with the shared demand model.  
In addition, staff used this information to verify the total minimum parking requirements of 
the proposed development pursuant to TDMC 10.7.060.010. This figure represents a 
comparison to the “stacked demand” model referenced within the PMP/PDA.  

• Residential: 5 or more dwelling units 

o Minimum: 1 space per dwelling unit 
o 1 per dwelling unit (116 units) =   116 spaces 

• Retail Trade 
o Minimum: 3.5 spaces/1,000 SF floor area  
o 3.5 spaces/1,000 SF floor area at 6,858 sf =  24 spaces 

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 44 of 342



Staff Report, APL 37-24, Bob Wickwire 
Page 21 of 32 

• Restaurants (without drive-thru)
o Minimum: 7 spaces/1,000 SF floor area
o 7 spaces/1,000 SF floor area at 2,985 sf =  21 spaces

Total = 161 spaces 
Similar to the PMP/PDA, TDMC 10.7.020.070 provides a formula when calculating 
minimum/maximum parking requirements for proposed mixed-use developments much like 
that of the “shared demand” model referenced above. When applying this formula, the total 
minimum parking requirement (in this case 161 spaces) is calculated as follows:  

Primary Use. The primary use (largest portion of total floor area within the development) 
at 100% of the minimum vehicle parking required 

• Residential: 5 or more dwelling units = 116 spaces
Secondary Use. The secondary use or uses (second largest proportion of total floor area 
within the development) at 70% of the minimum vehicle parking required  

• Retail Trade: 24 spaces x 70% = 17 spaces

Subsequent Uses. Subsequent use(s) at 50% of the vehicle parking required 

• Restaurants (without drive-thru): 21 spaces x 50% = 11
Total = 144 spaces 

Both of those totals do not account for the 35 on-site parking spaces proposed with this 
development. The standard minimum parking requirement per TDMC would result in the 
need for 126 on-street parking spaces and at least 109 on-street parking spaces with the 
“mixed-use” model.  
Overall, both staff’s analysis of the PMP/PDA and existing provisions of TDMC determined 
a minimum of 109 on-street parking spaces needed for this development.  
Parking Supply and Occupancy 
In addition to determining overall minimum parking needs for the development, the 
PMP/PDA provided a study of existing conditions within a vicinity of the subject property 
(“study area”). That study area included analysis of all on-street and off-street (both public 
and private) parking spaces west to east from Court to Taylor Streets and north to south from 
1st to 4th Streets. This study area was outlined to represent an area of reasonable walking 
distance (three blocks or less) from the subject property. In total, the study area included 789 
on-street parking spaces and 729 off-street parking spaces. Due to the fact Downtown The 
Dalles/Central Business Commercial zone area lacks striped on-street parking spaces (“Ts 
and Ls”), those spaces were determined based on a general length of 23 feet. Also, many of 
those off-street parking spaces are located on private parking lots and resemble an 
opportunity for shared parking agreements for public use. Two of the off-street parking lots 
within the study area are signed for “public use” and total 112 spaces.  
Once the study area was established, parking occupancies were measured to determine 
overall use of the parking system. Data was collected on a Tuesday and Saturday in 

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 45 of 342



Staff Report, APL 37-24, Bob Wickwire 
Page 22 of 32 

June 2023, with sunny and clear weather conditions. Overall, the PMP/PDA’s key findings 
from the parking occupancy data collection included:  
On-Street: 

• Average Occupancy: Average weekday occupancy was 35% over the 13-hour survey 
day (32% on Saturday), indicating low demand 

• Peak Hour: Weekday peak occupancy occurs at 1:00 PM, when 47% of stalls are 
occupied (37% on Saturday at 12:00 PM). 

• Empty Stalls: Overall, there is a high percentage of empty on-street stalls during the 
weekday and Saturday. At the weekday peak hour (1:00 PM), 421 empty parking 
stalls were observed on-street in the study area; during the Saturday peak (12:00 
PM), there were 496 empty on-street stalls. 

Off-Street: 

• Average Occupancy: The average weekday occupancy was 23% over the 13-hour 
survey day and 15% on Saturday when all off-street parking is aggregated, indicating 
low demand for the off-street parking system relative to the available parking supply. 

• Peak Hour: Weekday peak occupancy was observed at 12:00 PM when 33% of stalls 
were occupied, while Saturday peak occupancy was observed at 11:00 AM when 19% 
were occupied. 

• Empty Stalls: A high percentage of off-street stalls are empty during the weekday and 
Saturday. During the weekday peak period (12:00 PM), 489 empty parking stalls 
were observed off-street in the public supply; on Saturday, during the 11:00 AM peak 
hour, there were 593 empty stalls. 

Overall PMP/PDA Analysis 
The PMP/PDA demonstrated the overall parking occupancy within the study area has 
significant parking availability, both on and off-street during peak hours to absorb the 
additional parking demand created from new development. Additional opportunities may 
also be availability to provide more parking options through the establishment of a shared 
parking agreement with the many private parking lots within the area. The information 
compiled with the PMP/PDA, as well as current data with an ongoing 2024 Downtown 
Parking Assessment and supporting Advisory Committee, will further outline tools and 
techniques the City may use to manage parking within The Dalles Downtown/Central 
Business Commercial zone area.  
From the information gathered, as well as current provisions outlined in TDMC, the 
following conditions of approval are included for this development proposal:  

• Pursuant to TDMC 6.080.020, no tenant of the development (commercial or 
residential) may park along the East 3rd Street and Laughlin Street frontages during 
the hours of 9:00 a.m. through 6:00 p.m. and all violators will be towed at their own 
expense.  

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 46 of 342



Staff Report, APL 37-24, Bob Wickwire 
Page 23 of 32 

In addition to the above-mentioned conditions, staff recommends the following options to 
mitigate any potential impacts that may arise from any overflow parking from the proposed 
development:  

• Provide tenants with free or reduced Gorge Transit Passes. This pass provides
connections to many of the communities in the Columbia Gorge and Portland.

• Establish shared parking agreements with owners of nearby private parking lots.

• To allow for weekly street sweeping within The Dalles Downtown/Central Business
Commercial zone area, no tenant of the development (commercial or residential) may
park along the East 3rd Street frontage during the hours of 12:00 p.m. through 7:00
a.m. each day of sweeping. At this time, sweeping occurs each Friday morning, but
may change at a later date.

Criterion met with conditions. 
Section 10.7.020.070 Parking In Mixed Use Development 
B. Parking Management Plan Method. A parking demand management plan may be
submitted in accordance with Section 10.7.020.040(F) of this Article.
FINDING #70: See Finding #64. 

Section 10.7.020.100 Stormwater Pretreatment 
Finding #71: Pursuant to TDMC 10.7.020.100,  

“All parking areas which are designed to accommodate 25 or more vehicles shall be 
required to install an oil/water separator to treat stormwater capture before discharging 
to the stormwater system. The design and maintenance agreement for the oil/water 
separator must be reviewed and approved by the City Engineer prior to any building 
permits being issued.”  

Applicant proposes 35 parking spaces, therefore an oil/water separator is required for this 
development. Staff determined from the submitted plans that Applicant proposes to install an 
oil/water separator near the western vehicular exit to the parking lot and connected to the 
alley. During the Site Team meeting, staff determined the existing stormwater line in the 
alley is inadequately sized to handle the runoff from this proposed development and a main 
line extension is required to the project site from Laughlin Street. All such extensions are 
Applicant’s responsibility. A condition of approval is included and requires an oil/water 
separator be installed on the subject property and a maintenance agreement established with 
the City’s Public Works Department. A condition of approval is included and requires 
Applicant to confirm overall stormwater needs and coordinate any main line extensions with 
the City Engineer. Criterion met with conditions.   

Article 7.030 General Design Standards for Surface Parking Lots 
Section 10.7.030.020 Location, Surfacing, Striping and Curb Cuts 
A. Location.
FINDING #72:  The proposed site plan illustrates all parking areas are outside of the 
required setback areas.  Criterion met.  

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 47 of 342



Staff Report, APL 37-24, Bob Wickwire 
Page 24 of 32 

B.  Surfacing.  
FINDING #73:  The site plan illustrates that all vehicle maneuvering areas will be hard 
surfaced.  Criterion met. 
C.  Striping.  
FINDING #74:  The site plan illustrates parking stall striping.  A condition of approval is 
included and requires all parking spaces be striped prior to occupancy.  Criterion met with 
conditions. 
D.  Curb Cuts.  
FINDING #75:  Vehicle access is provided to the site via an existing alley to the north. No 
new on-site curb cuts are proposed. A condition of approval is included that walkways, 
including driveway and accessway crossings, shall be constructed and maintained for 
pedestrian safety, and shall meet the requirements of the Americans with Disabilities Act, the 
State of Oregon Structural Specialties Code, and the Oregon Revised Statutes.  Criterion 
met with conditions. 
Section 10.7.030.030 Internal Circulation 
FINDING #76: The site plan and Turning Movement Plan (Attachment 1, SPR-1 & C-202) 
show safe pedestrian, bicycle and vehicular circulation. Pedestrian and bicycle access to the 
building do not cross parking areas. The parking lot circulation is one-way from the alley. 
Emergency vehicles may access the building via East 3rd, Laughlin, and Jefferson Streets, 
and not the parking area. Criterion met.   

Section 10.7.030.040 Landscaping Requirements 
A.  General Provisions.  
FINDING #77:  The site plan (Attachment 1, SPR-1) illustrates 35 vehicular parking spaces 
with 18 tucked under the building. No parking lot landscape is proposed. Street trees are 
being used to meet the parking lot landscaping requirements as allowed pursuant to TDMC 
10.6.010.060(A). Criterion met.  
Section 10.7.030.050 Accessible Parking 
FINDING #78:  Refer to Attachment 1, SPR-02. The proposed development provides 35 on-
site parking stalls. Two (2) of the proposed parking spaces will be ADA accessible, and one 
(1) of the accessible stalls will be Van Accessible pursuant to TDMC. A condition of 
approval is included and requires all ADA signage and spaces to be installed on site as shown 
on the site plan prior to occupancy. Criterion met with conditions.  

Section 10.7.030.070 Vehicle Loading and Unloading 
FINDING #79:  The CBC – Central Business Commercial zoning district is exempt from 
vehicle loading/unloading provisions. Criterion not applicable.   

Section 10.7.030.080 Motorcycle Parking 
FINDING #80:  Pursuant to TDMC 10.7.030.080, all multifamily dwelling developments 
shall provide areas sufficient to accommodate one (1) motorcycle for every 10 parking 
spaces to park and store motorcycles and mopeds.  Applicant is proposing 35 on-site parking 
spaces with this development. As a condition of approval, the development must provide 

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 48 of 342



Staff Report, APL 37-24, Bob Wickwire 
Page 25 of 32 

sufficient space to accommodate no less than four (4) motorcycles and/or mopeds (rounded 
up from 3.5). Staff understands this may result in the loss of at least one vehicular parking 
space for this accommodation. Criterion met with conditions.   

Section 10.7.030.090 Driveways, Aisles, Clearance, Drainage, and Cross Access 
D.  Drainage.  
FINDING #81:  See Finding #66. Pursuant to TDMC 10.7.030.090(D), Roof drains shall 
connect directly to the storm system, and shall not flow onto parking surfaces. Staff 
determined from Attachment 1, C-400 and SPR-07, that roof drains are being proposed on 
the western and eastern portions of the buildings connected runoff directly to the stormwater 
line in the alley. Criterion met.  

Section 10.7.030.110 Refuse Collection 
FINDING #82:  Applicant proposes one (1) enclosed trash room within the building; 
therefore, no screening is required. The trash room opens to the driveway aisle. Criterion 
met.  

Section 10.7.030.120 Outdoor Lighting 
FINDING #83:  The Site Lighting Plan (Attachment 1, SPR-10) shows the parking areas 
adequately lit for safety.  Pursuant to TDMC 10.7.030.120, the maximum illumination at the 
property line for outdoor lighting shall not exceed an average horizontal foot candle of 0.3 
for non-cut-off light and 1.0 for cut-off lights. The Photometric Plan (Attachment 1, SPR-11) 
demonstrates the average horizontal foot candle at the property line adjacent to the parking 
areas to be below the maximum illumination limit. Criterion met. 

Section 10.7.030.130 Stall and Aisle Dimensions 
FINDING #84:  As shown on Attachment 1, SPR-02 and C-200, the proposed parking lot 
utilizes 60-degree stalls off a one-way drive aisle. Parking stalls are 19 feet deep and 9 feet 
wide, with a 16-foot one-way drive aisle between. Criterion met.  

Section 10.7.040.030 Bicycle Parking Location and Access 
A.  Location. 
FINDING #85:  All required residential bicycle parking (116 spaces) are shown in each 
residential unit located on the upper floors (floors 2 through 5). The location of the bicycle 
parking in each unit type is illustrated on Attachment 1, SPR-01 through SPR-07. Long-term 
bicycle parking for the possible future commercial tenants will be provided in their 
respective tenant spaces. Eight (8) short-term bicycle parking spaces are provided along the 
East 3rd Street sidewalk as shown on Attachment 1, L-200 and L-300, and the bicycle rack is 
detailed on L-710. Subject to City Engineer’s approval, bicycle parking may be located in the 
public ROW when the parking does not conflict with pedestrian accessibility. A condition of 
approval is included and requires either that the location of the bicycle parking on East 3rd 
Street be approved by the City Engineer or bicycle parking will need to be located on site 
consistent with the requirements of TDMC 10.7.040.030(A). Criteria met with conditions.  

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 49 of 342



Staff Report, APL 37-24, Bob Wickwire 
Page 26 of 32 

B. Visibility.  
FINDING #86: The proposed location of the outdoor bicycle racks are located on the East 
3rd Street sidewalk close to the buildings without visual obstructions.  Criteria met.  
C. Lighting.  
FINDING #87:  The outdoor bicycle racks are for short term use and illuminated by the 
street lighting on East 3rd Street. Criteria met.  
D. Walkway. 
FINDING #88:  The outdoor bicycle racks are connected to primary building entrances by a 
sidewalk that is greater than 4 feet wide. Criteria met.  

Section 10.7.040.040 Bicycle Rack Types and Space Dimensions 
FINDING #89:  The outdoor bicycle rack construction specifications are shown on 
Attachment 1, L-710. The required size and spacing of the bike parking are shown on 
Attachment 1, L-300.  Criteria met.  

Section 10.7.040.050 Paving and Surfacing of Bicycle Parking Area 
FINDING #90:  Attachment 1, L-300, shows the bicycle racks are located on concrete 
material of over a 2-inch depth.  Criteria met.  

Section 10.7.060.010 Minimum and Maximum Off-Street Parking Requirements 

• Residential: 5 or more dwelling units 
o Bicycle Parking: 1 space per dwelling unit 

• Retail Trade 
o Bicycle Parking: 0.3 space/1,000 SF floor area 

• Restaurants (without drive-thru) 
o Bicycle Parking: 1 space/1,000 SF floor area 

FINDING #91:  Staff determined the following minimum bicycle parking requirements for 
the proposed development from the floor plan detail provided on Attachment 1, SPR-02. 
Note: the exact use of the commercial space is to be determined. 

• Residential: 5 or more dwelling units 
o 1 per dwelling unit (116 units) =  116 spaces 

• Retail Trade 
o 0.3 per 1,000 sf at 6,858 sf =   2 spaces 

• Restaurants (without drive-thru) 
o 1 per 1,000 sf at 2,985 sf =   3 spaces 

Total =  121 spaces 

As detailed on Attachment 1, SPR-03 – SPR-06, the minimum number of bicycle parking 
spaces for residential uses (116) are to be provided in each unit. Four (4) outdoor bicycle 

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 50 of 342



Staff Report, APL 37-24, Bob Wickwire 
Page 27 of 32 

racks are illustrated on site with two (2) bicycle spaces in each for eight (8) short-term spaces 
on the 3rd Street ROW for the retail and restaurant bike parking. In addition, long-term 
bicycle spaces intended for commercial tenants are proposed within the ground floor retail 
space along the northern interior wall. In total, 134 bicycle parking spaces are proposed with 
this development. Criterion met. 

Section 10.10.030 Timing of Improvements 
FINDING #92:  Pursuant to TDMC 10.10.030(A),  

“The construction, installation, placement, or addition of one or more dwelling units on a 
lot, including one that replaces another dwelling or structure, shall initiate the 
requirement of full public improvements, including street, curb, sidewalk, and storm 
sewer.” 

At the time of development, Applicant will be required to install half-street ROW 
improvements, including a complete curb, gutter, sidewalk system, and two new ADA ramps 
at the corner of East 3rd and Jefferson Streets and East 3rd and Laughlin Streets, as well as 
resurfacing of the entire alleyway to the north of the development. A condition of approval is 
included and requires Applicant to install all ROW improvements prior to occupancy. 
Criterion met with conditions.  
Section 10.10.040 Pedestrian Requirements 
A. Pedestrian Requirements. 
FINDING #93:  Pursuant to The Dalles Transportation System Plan (TSP) Functional 
Roadway Classifications, East 3rd Street is classified as an Arterial, while Jefferson and 
Laughlin Streets are classified as Minor Collectors. TDMC 10.10.040(A) requires all 
sidewalks along collector streets be a minimum of 5 feet wide and sidewalks along arterials 
be a minimum of 10 feet wide. As shown on Attachment 1, C-200, the proposed plans are 
showing a design that includes a 10.5-11 foot wide sidewalk surrounding the property, with 
15 4-foot wide tree wells distributed along all three street frontages. This layout is similar to 
the existing design on 2nd Street, with widths consistent to existing conditions along 3rd 
Street, and ideal for allowing wider pedestrian movement. Criteria met. 
B. Connectivity. 
FINDING #94:  Pursuant to TDMC Section 10.10.04(B),  

“Safe and convenient pedestrian facilities that strive to minimize travel distance to the 
greatest extent practicable shall be provided in conjunction with new development within 
and between new subdivisions, planned developments, [and] commercial developments.”   

Safe and convenient pedestrian access is provided from the site to adjacent developments by 
an existing network of public sidewalks, crosswalks, and ROW improvements with this 
development. See Attachment 1, C-200, for sidewalk connections. The main entry of the 
building, and of commercial tenants, are directly adjacent and oriented to public sidewalks 
included in public improvements with the proposal. Walkways directly align and connect to 
surrounding public sidewalks and are as direct as possible. No walkway/driveway crossings 
are proposed, and all internal walkways are separated from vehicle parking and maneuvering 
by grade and/or paving material in the parking lot. A condition of approval is included and 

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 51 of 342



Staff Report, APL 37-24, Bob Wickwire 
Page 28 of 32 

requires all ROW improvements be constructed to City standards. Criteria met with 
conditions.  
C. Trail Linkages.  
FINDING #95:  The development is not adjacent to future trail linkages. Criterion not 
applicable. 
D. Pedestrian Network.  
FINDING #96:  As shown on Attachment 1, SPR-01 and C-200. All pedestrian facilities are 
immediately adjacent to and connect to the site boundary and ground-floor building wall or 
entries. Criteria met.  

Section 10.10.050 Bicycle Requirements 
FINDING #97: Pursuant to the TSP, all surrounding streets (East 3rd, Jefferson, and 
Laughlin Streets) are “shared roadways” with bicyclists and motorists sharing the same travel 
lane. All existing shared-roadway bike facilities are maintained on all three street frontages. 
No new through-block bicycle or pedestrian connection is proposed, while access via an 
existing alley is maintained. Criterion met.  

Section 10.10.060 Street Requirements 
FINDING #98:  Pursuant to TDMC 10.10.060, a TIS is required for the development of 16 
or more dwelling units.  As stated in previous findings, a TIS was required with the proposed 
development; refer to TIS and Update (Attachment 2). No new street development is 
proposed and existing public streets are maintained with the Application. Upon review of the 
TIS, staff determined the proposed development will result in an increase of vehicular travel 
along the alleyway to the north of the development due to the only ingress/egress to the 
parking lot. As previously mentioned, a condition of approval is included and requires the 
alleyway to be resurfaced at the time of development. Criterion met with conditions. 

Section 10.10.070 Public Utility Connections 
FINDING #99:  The utility connections are shown in Attachment 1, C-400 Utility Plan. The 
proposed development provides public water, sanitary sewer, and storm drainage and is 
connected to existing public utility lines. All connections to, modifications, or extensions of 
public utilities in this proposal, will be constructed concurrent with the proposed 
development. All utilities are designed to conform to City Standards and are further 
illustrated in Attachment 1, C-500 through C-502. No private utility facilities are proposed. 
A condition of approval is included and requires all construction and design plans for public 
infrastructure to be approved by the City Engineer prior to the issuance of any building 
permits.  Criterion met with conditions. 

Section 10.10.080 Public Improvement Procedures 
FINDING #100:  All construction/design plans for public infrastructure, improvements, or 
ROW shall be approved by the City Engineer. Prior to the installation of public facilities, a 
pre-construction meeting is required between the City and Applicant. That decision includes 
this requirement as a condition of approval.  Criterion met with conditions.  

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 52 of 342



Staff Report, APL 37-24, Bob Wickwire 
Page 29 of 32 

Section 10.10.100 Franchise Utility Installations 
FINDING #101:  Franchise utilities proposed include electrical power, natural gas, 
telecommunication, and cable television. Franchise utilities are accessed from existing gas 
lines and electrical overhead lines. All distribution facilities are located underground on-site, 
except for existing overhead power and low-voltage lines along all three street frontages and 
within the alley. Applicant and its general contractor are in contact with Northern Wasco 
County PUD to coordinate construction and future plans for the existing power lines. 
Existing street lighting is maintained on all three street frontages with the proposal. A 
condition of approval is included and requires Applicant to coordinate all required easements 
with local utilities and dedicate all required easements on the final plan.  Criterion met with 
conditions. 
Section 10.10.110 Land for Public Purposes 
FINDING #102:  No land for public purposes is proposed with the Application. Criterion 
not applicable. 
Section 10.10.120 Mail Delivery Facilities 
FINDING #103:  A central mail facility is provided within the residential lobby and amenity 
space. All mailboxes and parcel lockers, including mailboxes for commercial tenants, will be 
within this area inside the building. A condition of approval is included and requires all mail 
delivery facility locations to be approved by the Postmaster. Criterion met with conditions. 

Section 10.10.130 Transit Requirements 
FINDING #104: The proposal does not include and is not adjacent to a planned or existing 
transit stop. Criterion not applicable. 
 

COMMISSION ALTERNATIVES:  
1. Staff recommendation: Move to adopt Resolution No. PC 623A-24, a resolution 

denying the Appeal and affirming the Director’s approval of Site Plan Review No. 544-
24, based upon the findings of fact and conclusions of law set forth in the Agenda Staff 
Report, with all conditions of approval outlined below. 

2. If the Planning Commission desires to affirm the Director’s decision based upon 
additional findings and conclusions, or with different conditions of approval, move to 
adopt Resolution No. PC 623A-24, a resolution denying the Appeal and affirming the 
Director’s approval of Site Plan Review No. 544-24, based upon the findings of fact and 
conclusions of law set forth in the Agenda Staff Report, as modified by the Commission, 
with all conditions of approval outlined below.  
 

3. If the Planning Commission desires to affirm the Appeal, move to adopt Resolution No. 
PC 623B-24, a resolution affirming the Appeal and overturning the Director’s decision. 
Under this alternative, the Planning Commission is required to identify the specific 
criteria supporting its decision against the Director’s decision.  

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 53 of 342



Staff Report, APL 37-24, Bob Wickwire 
Page 30 of 32 

CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL: 

1. Conditions Requiring Resolution Prior to Final Plan Approval: 
a. Final plan submission must meet all requirements of The Dalles Municipal Code, 

Title 10 Land Use and Development, and all other applicable provisions of The 
Dalles Municipal Code. 

b. Applicant is required to submit a specific schedule for completion of project phases to 
ensure construction is being diligently pursued toward completion. 

c. Applicant is required to demonstrate that a Conditional Use (CUP) for the 60 ft. 
building height is approved or submit revised plans that comply with the permitted 
outright building height of the underlying zoning district (55’). 

d. All construction/design plans for public infrastructure, improvements, or ROW shall 
be approved by the City Engineer. 

e. Applicant is required to submit a sanitary sewer analysis for the proposed 
development and approved by the City Engineer. 

f. Applicant shall ensure the private stormwater facilities can manage drainage from the 
subject development and shall coordinate any main line extensions with the City 
Engineer.   

g. All proposed street trees shall be chosen from a list provided by the City. 
h. All street tree planting systems must be approved by the Public Works Director or 

designee. 
i. The Mid-Columbia Fire and Rescue Fire Marshal must approve all proposed street 

tree locations. 
j. The City Engineer must approve all proposed street tree locations to ensure 

compliance with TDMC 10.6.010.060(E). 
k. The bicycle parking on East 3rd Street right-of-way is required to be approved by the 

City Engineer or will need to be located on-site consistent with the requirements of 
TDMC 10.7.040.030(A).  

l. The Applicant shall coordinate all required easements with local utilities and establish 
said easements on the final plan.  

m. The development must provide sufficient space to accommodate no less than four (4) 
motorcycles and/or mopeds. 

n. All mail delivery facility locations must be approved by the Postmaster. 

2. Conditions Requiring Resolution Prior to Building Permit Issuance:  
a. A detailed site plan, including construction/design and landscape plans consistent 

with the conditions of approval included within this Staff Report, must be approved 
by the Director and City Engineer prior to permit approval. 

b. The Minor Partition and Final Plat to consolidate the three tax lots into one tax lot 
shall be approved prior to the issuance of building permits. 

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 54 of 342



Staff Report, APL 37-24, Bob Wickwire 
Page 31 of 32 

c. All construction/design plans for public infrastructure, improvements, or rights-of-
way required with this development must be approved by the City Engineer.

d. All System Development Charges shall be paid.
e. Plans submitted with the subsequent building permits shall be consistent with the

approved Site Plan Review.
f. A cut and fill permit is required on all excavation that exceeds 50 cubic yards. If the

excavation exceeds 250 cubic yards, plans must be completed by a licensed engineer.

3. Conditions Required Prior to Construction:
a. Prior to the installation of public facilities, a pre-construction meeting is required

between the City and Applicant.
b. Applicant is required to obtain all applicable City permits for tree planting.
c. Walkways, including driveway and accessway crossings, shall be constructed and

maintained for pedestrian safety, and shall meet the requirements of the Americans
with Disabilities Act, the State of Oregon Structural Specialties Code, and the Oregon
Revised Statutes.

d. Applicant will be required to record all utility easements proposed for this
development.

4. Conditions Required During Construction:
a. Applicant shall take effective action to prevent the escape of sediment from the site

by installation of erosion and sediment control measures and practices prior to, and
concurrent with, land disturbing activities.

b. Applicant shall prevent the formation of any airborne dust nuisance and shall be
responsible for any damage resulting from failure to do so.

c. An oil/water separator must be installed on the subject property and a maintenance
agreement established with the City’s Public Works Department.

d. All ROW improvements must be constructed to City standards.

5. Conditions Required Prior to Occupancy:
a. All required landscaping and improvements shall be completed or financially

guaranteed per the provisions of TDMC 10.9.040.060(I): Performance Guarantee
prior to occupancy.

b. All parking spaces shall be striped and hard surfaced prior to occupancy.
c. All required improvements, including all ROW improvements and alleyway

resurfacing, shall be installed prior to occupancy.
d. All ADA signage and spaces must be installed on site as shown on the site plan prior

to occupancy.

6. Ongoing Conditions:
a. All development must adhere to the approved site plan for this development.

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 55 of 342



Staff Report, APL 37-24, Bob Wickwire 
Page 32 of 32

b. All proposed lighting shall not directly illuminate adjoining properties.  Lighting
sources in the parking area shall be shielded and arranged to prevent glare in any
public ROW, with a maximum illumination at the property line not to exceed an
average horizontal foot-candle of 0.3 for non-cut-off lights, and 1.0 for cut-off lights.

c. All required landscaping shall be irrigated and maintained. If street trees or other
plant materials do not survive or are removed, materials shall be replaced in-kind by
the developer or party responsible for removing the trees and/or plant material.

d. Trees shall be pruned to provide a minimum clearance of 9 feet above sidewalks and
14 feet above street and roadway surfaces.

e. All points of access for refuse collection shall remain unobstructed.
f. Pursuant to TDMC 6.080.020, no tenant of the development may park along the

public streets in the Central Business Zone Boundary during the hours of 9:00 a.m.
through 6:00 p.m. and all violators will be towed at their own expense.

ATTACHMENTS:  

1. SPR 544-24 Site Plan Review Plan Set
2. SPR 544-24 Traffic Impact Study and Update
3. SPR 544-24 Parking Management Plan and Demand Assessment
4. SPR 544-24 Comments Received – Compiled
5. Central Business Zone Boundary Map
6. PC Resolution No. 623A-24
7. PC Resolution No. 623B-24
8. APL 37-24, Public Hearing Notice
9. APL 37-24, Notice of Appeal
10. SPR 544-24, Notice of Decision
11. SPR 544-24, Staff Report
12. SPR 544-24, Notice of Administrative Action
13. SPR 544-24, Application  (Note: Attachments 1, 2, and 3 were included as application

material at the time of Application submission.)

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 56 of 342



SCALE
20

1 INCH = 20 FEET

20 400

C I V I L · S T R U C T U R A L

Portland, OR. | Bend, OR. | Denver, CO.

e n g i n e e r s

(503) 624-7005

523 E. Third Street
The Dalles, OR   97058

Attachment 1

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 57 of 342



5 12

17

58

51

15

8

16

3

54

12
2

5
12

1

1

7

1

1

4

1

516

19

21

20

18

56

59

52

51

51

225

5
59 51

2
17

12

45

1

14
54

12

9

7

6

11

10

18

53

7
51

5

54

12 12
2

57

5

56 7

5

2
2

1

50

50

50

60

7

56

5451
53

53

54

56

60

5654

54

51
52

54

60

56

57
6161

JE
FF

ER
SO

N
 S

TR
EE

T
E 3RD STREET

LA
U

G
H

LI
N

 S
TR

EE
T

3

13

SCALE
20

1 INCH = 20 FEET

20 400

SHEET LEGEND

WORK LIMITS

DEMOLITION KEY NOTESSHEET NOTES
1. CONTRACTOR MAY STAGE WITHIN LIMITS OF DEMOLITION.

2. REMOVE ALL SITE COMPONENTS AND RECYCLE COMPONENTS AS
REQUIRED IN THE SPECIFICATIONS.

3. GENERAL DEMOLITION PERMIT SHALL BE SECURED BY THE
CONTRACTOR.

4. ALL TRADE LICENSES AND PERMITS NECESSARY FOR THE
PROCUREMENT AND COMPLETION OF THE WORK SHALL BE SECURED
BY THE CONTRACTOR PRIOR TO COMMENCING DEMOLITION.

5. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL PRESERVE AND PROTECT FROM DAMAGE ALL
EXISTING RIGHT-OF-WAY SURVEY MONUMENTATION DURING
DEMOLITION. THE CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR COORDINATING
AND PAYING FOR THE REPLACEMENT BY A LICENSED SURVEYOR OF
ANY DAMAGED OR REMOVED MONUMENTS.

6. PROTECT ALL ITEMS ON ADJACENT PROPERTIES AND IN THE RIGHT OF
WAY INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED TO SIGNAL EQUIPMENT, PARKING
METERS, SIDEWALKS, STREET TREES, STREET LIGHTS, CURBS,
PAVEMENT AND SIGNS. CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR
RESTORING ANY DAMAGED ITEMS TO ORIGINAL CONDITION.

7. PROTECT STRUCTURES, UTILITIES, SIDEWALKS, AND OTHER FACILITIES
IMMEDIATELY ADJACENT TO EXCAVATIONS FROM DAMAGES CAUSED
BY SETTLEMENT, LATERAL MOVEMENT, UNDERMINING, WASHOUT AND
OTHER HAZARDS.

8. SAWCUT STRAIGHT LINES IN SIDEWALK, AS NECESSARY.

9. CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE TO CONTROL DUST AND MUD DURING
THE DEMOLITION PERIOD, AND DURING TRANSPORTATION OF
DEMOLITION DEBRIS. ALL STREET SURFACES OUTSIDE THE
CONSTRUCTION ZONE MUST BE KEPT CLEAN.

10. ALL EXPOSED PORTIONS OF UNDERGROUND UTILITIES TO BE
ABANDONED SHALL BE PLUGGED PER DETAIL X/CXXX.

1 REMOVE CONCRETE
SIDEWALK

2 REMOVE BUILDING AND
COLUMNS (BY OTHERS)

3 REMOVE LANDSCAPING

4 REMOVE ASPHALT
PAVEMENT

5 REMOVE CURB

6 REMOVE BOLLARDS

7 REMOVE STAIRS, RAMPS,
AND HANDRAILS

8 REMOVE UNDERGROUND
ELECTRICAL. COORDINATE
WITH LOCAL PUD

9 REMOVE OVERHEAD UTILITY
LINE. COORDINATE WITH
LOCAL PUD

10 REMOVE GAS LINE AND CAP
AT MAIN. COORDINATE WITH
UTILITY PROVIDER

11 REMOVE GAS METER.
COORDINATE WITH UTILITY
PROVIDER

12 REMOVE UTILITY
STRUCTURE. COORDINATE
WITH UTILITY PROVIDER

13 REMOVE SANITARY SEWER
LINE. CAP AT MAIN

14 ABANDON STORMWATER
LINE. CAP AT CATCH BASIN

15 REMOVE ELECTRICAL
VAULT. COORDINATE WITH
LOCAL PUD

16 REMOVE SIGN

17 REMOVE LIGHT POLE

18 REMOVE WATER LINE
COORDINATE WITH UTILITY
PROVIDER

19 REMOVE BRICK PLANTER

20 REMOVE EXISTING WATER
METER. COORDINATE WITH
LOCAL UTILITY PROVIDER

21 REMOVE CONCRETE
FOOTING

22 REMOVE CONCRETE CATCH
BASIN

PROPERTY LINE

PROTECTION KEY NOTES
50 PROTECT ASPHALT

PAVEMENT

51 PROTECT OVERHEAD UTILITY
LINE/LIGHT POLE.
COORDINATE WITH LOCAL
PUD

52 PROTECT UTILITY POLE AND
GUY WIRES. COORDINATE
WITH LOCAL PUD

53 PROTECT GAS LINE.
COORDINATE WITH UTILITY
PROVIDER

54 PROTECT SANITARY SEWER
LINE

55 PROTECT SANITARY
MANHOLE

56 PROTECT STORM LINE

57 PROTECT STORM CATCH
BASIN

58 PROTECT ELECTRICAL
STRUCTURE. COORDINATE
WITH LOCAL PUD

59 PROTECT LIGHT POLE.
COORDINATE WITH LOCAL
PUD

60 PROTECT WATER LINE

61 PROTECT GAS METER.
COORDINATE WITH UTILITY
PROVIDER

SAWCUT LINE

C I V I L · S T R U C T U R A L

Portland, OR. | Bend, OR. | Denver, CO.

e n g i n e e r s

(503) 624-7005

523 E. Third Street
The Dalles, OR   97058

Attachment 1

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 58 of 342



2
C-201

3
C-201

1
C-201

9.00'' T
YP

1

5

5

7

7

9

6

2

14

2

7

84

4

14

14

6

2

7

10

3

74
.0

0'
4 

 S
TD

 S
TA

LL
S

20
.0

0'
 N

O
 P

AR
KI

N
G

20.00'
 NO PARKING

259.00'
 14 STD STALLS

22.68'
 NO PARKING

65
.8

2'
 6

 6
0°

 S
TA

LL
S

20
.0

0'
 N

O
 P

AR
KI

N
G

19.00'

9.50'

1.80'
20.78'

2 STD STALLS 1.80' 1.80'
20.78'

2 STD STALLS 1.80'
20.78'

2 STD STALLS 1.80'
20.78'

2 STD STALLS 5.62'
27.79'

2 ADA STALLS

4.
00

'

176.67'
17 STD STALLS

16.00'

16
.0

0'

9.00'

2.
50

'

5.87'

R10.50'

R10
.50

'

16
.0

0'
19

.5
0'

27.24'

10.50'

11
.0

0'

10.50'

12

28.00'
 TREE SPACING, TYP

32
.0

0'
 T

R
EE

 S
PA

C
IN

G
, T

YP

28
.0

0'
 T

R
EE

 S
PA

C
IN

G
, T

YP
.

20.78'
2 STD STALLS

7.5' MIN CLEARANCE REQUIRED
BETWEEN BUILDING AND OHP

R9
.0

0'

1.80'
20.78'

2 STD STALLS1.80'
20.78'

2 STD STALLS

7

3.54'
R3.00'

20.78'
2 STD STALLS7.5' MIN CLEARANCE REQUIRED

BETWEEN BUILDING AND OHP

3.
00

'

18
.5

0'

4
C-201

5.00'

13(TYP.)

15

16 19
.0

2'

17

R1
0.

00
'

12.63' 19.19' 13.46' 11.23' 14.00' 10.67'

7
2

18

2

14

X
CX.X

SCALE
10

1 INCH = 10 FEET

10 200

1 SAWCUT LINE

2 STANDARD CURB

3 CANOPY PER ARCHITECTURE PLAN

4 WHEEL STOP

5 CURB RAMP

6 DRIVEWAY

7 CONCRETE SIDEWALK

8 ADA PARKING STALLS

9 PLAZA LAYOUT PER LANDSCAPE PLAN

10 BUILDING COLUMN

11 TRANSFORMER ENCLOSURE BY OTHERS

12 CURB AND GUTTER

13 TREE GRATE PER LANDSCAPE PLANS

14 CURB WALL

15 CURB ENDING

16 ADA RAMP

17 BOLLARD

18 TRANSFORMER PER ELECTRICAL PLANS

KEY NOTESSHEET NOTES
1. ALL DIMENSIONS ARE TO FACE OF CURB OR FACE OF WALL.

2. ALL SIDEWALK PAVEMENT JOINTS SHALL BE CONSTRUCTED
PER DETAIL X/C5.X.

SHEET LEGEND

STANDARD ASPHALT PAVEMENT

LANDSCAPING, SEE LANDSCAPE
PLANS

CONCRETE SIDEWALK

PROPERTY LINE

X
CX.X

X
CX.X

X
CX.X

X
CX.X

X
CX.X

HEAVY DUTY CONCRETE

X

RESURFACE ASPHALT PAVEMENT

X
CX.X

C I V I L · S T R U C T U R A L

Portland, OR. | Bend, OR. | Denver, CO.

e n g i n e e r s

(503) 624-7005

523 E. Third Street
The Dalles, OR   97058

X
CX.X

X
CX.X

Attachment 1

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 59 of 342



10.50'

0.5'
CURB

ROW

4.0'
FURNISHING ZONE

(TREE WELLS & S/W )
(3'x4' SCORE GRID)

6'
PEDESTRIAN ZONE

SIDEWALK

19.50'

2% - 6%

SCALE: NTS1 TYP. SECTION - LAUGHLIN STREET

30.00'

℄

VAREIS
0' TO 0.18'

1.5% - 4.1%

1.5% (TYP)

SA
W

C
U

T 
LI

N
E

3.0'

1.5% (TYP)

11.00'

0.5'
CURB

ROW

4.0'
FURNISHING ZONE

(TREE WELLS & S/W )
(3'x4' SCORE GRID)

6.5'
PEDESTRIAN ZONE

SIDEWALK
(3'x3.5', 3'x3')

19.00'

2% - 6%

SCALE: NTS2 TYP. SECTION - E 3RD STREET

30.00'

℄

1.5% - 4.1%

1.5% (TYP)

SA
W

C
U

T 
LI

N
E

6.0'

1.5% (TYP)

10.50'

0.5'
CURB

ROW

4.0'
FURNISHING ZONE

(TREE WELLS & S/W )
(3'x4' SCORE GRID)

6'
PEDESTRIAN ZONE

SIDEWALK

19.50'

2% - 6%

SCALE: NTS3 TYP. SECTION - JEFFERSON STREET

30.00'

℄

VARIES
0.0' TO 0.18'

1.5% - 4.1%

1.5% (TYP)

SA
W

C
U

T 
LI

N
E

3.0'

1.5% (TYP)

C I V I L · S T R U C T U R A L

Portland, OR. | Bend, OR. | Denver, CO.

e n g i n e e r s

(503) 624-7005

523 E. Third Street
The Dalles, OR   97058

0.5'
CURB

19.5'
PARKING STALL

20.00'

2% - 6%

SCALE: NTS4 TYP. SECTION - ALLEY AND PARKING LOT

78.50'

1.5% - 4.1%

SA
W

C
U

T 
LI

N
E

3.0'

19.5'
PARKING STALL

4.0'

XX
' C

LR
.

EXISTING AC PAVEMENT

PROPOSED CURB

2" AGGREGATE BASECONSTRUCT SIDEWALK
REPLACE AC PAVEMENT

BACK OF WALK (BOW)

EXISTING AC PAVEMENTPROPOSED CURB
AND GUTTER

2" AGGREGATE BASECONSTRUCT SIDEWALK

REPLACE AC PAVEMENT

BACK OF WALK (BOW)

EXISTING AC PAVEMENT

PROPOSED CURB

2" AGGREGATE BASECONSTRUCT SIDEWALK
REPLACE AC PAVEMENT

BACK OF WALK (BOW)

EXISTING AC PAVEMENT
GRIND AND INLAY

PROPOSED CURB

2" AGGREGATE BASE

CONSTRUCT SIDEWALK

REPLACE AC PAVEMENT

16.0'
DRIVE AISLE

ROWROW

COLUMNS PER
STRUCTURAL PLANS

Attachment 1

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 60 of 342



19

3 11

P - Passenger Car
Overall Length 19.000ft
Overall Width 7.000ft
Overall Body Height 4.300ft
Min Body Ground Clearance 1.115ft
Track Width 6.000ft
Lock-to-lock time 4.00s
Max Steering Angle (Virtual) 31.60°

30°

60
°

90
°

12
0°

150°

180°

SCALE
10

1 INCH = 10 FEET

10 200

C I V I L · S T R U C T U R A L

Portland, OR. | Bend, OR. | Denver, CO.

e n g i n e e r s

(503) 624-7005

523 E. Third Street
The Dalles, OR   97058

Attachment 1

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 61 of 342



41+00 42+00 43+00

81+00 82+00 83+00

105.36 TP 105.36 TP105.09 TP 105.36 TP
105.36 TP

105.36 TP105.36 TP

104.00 TP

104.29 TP

104.29 TP

105.30 TP

105.36 TP

105.11 FF

105.38 FF

104.31 FF

105.17 FF

104.02 FF

105.36 TP 105.36 TP

105.15 TP

105.50 TC
105.00 TP

104.50 TC
104.00 TP

103.45 TP

105.15 TP

105.25 TC
104.75 TP

103.79 TP

105.36 TP

104.12 TP
104.32 TP

104.21 TP104.43 TP

104.22 TP

3.
0%

1.9%

6.
5%

3.
1%

1.
0%

3.
0%

3.
0%

105.38 FF

105.38 FF
105.38 FF

105.38 FF

105.38 FF

104.23 TP

103.61 TP104.95 TW
103.54 TP

104.00 TP

103.45 TP

103.38 TP

103.86 TC
103.36 TP

103.5± EG

103.4± EG

103.60 TP

104.39 BOW

104.02 FF

105.32 TP/TC
105.31 TP

104.20 TP

1+00

1+
36

.5
1

1+
00

1+46.98

104.95 TW/TC
104.45 TP

2.2% 1.9%

2.
1%

105.32 TC
105.00 TP

104.32 TP/TC

104.22 TC
103.72 TP

105.38 FF

104.11 TP

104.13 TC
103.63 TP

103.98 TP

105.19 TC
104.69 TP

104.24 TG

103.70 TC
103.20 TP

104.95 TW
103.03 TP

103.1± EG 102.8± EG 102.4± EG 103.0± EG 103.4± EG

103.2± EG

103.5± EG103.1± EG103.3± EG

103.47 TP

104.31 FF

104.25 FF

SCALE
10

1 INCH = 10 FEET

10 200

CONTOUR MAJOR (FG)

CONTOUR MINOR (FG)

EX. CONTOUR MAJOR

EX. CONTOUR MINOR

49

50

49

50

DRAINAGE FLOW DIRECTION

GRADE BREAK
GRADING SLOPE AND DIRECTION
(DOWNHILL)

X.X%

SPOT ELEVATION
DESCRIPTION LISTED BELOW.
NO DESCRIPTION MEANS TP
OR TG

BOW BACK OF WALK
EG EXISTING GRADE
FF FINISHED FLOOR
G GUTTER
RIM RIM OF STRUCTURE
TC TOP OF CURB
TG TOP OF GROUND
TP TOP OF PAVEMENT

XX.XX  XX

1. SLOPES PROVIDED ON SLOPE ARROW ARE FOR
REFERENCE ONLY.

2. LANDINGS ON ACCESSIBLE ROUTES SHALL NOT EXCEED
1.5% IN ANY DIRECTION.

3. ALL ACCESSIBLE ROUTES SHALL COMPLY WITH CURRENT
ADA ACCESSIBILITY GUIDELINES FOR BUILDING AND
FACILITIES (ADAAG).

4. ALL ADA COMPLIANT WALKWAYS ARE DESIGNED TO NOT
REQUIRE HANDRAILS.

5. TOP OF CONCRETE OUTSIDE BUILDING DOOR = FF ELEV.
MINUS 0.02'.

CALLOUT    DESCRIPTION

C I V I L · S T R U C T U R A L

Portland, OR. | Bend, OR. | Denver, CO.

e n g i n e e r s

(503) 624-7005

523 E. Third Street
The Dalles, OR   97058

SHEET NOTES SHEET LABEL LEGEND SHEET LEGEND

SEE SHEET C-301 FOR PLAN AND
PROFILE GRADE OF E 3RD STREET

SEE SHEET C-302 FOR
PLAN AND PROFILE GRADE

OF JEFFERSON STREET

SEE SHEET C-302 FOR
PLAN AND PROFILE GRADE
OF LAUGHLIN STREET

Attachment 1

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 62 of 342



41+00 42+00 43+00

104.86 TP

104.90 BOW

40+89.26
105.33 BOW

105.28 TP 105.23 TP

41+34.11
105.29 BOW

42+26.76
105.29 BOW

105.23 TP 105.23 TP 105.23 TP

105.33 BOW

104.85 TP

104.91 BOW

40+40.11
105.03 BOW 40+48.45

105.42 BOW

104.97 TP

105.36 TP/TC

40+29.95, LT 19.00, PT
TC=105.34
G/TC=104.84

43+31.63, LT 19.00, PC
TC=104.83
G=104.33

42+64.46
105.33 BOW

43+08.44
TC=104.45

43+29.03, CB
TC=104.81
G=104.27

1.
0%

0.
7%

1.
0%

1.
0%

1.
5%

1.
5%

0.
9%

0.
7%

3.
6%

5.
0%

6.
4%

1.
1%

0.
5%

100

105

110

100

105

110

40+20 41+00 42+00 43+00 43+50

-0.14%
-0.88% 2.27%

G
=1

04
.8

4
40

+2
9.

95

G
=1

04
.4

5
43

+0
8.

44

G
=1

04
.2

7
43

+2
9.

03

G
=1

04
.3

3
43

+3
1.

63

40
+2

9.
95

BO
W

=1
04

.8
4

40
+4

0.
11

BO
W

=1
05

.0
3

40
+4

8.
45

BO
W

=1
05

.4
2

40
+8

9.
26

BO
W

=1
05

.3
3

41
+3

4.
11

BO
W

=1
05

.2
9

42
+2

6.
76

BO
W

=1
05

.2
9

42
+6

4.
46

BO
W

=1
05

.3
3

BO
W

=1
05

.3
3

PROPOSED GRADE AT
BACK OF WALK

PROPOSED GRADE
AT GUTTER

EXISTING GRADE AT
PROPOSED GUTTER

EXISTING GRADE AT
CENTERLINE

EXISTING GRADE
AT SAWCUT

43
+2

9.
80

BO
W

=1
04

.9
2

SCALE
10

1 INCH = 10 FEET

10 200

C I V I L · S T R U C T U R A L

Portland, OR. | Bend, OR. | Denver, CO.

e n g i n e e r s

(503) 624-7005

523 E. Third Street
The Dalles, OR   97058

SCALE:
PLAN - 3RD STREET

SCALE:
PROFILE - 3RD STREET

Attachment 1

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 63 of 342



43
+7

1.
6860+00 61+00 61+50

83
+7

1.
68

60+31.78
104.91 BOW

104.40 BOW
103.70 BOW

60+29.57, LT 29.50, PT
TC=104.83
G=104.33

61+40.24, LT -30.16
G/TC=102.8±
(MATCH EX.)

61+30.26, LT 29.50
G/TC=102.92

61+22.26
TC=103.54
G=103.04

60+76.08
TC=104.24
G=103.74

103.08 BOW

103.21 BOW

1.
0%

1.
0%

1.
5%

1.
5%

1.
5%

4.
8%

7.8%

7.8%

100

105

110

100

105

110

60+00 61+00 61+50

-1.25%

-1.50%

G
=1

04
.3

2
60

+2
9.

57

G
=1

03
.7

4
60

+7
5.

91

G
=1

02
.9

2
61

+3
0.

26

EXISTING GRADE AT
CENTERLINE

EXISTING GRADE AT
PROPOSED GUTTER

EXISTING GRADE
AT SAWCUT

PROPOSED GRADE
AT GUTTER

BO
W

=1
04

.8
2

BO
W

=1
04

.2
4

BO
W

=1
03

.4
2

-1.25%

-1.50%

PROPOSED GRADE AT
BACK OF WALK

100

105

110

100

105

110

20+00 21+00 21+50

-1.36%

-1.35%

-1.42%

-1.35%

G
=1

04
.7

4
20

+2
9.

95

G
=1

04
.5

6
20

+4
2.

95

G
=1

03
.4

4
21

+2
2.

13

G
=1

03
.3

3
21

+3
0.

13

G
=1

03
.2

0
21

+4
0.

15

20
+2

9.
95

BO
W

=1
04

.9
0

20
+4

2.
95

BO
W

=1
05

.0
9

21
+2

2.
13

BO
W

=1
04

.1
7

21
+3

0.
13

BO
W

=1
03

.6
5

21
+4

0.
15

BO
W

=1
03

.4
1

PROPOSED GRADE AT
BACK OF WALK

PROPOSED GRADE
AT GUTTER

EXISTING GRADE AT
PROPOSED GUTTER

EXISTING GRADE AT
CENTERLINE

EXISTING GRADE
AT SAWCUT

20+00 21+00

40
+0

0

80
+0

0

105.09 BOW 104.17 BOW 103.49 BOW
103.41 BOW

20+29.95, RT 19.50, PC
G/TC=104.74

21+22.13
TC=103.94
G=103.44

21+30.13, RT 19.50
G/TC=103.33

21+40.15, RT 19.68
G/TC=103.2±
(MATCH EX.)

20+42.95
TC=105.06
G=104.56

104.90 BOW

0.
3%

1.
5%

2.
1%

1.
5%

8.5%

8.5%

SCALE
10

1 INCH = 10 FEET

10 200

C I V I L · S T R U C T U R A L

Portland, OR. | Bend, OR. | Denver, CO.

e n g i n e e r s

(503) 624-7005

523 E. Third Street
The Dalles, OR   97058

SCALE:
PLAN - JEFFERSON STREET

SCALE:
PROFILE - JEFFERSON STREET

SCALE:
PLAN - LAUGHLIN STREET

SCALE:
PROFILE - LAUGHLIN STREET

Attachment 1

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 64 of 342



103

104

105

106

103

104

105

106

1+00 1+10 1+20 1+30 1+40 1+50

EXISTING GRADE AT
PROPOSED GUTTER

PROPOSED GRADE
AT GUTTER

1.40%
0.59% -0.15%

G
=1

04
.5

6
1+

07
.0

2

G
=1

04
.8

3
1+

43
.5

0

G
/T

C
=1

04
.7

4
1+

20
.0

0,
 P

C

-2.45%
0.59%

1+
07

.0
2

TC
=1

05
.0

6

1+
43

.5
0

TC
=1

05
.3

3

TC
=1

05
.3

4

-0.15%
PROPOSED GRADE
AT TOP OF CURB

G
/T

C
=1

04
.8

4
1+

36
.9

8,
 P

T

105.11 FF

1+20.00, PC
=20+29.95 RT 19.50' (LAUGHLIN STREET)

G/TC=104.74

104.90 BOW

105.36 TC
104.86 TP

1+36.98, PT
=40+29.95 LT 19.00' (3RD STREET)
TC=105.34
G/TC=104.84

105.0± EG

105.2± EG

105.0± EG

3.
3%

1.5%

0.3%

1.
0%

1+07.02
TC=105.06
G=104.56

105.03 BOW

105.47 TC
104.97 TP

3.6%

105.09 BOW

0.
5%

1.3%

1.
5%

1+10.00, PC
=43+31.63 LT 19.00' (3RD STREET)

TC=104.83
G=104.33

1+15.74
TC/G=104.47

1+20.79
TC/G=104.41

1+26.51, PT
=60+29.57 LT 29.50' (JEFFERSON STREET)
TC=104.83
G=104.33

104.82 TP

104.83 TP

104.90 TP

104.89 TP

104.7± EG

104.3± EG

104.5± EG

7.5%

6.5%

1.4%

1.4%

104.85 TP

104.85 TP

103

104

105

106

103

104

105

106

1+04 1+10 1+20 1+30

-1.27% -1.27%2.39% 2.39%

1+
07

.4
0

TC
=1

04
.7

7

1+
10

.0
0

TC
=1

04
.8

3

G
=1

04
.2

7
1+

07
.4

0

G
=1

04
.3

3
1+

10
.0

0

PROPOSED GRADE
AT TOP OF CURB

EXISTING GRADE AT
PROPOSED GUTTER

PROPOSED GRADE
AT GUTTER

G
/T

C
=1

04
.4

7
1+

15
.7

4,
 P

C

G
/T

C
=1

04
.4

1
1+

20
.7

9,
 P

C

G
=1

04
.3

3
1+

26
.5

1
1+

26
.5

1
TC

=1
04

.8
3

SCALE
10

1 INCH = 10 FEET

10 200

C I V I L · S T R U C T U R A L

Portland, OR. | Bend, OR. | Denver, CO.

e n g i n e e r s

(503) 624-7005

523 E. Third Street
The Dalles, OR   97058

SCALE:
PLAN - CURB RETURN 1 (CR1)

SCALE:
PROFILE - CURB RETURN 1 (CR1)

SCALE:
PLAN - CURB RETURN 2 (CR2)

SCALE:
PROFILE - CURB RETURN 2 (CR2)

E 3RD STREET E 3RD STREET

JE
FF

ER
SO

N
 S

TR
EE

T

LA
U

G
H

LI
N

 S
TR

EE
T

Attachment 1

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 65 of 342



FILL: 406 CY

CUT: 14 CY

SCALE
10

1 INCH = 10 FEET

10 200

1. CUT-FILL QUANTITIES ARE PROVIDED FOR ON-SITE AREA
ONLY. QUANTITIES COMPARE EXISTING SURFACE GRADES
TO PROPOSED FINISHED GRADES.

TOTAL: 392 CY (FILL)

C I V I L · S T R U C T U R A L

Portland, OR. | Bend, OR. | Denver, CO.

e n g i n e e r s

(503) 624-7005

523 E. Third Street
The Dalles, OR   97058

SHEET NOTES SHEET LEGEND

Attachment 1

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 66 of 342



41+00 42+00 43+00

81+00 82+00 83+00

SD SD SS

EXISTING 24" SSEXISTING 12" SD
(PER SURVEY)

W6"

FP6"

EXISTING 24" SS

SS
SD

12

3
1

8

6

5

15

10

11

9

29 LF - 10"SD
S=1.00%

8 LF - 6"SD
S=3.22%

9 
LF

 - 
6"

SD

S=
1.

00
%

32
 L

F 
- 6

"S
S

S=
26

.4
0%

32
 L

F 
- 6

"S
S

S=
24

.6
9%

5 LF - 6"SD
S=16.66%

5 LF - 6"SD
S=39.26%

14 LF - 4"SD
S=2.00% MIN

33 LF - 8"SD

S=1.00%
9 LF - 4"SD

S=1.00%

70 LF - 6"SD

S=1.00% 3 LF - 4"SD
S=16.52%

49 LF - 4"SD
S=1.00%

9 LF - 6"SD
S=1.00%

9 LF - 6"SD
S=1.00%

1

2

3

4

7
13 142 4

W ''STR-6''
N=4882.97
E=5295.59

W ''STR-8''
N=4886.36
E=5297.90

3

4

EXISTING FIRE HYDRANT

2

2

61
+0

0

W6"

FP6"

56 LF - 8"W

53 LF - 6"W

W ''STR-6''
N=4882.97
E=5295.59

W ''STR-8''
N=4886.36
E=5297.90

W ''STR-7''
N=4854.96
E=5343.75

W ''STR-3''
N=4840.03
E=5333.51

1
4

1

EXISTING FIRE HYDRANT
KEYNOTE

1

2

3

4

STRUCTURE ID

CONN-1

STUB-1

CONN-2

STUB-2

NORTHING

5036.87

5010.56

4973.01

4946.75

EASTING

5146.85

5128.81

5239.97

5221.97

RIM ELEVATION

???

???

???

???

INVERT ELEVATIONS

IE 24"(IN) = 92.96 (SE)
IE 6"(IN) = 93.96 (SW)
IE 24"(OUT) = 92.96 (NW)

IE 6"(OUT) = 102.38 (NE)

IE 24"(IN) = 93.36 (SE)
IE 6"(IN) = 94.36 (SW)
IE 24"(OUT) = 93.36 (NW)

IE 6"(OUT) = 102.22 (NE)--

--

--

--

KEYNOTE

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

STRUCTURE ID

CONN-1

COTG-1

COTG-2

''STR-68''

COTG-3

NODE-3

''STR-56''

AD-1

NODE-1

OIL/WATER SEPARATOR

NODE-2

CB-2

''STR-23''

''STR-19''

AD-2

NORTHING

5071.18

5046.77

5028.34

4978.34

4939.03

4929.79

4902.03

5066.56

5034.87

5029.92

5025.06

5032.80

5012.25

4948.44

4905.96

EASTING

5101.35

5084.79

5111.70

5184.69

5242.08

5243.80

5284.35

5081.68

5115.95

5123.17

5130.26

5135.56

5126.33

5219.49

5283.10

RIM ELEVATION

???

103.94

103.68

104.04

104.73

104.89

103.88

104.06

103.45

103.40

103.34

103.06

???

???

103.79

INVERT ELEVATIONS

IE 12"(IN) = 98.79 (SE)
IE 10"(IN) = 99.29 (SW)
IE 12"(OUT) = 98.79 (NW)

IE 8"(IN) = 99.58 (SE)
IE 10"(OUT) = 99.58 (NE)

IE 6"(IN) = 99.91 (SE)
IE 6"(IN) = 99.91 (NE)
IE 8"(OUT) = 99.91 (NW)

IE 6"(IN) = 100.80 (SE)
IE 6"(OUT) = 100.80 (NW)

IE 4"(IN) = 101.49 (S)
IE 6"(OUT) = 101.49 (NW)

IE 4"(IN) = 101.58 (SE)
IE 4"(OUT) = 101.58 (N)

IE 4"(OUT) = 102.08 (NW)

IE 4"(OUT) = 102.26 (SE)

IE 6"(IN) = 100.16 (SE)
IE 6"(OUT) = 100.16 (SW)

IE 6"(IN) = 100.33 (SE)
IE 6"(OUT) = 100.25 (NW)

IE 6"(IN) = 100.42 (NE)
IE 6"(OUT) = 100.42 (NW)

IE 6"(OUT) = 100.51 (SW)

IE 6"(OUT) = 102.38 (NE)

IE 6"(OUT) = 102.38 (NE)

IE 4"(OUT) = 102.29 (SW)

--

--

--

SCALE
10

1 INCH = 10 FEET

10 200

SHEET LEGEND

CONNECT TO STORM DRAIN. SEE PLUMBING PLANS FOR
CONTINUATION. SIZE AND IE AS NOTED.

CONNECT TO WASTE LINE. SEE PLUMBING PLANS FOR
CONTINUATION. SIZE AS NOTED.

CONNECT TO COLD WATER SYSTEM. SEE PLUMBING PLANS
FOR CONTINUATION. SIZE AS NOTED.

UTILITY CROSSING. PROVIDE 12" MIN.
CLEARANCE, U.N.O.

KEY NOTESSHEET NOTES

UTILITY LABEL LEGEND

STRUCTURE TYPE
CALLOUT DESCRIPTION DETAIL REF.

BEND BEND, USE FITTING IF APPLICABLE
CB TRAPPED CATCH BASIN
COTG CLEANOUT TO GRADE
CONN CONNECTION
FDC FIRE DEPARTMENT CONNECTION
FH FIRE HYDRANT
GI GREASE INTERCEPTOR
GV GATE VALVE
O/W OIL WATER SEPARATOR
OVERFLOW OVERFLOW INLET
STUB STUB
TEE TEE CONNECTION
WYE WYE CONNECTION
WM WATER METER

PIPE LABEL

XXLF - XX" XX

UTILITY SIZE

UTILITY LENGTH

UTILITY TYPE

S=X.XX%

SLOPE (WHERE APPLICABLE)

1. PIPE BEDDING AND BACKFILL FOR ALL UTILITIES SHALL BE DONE
PER DETAIL X/C501.

2. STRUCTURES LOCATIONS ARE BASED ON CENTER OF
STRUCTURE.

3. CONTRACTOR TO VERIFY TIE-IN ELEVATION AND COMMUNICATE
ANY DISCREPANCIES TO THE ENGINEER OF RECORD.

4. WATER AND FIRE BACKFLOW ASSEMBLIES TO BE LOCATED
INSIDE BUILDING. SEE PLUMBING PLANS.

1 COORDINATE WATER SERVICE POINT OF CONNECTION TO EXISTING 8" MAIN
WITH CITY OF THE DALLES WATER DISTRICT.

2 FIELD VERIFY LOCATION AND IE OF EXISTING 24" SANITARY SEWER. CONNECT
PROPOSED LATERAL TO MAIN WITH PVC GASKETED SADDLE.

3 FIELD VERIFY LOCATION AND IE OF EXISTING 12" STORM SEWER. CONNECT
PROPOSED LATERAL TO MAIN WITH TEE PER DETAIL X/C501.

4 4" WATER METER PER CITY STANDARDS

CONNECT TO BUILDING FIRE PROTECTION SYSTEM.
COORDINATE WITH FIRE SPRINKLER DEFERRED SUBMITTAL.

X

CONNECT TO BUILDING GREASE LINE. SEE PLUMBING
PLANS FOR CONTINUATION. SIZE AS NOTED.

SCALE:
WATER ENLARGEMENT

SCALE:
UTILITY PLAN

WATER ENLARGEMENT

C I V I L · S T R U C T U R A L

Portland, OR. | Bend, OR. | Denver, CO.

e n g i n e e r s

(503) 624-7005

523 E. Third Street
The Dalles, OR   97058

STORM STRUCTURE TABLE

SANITARY STRUCTURE TABLE

Attachment 1

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 67 of 342



SCALE: NTSX ASPHALT PAVEMENT SECTION

COMPACTED
SUBGRADE

9" OF BASE
COURSE

AC SURFACE COURSE:
3" OF 1/2" DENSE GRADED,
LEVEL 2 HMAC

SCALE: NTSX ADA PARKING SIGN - TYPE 1

NOTES:
1. MOUNT ADA SIGN TO FACE OF

BUILDING

--SIGN NO. R7-8
   PER MUTCD

--ATTACH SIGN NO.
   R7-8P WHERE APPLICABLE

RESERVED
PARKING

VAN
ACCESSIBLE

7'

12"

18
"

HARD SURFACE LANDSCAPE AREA

RISER O.D.
+ 12" MIN.

1"
 M

AX
.

6"
 M

IN
.

4" MIN.

2"
 M

IN
.

MECHANICAL PLUG
WITH GASKET

CAST IRON FRAME
SET IN CONCRETE

#4 HOOP CENTERED
IN 3000 PSI
CONCRETE PAD.

PROVIDE 14" MIN.
CLEARANCE FOR
CONCRETE PAD AND
RISER PIPE

RISER PIPE

45° BEND

INSTALL PLUG WITH
GASKET IF END OF
LINE

SERVICE CONNECTION
IF REQUIRED

BEDDING MATERIAL

CAST IRON FRAME AND
COVER TO FINISHED

GRADE IN PAVED AREAS

AC PVM'T OR CONC. PAVING OR
OTHER SURFACING

CARRIER
PIPE

WYE BRANCH

TRENCH BACKFILL

NOTES:
1. CAST IRON FRAME AND COVER SHALL MEET H-20 LOAD REQUIREMENT.

2. FOR CARRIER PIPE SIZE 6"Ø AND LESS, PROVIDE RISER PIPE SIZE TO MATCH CARRIER PIPE.

3. FOR CARRIER PIPE SIZE 8"Ø AND LARGER, RISER PIPE SHALL BE 6"Ø.

4. RISER PIPE MATERIAL TO MATCH CARRIER PIPE MATERIAL.

SCALE: NTSX STANDARD CLEANOUT (COTG)

4"
 M

IN
.

(6
" I

N
 R

O
C

K)

D
/2

12
"

UNPAVED
AREAS

PAVED
AREAS

6"

6"
MIN.

6"
MIN.

36
" M

IN
.

(IF
 IE

 IS
 N

O
T 

PR
O

VI
D

ED
)

D

12
"

SA
TI

SF
AC

TO
R

Y
SO

IL
 M

AT
ER

IA
L

IE
 D

EP
TH

 P
ER

 P
LA

N

FI
N

AL
TR

EN
C

H
BA

C
KF

IL
L

(V
AR

Y)

IN
IT

IA
L

TR
EN

C
H

BA
C

KF
IL

L

BE
D

D
IN

G

DETECTABLE
WARNING TAPE

RESURFACING MATCH
EXISTING PAVEMENT

SECTION

SAWCUT
LINE

EXISTING AC
PAVEMENT

SCALE: NTSX TYPICAL PIPE BEDDING AND BACKFILL

6"

�

TRACER WIRE

SCALE: NTSX PRECAST CONCRETE WHEEL STOP

NOTES:
1. DIMENSIONS ARE NOMINAL AND MAY VARY TO CONFORM TO MANUFACTURER'S

PRODUCTS APPROVED BY ENGINEER.

6" MIN.

TYP.

9"

72"

INSTALL 3/4" x 18"
DOWEL ANCHOR, TYP.

DRAINAGE
SLOT, TYP.

6"

SCALE: NTSX TYPICAL PARKING LAYOUT

VAN

PRECAST
CONCRETE
WHEEL STOP

X
CX.XADA

SIGN
X

CX.X

 36°

4'

3'

36°

ANGLE ORIENTATION
FOR FIELD LAYOUT

4" WHITE
STRIPE (TYP.)

4" WHITE
STRIPE (TYP.)

ADA SYMBOL AND "VAN"
ACCESSIBLE TEXT SHALL
OCCUR ONLY AT STALLS
SHOWN ON PLANS

BLUE
BACKGROUND
(OPTIONAL)

9' TYP.
(U.N.O.)

12
"

6' (8' VAN), TYP.
(U.N.O.)

18
.5

' S
TD

 S
TA

LL
(S

EE
 P

LA
N

)

9' STD STALL
8' COMPACT STALL

(SEE PLAN)

6' (8' VAN), TYP.
(U.N.O.)

2' (TYP.)

24" MIN.

28
" M

IN
.

SCALE: NTSX TRAPPED CATCH BASIN

NOTES:
1. CONTRACTOR TO WIDEN EXCAVATION AS REQUIRED TO OBTAIN COMPACTION WITH

CONTRACTORS COMPACTION EQUIPMENT.

2. 1/4" STEEL PLATE, BITUMINOUS COATED. AS MANUFACTURED BY GIBSON STEEL BASINS
OR APPROVED EQUAL.

0.
5'

2"
SQUARE

0.
5"

24
"

M
IN

.
0.

5"

CONCRETE COLLAR.
3000 PSI CONCRETE
OMIT IN NON-TRAFFIC
AREAS OR WHERE
CONFLICTS WITH CURB

#4 REBAR LOOP

PIPE SIZE
PER PLAN

PAVEMENT

12
"

M
IN

.

ENGINEERED FILL

NOTE 2

0.5" MIN.
TYP.

GREASE
TRAP W/

HINGED LID

HEAVY DUTY 28" MIN SQ.
TRAFFIC GRATE.
RIM=PER PLAN

SECTION

IE PER
PLAN

C I V I L · S T R U C T U R A L

Portland, OR. | Bend, OR. | Denver, CO.

e n g i n e e r s

(503) 624-7005

523 E. Third Street
The Dalles, OR   97058

SCALE: NTSX HEAVY CONCRETE PAVEMENT SECTION

NOTES:
1. JOINTS:

- CONSTRUCT CONTRACTION JOINTS AT 15' MAX. SPACING AND AT RAMPS.
- CONSTRUCT EXPANSION JOINTS AT 200' MAX. SPACING AT POINTS OF TANGENCY

          AND AT ENDS OF EACH DRIVEWAY.

2. PROVIDE MEDIUM TO COARSE BROOM FINISH.

X" THICK PORTLAND
CEMENT CONCRETE

X" OF SUBBASE
COURSE

COMPACT
SUBGRADE

NOTES:
1. - CONSTRUCT CONTRACTION JOINTS AT 15' MAX. SPACING AND AT RAMPS.

- CONSTRUCT EXPANSION JOINTS AT 200' MAX. SPACING AT POINTS OF TANGENCY AND AT
ENDS OF EACH DRIVEWAY.

2. PROVIDE MEDIUM TO COARSE BROOM FINISH.

SCALE: NTSX CONCRETE PAVEMENT SECTION

X" THICK PORTLAND
CEMENT CONCRETE

X" OF SUBBASE
COURSE

COMPACT
SUBGRADE

NOTES:
1. CURB EXPOSURE 'E' = 6", TYP. VARY AS SHOWN ON PLANS OR AS DIRECTED.

2. CONSTRUCT CONTRACTION JOINTS AT 15' MAX. SPACING AND AT RAMPS. CONSTRUCT
EXPANSION JOINTS AT 200' MAX SPACING AT POINTS OF TANGENCY AND AT ENDS OF EACH
DRIVEWAY.

3. TOPS OF ALL CURBS SHALL SLOPE TOWARD THE ROADWAY AT 2% UNLESS OTHERWISE
SHOWN OR AS DIRECTED.

4. DIMENSIONS ARE NOMINAL AND MAY VARY TO CONFORM WITH CURB MACHINE AS
APPROVED BY THE ENGINEER.

SCALE: NTSX STANDARD CONCRETE CURB

R=3
8"

R=3
4" BACKFILL TO

TOP OF CURB

PAVEMENT

4" OF SUBBASE
COURSE

COMPACTED
SUBGRADE

16
"

E

6"

9"

ADA SIGN TO BE MOUNTED
ON FACE OF BUILDING

36"

Attachment 1

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 68 of 342



C I V I L · S T R U C T U R A L

Portland, OR. | Bend, OR. | Denver, CO.

e n g i n e e r s

(503) 624-7005

523 E. Third Street
The Dalles, OR   97058

Attachment 1

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 69 of 342



C I V I L · S T R U C T U R A L

Portland, OR. | Bend, OR. | Denver, CO.

e n g i n e e r s

(503) 624-7005

523 E. Third Street
The Dalles, OR   97058

SCALE: NTSX SHALLOW AND DEEP TRENCH SERVICE CONNECTION, BLOCKING, AND MARKERS

SCALE: NTSX OIL / WATER SEPARATOR (1000 GALLON)

SCALE: NTSX GUTTER TRANSITION AT INLET

SCALE: NTSX CONCRETE INLETS TYPE G-1, G-2, G-2M, & G-2MA

USE OPTIONAL, TOP
576-T-SA-HD IN LIEU

OF 576-T-SA TOP

Attachment 1

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 70 of 342



1+00

1+
36

.5
1

1+
00

1+46.98

104.13 TC
103.63 TP

103.98 TP

CONSTRUCTION ENTRANCE

CONCRETE WASHOUT

SEDIMENT FENCE

PLACE INLET PROTECTION ON
DOWNSTREAM CATCH BASIN

50.00'

SCALE
10

1 INCH = 10 FEET

10 200

CONTOUR MAJOR (FG)

CONTOUR MINOR (FG)

EX. CONTOUR MAJOR

EX. CONTOUR MINOR

49

50

49

50

DRAINAGE FLOW DIRECTION

GRADE BREAK

SHEET LEGEND

C I V I L · S T R U C T U R A L

Portland, OR. | Bend, OR. | Denver, CO.

e n g i n e e r s

(503) 624-7005

523 E. Third Street
The Dalles, OR   97058

INLET PROTECTION 3
C6.1

CONSTRUCTION ENTRANCE
1

C6.1

CONCRETE WASHOUT

SHEET NOTES
1. APPROVAL OF THIS EROSION/SEDIMENTATION CONTROL (ESC) PLAN DOES NOT CONSTITUTE AN APPROVAL OF

PERMANENT ROAD OR DRAINAGE DESIGN (E.G., SIZE AND LOCATION OF ROADS, RESTRICTORS, CHANNELS, RETENTION
FACILITIES, UTILITIES, ETC.).

2. IT IS THE INTENT OF THESE PLANS AND SPECIFICATIONS TO ENSURE THAT SEDIMENT LADEN WATER DOES NOT LEAVE
THE WORK SITE. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL USE ALL AVAILABLE MEANS TO ACHIEVE THIS RESULT.

3. THE IMPLEMENTATION OF THESE ESC PLANS AND THE CONSTRUCTION, MAINTENANCE, REPLACEMENT, AND UPGRADING
OF THESE ESC FACILITIES IS THE RESPONSIBILITY OF THE CONTRACTOR UNTIL ALL CONSTRUCTION IS COMPLETED AND
APPROVED AND PERMANENT VEGETATION/LANDSCAPING IS ESTABLISHED.

4. THE BOUNDARIES OF THE CLEARING LIMITS SHOWN ON THIS PLAN SHALL BE CLEARLY FLAGGED IN THE FIELD PRIOR TO
CONSTRUCTION. DURING THE CONSTRUCTION PERIOD, NO DISTURBANCE BEYOND THE FLAGGED CLEARING LIMITS
SHALL BE PERMITTED. THE FLAGGING SHALL BE MAINTAINED BY THE CONTRACTOR FOR THE DURATION OF
CONSTRUCTION.

5. THE ESC FACILITIES SHOWN ON THIS PLAN MUST BE CONSTRUCTED IN CONJUNCTION WITH ALL CLEARING AND GRADING
ACTIVITIES, AND IN SUCH A MANNER AS TO ENSURE THAT SEDIMENT AND SEDIMENT LADEN WATER DO NOT ENTER THE
DRAINAGE SYSTEM, ROADWAYS, OR VIOLATE APPLICABLE WATER STANDARDS.

6. THE ESC FACILITIES SHOWN ON THIS PLAN ARE THE MINIMUM REQUIREMENTS FOR ANTICIPATED SITE CONDITIONS.
DURING THE CONSTRUCTION PERIOD, THESE ESC FACILITIES SHALL BE UPGRADED AS NEEDED FOR UNEXPECTED
STORM EVENTS AND TO ENSURE THAT SEDIMENT AND SEDIMENT LADEN WATER DO NOT LEAVE THE SITE.

7. THE ESC FACILITIES SHALL BE INSPECTED DAILY BY THE CONTRACTOR AND MAINTAINED AS NECESSARY TO ENSURE
THEIR CONTINUED FUNCTIONING.

8. THE ESC FACILITIES ON INACTIVE SITES SHALL BE INSPECTED AND MAINTAINED A MINIMUM OF ONCE A MONTH OR WITHIN
THE 24 HOURS FOLLOWING A STORM EVENT.

9. AT NO TIME SHALL MORE THAN ONE FOOT OF SEDIMENT BE ALLOWED TO ACCUMULATE WITHIN A TRAPPED CATCH BASIN.
ALL CATCH BASINS AND CONVEYANCE LINES SHALL BE CLEANED PRIOR TO PAVING. THE CLEANING OPERATION SHALL
NOT FLUSH SEDIMENT LADEN WATER INTO THE DOWNSTREAM SYSTEM.

10. STABILIZED CONSTRUCTION ENTRANCES SHALL BE INSTALLED AT THE BEGINNING OF CONSTRUCTION AND MAINTAINED
FOR THE DURATION OF THE PROJECT. ADDITIONAL MEASURES MAY BE REQUIRED TO ENSURE THAT ALL PAVED AREAS
ARE KEPT CLEAN FOR THE DURATION OF THE PROJECT.

Attachment 1

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 71 of 342



C I V I L · S T R U C T U R A L

Portland, OR. | Bend, OR. | Denver, CO.

e n g i n e e r s

(503) 624-7005

523 E. Third Street
The Dalles, OR   97058

SIDEWALK SUB-GRADE

GRAVEL CONSTRUCTION ENTRANCE

CONSTRUCTION ENTRANCE                      WOODEN CURB RAMP

WHEEL WASH AREA
(IF REQUIRED)

SILT FENCE
(SEE DETAIL)

RAMP - FULL WIDTH
OF ENTRY

STANDARD CURB

PROPERTY
LINE

R=20' (TYP.)

GAP FOR DRAINAGE
WOODEN RAMP
(2"x4", 2"x8", 2"x12")

PAVED STREET

STANDARD
CURB

GRAVEL CONSTRUCTION
ENTRANCE (MIN. 12" TYP.)

GEOTEXTILE
FABRIC

PAVED STREET
STANDARD
CURB

GRAVEL SIDEWALK
SUBGRADE (MIN. 4' TYP.)

GEOTEXTILE
FABRIC

SCALE: NTS1 STABILIZED CONSTRUCTION ENTRANCE

20' MIN.

50' MIN.

NOTES:
1. THE FILTER FABRIC SHALL BE (36" MIN. WIDTH) PURCHASED IN A CONTINUOUS ROLL

CUT TO THE LENGTH OF THE BARRIER TO AVOID USE OF JOINTS. WHEN JOINTS ARE
NECESSARY,  FILTER CLOTH SHALL BE SPLICED TOGETHER ONLY AT A SUPPORT
POST, WITH A MINIMUM 6-INCH OVERLAP, AND BOTH ENDS SECURELY FASTENED TO
THE POST, OR OVERLAP 2"x2" POSTS AND ATTACH AS SHOWN ON DETAIL SHEET.

2. THE FILTER FABRIC FENCE SHALL BE INSTALLED TO FOLLOW THE CONTOURS
WHERE FEASIBLE. THE FENCE POSTS SHALL BE SPACED A MAXIMUM OF 6-FEET
APART AND DRIVEN SECURELY INTO THE GROUND A MINIMUM OF 24-INCHES.

3. THE FILTER FABRIC SHALL HAVE A MINIMUM VERTICAL BURIAL OF 6-INCHES. ALL
EXCAVATED MATERIAL FROM FILTER FABRIC FENCE INSTALLATION, SHALL BE
BACKFILLED AND COMPACTED, ALONG THE ENTIRE DISTURBED AREA.

4. STANDARD OR HEAVY DUTY FILTER FABRIC SHALL HAVE MANUFACTURED
STITCHED LOOPS FOR 2"x2" POST INSTALLATION. STITCHED LOOPS WITH STAKES
SHALL BE INSTALLED ON THE DOWN-HILL SIDE OF THE SLOPED AREA.

5. FILTER FABRIC FENCES SHALL BE REMOVED WHEN THEY HAVE SERVED THEIR
USEFUL PURPOSE, BUT NOT BEFORE THE UP-SLOPE AREA HAS BEEN
PERMANENTLY PROTECTED AND STABILIZED.

6. FILTER FABRIC FENCES SHALL BE INSPECTED BY CONTRACTOR IMMEDIATELY
AFTER EACH RAINFALL AND AT LEAST DAILY DURING PROLONGED RAINFALL. ANY
REQUIRED REPAIRS, RELOCATIONS OR ADDITIONS SHALL BE MADE IMMEDIATELY.

FILTER FABRIC

6' MAX.

36
" M

IN
.

EX
PO

SU
R

E

6" M
IN

.

6"
MIN.

36
'

M
IN

.
24

"
M

IN
.

SIDE VIEW

FRONT VIEW

2"x2" WOOD POST
OR STEEL FENCE
POST

EXISTING GROUND

BACKFILL
TRENCH

FILTER
FABRIC

ANGLE BOTH ENDS OF
SEDIMENT FENCE TO ASSURE

SOIL IS TRAPPED

INTERLOCKED 2"X2" POSTS
AND ATTACH (SEE TURNED

ENDS CONNECTION)

PLAN VIEW
FILTER FABRIC

STITCHED
TOGETHER TO

FORM POST
POCKET

FILTER
FABRIC

POST

DETAIL FABRIC
POST POCKET

TURNED ENDS
GEOTEXTILE END

CONNECTIONS

FL
O

W

FLOW

TRAPPED
AREA
DRAIN

24
"

SEDIMENT ACCUMULATION

GRATE TYP.

WOVEN FABRIC

RETRIEVAL STRAP

SCALE: NTS2 SEDIMENT FENCE

SCALE: NTS3 INLET SEDIMENT PROTECTION

Attachment 1

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 72 of 342



1.0

2.0

3.0

4.0

PAVEMENT, RAMPS, CURBS
# DESCRIPTION DETAIL / SHEET

1.1
CONCRETE PAVING - TYPE 1
COLOR: STANDARD
FINISH: BROOM FINISH

01/L-710

1.2
CONCRETE PAVING - TYPE 2
COLOR: INTEGRAL
FINISH: SAND ETCHED FINISH

01/L-710

JOINTING
# DESCRIPTION DETAIL / SHEET

2.1 SCORE JOINT 01/L-710
2.2 EXPANSION JOINT 01/L-710

STEPS
# DESCRIPTION DETAIL / SHEET

3.1 NOT USED

WALLS
# DESCRIPTION DETAIL / SHEET

4.1 SITE WALL SEE ARCH

SITE FURNISHINGS
# DESCRIPTION DETAIL / SHEET

5.1 FURNITURE BY OWNER
5.2 GAS FIRE TABLE PER SPECS
5.3 BIKE RACK 02/L-710

RAILINGS, BARRIERS, FENCING
# DESCRIPTION DETAIL / SHEET

6.1 PRIVACY SCREEN SEE ARCH

LANDSCAPE LIGHTING
# DESCRIPTION DETAIL / SHEET

7.1 PROVIDE ALLOWANCE

DRAINAGE
# DESCRIPTION DETAIL / SHEET

8.1 AREA DRAIN SEE CIVIL

PLANTING, SOILS, LANDSCAPE
# DESCRIPTION DETAIL / SHEET

9.1 PLANTING AREA 01/L-750
9.2 PROPOSED TREE 06/L-750
9.3 ORGANIC MULCH PER SPECS

MISCELLANEOUS SITE FEATURES
# DESCRIPTION DETAIL / SHEET

10.1 TREE GRATE PER SPECS
10.2 PEDESTRIAN GATE SEE ARCH
10.3 SITE BOULDER 03/L-710

DETAIL KEYNOTES

5.0

6.0

7.0

8.0

9.0

10.0

MATERIAL NOTES
1. HATCH PATTERNS REPRESENTED ARE DIAGRAMMATIC AND DO NOT REPRESENT PAVING

PATTERNS.
2. ALL VENEER, TREATMENT, OR TEXTURE TO CONTINUE A MINIMUM 6" BELOW FINISH

GRADE UNLESS NOTED OTHERWISE.
3. SHOP DRAWINGS FOR ALL STEP, PAVING AND METALWORK LAYOUTS SHALL BE

PROVIDED FOR REVIEW AND APPROVAL BY LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT BEFORE
FABRICATION.

4. ANY MATERIALS NOT SPECIFIED IN PLANS SHOULD BE REVIEWED WITH AND APPROVED
BY LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION.

5. PRICING MUST REFLECT IDENTIFIED MATERIAL SPECIFICATIONS AS OUTLINED.  ANY
DEVIATIONS OR SUBSTITUTES MUST BE APPROVED BY LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT.

6. SITE FURNISHINGS, UNLESS SPECIFIED, ARE EXCLUDED FROM THIS SITE DESIGN
PACKAGE.

7. ALL PLANTING AREAS SHALL BE FULLY IRRIGATED, SEE IRRIGATION PLAN FOR MORE
INFORMATION.

8. SEE LIGHTING PLANS FOR LIGHTING LAYOUT AND FIXTURE SCHEDULES.
9. QUANTITIES SHOWN IN DRAWINGS ARE FOR CONTRACTOR'S CONVENIENCE ONLY.

CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR VERIFYING EXACT MATERIAL TAKEOFFS BASED ON
THIS PLAN.

PROPERTY LINE

PROPOSED TREE

1.1 CONCRETE PAVING - TYPE 1

1.2 CONCRETE PAVING-TYPE 2

9.1 PLANTING AREA

9.3 ORGANIC MULCH

LA
UG

HL
IN

 S
TR

EE
T

JE
FF

ER
SO

N 
ST

RE
ET

EAST 3RD STREET

1.1

10.2

1.1

1.1

1.22.1TYP TYP

6.1

5.1 TYP.

2.2TYP

01

02

TYP

9.1

9.2TYP

5.3

TYP.

5.35.35.3

5.2

10.1TYP

4.1

03

1.1

1.1

8.1

QTY (1) QTY (1) QTY (1) QTY (1)

02

9.1 9.1

10.3

9.3

GENERAL NOTES
1. INFORMATION REGARDING EXISTING CONDITIONS USED TO PREPARE THESE

DOCUMENTS HAS BEEN PROVIDED BY OTHERS. CONTRACTOR TO FIELD VERIFY EXISTING
CONDITIONS PRIOR TO COMMENCING CONSTRUCTION.

2. SHOULD THERE BE ANY DISCREPANCIES BETWEEN LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURAL,
ARCHITECTURAL, OR ENGINEERING DRAWINGS, THE CONTRACTOR IS TO CONTACT
LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT TO REVIEW AND COORDINATE BEFORE PROCEEDING WITH
WORK. THE LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT WILL ISSUE A WRITTEN DIRECTIVE IF FURTHER
CLARIFICATION IS REQUIRED.

3. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL ENSURE THAT ALL WORK MEETS ALL APPLICABLE LOCAL AND
NATIONAL BUILDING AND SAFETY CODES THAT PERTAIN TO THE PROJECT WORK. IF
THERE IS A DISCREPANCY BETWEEN A CODE AND THE CONTENT OF THE PLANS, THE
CONTRACTOR IS TO CONSULT LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT BEFORE PROCEEDING.

4. PARKING, EQUIPMENT AND MATERIAL STORAGE IS PERMITTED ONLY IN THE AREA
PROVIDED BY OTHERS. PARKING FOR MATERIAL STORAGE OUTSIDE THIS AREA, EVEN
TEMPORARILY, WILL NOT BE PERMITTED.

5. LANDSCAPE/PLANTING CONTRACTOR SHALL CONTACT THE LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT TO
REVIEW PLANS BEFORE COMMENCING WORK IN ORDER TO ASSURE CLOSE
COORDINATION.

6. PRIOR TO PROJECT COMPLETION, THE SITE IS TO BE THOROUGHLY CLEANED OF ALL
CONSTRUCTION DEBRIS, SIGNS, ETC. AND REVIEWED BY LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT AND
OTHER RELEVANT CONSULTANTS.

7. IT IS THE CONTRACTOR'S RESPONSIBILITY TO GROUND AND BOND ALL EXPOSED METAL
OBJECTS IN LANDSCAPE.

8. CONTRACTOR MUST CLEAN UP ALL TRASH AND DEBRIS ON THE CONSTRUCTION SITE AT
THE END OF EACH DAY. LIGHTWEIGHT MATERIAL, PACKING, AND OTHER ITEMS MUST BE
COVERED OR WEIGHTED DOWN TO PREVENT WIND FROM BLOWING SUCH MATERIALS
OFF THE CONSTRUCTION SITE.  CONTRACTORS ARE PROHIBITED FROM DUMPING,
BURYING, OR BURNING TRASH ANYWHERE ON THE SITE.  DURING THE CONSTRUCTION
PERIOD, THE CONSTRUCTION SITE MUST BE KEPT NEAT AND TIDY TO PREVENT IT FROM
BECOMING AN EYESORE FOR SURROUNDING PROPERTY OWNERS.  DIRT, MUD, OR
OTHER DEBRIS RESULTING FROM ACTIVITY ON THE SITE MUST BE PROMPTLY REMOVED
FROM SURROUNDING ROADS.

9. CONTRACTOR IS TO CREATE A WORK SCHEDULE AND DISTRIBUTE TO OWNER,
LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT, AND ARCHITECT PRIOR TO COMMENCEMENT OF WORK.  THE
SCHEDULE IS TO CLEARLY OUTLINE DATES FOR:

9.1. PRE-CONSTRUCTION MEETING TO REVIEW CONSTRUCTION FENCE, EROSION &
SEDIMENT CONTROL MEASURES AND TREE PROTECTION MEASURES.

9.2. REVIEW OF MATERIAL MOCKUPS (SEE MATERIAL NOTES).
9.3. REVIEW OF SITE AND ARCHITECTURAL LAYOUTS.
9.4. ALL RELEVANT ARCHITECTURAL, STRUCTURAL, AND MEP REVIEWS.
9.5. CONCRETE FOUNDATION AND SLAB REVIEW DATES.
9.6. MASONRY REVIEW DATES.
9.7. LANDSCAPE PLANTING TREE LAYOUTS (WITH FLAGS) AND PLANT QUANTITY REVIEW

(BEFORE PLANTING).
9.8. FINAL PLANTING AND HARDSCAPE REVIEW.
9.9. PROJECT COMPLETION.

1. EXISTING UTILITY LOCATIONS SHOWN ARE APPROXIMATE.
2. VERIFY LOCATIONS AND DEPTHS OF ALL UTILITIES IN THE FIELD AND NOTIFY LANDSCAPE

ARCHITECT OF ANY CONFLICTS BETWEEN LAYOUT/GRADING AND UTILITIES PRIOR TO
CONSTRUCTION.

3. TRENCHING FOR UTILITIES WILL BE PERMITTED IN APPROVED LOCATIONS ONLY.
CONTRACTOR MUST ALERT LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT PRIOR TO TRENCHING FOR
LOCATION REVIEW AND APPROVAL.

UTILITY NOTES

01

KEYNOTES
SEE CIVIL DRAWINGS FOR ALL WORK IN THE RIGHT OF WAY

02 CURBS, PARKING LOT AND DRIVE AISLES, SEE CIVIL.
03 PROVIDE EMERGENCY GAS SHUT OFF & ELECTRIC TIMER FOR FIRE TABLE.

INSTALL AND LOCATE PER LOCAL CODES. COORDINATE WITH ELECTRICAL
AND MEP PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION.

00000

SCALE 1"=10'

0 5 30 50FT0 200 10

ARCHITECTS

CONSULTANT

STAMP

REVISION NO. DATE

KEY PLAN - (NTS)

SHEET NUMBER

DRAWING TITLE

SCALE

DATE

PROJECT NUMBER

ISSUANCE

07/11/2024

02123

SITE PLAN REVIEW

TRUE
NORTH

PLAN
NORTH

NOT FOR
CONSTRUCTION

Hanlon Development
523 E. Third Street
The Dalles, OR   97058

Basalt Commons

L-200

MATERIALS PLAN

Attachment 1

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 73 of 342



ABBREV. DESCRIPTION
A ALIGN

CL CENTERLINE
EQ EQUAL

FOB FACE OF BUILDING
FOW FACE OF WALL
POB POINT OF BEGINNING
TYP TYPICAL

ABBREVIATIONS
SYMBOL DESCRIPTION

ALIGN

CENTERLINE

A

SYMBOLS

LAYOUT NOTES
1. DO NOT SCALE DRAWINGS.
2. CONTRACTOR SHALL VERIFY ALL EXISTING CONDITIONS AND LAYOUT DIMENSIONS IN

THE FIELD.  REPORT DISCREPANCIES TO THE LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT BEFORE STARTING
CONSTRUCTION.

3. ALL ANGLES ARE ASSUMED TO BE 90 DEGREES UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED.
4. ALL DIMENSIONS FROM STRUCTURES ARE FROM FACE OF FINISH OF EXTERIOR WALL.
5. ANY ALTERATIONS TO THESE DRAWINGS PROPOSED IN THE FIELD FOR CONSTRUCTION

SHALL BE PROMPTLY REPORTED TO THE LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT FOR APPROVAL PRIOR
TO CONSTRUCTION.

6. NOTIFY LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT IMMEDIATELY IF CONFLICTS IN LAYOUT OF LANDSCAPE
FEATURES ARISE DUE TO CHANGES TO ARCHITECTURAL PLANS.

7. BEGIN PAVING PATTERN WHERE NOTED.
8. CENTER PATTERNS WITHIN PATH UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED OR IF ALTERNATE

CENTERLINE IS PROVIDED.

CAD FILE NOTE
AUTOCAD BASE FILE AVAILABLE UPON CONTRACTOR REQUEST FOR CONSTRUCTION
LAYOUT.

01

KEYNOTES
PAVING EXTENT TO ALIGN WITH ARCHITECTURAL WINDOW WIDTH.

LA
UG

HL
IN

 S
TR

EE
T

JE
FF

ER
SO

N 
ST

RE
ET

EAST 3RD STREET

4'-3 1/2" FOW

7' 
FO

B

7' 
FO

B

14
'-2

" F
OB

5'-8 1/2" FOW

3' 
FO

B3'-
7"

21
'-7

" F
OW

18'13'-7 3/4" FOB 13'-7 3/4" FOB 14'-4"13'-7 1/2" FOB
7'-11 1/2" FOB

A A A

1'-6" FOW

3' 
FO

B

3'-
8" 

FO
W

1'-6" TYP.

3'-
7" 

TY
P.

2'-6" 2'-6"

8'-
6"

2'-6"

8'-
6"

2'-6"

A

A

6'-
10

"3'-
6"

2'-8"
12'-6"

AAA AA

01 01

8'-
6" 

FO
B

8'-
6" 

FO
B

PROPERTY LINE

PROPOSED TREE

01

KEYNOTES
PAVING EXTENT TO ALIGN WITH ARCHITECTURAL WINDOW WIDTH.

00000

SCALE 1"=10'

0 5 30 50FT0 200 10

ARCHITECTS

CONSULTANT

STAMP

REVISION NO. DATE

KEY PLAN - (NTS)

SHEET NUMBER

DRAWING TITLE

SCALE

DATE

PROJECT NUMBER

ISSUANCE

07/11/2024

02123

SITE PLAN REVIEW

TRUE
NORTH

PLAN
NORTH

NOT FOR
CONSTRUCTION

Hanlon Development
523 E. Third Street
The Dalles, OR   97058

Basalt Commons

L-300

LAYOUT PLAN

Attachment 1

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 74 of 342



LA
UG

HL
IN

 S
TR

EE
T

JE
FF

ER
SO

N 
ST

RE
ET

EAST 3RD STREET

(3) AG(3) GT (3) TM (7) GA
(9) FI
(7) PD
(5) SM
(6) KM

BS BS
BS

BS BS BS
RA RAVO VOVO VO VO VO

GA
P

SS
SS

BS
BS

SSSSSSSS SS SS

SS SS SS SS SS
SSSSSSSS SS

SS

K
K

K
K K

SS

(12) SS
(5) KM

(6) VO
(65) SS
(4) RA
(15) BS
(6) GA
(6) PD
(2) RI
(14) FI
(4) KM

RI

RI

RA

FI
FI
FI

FI
FI
FI

FI
FI

FI
FI

K
KBS

BS BS

P
P
P
P

GA
GA

GA
GAGA

GA
P

FI
FIFI

BS
FI

BS
BSBS

K
K

P

(3) GT(6) GA
(9) FI
(9) PD
(10) KM
(8) SM

SM
SM

SM
SM SM

K K

FI
FIFIFI

FI

GA
GA
P

P

K K K
KK

SM
K

K K
P

FIFIFI
FIFIPP

P

GA
GAGA

SM SMP

FI
FI

FI FI
FI

FI

FI FI FI

K K K K
K KSM SM SM SM

SMP P
P

GA GA
GA

GA
GA

GA
GA P

P
P

P
P

(3) AG

SS SSSSSSSS

SS
SS
SS
SS
SS
SS
SS
SS
SS
SS
SS
SS

SS
SS

SS
SS
SS
SS
SS
SS
SS
SS
SS
SS
SS
SS

SS
SS

SS
SS
SS
SS
SS
SS
SS
SS
SS
SS
SS

SS
SS

SS
SS
SS
SS
SS
SS

SS
SS
SS

SS

RA

PLANTING NOTES
1. CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR DETERMINING EXACT PLANT QUANTITIES REQUIRED

BASED ON THIS PLAN. QUANTITIES SHOWN IN PLANT CALLOUTS ARE FOR CONTRACTOR'S
CONVENIENCE ONLY AND THE NUMBER OF ACTUAL PLANT SYMBOLS SHOWN SHALL TAKE
PRECEDENCE IN THE CASE OF DISCREPANCIES.

2. ALL PLANTING AREAS TO BE FULLY IRRIGATED UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED.
3. ALL PLANTS TO BE LAID OUT BY CONTRACTOR AND APPROVED BY LANDSCAPE

ARCHITECT PRIOR TO PLANTING.
4. CLEAR PROPOSED PLANTING AREAS OF ALL INVASIVE PLANTS PRIOR TO PLANTING.

CONTACT LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT IF THERE ARE PLANTS THAT ARE QUESTIONABLE TO
BE REMOVED.

TREES
SYM. BOTANICAL NAME / COMMON NAME SIZE SPACING QTY.

AG ACER GLABRUM
ROCKY MOUNTAIN MAPLE 2 GAL. AS

SHOWN 6

GT GLIDITSIA TRIACANTHOS F. INTERMIS 'SKYCOLE'
SKYCOLE HONEYLOCUST

2.5"
CAL.

AS
SHOWN 6

TM TILIA MONGOLICA 'HARVEST GOLD'
HARVEST GOLD MONGOLIAN LINDEN

2.5"
CAL.

AS
SHOWN 3

SHRUBS
SYM. BOTANICAL NAME / COMMON NAME SIZE SPACING QTY.

RA RHUS AROMATICA
FRAGRANT SUMAC 5 GAL. 36" O.C. 4

RI RIBES AURERUM
GOLDEN CURRANT 2 GAL. 36" O.C. 2

VO VACCINIUM OVATUM
EVERGREEN HUCKLEBERRY 2 GAL. 36" O.C. 6

PERRENIALS/ GRASSES/ GROUNDCOVERS
SYM. BOTANICAL NAME / COMMON NAME SIZE SPACING QTY.

BS BLECHNUM SPICANT
DEER FERN 1 GAL. 24" O.C. 15

FI FESTUCA IDAHOENSIS
IDAHO FESCUE 1 GAL. 24" O.C. 33

GA GAILLARDIA ARISTATA
BLANKET FLOWER 1 GAL. 24" O.C 19

KM KOELARIA MACRANTHA
PRAIRIE JUNE GRASS 1 GAL. 18" O.C. 25

PD PENSTEMON DUESTUS
HOT ROCK PENSTEMON 1 GAL. 18" O.C. 22

SS SEDUM SPATHIFOLIUM
BROADLEAF STONECROP 1 GAL. 12" O.C. 77

SM SPHAERALCEA MUNROANA
WHITE STEMMED GLOBEMALLOW 1 GAL. 24" O.C. 13

PLANTING SCHEDULE

BS

FI

GA

K

P

SS

VO

RA

RI

SM

PROPERTY LINE

PROPOSED TREE

00000

SCALE 1"=10'

0 5 30 50FT0 200 10

ARCHITECTS

CONSULTANT

STAMP

REVISION NO. DATE

KEY PLAN - (NTS)

SHEET NUMBER

DRAWING TITLE

SCALE

DATE

PROJECT NUMBER

ISSUANCE

07/11/2024

02123

SITE PLAN REVIEW

TRUE
NORTH

PLAN
NORTH

NOT FOR
CONSTRUCTION

Hanlon Development
523 E. Third Street
The Dalles, OR   97058

Basalt Commons

L-500

PLANTING PLAN

Attachment 1

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 75 of 342



IRRIGATION NOTES
1. ALL TREES ARE TO RECEIVE (2) DEEP ROOT WATERERING BUBBLERS. BUBBLERS TO BE

ON INDEPENDENT ZONE.
2. ALL TREES IN NON-IRRIGATED AREAS TO RECEIVE TREE BAGS FOR ESTABLISHMENT.
3. SEE SHEET L-760  FOR TYPICAL IRRIGATION DETAILS.
4. CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR DESIGN-BUILD OF A COMPLETE AND WORKING

SYSTEM INCLUDING ALL PIPE SIZING, TRENCHING AND WIRING.
5. CONTRACTOR TO PROVIDE SHOP DRAWINGS FOR APPROVAL BY LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT

PRIOR TO INSTALLATION.
6. CONTRACTOR TO PROVIDE SCALED "AS-BUILT" DRAWINGS UPON COMPLETION.
7. INSTALL IRRIGATION SYSTEM IN ACCORDANCE WITH ALL LOCAL CODES & ORDINANCES.

CONTRACTOR SHALL DESIGN AND BUILD THE IRRIGATION SYSTEM ACCORDING TO
STANDARD CONSTRUCTION PRACTICES AND THESE DRAWINGS AND SPECIFICATIONS.

8. COORDINATE IRRIGATION POINTS OF CONNECTION AND LOCATION OF AUTOMATIC
CONTROLLER(S) WITH OTHER TRADES INVOLVED.

9. CONTRACTOR SHALL VERIFY PSI AND GPM AT POINT OF CONNECTION PRIOR TO
COMMENCING WORK TO ENSURE THAT IT IS APPROPRIATE FOR PROPER OPERATION OF
IRRIGATION EQUIPMENT. PROVIDE PRESSURE COMPENSATING DEVICES AS REQUIRED.

10. THE CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR LOCATING AND PROTECTING ANY AND ALL
EXISTING UTILITIES ON AND ADJACENT TO THE PROJECT PRIOR TO BEGINNING
CONSTRUCTION.

11. ALL IRRIGATION EQUIPMENT SHALL BE PLACED IN PLANTED AREAS WHENEVER
POSSIBLE. FIELD ADJUST LINES TO AVOID CONFLICT WITH UTILITIES AND EXISTING
VEGETATION TO REMAIN.

12. WHERE EXISTING TREE DRIP LINES ARE IN LINE WITH TRENCH LOCATIONS, CONTRACTOR
SHALL HAND DIG.

13. ALL VALVES WILL BE PLACED IN VALVE BOXES IN A MANNER THAT FACILITATES ACCESS
FOR MAINTENANCE. SIZE BOXES TO ACCOMMODATE COMPLETE VALVE ASSEMBLY
INCLUDING UNIONS. LOCATED VALVE BOXES IN SHRUB AND GROUNDCOVER BEDS
WHENEVER POSSIBLE. REVIEW PROPOSED VALVE BOX LOCATIONS WITH LANDSCAPE
ARCHITECT PRIOR TO INSTALLATION. ALL VALVE BOXES TO BE COLOR: BLACK.

14. IRRIGATION LATERALS SHALL BE SIZED STARTING AT VALVE AND CONTINUING IN
DIRECTION OF FLOW.

15. PROVIDE PERMANENT ZONE NUMBER MARKINGS ON VALVES FOR OPERATIONAL NEEDS.
16. ALL COMPONENTS OF IRRIGATION SYSTEM SHALL BE INSTALLED AND ADJUSTED TO

PROVIDE 100% COVERAGE AND MINIMIZE OVERSPRAY ONTO BUILDINGS, SIDEWALKS,
AND ROADS.

17. ALL LATERAL LINES TO BE SCHEDULE 40 PVC.
18. CONTRACTOR TO CLUSTER VALVES WHERE PRACTICAL.
19. CONTRACTOR SHALL GUARANTEE ALL IRRIGATION EQUIPMENT, MATERIALS, AND

WORKMANSHIP FOR MINIMUM OF ONE YEAR FOLLOWING PROJECT CLOSE-OUT.

SYM. IRRIGATION TYPE AREA

AREA OF DRIP IRRIGATION 575 SF

IRRIGATION SCHEDULE

SYMBOL DESCRIPTION DETAIL
POINT OF CONNECTION: SEE PLUMBING DRAWINGS 03/L-760
MAIN LINE: SCHEDULE 40 PVC 04/L-760
LATERAL LINE: SCHEDULE 40 PVC, 0.75" MIN. 04/L-760
SLEEVING: SCHEDULE 40 PVC, 4.0" MIN. 05/L-760
SUBSURFACE DRIP LINE: 12" - 18" ROW SPACING 14/L-760
DRIP LINE CONNECTION TO LATERAL LINE
DRIP LINE AIR RELIEF POINT 12/L-760
DRIP LINE FLUSH POINT 13/L-760
SWING CHECK VALVE, LINE SIZE
CONTROLLER 01/L-760
BACKFLOW PREVENTER: SEE PLUMBING/CIVIL DRAWINGS
MASTER VALVE 02/L-760
FLOW SENSOR 02/L-760
RAIN SENSOR 06/L-760
QUICK COUPLER 07/L-760
REMOTE VALVE: RAINBIRD PEB SERIES 09/L-760
DRIP KIT VALVE: RAINBIRD XCZ-100-PRB-COM 10/L-760
MANUAL DRAIN VALVE: BRASS, AT LOW POINTS OF ZONE
AND AT END OF EACH ZONE

DEEP ROOT WATERING BUBBLER, 18" DEEP MIN. PER SPECS

GATE VALVE PER SPECS

A
F

BP
MV
FS
RS

C-1 C-2 C-3

IRRIGATION EQUIPMENT

LA
UG

HL
IN

 S
TR

EE
T

JE
FF

ER
SO

N 
ST

RE
ET

EAST 3RD STREET

BP

MV
FS

C-1
RS

191 SF DRIP IRRIGATION
94 SF  DRIP IRRIGATION

102 SF DRIP IRRIGATION128 SF DRIP IRRIGATION

63 SF DRIP IRRIGATION

04
TYP

01TYP

02TYP

03

05TYP

08TYP

06 TYP

07TYP

PROPERTY LINE

PROPOSED TREE

01

KEYNOTES
NO PRESSURIZED IRRIGATION LINES IN R.O.W.

05 BACKFLOW AND MASTER ASSEMBLY SHOWN FOR REFERENCE ONLY. SEE
DETAIL L3/L-760. COORDINATE EQUIPMENT AND LOCATION WITH PLUMBING.

06 CONTRACTOR TO PROVIDE AND COORDINATE ROUTING INSIDE OF BUILDING
FOR WATER LINES AND LOW VOLTAGE WIRES BETWEEN CONTROLLER,
BACKFLOW, AND ALL PENETRATIONS TO EXTERIOR OF BUILDING.
CONDUITS/SLEEVES TO BE 1" MIN.

03 ISOLATION VALVE REQUIRED AT ALL CROSSINGS OF VEHICULAR SURFACING.
04 ALL SLEEVING, MAINLINES, LATERAL LINES, VALVES & EQUIPTMENT SHOWN ARE

DIAGRAMMATIC AND SHOWN FOR DESIGN INTENT ONLY. CONTRACTOR TO
PROVIDE SHOP DRAWINGS IN ACCORDANCE TO DETAILS & SPECIFICATIONS
AND LOCAL CODES. SEE IRRIGATION NOTES FOR MORE INFORMATION.

07 EACH TREE SHALL RECIEVE (2) DEEP ROOT WATERING BUBBLERS. SEE NOTES.

02 COORDINATE ALL WORK IN THE RIGHT OF WAY WITH CIVIL ENGINEER.

08 RAIN SENSOR TO BE LOCATED ON ROOF AND INSTALLED PER SPECIFICATIONS.
ROUTE CONDUIT FOR LOW VOLTAGE WIRE TO CONTROLLER LOCATION.

00000

SCALE 1"=10'

0 5 30 50FT0 200 10

ARCHITECTS

CONSULTANT

STAMP

REVISION NO. DATE

KEY PLAN - (NTS)

SHEET NUMBER

DRAWING TITLE

SCALE

DATE

PROJECT NUMBER

ISSUANCE

07/11/2024

02123

SITE PLAN REVIEW

TRUE
NORTH

PLAN
NORTH

NOT FOR
CONSTRUCTION

Hanlon Development
523 E. Third Street
The Dalles, OR   97058

Basalt Commons

L-600

IRRIGATION PLAN

Attachment 1

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 76 of 342



18" LONG #4 SLIP DOWEL AT 16" O.C.,
SLEEVED ON ONE SIDE

4"

FOAM JOINT FILLER (SNAP-CAP TYPE)

JOINT SEALANT W/ SAND COVERING

VERTICAL FACE
(CONDITION VARIES)

C.I.P. CONC. TYP.

3/8"4" 6" 2"

COMPACTED AGGREGATE, TYP.6"

1/4" RADIUS
FINISH GRADE

FOAM JOINT FILLER (SNAP-CAP TYPE)
JOINT SEALANT WITH SAND COVERING

3"
CLR.

THICKENED EDGE CONDITION EXPANSION JOINT
TYPICAL PAVING CONDITION

AND TOOLED JOINT EDGE CONDITION AT VERTICAL FACE

NOTES:
1. CONCRETE FINISH, SEE SPECS.
2. ALL JOINTING TO BE TOOLED AT WIDTHS, DEPTHS AND RADII SHOWN. SEE PLAN FOR SCORING LOCATIONS.
3. NO SHINERS ON TOOLED EDGES OR RADII.
4. EXPANSION JOINTS SHALL BE PLACED WHERE CONCRETE MEETS ALL VERTICAL FACES.

COMPACTED SUBGRADE, TYP.

1/4"

1"

1/4" RADIUS, TYP.

5"
1"

FINISH
SURFACE

DROP-IN ANCHOR, TYP.

SMOOTH-TOP VANDAL-PROOF SS ANCHOR
(BUTTON HEAD HEX PIN TYPE), (3) PER
SURFACE MOUNT PLATE, TYP.

ADJACENT PAVING VARIES

SURFACE MOUNT PLATE PROVIDED BY
MANUFACTURER, TYP.

BIKE RACK

ARCHITECTS

CONSULTANT

STAMP

REVISION NO. DATE

KEY PLAN - (NTS)

SHEET NUMBER

DRAWING TITLE

SCALE

DATE

PROJECT NUMBER

ISSUANCE

04/26/2024

02123

100% DESIGN DEVELOPMENT

TRUE
NORTH

PLAN
NORTH

NOT FOR
CONSTRUCTION

Hanlon Development
523 E. Third Street
The Dalles, OR   97058

Basalt Commons

L-710

SITE DETAILS

1-1/2"=1'-0" 01CONCRETE PAVING ON GRADE
section

3/4"=1'-0" 02BIKE RACK
section

Attachment 1

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 77 of 342



FINISH GRADE PLANTING
BED

SPECIFIED MULCH LAYER
(2" DEPTH)

TILL SUBGRADE TO A
DEPTH OF 8", SEE SPECS

UNDISTURBED
SUBGRADE

8"
8"

IMPORTED PLANTING
SOIL MIX, SEE SPECS

EDGE OF PLANTING AREA AT WALK, CURB,
FACE OF WALL, ETC.

CENTER OF PLANT, TYP.

O.C. SPACING

O.C
. S

PA
CIN

G

PROVIDE EQUIDISTANT
TRIANGULATED SPACING AS
SHOWN

1/2 O.C. SPACING

CENTER OF PLANT, TYP.

EDGE OF PLANTING AREA AT WALK, CURB,
FACE OF WALL, ETC.

PROVIDE EQUIDISTANT
SQUARE/GRID SPACING AS
SHOWN

1/2 O.C. SPACING

O.C. SPACING

O.C
. SP

ACI
NG

3" 
CL

R.
MI

N.
FINISH GRADE / TOP OF MULCH,
KEEP 2" CLEAR FROM STEM OF PLANT
ORGANIC MULCH, SEE PLANTING PLAN NOTES
AND SPECIFICATIONS

O.C. SPACING, TYP.

PLANTING SOIL
GROUNDCOVER PLANTINGS

COMPACTED SUBGRADE

1.5
x R

OO
T B

AL
L

2-3x ROOT BALL

ORGANIC MULCH, SEE PLANTING PLAN NOTES AND
SPECIFICATIONS

SHRUB ROOT BALL

FINISH GRADE

SET ROOTBALL CROWN 1" ABOVE FINISH GRADE
AND REMOVE BURLAP/TWINE/WIRE FROM TOP
HALF OF ROOTBALL, KEEP MULCH 2" CLEAR FROM
STEM

IMPORTED TOPSOIL
COMPACTED NATIVE SOIL
NATIVE SOIL / COMPACTED SUBGRADE

ORGANIC MULCH, SEE PLANTING PLAN NOTES AND
SPECIFICATIONS
ROOT WATERING TUBES, SEE IRRIGATION PLAN
AND IRRIGATION DETAILS
TREE ROOT BALL

FINISH GRADE

SET ROOTBALL CROWN 1" ABOVE FINISH GRADE
AND REMOVE BURLAP/TWINE/WIRE FROM TOP
HALF OF ROOTBALL, KEEP MULCH 2" CLEAR FROM
STEM

IMPORTED TOPSOIL
COMPACTED NATIVE SOIL
NATIVE SOIL / COMPACTED SUBGRADE
DUCKILL-TYPE ANCHORS, (3) PER TREE

REINFORCED RUBBER HOSE TREE COLLAR, TYP.

12ga. MIN. WIRE ROPE, TYP.
TURNBUCKLE, EACH END OF WIRE ROPE, TYP.

ORGANIC MULCH, SEE PLANTING PLAN NOTES AND
SPECIFICATIONS
ROOT WATERING TUBES, SEE IRRIGATION PLAN
AND IRRIGATION DETAILS
TREE ROOT BALL

FINISH GRADE

SET ROOTBALL CROWN 1" ABOVE FINISH GRADE
AND REMOVE BURLAP/TWINE/WIRE FROM TOP
HALF OF ROOTBALL, KEEP MULCH 2" CLEAR FROM
STEM

2" ROUND x 8' TREATED WOOD STAKES, (2) PER
TREE,  INSTALL CLEAR OF ROOT BALL

3'-
0" 

MI
N.

1" WIDE CHAIN-LOCK TREE TIES, COLOR:
BLACK

IMPORTED TOPSOIL
COMPACTED NATIVE SOIL
NATIVE SOIL / COMPACTED SUBGRADE

1.5
x R

OO
T B

AL
L

2x ROOT BALL

ARCHITECTS

CONSULTANT

STAMP

REVISION NO. DATE

KEY PLAN - (NTS)

SHEET NUMBER

DRAWING TITLE

SCALE

DATE

PROJECT NUMBER

ISSUANCE

04/26/2024

02123

100% DESIGN DEVELOPMENT

TRUE
NORTH

PLAN
NORTH

NOT FOR
CONSTRUCTION

Hanlon Development
523 E. Third Street
The Dalles, OR   97058

Basalt Commons

L-750

PLANTING
DETAILS

N.T.S. 01PLANTING BED SOIL PREPARATION
section

N.T.S. 02TRIANGULAR PLANT SPACING
plan diagram

N.T.S. 05SHRUB PLANTING
section

N.T.S. 03SQUARE PLANT SPACING
plan diagram

N.T.S. 04GROUNCOVER PLANTING
section

N.T.S. 07MULTI-STEM TREE PLANTING
section

N.T.S. 06TREE PLANTING
section

Attachment 1

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 78 of 342



42
" M

IN
.

8" MIN.

SWEEP ELL. ON ALL ELECTRICAL CONDUIT
BUILDING FLOOR

CONDUIT FOR 120 VOLT ELECTRICAL
SERVICE WITH JUNCTION BOX

SCH. 40 CONDUITS FOR COMMON,
CONTROL AND COMMUNICATION
WIRES. (SEE ELECTRICAL DRAWINGS)

AUTOMATIC CONTROLLER WITH
LOCKABLE DOOR

ADJACENT WALL, IF
ANY

NOTE:
1. ALL WIRE TO BE INSTALLED PER LOCAL

ELECTRICAL CODE.
2. VERIFY LOCATION PRIOR TO

INSTALLATION.
3. INSTALL CONTROLLER PER

MANUFACTURER'S INSTRUCTIONS.
4. SEE ELECTRICAL FOR POWER

CONNECTIONS AND CONDUITS.

MINIMUM PIPE LENGTH CHART

F.S. UPSTREAM DOWNSTREAM
SIZE LENGTH LENGTH
1" 10" 5"
11

4" 121
2" 61

4"
11

2" 15" 71
2"

2" 20" 10"
3" 30" 15"

FLOW

WALL MOUNTED MASTER VALVE, INSTALL
PER 

 SEE PLUMBING
DRAWINGS AND SPECIFICATIONSNOTES:

1. RUN WIRES AND MAKE WIRE CONNECTIONS FROM
MASTER VALVE AND FLOW SENSOR TO CONTROLLER
AS SPECIFIED AND PER CONTROLLER
MANUFACTURER'S RECOMMENDATIONS.

MAINLINE TYP

WALL MOUNTED FLOW SENSOR, INSTALL
PER MANUFACTURER'S
RECOMMENDATIONS, SEE PLUMBING
DRAWINGS AND SPECIFICATIONS

MINIMUM DOWNSTREAM DISTANCE TO BE
CLEAR OF ANY FITTINGS OR COMPONENTS TO
BE 5X FLOW SENSOR SIZE

MINIMUM DISTANCE BETWEEN ANY
FITTINGS OR COMPONENTS TO BE 10X
FLOW SENSOR SIZE

WATER METER

M
EXISTING

CITY SUPPLY BP MV

MAINLINE
TO ZONES

SEE CIVIL

BALL VALVE WITH SS HANDLE (TYP.)
BACKFLOW PREVENTER (TYP.)

MASTER VALVE

POINT OF CONNECTION
(TYP.),

SEE IRRIGATION PLAN

FS

QUICK COUPLER FOR WINTERIZING(TYP.)

FLOW SENSOR

POWER,CONTROL, FLOW SENSING
WIRE AS NEEDED

EQUIPMENT IN PLUMBING
ROOM PER PLUMBING

EQUIPMENT IN PLUMBING ROOM, PER
IRRIGATION DRAWINGS AND SPECS

24
" M

IN 12
" M

IN

6"

FINISH GRADE / TOP OF MULCH

CLEAN AND LIGHTLY
COMPACTED BACKFILL
TRACKING TAPE

LATERAL LINE (OFFSET FROM MAINLINE)
MAINLINE

ATTACH IRRIGATION WIRE TO
MAINLINE AT INTERVALS OF 10'-0"
PLANTING SOIL / COMPACTED
SUBGRADE

SE
E 

NO
TE

 'A
'

6"

3"

FINISH SURFACE PAVING

CLEAN AND LIGHTLY
COMPACTED BACKFILL

C.I.P. CONC. PAVING

TRACKING TAPE

IRRIGATION SLEEVE

PLANTING SOIL / COMPACTED
SUBGRADE

NOTE 'A':
ON GRADE = 2'-0" MIN. / ON STRUCTURE = AS DEEP AS POSSIBLE

BUILDING WALL. COORDINATE
SPECIFIC LOCATION WITH
LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT AND
ARCHITECT PRIOR TO
INSTALLATION.

NOTE:
MOUNT SENSOR ON SURFACE
WHERE IT WILL BE EXPOSED
TO UNOBSTRUCTED RAINFALL,
BUT NOT IN PATH OF
SPRINKLER SPRAY.

RAIN SENSOR, SEE SPECIFICATIONS
RUN LEAD WIRES TO CONTROLLER,
SEE ELECTRICAL

VALVE BOX WITH BLACK LID

DRAIN ROCK MIN. 6" DEEP

BRICK OR CONC. BLOCK, TYP.

SCH. 40 STREET ELL.

SCH. 80 NIPPLE

SCH. 40 STREET ELL.

SCH. 40 TEE OR ELL., TYP.

MAINLINE OR LATERAL LINE

SCH. 40 ELL.

FINISH GRADE

SCH. 80 NIPPLE

±4
"

30
°

NOTES:
1. WRAP ALL THREAD FITTINGS WITH
TEFLON TAPE.

NON-WOVEN GEOTEXTILE FABRIC

SCH. 80 NIPPLE

SCH. 40 MAINLINE

BRICK OR CONC. BLOCK TO SUPPORT BOX

PVC SHC40 TEE OR ELL

SCH. 80 UNION

PVC LATERAL

24" COIL OF WIRE 
WATERPROOF CONNECTION

NON-WOVEN GEOTEXTILE FABRIC

CONTROL ZONE KIT WITH FILTER 

FINISH GRADE MULCH

VALVE BOX

1/4" DRAIN ROCK 4" DEEP

"S" DRIP ROW SPACING VARIES AT ALL GROUND LEVEL PLANTING AREAS

COMPRESSION FITTING

A

F

AIR RELIEF VALVE LOCATED AT HIGH
POINT OF EACH ZONE

PVC MANIFOLD LINE

FLUSH POINT AT LOW
POINT OF EACH ZONE OR

AT LOCATIONS SHOWN ON
PLAN

PVC TEE WITH RISER BELOW
PVC MANIFOLD LINE

CONTROL VALVE AND BOX

DRIP LINE

"S
"

13
-

12
-

FINISH GRADE

VALVE BOX WITH
BLACK LID

DRAIN ROCK, 4" MIN.
DEPTH
CONCRETE BRICK, 3 MIN.

6" PVC ACCESS SLEEVE
BALL VALVE, LINE SIZE
MAINLINE

MALE ADAPTERS, BOTH
SIDES

GROUND CONDITION

BLACK BOX / BLACK LID

3" MIN. DEPTH 1/4"
DRAIN ROCK
FILTER FABRIC
BRICK OR CONCRETE
BLOCK

FINISH GRADE

RAINBIRD 1/2"
AIR RELIEF VALVE

PVC HEADER PIPE

KING BROTHERS
FLEXIBLE RISER
PVC SST TEE

DRIP LINE

RAINBIRD EASY FIT
COUPLING

RAINBIRD FLUSH CAP

BLACK BOX / BLACK LID

3" MIN. DEPTH 1/4"
DRAIN ROCK
FILTER FABRIC
BRICK OR CONCRETE
BLOCK

FINISH GRADE

GROUND CONDITION

IMPORTED TOPSOIL, SEE SPECIFICATIONS

ORGANIC MULCH, SEE PLANTING PLAN NOTES
AND SPECIFICATIONS

TOP OF SOIL

DRIP LINE
12 GAUGE GALV. TIE DOWN STAKE, PLACE AT
MIN. 48" INTERVALS ALONG ENTIRE LENGTH
OF DRIP LINE

4"

FINISH GRADE / TOP OF MULCH

GROUND CONDITION

3" MIN
.

3" MIN
.

VALVE BOX WITH COVER: BLACK
BOX AND BLACK LID

FINISH GRADE / TOP OF MULCH

30" LINEAR LENGTH OF WIRE, COILED
REMOTE CONTROL VALVE AS SPECIFIED

WATERPROOF CONNECTION,
RAIN BIRD SPLICE-1 (1 OF 2)

SCHEDULE 80 PVC NIPPLE, CLOSE
SCHEDULE 40 PVC ELL
BRICK OR CONCRETE BLOCK
SCHEDULE 80 PVC NIPPLE
4-INCH MINIMUM DEPTH OF 1/4"
DRAIN ROCK
MAINLINE PIPE
SCHEDULE 80 PVC NIPPLE AND
SCHEDULE 40 PVC ELL
SCHEDULE 80 PVC TEE OR ELL

SCHEDULE 80 PVC NIPPLE, CLOSE
SCHEDULE 80 COMPRESSION UNION

NON-WOVEN GEOTEXTILE FABRIC

NOTE:
PIPE AND FITTINGS UPSTREAM OF VALVE
TO BE SAME SIZE AS MAINLINE

SCHEDULE 40 PVC MALE ADAPTER
LATERAL PIPE

ARCHITECTS

CONSULTANT

STAMP

REVISION NO. DATE

KEY PLAN - (NTS)

SHEET NUMBER

DRAWING TITLE

SCALE

DATE

PROJECT NUMBER

ISSUANCE

04/26/2024

02123

100% DESIGN DEVELOPMENT

TRUE
NORTH

PLAN
NORTH

NOT FOR
CONSTRUCTION

Hanlon Development
523 E. Third Street
The Dalles, OR   97058

Basalt Commons

L-760

IRRIGATION
DETAILS

N.T.S. 04IRRIGATION PIPE
section

N.T.S. 07QUICK COUPLER
section

N.T.S. 06RAIN SENSOR
section

N.T.S. 02MASTER VALVE & FLOW SENSOR
elevation

N.T.S. 03POINT OF CONNECTION
diagram

N.T.S. 09AUTOMATIC CONTROL VALVE
section

N.T.S. 10DRIP ZONE  VALVE
section

N.T.S. 11DRIP LAYOUT DIAGRAM
plan

N.T.S. 08ISOLATION VALVE
section

N.T.S. 13FLUSH VALVE
section

N.T.S. 14DRIP LINE
section

N.T.S. 12AIR RELIEF VALVE
section

1"=1'-0" 01CONTROLLER
elevation

N.T.S. 05IRRIGATION SLEEVE
section

Attachment 1

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 79 of 342



07/11/2024

Attachment 1

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 80 of 342



07/11/2024

Attachment 1

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 81 of 342



Attachment 1

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 82 of 342



Attachment 1

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 83 of 342



Attachment 1

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 84 of 342



Attachment 1

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 85 of 342



Attachment 1

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 86 of 342



07/11/2024

Attachment 1

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 87 of 342



Attachment 1

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 88 of 342



Attachment 1

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 89 of 342



Attachment 1

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 90 of 342



BASALT COMMONS
SITE PLAN REVIEW

5/23/2024

Attachment 1

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 91 of 342



BASALT COMMONS
5/23/2024

MARK@O-LLC.COM

Project Catalog # Type

Prepared by Notes Date

PS52013723   page 1
November 10, 2023 3:06 PM

Top Product Features
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 

Interactive Menu
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 

Dimensional and 
Mounting Details

LD2B EU2B 2LB

2x6 

Typical Applications

 

AVAIL A B LE

CO

MPLIANT OPTIONS

TA A
TRADE AGREEMENTS ACT

Can be used to comply
with Title 24 Part 6 LED
Enclosed Light Source
Requirements (JA8)

LITE
WaveLinx

PRO
WaveLinx

Control Compatibility

Product Features

14-1/8"
[358.6mm]

13-1/16"
[331.7mm] 15-3/16"

[385mm]

17-7/16"
[443.4mm]Top View

Top View With Emergency 

TYPE SD01
Attachment 1

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 92 of 342



BASALT COMMONS
5/23/2024

MARK@O-LLC.COM

page 2
November 10, 2023 3:06 PM

LDA2B | 2LB

Order Information
 LD2B15D010 

Domestic Preferences (15) Housing Lumens(1) Voltage Driver Options (2) (10)

[Blank]=Standard
TAA=Trade Agreements Act

LD2B=2” New 
Construction Downlight 
LDRT2B=2” Remodel 
Downlight  limit to 1500 
lumen (13)

LD2BCP=2” LED 
Downlight Nominal 
Aperture, Chicago 
Plenum (12)

05=500 lumens (16)

10=1000 lumens
15=1500 lumens
20=2000 lumens

[Blank]=120-277V
3=347V 0-10V 
only 1000-2000     
lumens

500 - 2000 Lumens 
D010=0-10V Dimming, 1% to 100%, 120V-277V
DLV=Low voltage dimming driver (1-100%) for use with DLVP system (6)

1000 - 2000 Lumens 
D010TR=0-10V or Line Voltage Dimming, 1% to 100%, 120V-277V
DE010=0-10V Linear Dimming, 0% to 100%, 120V-277V (6)

D5LT=Fifth Light® (DALI) Logarithmic Dimming, 0% to 100%, 120V-277V (6)

DMX=DMX/RDM Logarithmic Dimming, 0% to 100%, 120V-277V (6)(9)

DMXC5=DMX/RDM Logarithmic Dimming, 0% to 100%, 120V-277V, with 
RJ45 connection (6)(9)

DLE=Lutron Ecosystem dimming 1% to 100%, 120V-277V (6)

Tunable White
D5LTW2N2050 = Fifth Light (DALI) 0-100%, 120-277V, 2000K-5000K
D5LTW2N2765 = Fifth Light (DALI) 0-100%, 120-277V, 2000K-5000K
DE010W2N2050 =0-10V dimming, 0-100%, 120-277V, 2000K-5000K
DE010W2N2765 = 0-10V dimming, 0-100%, 120-277V, 2700K-6500K

EMBOD=Bodine® Emergency Module with 
Remote Test Switch (6)

EMBOD7ST=Bodine® Emergency Module 
with Self Test Remote Test Switch (6)

EM7=7W Emergency Module with Remote 
Test Switch (6)

EM14=14W Emergency Module with 
Remote Test Switch (6)

EMV7=7W Low Voltage Emergency Module 
with Remote Test Switch (6)

EMV14=14W Low Voltage Emergency 
Module with Remote Test Switch (6)

WTA = Factory installed WaveLinx sensor 
Kit (10) (14)

WTK = Factory installed WaveLinx Lite 
Sensor Kit (10) (15)

WPN = WaveLinx PRO Wireless Node 
without sensor (20)

 EU2B158035 

Domestic Preferences (15) Power Module Lumen Levels / Distribution (1) / Optic CRI Color

[Blank]=Standard
TAA=Trade Agreements Act

EU2B=2” Universal LED 
Module

05SP15=500 lumen 15° IC Rated
05WW=500 lumen wall wash IC Rated8

10SP15=1000 lumen 15° IC Rated
10WW=1000 lumen wall wash Non-IC Rated8

0510NFL25=500 and 1000 lumen 25° IC 
Rated
0510FL40=500 and 1000 lumen 40° IC Rated
0510WFL55=500 and 1000 lumen 55° IC 
Rated
15NFL25=1500 lumen 25° Non IC Rated
15FL40=1500 lumen 40° Non IC Rated
15WFL55=1500 lumen 55° Non IC Rated
15WW=1500 lumen wall wash Non IC Rated8

20NFL25=2000 lumen 25° Non IC Rated
20FL40=2000 lumen 40° Non IC Rated
20WFL55=2000 lumen 55° Non IC Rated

80=80 CRI minimum
90=90 CRI minimum
97=97 CRI minimum

80 CRI
27=2700K
30=3000K
35=3500K
40=4000K
50=5000K

90 CRI
24=2400K
27=2700K
30=3000K
35=3500K
40=4000K
50=5000K

97 CRI
27=2700K
30=3000K

Dim to Warm (1500 lumens and below)
10NFL259030D2W=1000 lumen 25° IC Rated
15NFL259030D2W=1500 lumen 25° Non-IC
10FL409030D2W=1000 lumen 40° IC Rated
15FL409030D2W=1500 lumen 40° Non-IC
10WFL559030D2W=1000 lumen 55° IC Rated
15WFL559030D2W=1500 lumen 55° Non-IC

Tunable White11

W2N902050 = 1000 lumen 40° 2000K-5000K
W2N902765 = 1000 lumen 40° 2700K-6500K

 2LBD1LI 

Trim (17) Flange Finish

2LB=2” LED D
SW=Round lensed Wall Wash, Spun Aluminum, 
Splay black oculus
SWW=Round lensed Wall Wash, Spun Aluminum, 
Splay white oculus
DL

DC=Round Cast Downlight (2) 

DLC=Round Lensed cast downlight (2)

PIN=Round Pinhole downlight black oculus (3)

PINW=Round Pinhole downlight white oculus (3)

DSQC=Square Cast Downlight (2)

DSQLC=Square Lensed cast shallow downlight (2)

1  (7)

2  (11)

3=Rimless (3) (19)

[Blank]=Pinhole

LI=Specular Clear (4)

H=Semi-Specular Clear Haze (4)

WMH=Warm Haze (4)

WH=Wheat (4)

GPH=Graphite Haze (4)

B=Specular Black (4)

MW=Matte White
MB=Matte Black (3)

MMS=Matte Metallic Silver (3)

Accessories (18)

RPR2=Round plaster lathing ring (order with rimless option)
Bar Hangers
HB26=Pair C-channel bar hanger, 26” long
BAA-HB26=Pair C-channel bar hanger, 26” long17

TAA-HB26=Pair C-channel bar hanger, 26” long17

RMB22=Pair wood joist bar hanger 22” long
Connected Lighting Systems (10)

WTA = Field installed WaveLinx sensor Kit 14

WTK = Field installed WaveLinx Lite Sensor Kit 15

L100 lenses - optical lenses
L110N=Diffuse Sandblasted Lens: Provides an even beam spread - especially useful in wall washing.
L111=Soft Focus Lens: Smooths irregular beam pattern while maintaining high controlled illumination levels and beam angles.
L113=Prismatic Spread Lens: Provides a symmetrical broadening of lamp beam. Suitable when a wide, uniform light distribution 
is required.
L115=Linear Spread Lens: Fans out the beam 55° (27-1/2° to each side) to produce a wide rectangular pattern.
L100MB

Notes: 
1. Nominal Lumens will vary depending on selected distribution, color, driver 

2.

3.
4.
6. DMX, D5LT, DE010, DLC, Lutron, connected and emergency module drivers 

7.
8.
9.
10.

11. 
12.
13. 
14. 

15. 

16. 
17.

18.

19.
20. 

TYPE SD01
Attachment 1

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 93 of 342



BASALT COMMONS
5/23/2024

MARK@O-LLC.COM

PS52013723   page 3
November 10, 2023 3:06 PM

LD2B | EU2B | 2LB

Lower Reflector
•

•

•

Trim Retention
•

Optic
•

•

•

Plaster Frame / Collar
•
•

•
•

Universal Mounting Bracket
•

Junction Box
•

•

•

Thermal
•

LED
•

•

•

•
•

•

•

Driver
•

•

•

•

Connected Lighting System 

WaveLinx PRO Tilemount Sensor Kit
•

WaveLinx PRO Wireless Node
•

WaveLinx LITE Tilemount Sensor Kit
•

WaveLinx Tilemount Kits Application
•

•

Code Compliance
•
•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

Warranty
•

Energy Data
ENERGY DATA

Sound Rating: Class A standards

(Values at non-dimming line voltage)

Minimum Starting Temperature: -30°C (-22°F)

EMI/RFI: FCC Title 47 CFR, Part 15, Class B (Consumer)

Input Voltage: UNV (120V - 277V)

Power Factor: >0.90
(at nominal input 120-277 VAC & 100% of Rated Output Power)

Input Frequency: 50/60Hz

500 Lumen D010 1000 Lumen D010

Input Power: 7.38W THD: <14.4% Input Power: 11W THD: <13.8%

120V Input Current: 0.06A 277V Input Current: 0.03A 120V Input Current: 0.086A 277V Input Current: 0.042A

1500 Lumen D010 2000 Lumen D010

Input Power: 15.05W THD: <13.0% Input Power: 21.2W THD: <8.6%

120V Input Current: 0.13A 277V Input Current: 0.06A 120V Input Current: 0.18A 277V Input Current: 0.081A

120V 277V

Lumens Inrush (A) Duration (ms) Inrush (A) Duration (ms)

500 Lumen D010 0.64 0.05 1.4 0.04

1000 Lumen D010 1.02 0.041 2.18 0.021

1500 Lumen D010 1.02 1.02 2.24 0.064

2000 Lumen D010 1.02 0.077 2.43 0.027

TYPE SD01
Attachment 1

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 94 of 342



BASALT COMMONS
5/23/2024

MARK@O-LLC.COM

PS52013723   page 4
November 10, 2023 3:06 PM

LD2B | EU2B | 2LB

14-1/8"
[358.6mm]

13-1/16"
[331.7mm] 15-3/16"

[385mm]

17-7/16"
[443.4mm]

2-13/16"
[71.6mm]

3-1/2"
[88.9mm]

3-1/8"
[79.4mm]

3-7/8"
[98.4mm]

2-13/16"
[71.6mm]

3-1/8"
[79.4mm]

3-7/8"
[98.4mm]

4-3/4"
[120.5mm]

1500 and 2000 lumens: 25º, 40º, 55º (Non-IC)
1000 lumens 15º (IC rated)
1000 lumens WW (Non-IC)
1000 lumens D2W (IC rated)
1500 lumens D2W (Non-IC)

All Distributions
500 lumens (IC rated)
1000 lumens: 25º, 40º, 55º (IC rated)

Top View

Top View With Emergency 

3.0" (2x4) [76.2]

2 25/32"
[70.3]

3 7/8"
[98.4]

3 1/8"
[79.4]

5 23/64"
[136.1] 4 1/4" [107.8]

Square Trim Dimensions

.975"
[24.77]

1.93" [49.1]

3.80" [96.4]

SECTION L - L SCALE 1 : 2

2-3/4"
[69.3mm]

20"
[507.5mm]

4-3/4"
[120.5mm]

2-13/16"
[71.6mm]

3-7/8"
[98.4mm]

Top View Side  View

3-1/2"
[500 lumens]
1000 lumens 
25˚, 40˚, 25˚

Flexible

5-9/25"
[136.1mm]

NEW CONSTRUCTION

RETROFIT

CHICAGO PLENUM

Dimensional and Mounting Details

TYPE SD01
Attachment 1

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 95 of 342



BASALT COMMONS
5/23/2024

MARK@O-LLC.COM

PS52013723   page 5
November 10, 2023 3:06 PM

LD2B | EU2B | 2LB

Photometric Data

ZONAL LUMEN SUMMARY

Zone Lumens % 

Fixture

0-30 938 90.2

0-40 1020 98.0

0-60 1040 99.9

0-90 1041 100

90-180 0 0

0-180 1041 100

FLOOD (40° BEAM)

Test 
Number

P218754

Housing LD2B10D010

Module EU2B0510FL408035

Trim 2LBD*LI

Lumens 1041

Efficacy 101 Lm/W

SC 0.59

CONE OF LIGHT

D FC L W

4' 161 2.2 2.2

7' 53 4 4

9' 32 5.2 5.2

13' 15 7.6 7.6

16' 10 9.4 9.4

0º D

CANDELA TABLE

Degrees
Vertical

Candela 

0 2577

5 2467

15 1626

25 581

35 120

45 19

55 4

65 0

75 0

85 0

90 0

LUMINANCE

Average 
Candela 
Degrees

Average 
0° 

Lumi-
nance 

45 10412

55 2702

65 0

75 0

85 0

CANDLEPOWER DISTRIBUTION
Downlight

643

1287

1930

2573 15º 30º

45º

60º

75º

90º

ZONAL LUMEN SUMMARY

Zone Lumens % 

Fixture

0-30 987 96.2

0-40 1019 99.3

0-60 1026 100

0-90 1026 100

90-180 0 0

0-180 1026 100

FLOOD (25° BEAM)

Test 
Number

P218711

Housing LD2B10D010

Module EU2B0510N-

FL258035

Trim 2LBD*LI

Lumens 1026

Efficacy 99.6 Lm/W

SC 0.39

CONE OF LIGHT

D FC L W

4' 382 1.4 1.4

7' 125 2.6 2.6

9' 75 3.4 3.4

13' 36 5 5

16' 24 6 6

0º D

CANDELA TABLE

Degrees
Vertical

Candela 

0 6104

5 5611

15 1236

25 229

35 51

45 7

55 1

65 0

75 0

85 0

90 0

LUMINANCE

Average 
Candela 
Degrees

Average 
0° 

Lumi-
nance 

45 3836

55 676

65 0

75 0

85 0

CANDLEPOWER DISTRIBUTION
Downlight

1525

3050

4575

6100 15º 30º

45º

60º

75º

90º

ZONAL LUMEN SUMMARY

Zone Lumens % 

Fixture

0-30 674 68.5

0-40 873 88.7

0-60 984 99.9

0-90 985 100

90-180 0 0

0-180 985 100

WIDE FLOOD (55° BEAM)

Test 
Number

P218801

Housing LD2B10D010

Module EU2B0510W-

FL558035

Trim 2LBD*LI

Lumens 985

Efficacy 95.6 Lm/W

SC 0.73

CONE OF LIGHT

D FC L W

4' 82 2.8 2.8

7' 27 5 5

9' 16 6.6 6.6

13' 8 9.4 9.4

16' 5 11.6 11.6

0º D

CANDELA TABLE

Degrees
Vertical

Candela 

0 1309

5 1250

15 959

25 644

35 313

45 105

55 28

65 0

75 0

85 0

90 0

LUMINANCE

Average 
Candela 
Degrees

Average 
0° 

Lumi-
nance 

45 57541

55 18916

65 0

75 0

85 0

CANDLEPOWER DISTRIBUTION
Downlight

326

652

979

1305 15º 30º

45º

60º

75º

90º

ZONAL LUMEN SUMMARY

Zone Lumens % 

Fixture

0-30 945 97

0-40 965 99.1

0-60 973 99.9

0-90 974 100

90-180 0 0

0-180 974 100

SPOT (15° BEAM)

Test 
Number

P264029

Housing LD2B10D010

Module EU2B1010SP158035

Trim 2LBD*LI

Lumens 974

Efficacy 94.6 Lm/W

SC 0.28

CONE OF LIGHT

D FC L W

4' 582.2 1 1

7' 190.1 1.8 1.8

9' 115 2.4 2.4

13' 55.1 3.6 3.6

16' 36.4 4.4 4.4

0º D

CANDELA TABLE

Degrees
Vertical

Candela 

0 9316

5 7438

15 976

25 141

35 30

45 7

55 2

65 1

75 0

85 0

90 0

LUMINANCE

Average 
Candela 
Degrees

Average 
0° 

Lumi-
nance 

45 4884

55 1720

65 1167

75 0

85 0

CANDLEPOWER DISTRIBUTION
Downlight

2328

4656

6984

9312 15º 30º

45º

60º

75º

90º

TYPE SD01
Attachment 1

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 96 of 342



BASALT COMMONS
5/23/2024

MARK@O-LLC.COM

PS52013723   page 6
November 10, 2023 3:06 PM

LD2B | EU2B | 2LB

Photometric Data

LEGEND: 0-deg:
90-deg:

SINGLE UNIT FOOTCANDLES MULTIPLE UNIT FOOTCANDLES

3' FROM WALL  
(Distance From Fixture Along 

Wall)

2.5' FROM WALL  
(Spacing Between Fixtures)

3' FROM WALL  
(Spacing Between Fixtures)

DD 1' 2' 3' 3' 4' 3' 4'
1' 0.5 0.5 0.3 0.2 1.3 1.1 1.3 1.2 0.7 1.2 0.7 0.8 0.7 0.6 0.6 0.6

2' 4.3 3.3 1.4 0.5 10.7 8.7 10.7 10.2 4.9 10.2 4.8 4.6 4.8 4.5 2.9 4.5

3' 10.1 8.1 4.2 1.6 19.2 18 19.2 17.8 11.5 17.8 11.8 12.1 11.8 10.7 8.3 10.7

4' 12.2 10.2 5.9 2.8 19.3 19.9 19.3 17.5 14 17.5 15.1 16.1 15.1 13.4 11.9 13.4

5' 10.9 9.4 6.1 3.3 15.6 16.9 15.6 13.8 12.8 13.8 14.2 15.7 14.2 12.5 12.3 12.5

6' 8.6 7.6 5.4 3.2 11.7 12.9 11.7 10.2 10.4 10.2 11.8 13.2 11.8 10.3 10.7 10.3

7' 6.4 5.8 4.4 2.9 8.5 9.5 8.5 7.5 8 7.5 9.2 10.4 9.2 8.1 8.8 8.1

8' 4.7 4.4 3.5 2.4 6.3 7 6.3 5.5 6 5.5 7.1 7.9 7.1 6.3 6.9 6.3

9' 3.4 3.3 2.7 2 4.6 5.1 4.6 4.1 4.6 4.1 5.4 6 5.4 4.8 5.4 4.8

10' 2.6 2.4 2.1 1.6 3.5 3.8 3.5 3.1 3.5 3.1 4.2 4.6 4.2 3.7 4.2 3.7

WALL WASH

Test Number P14828

Housing LD2B10D010
Module EU2B1010WW8035
Trim 2LBSW*XX

Lumens 742
Efficacy 72 Lm/W

Wall Washer

244

487

731

975 15º 30º

45º

60º

75º

90º

Downlight

15º30º

45º

60º

75º

90º

CANDLEPOWER DISTRIBUTION

TYPE SD01
Attachment 1

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 97 of 342



BASALT COMMONS
5/23/2024

MARK@O-LLC.COM

PS52013723   page 7
November 10, 2023 3:06 PM

LD2B | EU2B | 2LB

Connected Solutions

WaveLinx LITE - WLST Tilemount Sensor

WaveLinx PRO Wireless – WPST Tilemount Sensor

WaveLinx LITE
Tilemount Sensor Kit

WaveLinx LITE
Integrated Industrial

WaveLinx LITE
Ambient

WaveLinx LITE
Integrated 

Parking Garage

WaveLinx LITE
Wallstation

WaveLinx LITE
Integrated Ambient

WaveLinx LITE
Mobile Application

MyApps
Secure Portal

Site Initiation, Data Backup & Site Transfer

Area or Room
(49 + 1 construction area)

Area or Room
(49 + 1 construction area)

Wi-Fi Signal

IEEE 802.15.4

KEY

Building LAN

Touchscreen

PoE
Power

WaveLinx COREBACnet/IP
Public (REST) API

Third Party system 
(hardware provided 

by others) BACnet Router1

(hardware provided 
by others)

Desktop/Laptop
with web browser 
(hardware provided 
by user)

Note:
Performance based on second generation 
WaveLinx Area Controller (WAC2).

WaveLinx CORE Pro shown in this illustration. 
WaveLinx CORE hardware can be either Pro, 
Enterprise or Virtual.

1 BACnet Router only required if WaveLinx 
CORE and third party BACnet client are on 
different subnets.

Smartphone with WaveLinx app
used for system 
setup and 
personal control

WaveLinx PRO controlled devices
(up to 200 devices per WAC2 - 150 devices best practice) - see Note

WaveLinx
Area

Controller 

PRO Occupancy
Ceiling Sensor

PRO Controlled
Receptacle

PRO 
Wallstation

WaveLinx PRO enabled 
Indoor Fixture

120-347V 20A 
PRO Dimming Switchpacks

WaveLinx PRO enabled 
Outdoor Fixture

Area or Room
(49 + 1 construction area)

•
•
•
•
•

•
•
•
•

ScenesManual
Dimmer

Occupancy
Sensor

Lumen Maintenance
Control

Daylighting
Control

Manually Switched
ON/OFF

Tuning
Control

Network
Security

+ + +
WaveLinx Area 

Controller

area control options

Mobile 
Applications 

Wireless Wall
Station/Receptacle 

Downlights with 
tilemount sensor 

wireless communication

WaveLinx mobile app settings

WaveLinx CORE Building Management IntegrationWaveLinx PRO WPST Tilemount Wiring Diagram

WaveLinx Lite
Tilemount Sensor Kit control module

(MSP3IVMVDC1EP)
(included) 54” Plenum cable

(5140-000123-00)
(included)

120-277 VAC 3A downlights with 0-10V control
WaveLinx Lite Sensor and 
Mounting Trim (included)

Includes switchleg (Blue load out wire)
and 0-10V to each fixture controlled

ceiling tileceiling tile

WaveLinx PRO
Tilemount Sensor Kit control module

(MSP3IVMVDC1EP)
(included) 54” Plenum cable

(5140-000123-00)
(included)

120-277 VAC 3A downlights with 0-10V control
WaveLinx Sensor and 

Mounting Trim (included)

Includes switchleg (Blue load out wire)
and 0-10V to each fixture controlled

ceiling tileceiling tile

120-277
VAC

Black (Hot)

White (Neutral)

Purple (Dimming)

White (Neutral)

Blue (Not Switched)

Pink (Dimming)

Control module
(MSP3IVMVDC1EP)

0-10V
DImming Driver

120-277
VAC

Black (Hot)

White (Neutral)

Purple (Dimming)

White (Neutral)

Blue (Not Switched)

Pink (Dimming)

Control module
(MSP3IVMVDC1EP)

0-10V
DImming Driver

WaveLinx LITE WLST Tilemount Wiring Diagram WaveLinx LITE Bluetooth Enabled System

Manual
Dimmer

Occupancy
Sensor

Lumen Maintenance
Control

Daylighting
Control

Manually Switched
ON/OFF

Demand
Response

Tuning
Control

SchedulingReceptacle
Control

TYPE SD01
Attachment 1

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 98 of 342



BASALT COMMONS
5/23/2024

MARK@O-LLC.COM

LD2B | EU2B | 2LB

Cooper Lighting Solutions
1121 Highway 74 South
Peachtree City, GA 30269
P: 770-486-4800
www.cooperlighting.com

© 2023 Cooper Lighting Solutions
All Rights Reserved.

Specifications and dimensions 
subject to change without notice.

PS52013723   page 8
November 10, 2023 3:06 PM

Connected Solutions

WaveLinx PRO Wireless Node - WPN

Building LAN

Wireless Area
Controller 

Touchscreen

WaveLinx Mobile App
used for system 
setup and 
personal control

PoE
Power

Trellix CoreBACnet/IP
Public (REST) API

Third Party system 
(hardware provided 

by others) BACnet Router1

(hardware provided 
by others)

Desktop/Laptop
with web browser 
(hardware provided 
by user)

•
•
•
•

+ + +
WaveLinx Area 

Controller

area control options

Mobile 
Applications 

Wireless Wall
Station/Receptacle 

Downlights with 
wireless communication

WaveLinx mobile app settings

WaveLinx CORE Building Management IntegrationWaveLinx PRO Wireless Node (WPN) Wiring Diagram

120-277 VAC 3A downlights with 0-10V control

For 0-10V drivers 500 lumens and overFor 0-10V drivers 250 lumens and Tunable White

Power Supply WP N

D010

White (AC -N)

Black (AC-L)

Red (Aux+)

Blue (Aux-) Grey (GND)

Red (LED+)

Pu
rp

le
(D

im
+)

Pi
nk

(D
im

-)

Blue (LED-)

WPN 

D010 
White (AC -N)

Black (AC-L)

Grey (GND)

Red (LED+)

Pu
rp

le
(D

im
+)

Pi
nk

(D
im

-)

Blue (LED-)

Ye
llo

w
(A

ux
-)

Gr
ey

(A
ux

-)

Green (GND)

Manual
Dimmer

Occupancy
Sensor

Lumen Maintenance
Control

Daylighting
Control

Manually Switched
ON/OFF

Demand
Response

Tuning
Control

SchedulingReceptacle
Control

TYPE SD01
Attachment 1

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 99 of 342



BASALT COMMONS
5/23/2024

MARK@O-LLC.COM

Project Catalog # Type

Prepared by Notes Date

PS519337EN   page 1
March 15, 2024 9:39 AM

Top Product Features
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 

Vaportite LED

' '  

Typical Applications

Dimensional, Mounting Details 

Installation Data

Product Features

Designed to provide safe and convenient 
means of disconnecting power

Interactive Menu
• 
• 
• 

WLS2, WLS4, and ZW-SWPD3 Sidecar

7

3-5/8"
[93mm]

5-7/8" [148mm]

15/32"
[12mm]

1/4-28 UNF Stud
16-3/4" [425mm]

Mounting Studs (2)
2'

5-7/8" [148mm]

25-5/8" [651mm]

38-1/4" [972mm]
Mounting Studs (2)

4'

5-7/8" [148mm]

47-1/8" [1197mm]

STANDARD V-HANGER
(optional) 

SURFACE BRACKET
(optional) 

Bracket mounted
to surface

Snap over
housing lip

Bracket mounted to
surface structureSnap

brackets
together

TYPE SL01
Attachment 1

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 100 of 342



BASALT COMMONS
5/23/2024

MARK@O-LLC.COM

VT3 LED Vaportite

PS519337EN   page 2
March 15, 2024 9:39 AM

Order Information
 4VT3-LD5-6-G-UNV-L840-CD1-U

Domestic Preferences Series Lamp Type LED Lumens Output Distribution Voltage Remote Emergency Enclosure

Domestic Preferences (1) Series (2) Lamp Type LED Lumens Output Distribution (3), (4) Voltage Remote Emergency Enclosure

[Blank]=Standard
BAA=Buy American Act
TAA=Trade Agreements Act

2VT3=2' Vaportite
4VT3=4' Vaportite

LD5=LED 5.0 2 ft.
2=2000 Lumens
3=3000 Lumens
4=4000 Lumens

4 ft.
4=4000 Lumens
5=5000 Lumens
6=6000 Lumens
8=8000 Lumens

G=General Distribution
W=Wide Distribution
P=Parking Garage Distribution
WPC=Wide Distribution, 
Polycarbonate
PPC=Parking Distribution, 
Polycarbonate

120V=120 Volt
277V=277 Volt
347V=347 Volt
480V=480 Volt
UNV=Universal 
Voltage 120-277 Volt
UNC=Universal 
Voltage 347-480 Volt

EL10W=10-watt, 120-277V emergency 
battery pack installed (5), (6), (9)

VT-REM-EL10W=Remote mounted 
10-watt, 120-277V emergency battery 
pack (5), (10)

Notes Notes Notes Notes

DOMESTIC PREFERENCES

separately may be separately analyzed 

DLC Standard and DLC 

details.

Parking Garage distribution provided 

available in Wide or Parking Garage 
distributions. 35ºC ambient. (10) VT-REM-EL10W option rated 

CCT Driver Type Options Packaging Accessories

CCT Driver Type Options Packaging Accessories (order separately) (13)

L830=3000K, LED
L835=3500K, LED
L840=4000K, LED
L850=5000K, LED

CD1=1 Dimming Driver
5LTD1

SSL
TP
SSLTP
MSWL20=Wet Listed Motion Sensor 360º
WPS4 (12)

WLS4 (11), (12)

WLS2  (11), (12)

U=Unit Pack VT3-SS-VBK=Stainless Steel V-Bracket (2 per kit)
VT3-SS-SBK

Notes Notes
(13) Accessories sold separately will be separately analyzed under domestic 

Construction
• 
• 

• 
• 
• 

• 

• 

• 
• 
• 

Electrical
• 

• 

• 
• 

• 
• 

Lens
• 

• 
• 
• 

Warranty
• 

Compliance
• 
• 

• 

• 
• 

• 

• 

WaveLinx LITE devices are not currently compatible with 
the WaveLinx PRO Wireless Area Controller

Control Solutions

TYPE SL01
Attachment 1

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 101 of 342



BASALT COMMONS
5/23/2024

MARK@O-LLC.COM

VT3 LED Vaportite

PS519337EN   page 3
March 15, 2024 9:39 AM

4VT3-LD5-6-G-UNV-L840-CD1-U

 

4VT3-LD5-6-W-UNV-L840-CD1-U

135 lm/W
 

Photometric Data

4VT3-LD5-6-P-UNV-L840-CD1-U

 

489

0˚ 30˚

40˚

50˚

70˚

90˚

20˚

80˚

60˚
978

1466

1955

10˚

378

0˚ 30˚

40˚

50˚

70˚

90˚

20˚

80˚

60˚
757

1135

1513

10˚

415

0˚ 30˚

40˚

50˚

70˚

90˚

20˚

80˚

60˚
830

1245

1660

10˚

TYPE SL01
Attachment 1

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 102 of 342



BASALT COMMONS
5/23/2024

MARK@O-LLC.COM

VT3 LED Vaportite

Cooper Lighting Solutions
1121 Highway 74 South
Peachtree City, GA 30269
P: 770-486-4800
www.cooperlighting.com

© 2024 Cooper Lighting Solutions
All Rights Reserved.
 
Specifications and dimensions 
subject to change without notice.

PS51937EN   page 4
March 15, 2024 9:39 AM

Energy and Performance Data by Catalog Number

Lumen Maintenance

Ambient 
Temperature

TM-21 Lumen
Maintenance

(60,000 hours)

Theoretical
L70

(Hours)

Shipping Data

Catalog No. Wt.

Input Watts:

Catalog Number Description
Delivered
Lumens Watts (lm/W)

General

139

51

Wide

17

31

133

7159

Parking

17 131

31

133

Ambient Ratings

2ft. Lumen Package Ambient Rating 4ft. Lumen Package Ambient Rating

IK Rating

VT3 IK Rating

TYPE SL01
Attachment 1

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 103 of 342



BASALT COMMONS
5/23/2024

MARK@O-LLC.COM

Project Catalog # Type

Prepared by Notes Date

PS500046EN   page 1
February 26, 2024 6:14 PM

Quick Facts
•

•
•
•

Interactive Menu
•
•
•
•
•

Connected Systems
•
•

Dimensional Details

McGraw-Edison
GWC Galleon Wall

CLASS A

15-11/16" [400mm] 12-1/8" [308mm]

6-1/2"
[164mm]

14-17/64" [362mm]

6-1/2"
[164mm]

6-1/2"
[164mm]

15-15/16" [388mm]

6-13/64"
[159mm]

2-1/2"
[63mm]

3-15/32"
[88mm]

2-5/32"
[55mm]

3/4"
[19mm]

1-11/16"
[43mm]

GWC with CBP option installed 
(Thru-Branch Back Box accessory MA1059XX)

GWC with accessory BB/GWCXX Back Box installed

Light ARchitectTM

1 1 

2

NOTES:
1. Visit https://www.designlights.org/search/

Net Weight: 17.0 lbs (7.7 kgs)

Product Features

AVAIL ABL E

CO

MPLIANT OPTIONS

BAA
BUY AMERICAN ACT

TYPE SW01 SW02
Attachment 1

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 104 of 342



BASALT COMMONS
5/23/2024

MARK@O-LLC.COM

GWC Galleon Wall

PS500046EN   page 2
February 26, 2024 6:14 PM

McGraw-Edison

Ordering Information
  GWC-SA2C-740-U-T4FT-GM

Construction 
 

Optics

Electrical

°C to 40°
°

Mounting

Finish

• 

Typical Applications

Warranty

Product Family 1
Light Engine Color  

Temperature
Voltage Distribution Finish

Drive Current

GWC=Galleon Wall
BAA-GWC

34

TAA-GWC
34

SA1
SA2 2

A   
B   
C   
D  4 
Z 40

722
727
730
735
740
750
760
827
830
AMB 3, 4

U   
1
2
3
4=277V
8=  6,7

9  6

DV
 7, 8, 36 

T2
T3
T4FT
T4W   
SL2  
SL3   
SL4
SLL  
SLR  
RW   
5NQ   
5MQ  
5WQ

AP  
BZ=Bronze  
BK=Black  
DP
GM
WH=White

Options Controls and Systems Options  Accessories   

F
FF
10K
20K
2L  37

DIM  9, 10

CBP  2, 4, 14, 32 

CBP-CEC
 2, 4, 14

BB  38

L90
R90   
HSS  23  
GRSBK  4, 27

GRSWH  4, 27

UPL  13

HA  12   
LCF  22

MT  
CC  5

CE  24  

AHD145  16  
AHD245  16  
AHD255  16  
AHD355  16  
DALI  11

BPC
 

PR   
PR7  15 

FADC  39

SPB1=
19, 33

SPB2=
19, 33

SPB4=
 19, 33

MS-LXX  17, 18, 19

MS/DIM-LXX  17, 18, 19

WPS2XX  31, 41

WPS4XX  31, 41

WLS2XX  31, 41

WLS4XX  31, 41

LWR-LW
 19, 20, 21

LWR-LN
 19, 20, 21

OA/RA1013   
OA/RA1016    
OA/RA1201   
OA/RA1027  
MA1252  
MA1059XX
BB/GWCXX  
LS/HSS  23, 25  
LS/GRSBK-2PK=Glare Shield, Black 25, 27

LS/GRSWH-2PK=Glare Shield, White 25, 27

LS/PFS 28

FSIR-100  17

WOLC-7P-10A  26, 29

 

NOTES:
1. 
2. 

5. 
6. 
7. 
8. 

Visit 

11. 
12. 

15. 
16. 

17. 

18. 

21. 
22. 

25. 
26. 
27. 
28. 

needed.

TYPE SW01 SW02
Attachment 1

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 105 of 342



BASALT COMMONS
5/23/2024

MARK@O-LLC.COM

GWC Galleon Wall

PS500046EN   page 3
February 26, 2024 6:14 PM

McGraw-Edison

Optical Distributions

Optic Orientation

Symmetric Distributions

T3
(Type III)

SL2
(Type II with Spill Control)

SL3
(Type III with Spill Control)

T4FT
(Type IV Forward Throw)

T4W
(Type IV Wide)

SL4
(Type IV with Spill Control)

Asymmetric Area Distributions

Specialized Distributions

SLL
(90° Spill Light Eliminator Left)

SLR
(90° Spill Light Eliminator Right)

RW
(Rectangular Wide Type I)

5NQ
(Type V Square Narrow)

5MQ
(Type V Square Medium)

5WQ
(Type V Square Wide)

T2
(Type II)

Lumen Multiplier

Ambient  
 Temperature

Lumen  
Multiplier

0ºC

40ºC

50ºC

FADC Settings

FADC Position Lumen  
Multiplier

4

5

6

8

Note: 

Energy and Performance Data
Lumen Maintenance

Drive Current Ambient  
Temperature

TM-21 Lumen 
Maintenance  

(60,000 Hours)

Projected L70 
(Hours)

°C

°C

100

0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90 100

95

90

85

80

75

70

65

60

55

50

45

Hours (Thousands)

Calculated per IESNA TM-21 Data Projected

Lu
m

en
 M

ai
nt

en
an

ce
 (P

er
ce

nt
)

Up to 1A, up to  50°C
1.2A, up to  40°C

Street Side

House Side

Street Side

House Side

Optics Rotated Left @ 90° [L90] Optics Rotated Right @ 90° [R90]

TYPE SW01 SW02
Attachment 1

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 106 of 342



BASALT COMMONS
5/23/2024

MARK@O-LLC.COM

GWC Galleon Wall

PS500046EN   page 4
February 26, 2024 6:14 PM

McGraw-Edison
Energy and Performance Data View GWC Galleon Wall IES files

4000K/5000K/6000K CCT, 70 CRI

Number of Light Squares 1 2

Drive Current

Nominal Power (Watts)  44  66  86 

Input Current @ 120V (A)

Input Current @ 208V (A)

Input Current @ 240V (A)

Input Current @ 277V (A)

Input Current @ 347V (A)

Input Current @ 480V (A)

Optics 

T2

T3

T4FT

T4W

SL2

SL3

SL4

5NQ

5MQ

5WQ

SLL/SLR

RW

TYPE SW01 SW02
Attachment 1

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 107 of 342



BASALT COMMONS
5/23/2024

MARK@O-LLC.COM

GWC Galleon Wall

PS500046EN   page 5
February 26, 2024 6:14 PM

McGraw-Edison
3000K CCT, 80 CRI

Number of Light Squares 1 2

Drive Current

Nominal Power (Watts)  44  66  86 

Input Current @ 120V (A)

Input Current @ 208V (A)

Input Current @ 240V (A)

Input Current @ 277V (A)

Input Current @ 347V (A)

Input Current @ 480V (A)

Optics 

T2

Lumens

BUG Rating

Lumens per Watt

T3

Lumens

BUG Rating

Lumens per Watt

T4FT

Lumens

BUG Rating

Lumens per Watt

T4W

Lumens

BUG Rating

Lumens per Watt

SL2

Lumens

BUG Rating

Lumens per Watt

SL3

Lumens

BUG Rating

Lumens per Watt

SL4

Lumens

BUG Rating

Lumens per Watt

5NQ

Lumens

BUG Rating

Lumens per Watt

5MQ

Lumens

BUG Rating

Lumens per Watt

5WQ

Lumens

BUG Rating

Lumens per Watt

SLL/SLR

Lumens

BUG Rating

Lumens per Watt  86  88 

RW

Lumens

BUG Rating

Lumens per Watt

TYPE SW01 SW02
Attachment 1

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 108 of 342



BASALT COMMONS
5/23/2024

MARK@O-LLC.COM

Cooper Lighting Solutions
1121 Highway 74 South
Peachtree City, GA 30269
P: 770-486-4800
www.cooperlighting.com

© 2024 Cooper Lighting Solutions
All Rights Reserved.
 
Specifications and dimensions  
subject to change without notice.

GWC Galleon WallMcGraw-Edison

PS500046EN   page 6
February 26, 2024 6:14 PM

Control Options
0-10V 

 

Photocontrol 

After Hours Dim 

Dimming Occupancy Sensor 

Enlighted Wireless Control and Monitoring System 

WaveLinx Wireless Outdoor Lighting Control Module  

For mounting heights up to 20' (SPB2, -L20)

20

15

10

5

0

20 18 15 12 9 6 63 9 12 15 183 0 20
Coverage Side Area (Feet)

0

12

8

36 7 0
Coverage Side Area (Feet)

For mounting heights up to 8' (SPB1, -L08)

7 361824 5 5 18 24

0

40

27

15

50 30 0
Coverage Side Area (Feet)

For mounting heights up to 40' (SPB4, -L40W)

30 5040 1020 10 20 40

0 0

20

30

406
24 8 18 0

Coverage Side Area (Feet)

For mounting heights from 8' to 16' (LWR-LW) For mounting heights from 16' to 40' (LWR-LN)

Coverage Side Area (Feet)
0 10 20 30 40102030408 18 24

TYPE SW01 SW02
Attachment 1

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 109 of 342



Cross slope meets the applicable criteria below:

Gutter flow slope meets the applicable criteria below:
ope is % at bottom of curb ramps w

At intersection w , the maximum
gutter flow %.

At midblock crossings, the gutter flow shall be permitted to equal the street or highway grade.

Ramp running slope meets applicable criteria below:

At a sland
, maximum cross slope

At an Island at a midblock location, maximum cross slope does not exceed adjacent road profile grade.

CITY OF THE DALLES

Street Name:

Intersecting Street:

Designer: Company:

RD 755 for Curb Ramp Style Examples.

E 3rd Street

Jefferson Street
Evan Eykelbosch, PE                              Froelich Engineers

1

✔

✔

✔

Attachment 1

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 110 of 342



Flares are provided with maximum slope of 10% ; OR
Side of ramp discourages pedestrian cross-travel with landscaping or an obstruction (If no flares, curb

return is used).

e grates within the pedestrian access route.

f no at back of walk ; OR
at back-of-walk (5’ in crosswalk direction).

are objects that prevent a wheel chair footrest from overhanging the edge of the 
turning spacing, thus requiring a larger area to turn.

Pedestrian pushbuttons, if present, meets the criteria below:

Minimum clear width through the pedestrian access route (flares are excluded
) shall be .

Minimum clear width through a cut-through island shall be

.

clear space

:

:

CITY OF THE DALLES

RD 755 for Curb Ramp Style Examples.

1

✔

✔

✔

✔

✔

Attachment 1

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 111 of 342



Transitions curb ramp are flush and free of abrupt level changes (no lip
or other vertical

Curb ramp
not blocked by legally parked 

Between curb ramps, curb exposure height is at least 3”.

.

edestrian push buttons meets the  criteria below:

If 4’ x 4’ space  roadway i outside the parallel vehicular
path of travel and within the crosswalk

CITY OF THE DALLES

RD 755 for Curb Ramp Style Examples.

1

✔

✔

✔

✔

Attachment 1

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 112 of 342



Cross slope meets the applicable criteria below:

Gutter flow slope meets the applicable criteria below:
ope is % at bottom of curb ramps w

At intersection w , the maximum
gutter flow %.

At midblock crossings, the gutter flow shall be permitted to equal the street or highway grade.

Ramp running slope meets applicable criteria below:

At a sland
, maximum cross slope

At an Island at a midblock location, maximum cross slope does not exceed adjacent road profile grade.

CITY OF THE DALLES

Street Name:

Intersecting Street:

Designer: Company:

RD 755 for Curb Ramp Style Examples.

E 3rd Street

Laughlin Street
Evan Eykelbosch, PE                              Froelich Engineers

1

✔

✔

✔

Attachment 1

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 113 of 342



Flares are provided with maximum slope of 10% ; OR
Side of ramp discourages pedestrian cross-travel with landscaping or an obstruction (If no flares, curb

return is used).

e grates within the pedestrian access route.

f no at back of walk ; OR
at back-of-walk (5’ in crosswalk direction).

are objects that prevent a wheel chair footrest from overhanging the edge of the 
turning spacing, thus requiring a larger area to turn.

Pedestrian pushbuttons, if present, meets the criteria below:

Minimum clear width through the pedestrian access route (flares are excluded
) shall be .

Minimum clear width through a cut-through island shall be

.

clear space

:

:

CITY OF THE DALLES

RD 755 for Curb Ramp Style Examples.

1

✔

✔

✔

✔

✔

Attachment 1

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 114 of 342



Transitions curb ramp are flush and free of abrupt level changes (no lip
or other vertical

Curb ramp
not blocked by legally parked 

Between curb ramps, curb exposure height is at least 3”.

.

edestrian push buttons meets the  criteria below:

If 4’ x 4’ space  roadway i outside the parallel vehicular
path of travel and within the crosswalk

CITY OF THE DALLES

RD 755 for Curb Ramp Style Examples.

1

✔

✔

✔

✔

Attachment 1

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 115 of 342



CITY OF THE DALLES 
  ADA CURB RAMP DESIGN EXCEPTION REQUEST 

City of The Dalles - ADA Curb Ramp Design Exception Request 
April 2019 

 

 

 

Street Name:  

Cross Street:  

 

Corner Position(s) and Ramp Position Number(s)  
 

Curb Ramp Location (Provide sketch or insert graphic file of intersection 
and label corner position and ramp numbers)-See Exhibit “A”). 
 
 

City of The Dalles Public Works Use Only 
Control No:  

ramp corner 4
ramp #1

E 3rd Street
Jefferson Street

4 & 1

Attachment 1

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 116 of 342



CITY OF THE DALLES 
  ADA CURB RAMP DESIGN EXCEPTION REQUEST 

City of The Dalles - ADA Curb Ramp Design Exception Request 
April 2019 

 
 

Design Criteria for New Curb Ramps: List curb ramp number(s) 
where criterion is not met. 

A.  A separate curb ramp is provided for each pedestrian access route crossing(typically two per curb ramp 
corner) within the scope of the project unless such crossing is officially and properly closed. (If crossing is 
officially closed, provide documentation) 

 

B1. 7.5 % maximum ramp running slope on all ramp runs;  

C1.  1.5% maximum cross slope on all ramp-runs. 
C2.  At an Island across an intersection approach without yield or stop control, maximum cross 

slope is 5.0%. 
C3.  At an Island at a midblock location, maximum cross slope does not exceed adjacent road 

profile grade. 

 

D1. Maximum gutter flow slope is 2.0% at bottom of curb ramps with yield or stop control. D2. At 
intersection approaches without yield or stop control, the maximum gutter flow is 5%. 

D3. At midblock crossings, the gutter flow shall be permitted to equal the street or highway grade. 

 

E1. If gutter pan, maximum counter slope (cross slope of gutter) of 4.0%. E2. If 
no gutter pan, maximum slope of crosswalk (counter slope) of 4.0%. 

 

F1.  Minimum clear width through the pedestrian access route (flares and curbs are excluded from the pedestrian 
access route) shall be equal to or greater than 48”. 

F2. Minimum clear width through a cut-through island shall be equal to or greater than 60”. 

 

G1. Flares are provided with maximum slope of 10% relative to gutter flow slope, OR 
G2. Side of ramp discourages pedestrian cross-travel with landscaping or an obstruction. 

 

H. Drainage grates are outside pedestrian access route.  
J1. Ramp turning space (1.5% cross slope in both directions): 4’ x 5’ if obstruction at back-of-walk 
(5’ in crosswalk direction); OR 
J2. 4’ x 4’ if no obstruction at back of walk. 

 

K. If signalized, pushbutton located within 10” reach from clear space. 
The pushbutton is to be located vertically 36”-48” above the clear space. 

 

Surfaces adjacent to pedestrian push buttons meets the clear space criteria below: 
L1. 2.5' x 4' clear space of prepared surface (if constrained on 3 sides a larger clear space is required, see 

Traffic Signal Design Manual); AND 
L2. 1.5% slope in one direction (recommended 1.5% both directions) 

 

Bottom of curb ramp meets applicable criteria below: 
M. If 4’ x 4’ space at the bottom of curb ramp is in the roadway it shall be outside of the parallel vehicular path of 

travel and within the crosswalk. 

 

N. Between curb ramps, curb exposure height is at least 3”.  
P. Parallel style curb ramps shall have a 5' minimum separation from other parallel style ramps.  
Q. Curb ramp falls within the width of the pedestrian street crossing (crosswalk) served and is 
not blocked by legally parked vehicles. 

 

Detectable warning surface meets the criteria below: 
R1. Consists of truncated domes, extending 2' along the full width of the curb ramp. 
R2. At a crossing island, 2' of separation is provided between detectable warning surfaces 
R3. Detectable warning surface meets placement criteria below: 
•  At a parallel curb ramp or blended transition place truncated domes at back of curb 
•  At a perpendicular curb ramp place truncated domes at the bottom of the curb ramp if less 

than 5' from the back of curb OR at the back of curb if bottom of the curb ramp is greater 
than 5' from the back of curb. 

•  At a freight rail crossing, closest edge is placed 12' 8" from center of nearest rail. 
•  At a light rail crossing , closest edge is placed 6' from center of nearest rail. 

 

T. Transitions at all grade breaks in a curb ramp are flush and free of abrupt level changes (no lip or other vertical 
surface discontinuity). Grade breaks at top and bottom of ramp runs shall be perpendicular to that ramp run. 

 

1

Attachment 1

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 117 of 342



CITY OF THE DALLES 
  ADA CURB RAMP DESIGN EXCEPTION REQUEST 

City of The Dalles - ADA Curb Ramp Design Exception Request 
April 2019 

 
Description of Exception: (Describe each requested design exception for each curb ramp) 

 

Description of Project 
 

 

Reasons for Not Attaining Standard: (Explain each requested design exception for each non- 
standard curb ramp) 

 

Effect on Other Standards: (Describe for each requested design exception for each curb ramp) 
 

Mitigation for Exception Included in Design (How does the design strategy accomplish accessibility 
to the maximum extent practicable): (Describe for each requested design exception for each curb 
ramps) 

 

 
*Provide additional sheets as needed 
 

The design team would like to provide a diagonal curb ramp for wide sidewalks option
"PR-9" per City of The Dalles Standard Drawings RD916 instead of providing two curb
ramps at the ramp corner due to site constraints.

New Multifamily development with onsite parking lot and frontage upgrades for public
street facing zones including planters, ADA curb ramps, street parking, and sidewalks.

Two curb ramps cannot be provided at this corner due to the existing utility pole and street
light located at the back of curb. Due to the location of these poles there is insufficient
space between the poles to fit two curb ramps and meet the the flare separation
requirements, flare slope requirements and the exposed curb height requirement between
curb ramps.

The requested design exception does not affect any other standards for the curb ramp.

The design team chose to proceed with a diagonal curb ramp for wide sidewalks option
"PR-9" per City of The Dalles Standard Drawings RD916 as it allows the ramp corner to
meet all other curb ramp requirements to the maximum extent practicable.

Attachment 1

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 118 of 342



CITY OF THE DALLES 
  ADA CURB RAMP DESIGN EXCEPTION REQUEST 

City of The Dalles - ADA Curb Ramp Design Exception Request 
April 2019 

 
 
Provide Supporting Documentation (Include the appropriate Plan Section, Cross Section, 
Alignments Sheets & Plan Details): 

 
 
 
Signatures 
 
Prepared By:  _______________________________  Date: _________________ 
  (Engineer of Record) 
 
 

Print Name:  Phone:  
Company Name:  
Company Address:  
City:  State:  Zip:  
Email Address:  

 
 
 
 
 
Concurred By: __________________________________   Date: ___________________ 
City ADA Coordinator  (Signature) 
 
  ___________________________________________ 
   (Print Name) 
 
 
 
 
 
Approved By: __________________________________   Date: ____________________ 
City Engineer  (Signature) 
 
   
  __________________________________ 
   (Print Name) 
 
 
             PREPARED BY:            APPROVED BY: 

ENGINEER OR RECORD 
PROFESSIONAL ENGINEER STAMP 

 CITY ENGINEER 
PROFESSIONAL ENGINEER STAMP 

    

 12/31/2025

05/01/2024

Evan Eykelbosch, PE 503-624-7005

Froelich Engineers

17700 SW Upper Boones Ferry Rd Suite 115

Portland OR 97224

eeykelbosch@froelich-engineers.com

Attachment 1

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 119 of 342



CITY OF THE DALLES 
  ADA CURB RAMP DESIGN EXCEPTION REQUEST 

City of The Dalles - ADA Curb Ramp Design Exception Request 
April 2019 

 

 

 

Street Name:  

Cross Street:  

 

Corner Position(s) and Ramp Position Number(s)  
 

Curb Ramp Location (Provide sketch or insert graphic file of intersection 
and label corner position and ramp numbers)-See Exhibit “A”). 
 
 

City of The Dalles Public Works Use Only 
Control No:  

ramp corner 3
ramp #1

E 3rd Street
Laughlin Street

3 & 1

Attachment 1

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 120 of 342



CITY OF THE DALLES 
  ADA CURB RAMP DESIGN EXCEPTION REQUEST 

City of The Dalles - ADA Curb Ramp Design Exception Request 
April 2019 

 
 

Design Criteria for New Curb Ramps: List curb ramp number(s) 
where criterion is not met. 

A.  A separate curb ramp is provided for each pedestrian access route crossing(typically two per curb ramp 
corner) within the scope of the project unless such crossing is officially and properly closed. (If crossing is 
officially closed, provide documentation) 

 

B1. 7.5 % maximum ramp running slope on all ramp runs;  

C1.  1.5% maximum cross slope on all ramp-runs. 
C2.  At an Island across an intersection approach without yield or stop control, maximum cross 

slope is 5.0%. 
C3.  At an Island at a midblock location, maximum cross slope does not exceed adjacent road 

profile grade. 

 

D1. Maximum gutter flow slope is 2.0% at bottom of curb ramps with yield or stop control. D2. At 
intersection approaches without yield or stop control, the maximum gutter flow is 5%. 

D3. At midblock crossings, the gutter flow shall be permitted to equal the street or highway grade. 

 

E1. If gutter pan, maximum counter slope (cross slope of gutter) of 4.0%. E2. If 
no gutter pan, maximum slope of crosswalk (counter slope) of 4.0%. 

 

F1.  Minimum clear width through the pedestrian access route (flares and curbs are excluded from the pedestrian 
access route) shall be equal to or greater than 48”. 

F2. Minimum clear width through a cut-through island shall be equal to or greater than 60”. 

 

G1. Flares are provided with maximum slope of 10% relative to gutter flow slope, OR 
G2. Side of ramp discourages pedestrian cross-travel with landscaping or an obstruction. 

 

H. Drainage grates are outside pedestrian access route.  
J1. Ramp turning space (1.5% cross slope in both directions): 4’ x 5’ if obstruction at back-of-walk 
(5’ in crosswalk direction); OR 
J2. 4’ x 4’ if no obstruction at back of walk. 

 

K. If signalized, pushbutton located within 10” reach from clear space. 
The pushbutton is to be located vertically 36”-48” above the clear space. 

 

Surfaces adjacent to pedestrian push buttons meets the clear space criteria below: 
L1. 2.5' x 4' clear space of prepared surface (if constrained on 3 sides a larger clear space is required, see 

Traffic Signal Design Manual); AND 
L2. 1.5% slope in one direction (recommended 1.5% both directions) 

 

Bottom of curb ramp meets applicable criteria below: 
M. If 4’ x 4’ space at the bottom of curb ramp is in the roadway it shall be outside of the parallel vehicular path of 

travel and within the crosswalk. 

 

N. Between curb ramps, curb exposure height is at least 3”.  
P. Parallel style curb ramps shall have a 5' minimum separation from other parallel style ramps.  
Q. Curb ramp falls within the width of the pedestrian street crossing (crosswalk) served and is 
not blocked by legally parked vehicles. 

 

Detectable warning surface meets the criteria below: 
R1. Consists of truncated domes, extending 2' along the full width of the curb ramp. 
R2. At a crossing island, 2' of separation is provided between detectable warning surfaces 
R3. Detectable warning surface meets placement criteria below: 
•  At a parallel curb ramp or blended transition place truncated domes at back of curb 
•  At a perpendicular curb ramp place truncated domes at the bottom of the curb ramp if less 

than 5' from the back of curb OR at the back of curb if bottom of the curb ramp is greater 
than 5' from the back of curb. 

•  At a freight rail crossing, closest edge is placed 12' 8" from center of nearest rail. 
•  At a light rail crossing , closest edge is placed 6' from center of nearest rail. 

 

T. Transitions at all grade breaks in a curb ramp are flush and free of abrupt level changes (no lip or other vertical 
surface discontinuity). Grade breaks at top and bottom of ramp runs shall be perpendicular to that ramp run. 

 

1

Attachment 1

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 121 of 342



CITY OF THE DALLES 
  ADA CURB RAMP DESIGN EXCEPTION REQUEST 

City of The Dalles - ADA Curb Ramp Design Exception Request 
April 2019 

 
Description of Exception: (Describe each requested design exception for each curb ramp) 

 

Description of Project 
 

 

Reasons for Not Attaining Standard: (Explain each requested design exception for each non- 
standard curb ramp) 

 

Effect on Other Standards: (Describe for each requested design exception for each curb ramp) 
 

Mitigation for Exception Included in Design (How does the design strategy accomplish accessibility 
to the maximum extent practicable): (Describe for each requested design exception for each curb 
ramps) 

 

 
*Provide additional sheets as needed 
 

The design team would like to provide a depressed curb ramp small radius option "PL-4"
per City of The Dalles Standard Drawings RD922 instead of providing two curb ramps at
the ramp corner due to site constraints.

New Multifamily development with onsite parking lot and frontage upgrades for public
street facing zones including planters, ADA curb ramps, street parking, and sidewalks.

Two curb ramps cannot be provided at this corner due to the existing signal pole located
at the back of the sidewalk for the Laughlin Street frontage. The Laughlin Street curb ramp
must be designed as a depressed curb ramp to allow for the pedestrian access to the
corner to be between the curb and the signal pole. Due to the tight sidewalk widths, and
small corner radius it is not possible to provide two separate curb ramps and to meet the
other design criteria.

The requested design exception does not affect any other standards for the curb ramp.

The design team chose to proceed with a depressed curb ramp small radius option "PL-4"
per City of The Dalles Standard Drawings RD922 as it allows the ramp corner to meet all
other curb ramp requirements to the maximum extent practicable.

Attachment 1

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 122 of 342



CITY OF THE DALLES 
  ADA CURB RAMP DESIGN EXCEPTION REQUEST 

City of The Dalles - ADA Curb Ramp Design Exception Request 
April 2019 

 
 
Provide Supporting Documentation (Include the appropriate Plan Section, Cross Section, 
Alignments Sheets & Plan Details): 

 
 
 
Signatures 
 
Prepared By:  _______________________________  Date: _________________ 
  (Engineer of Record) 
 
 

Print Name:  Phone:  
Company Name:  
Company Address:  
City:  State:  Zip:  
Email Address:  

 
 
 
 
 
Concurred By: __________________________________   Date: ___________________ 
City ADA Coordinator  (Signature) 
 
  ___________________________________________ 
   (Print Name) 
 
 
 
 
 
Approved By: __________________________________   Date: ____________________ 
City Engineer  (Signature) 
 
   
  __________________________________ 
   (Print Name) 
 
 
             PREPARED BY:            APPROVED BY: 

ENGINEER OR RECORD 
PROFESSIONAL ENGINEER STAMP 

 CITY ENGINEER 
PROFESSIONAL ENGINEER STAMP 

    

 12/25/2025

05/01/2024

Evan Eykelbosch, PE 503-624-7005

Froelich Engineers

17700 SW Upper Boones Ferry Rd Suite 115

Portland OR 97224

eeykelbosch@froelich-engineers.com

Attachment 1

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 123 of 342



2000 NE 42nd Ave #1091 | Portland, OR | 97213 
(541) 904-0649 | info@rbtconsultants.com | www.rbtconsultants.com

TRAFFIC IMPACT STUDY 

Basalt Commons 
523 E. 3rd Street 

PREPARED FOR: 
Hanlon Development 

September 11, 2023 
Version 1 

 12/31/2024 

Attachment 2

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 124 of 342



Basalt Commons, The Dalles, OR Traffic Impact Study 

Page | 1 September 2023 
Version 1 

Contents 

1.0 Executive Summary .......................................................................................................................... 3 

1.1. Purpose ......................................................................................................................................... 3 

1.2. Project Description ........................................................................................................................ 3 

1.3. Scope of Analysis .......................................................................................................................... 3 

1.4. Key Findings.................................................................................................................................. 3 

1.5. Recommendations ........................................................................................................................ 3 

2.0 Introduction ........................................................................................................................................ 4 

2.1. Purpose ......................................................................................................................................... 4 

2.2. Project Description ........................................................................................................................ 4 

2.3. Study Area ..................................................................................................................................... 4 

2.4. Scope of Traffic Operations Analysis ............................................................................................ 5 

2.5. Additional Analyses ....................................................................................................................... 5 

3.0 Existing Conditions ............................................................................................................................ 6 

3.1. Land Use ....................................................................................................................................... 6 

3.2. Roadway Characteristics .............................................................................................................. 6 

3.3. Pedestrian and Bicycle Facilities................................................................................................... 8 

3.4. Transit Service .............................................................................................................................. 8 

3.5. Vehicle Turning Movement Counts ............................................................................................... 8 

3.6. Crash Analysis .............................................................................................................................. 9 

4.0 Future Year Background Conditions (2025/2030) .......................................................................... 10 

4.1. Background Growth .................................................................................................................... 10 

4.2. In-Process Development Projects ............................................................................................... 10 

4.3. Future Background Traffic Volumes ........................................................................................... 10 

5.0 Proposed Site Development ........................................................................................................... 11 

5.1. Development Assumptions ......................................................................................................... 11 

5.2. Trip Generation ........................................................................................................................... 11 

5.3. Distribution .................................................................................................................................. 12 

5.4. Trip Assignment .......................................................................................................................... 12 

6.0 Operational Analysis ....................................................................................................................... 14 

6.1. Methodology ................................................................................................................................ 14 

6.2. Performance Measures ............................................................................................................... 14 

6.3. Operational Analysis ................................................................................................................... 14 

7.0 Findings and Recommendations..................................................................................................... 16 

7.1. Key Findings................................................................................................................................ 16 

7.2. Recommendations ...................................................................................................................... 16 

Attachment 2

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 125 of 342



Basalt Commons, The Dalles, OR Traffic Impact Study 

 
 

 
 Page | 2 September 2023 
  Version 1 
 

 

Figures 
Figure 1: Site Plan ........................................................................................................................................................................................... 4 

Figure 2: Study Area Intersections .......................................................................................................................................................... 5 

Figure 3: Existing Traffic Control and Lane Configurations ......................................................................................................... 7 

Figure 4: Proposed Trip Distribution ................................................................................................................................................... 12 

 

Tables 
Table 1: Roadway Characteristics ............................................................................................................................................................ 6 

Table 2: Crashes by Type and Severity .................................................................................................................................................. 9 

Table 3: Crash Rates ....................................................................................................................................................................................... 9 

Table 4: Background Traffic Growth Rate .......................................................................................................................................... 10 

Table 5: PM Peak Hour Trips ................................................................................................................................................................... 11 

Table 6: Operational Results .................................................................................................................................................................... 15 

 

Appendices 
A. Traffic Volume Figures 

B. TIS Scoping Memo 

C. Traffic Volume Counts 

D. Volume Development Worksheets 

E. Volume to Capacity Worksheets 

F. Crash Data 

G. Traffic Operations Analysis Results 

  

Attachment 2

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 126 of 342



Basalt Commons, The Dalles, OR Traffic Impact Study 

Page | 3 September 2023 
Version 1 

1.0 Executive Summary 

1.1.  PURPOSE 

• The purpose of this study is to provide an analysis of the potential traffic operations and safety
impacts of the proposed Basalt Commons Mixed-Use Project in The Dalles, OR.

1.2.  PROJECT DESCRIPTION 

• The proposed project includes ground level retail and 108 residential units on floors 2 through 5. The
retail uses are assumed to be a 6,383 ft2 microbrewery space and 2,966 ft2 of pub/restaurant space
(including 403 ft2 of covered patio area).

• 32 on-site parking stalls are proposed, primarily for residents, accessed via the alley between E. 2nd

Street and E. 3rd Street. Customers, employees, residential guests, and additional residents will use a
combination of on-street parking and off-site leased parking.

1.3.  SCOPE OF ANALYSIS 

• Operational Analysis (7 intersections)

◼ 2023 Existing Conditions (PM Peak Hour)
◼ 2025 / 2030 Background + In-Process Trips (PM Peak Hour)
◼ 2025 / 2030 Full Build + Background + In-Process Trips (PM Peak Hour)

• Crash Analysis (5 intersections, using 2017-2021 data)

• Review of Active Transportation Options and Transit Service

1.4.  KEY FINDINGS 

• The Institute of Transportation Engineers (ITE) estimates that the proposed Basalt Commons Mixed-
Use project is expected to generate a total of 70 new PM peak hour trips (42 inbound / 28 outbound)
based on the proposed uses. This includes 28 peak hour trips associated with the multifamily
residential units, 5 peak hour trips associated with the brewery space, and 37 peak hour trips
associated with the restaurant.

• No intersections included within the study have elevated crash levels under existing conditions
(based on 2017-21 data). The Dalles and ODOT should continue to monitor the intersection and E. 2nd

Street and Brewery Overpass Road, which has a crash rate near ODOT’s 90th percentile rate for urban
3-leg unsignalized intersections.

• Through 2030, including background growth, in-process trips associated with a nearby project, and
new project trips associated with the Basalt Commons project, all intersections analyzed are
expected to operate within the mobility targets for vehicle delay/level of service (LOS) established by
The Dalles and ODOT.

• Based on the analysis included as part of this TIS, level-of-service standards adopted by the City have
been met and adequate transportation facilities exist to serve the proposed development.

1.5.  RECOMMENDATIONS 

• Identify nearby off-street locations for employees and overflow residential parking to ensure that
adjacent on-street parking is prioritized for customers and short-term visitors to minimize local
traffic circulation.

Attachment 2

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 127 of 342



Basalt Commons, The Dalles, OR Traffic Impact Study 

Page | 4 September 2023 
Version 1 

2.0 Introduction 

2.1.  PURPOSE 

The purpose of this study is to provide an analysis of the potential traffic operations and safety impacts of the 

proposed Basalt Commons Mixed-use project at 523 E. 3rd Street in The Dalles. 

2.2.  PROJECT DESCRIPTION 

The proposed project includes ground level retail and 108 residential units on floors 2 through 5. The retail 

uses are assumed to be a 6,383 ft2 microbrewery space and 2,966 ft2 of pub/restaurant space (including 403 

ft2 of covered patio area).  

32 on-site parking stalls are proposed, primarily for residents, accessed via the alley between E. 2nd Street 

and E. 3rd Street. Customers, employees, residential guests, and additional residents will use a combination of 

on-street parking and off-site leased parking.  

The Site Plan for the project is shown in Figure 1. 

Figure 1: Site Plan 

2.3.  STUDY AREA 

As documented in the Scoping Memo submitted to the City of The Dalles on July 17, 2023 (Appendix B), the 

following study intersections are analyzed within the TIS (see Figure 2): 

1. Laughlin St at E 2nd St (signalized)

2. Laughlin St at E 3rd St (signalized)

3. Jefferson St at E 2nd St (unsignalized)

4. Jefferson St at E 3rd St (unsignalized)

5. Site access from alley on Laughlin St between E 2nd St and E 3rd St

6. Site access from alley on Jefferson St between E 2nd St and E 3rd St

7. Brewery Overpass Rd at E 2nd St (unsignalized)

Attachment 2

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 128 of 342



Basalt Commons, The Dalles, OR Traffic Impact Study 

 
 

 
 Page | 5 September 2023 
  Version 1 
 

 

Figure 2: Study Area Intersections 

 
*Intersection #7 (Brewery Overpass Rd at E 2nd St) not shown, located ½ mile east of the site 

2.4.  SCOPE OF TRAFFIC OPERATIONS ANALYSIS 

The following analysis scenarios are included within the operational analysis, assuming full build by 2025: 

• 2023 Existing Conditions (PM Peak Hour) 

• 2025 Background + In-Process Trips (PM Peak Hour) 

• 2025 Full Build + Background + In-Process Trips (PM Peak Hour) 

• 2030 Background + In-Process Trips (PM Peak Hour) 

• 2030 Full Build + Background + In-Process Trips (PM Peak Hour) 

For each scenario, delay, level of service, and the volume to capacity ratio1 has been analyzed for each study 

area intersection using the Highway Capacity Manual 6th Edition for signalized and unsignalized intersections.  

2.5.  ADDITIONAL ANALYSES 

In addition to the traffic operations analysis, the following analyses has been completed to assist with the 

review of transportation impacts from the proposed project: 

• Crash Analysis (5 intersections, using 2017-2021 data) 

• Review of Active Transportation Options and Transit Service  

 
 

1 The ODOT Analysis Procedures Manual provides guidance on calculating the critical intersection v/c ratio using adjusted 
flow rates, saturation flow rates, lost time per cycle, and cycle length; this method has been used for all signalized v/c 
ratios shown in this Report. 

2 

3 

4 

Site  

1 

5 6 

Attachment 2

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 129 of 342



Basalt Commons, The Dalles, OR Traffic Impact Study 

 
 

 
 Page | 6 September 2023 
  Version 1 
 

 

3.0 Existing Conditions 

3.1.  LAND USE 

The site is located within Downtown and zoned CBC: Central Business Commercial District. The site was 

previously occupied by a car dealership but is now vacant.  

3.2.  ROADWAY CHARACTERISTICS  

Table 1 summarizes the roadway characteristics of the primary roadways within the study area, including 

pedestrian and bicycle facilities. Figure 3 shows the existing and proposed lane configuration and control for 

each of the primary intersections within the study area. 

Table 1: Roadway Characteristics 

Street Owner 

Functional 

Classification P
o

st
e

d
 

S
p

e
e

d
 

T
ra

v
e

l 

L
a

n
e

s 

S
id

e
w

a
lk

s 

O
n

-S
tr

e
e

t 

P
a

rk
in

g
 

B
ik

e
 L

a
n

e
s 

E. 2nd Street City Principal Arterial 20 *2 Both Both No 

E. 3rd Street City Principal Arterial 20 *2 Both Both No 

Laughlin Street City Minor Collector 20 2 Both Both No 

Jefferson Street City Minor Collector 20 2 Both Both2 No 

Brewery Overpass ODOT Principal Arterial 40 2 No No No 

*One-way 

 
 

  

 
 

2 Angled parking both sides 

Attachment 2

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 130 of 342



Basalt Commons, The Dalles, OR Traffic Impact Study 

Page | 7 September 2023 
Version 1 

Figure 3: Existing Traffic Control and Lane Configurations 

1
E 2nd Street & Laughlin Street

2
E 3rd Street & Laughlin Street

3
E 2nd Street & Jefferson Street

E 2nd Street E 3rd Street E 2nd Street

4
E 3rd Street & Jefferson Street

5
Alley & Laughlin Street

6
Alley & Jefferson Street

E 3rd Street Alley Alley

7
E 2nd Street & Brewery Overpass Road

E 2nd Street

B
re

w
e

ry
 O

ve
rp

a
ss

La
u

g
h

li
n

 S
tr

e
e

t

La
u

g
h

li
n

 S
tr

e
e

t

Je
ff

e
rs

o
n

 S
tr

e
e

t

Je
ff

e
rs

o
n

 S
tr

e
e

t

La
u

g
h

li
n

 S
tr

e
e

t

Existing Traffic Control + Lane Configurations

Je
ff

e
rs

o
n

 S
tr

e
e

t

1

2

3

4

5 6

Site 
7

Attachment 2

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 131 of 342



Basalt Commons, The Dalles, OR Traffic Impact Study 

 
 

 
 Page | 8 September 2023 
  Version 1 
 

 

3.3.  PEDESTRIAN AND BICYCLE FACILITIES  

Sidewalks are available on both sides of all adjacent study area roadways within the study area3.  

On-street bike lanes are available on 2nd Street on 

both the western and eastern sides of Downtown 

(west of Lincoln Street and east of Taylor Street). 

However, within the Downtown core, there are no 

dedicated bike lanes. Both E. 2nd Street and E. 3rd 

Street within the study area are referred to as a 

“shared roadways”. In the graphic shown4, green 

represents streets with an existing bike lane, and 

orange represents streets classified as shared 

roadways. 

3.4.  TRANSIT SERVICE 

The LINK operates two routes through The Dalles, 

stopping approximately 800 feet from the site at 201 

Federal Street: 

• LINK: Blue Line 

• LINK: Red Line 

Each route operates on a loop to key destinations in The 

Dalles on Monday through Friday, 7:00 AM – 7:00 PM.   On 

Saturdays, Blue Route only operates from 9:00 AM – 4:00 

PM. Rides are $1.00 each. 

Other transit options from The Dalles include: 

• LINK: The Dalles to Hood River Shuttle (from 802 Chenowith Loop Road) 

• LINK: Dial-a-ride 

• LINK: Shopping bus 

• Sherman County Community Transit: Shopping Bus (by reservation only) 

• Mt. Adams Transportation Service: The Dalles to Goldendale (from 802 Chenowith Loop Road) 

3.5.  VEHICLE TURNING MOVEMENT COUNTS  

PM peak hour intersection turning movement counts were collected at all seven (7) study area intersections 

between the hours of 3:30 PM and 6:30 PM on Wednesday, August 2, 2023. Each count includes passenger 

vehicles, pedestrians, bicycles, and heavy vehicles (in 5-minute intervals). The count data sheets are provided 

in Appendix C. The network-wide peak hour was found to be 4:30 PM to 5:30 PM. As the summer is generally 

the peak season in The Dalles, no seasonal adjustments were made to the traffic counts. The traffic volumes 

used in the analysis for the 4:30 PM to 5:30 PM peak hour are shown in Figure A1 in Appendix A. 

 
 

3 With the exception of Brewery Overpass Road, located ½ mile to the east of the site. 
4 Figure 3-9 from The Dalles’ 2017 Transportation System Plan 

Attachment 2

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 132 of 342



Basalt Commons, The Dalles, OR Traffic Impact Study 

 
 

 
 Page | 9 September 2023 
  Version 1 
 

 

3.6.  CRASH ANALYSIS 

Historical crash records for the five (5) public study area intersections5 were reviewed for potential safety 

deficiencies. The most recent 5-year period (2017-20216) was obtained from ODOT’s online crash data 

system for the analysis. To calculate the critical crash rate for comparison with ODOT’s 90th percentile rates, a 

K-Factor (derived from the closed AADT values7) was applied to the unadjusted PM peak hour counts to 

approximate AADT.  

The complete set of crash data used in the analysis is provided in Appendix F. 

Table 2: Crashes by Type and Severity 

ID Intersection 

Collision Type Severity 

T
o

ta
l 

C
ra

sh
e

s 

R
e

a
r-

E
n

d
 

S
id

e
sw

ip
e

 

T
u

rn
in

g
 

A
n

g
le

 

F
ix

e
d

 O
b

je
ct

 

B
a

ck
in

g
 

P
e

d
e

st
ri

a
n

 

P
a

rk
in

g
 

P
D

O
 

C
 

B
 

A
 

F
a

ta
li

ty
 

1 E. 2nd Street & Laughlin Street   1      1     1 
2 E. 3rd Street & Laughlin Street   1       1    1 
3 E. 2nd Street & Jefferson Street    2      2     2 
4 E. 3rd Street & Jefferson Street   1      1     1 
7 E. 2nd Street & Brewery Overpass Road 2  3 1     1 3 2   6 

 

 

Table 3: Crash Rates 

ID Intersection 2
0

1
7

 

2
0

1
8

 

2
0

1
9

 

2
0

2
0

 

2
0

2
1

 

T
o

ta
l 

E
n

te
ri

n
g

 
V

o
lu

m
e

 

K
-F

a
ct

o
r 

A
A

D
T

 

C
ra

sh
 

R
a

te
  

O
D

O
T

 9
0

th
 

P
e

rc
e

n
ti

le
 

1 E. 2nd Street & Laughlin Street  1    1 660 0.063 10,500 0.05 0.86 
2 E. 3rd Street & Laughlin Street     1 1 670 0.095 7,100 0.08 0.86 
3 E. 2nd Street & Jefferson Street 1 1    2 640 0.063 10,200 0.11 0.41 
4 E. 3rd Street & Jefferson Street 1     1 750 0.095 7,900 0.07 0.41 
7 E. 2nd Street & Brewery Overpass Road  2 1 2 1 6 1,060 0.091 11,700 0.28 0.29 

 

No intersections exceed ODOT’s 90th percentile rate for similar intersection types. The intersection of E. 2nd 

Street & Brewery Overpass Road has the highest crash rate of the study area intersections and is approaching 

ODOT’s 90th percentile rate for an urban unsignalized 3-leg intersection. This intersection should be 

monitored as a small increase in the number of reported crashes could warrant a more detailed safety 

analysis.  

 
 

5 No crash data was available for the intersections with the alleyway. 
6 Although 2022 is available, it has not been finalized, and the full 5-year period from 2017-2021 is used instead due to 
the potential for missing crashes from 2022.  
7 The closest AADT on 2nd Street is 9,236 (east of Jefferson Street), which equates to a K Factor of 0.063 compared to the 
PM peak hour measured data on this segment. The closest AADT on 3rd Street is 7,064 (east of Jefferson Street), which 
equates to a K Factor of 0.095 compared to the PM peak hour measured data on this segment. The average AADT for the 
three legs at E. 2nd Street and Brewery Overpass Road is 11,700, which is approximately equivalent to a K-Factor of 0.091 
compared to the measured PM peak hour data. 

Attachment 2

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 133 of 342



Basalt Commons, The Dalles, OR Traffic Impact Study 

 
 

 
 Page | 10 September 2023 
  Version 1 
 

 

4.0 Future Year Background Conditions (2025/2030) 
The future year background traffic scenarios (2025/2030) include an analysis of how the study area's 

transportation system will operate in the future without the proposed project. 

4.1.  BACKGROUND GROWTH 

Forecasted traffic volumes were obtained from the nearest intersections within the TSP and shown in Table 

4. Based on anticipated traffic growth through 2035 (using the highest growth rate from the 3 selected 

intersections), a linear growth rate of 1.0% was applied for two (2) years and seven (7) years to existing 

traffic volumes to estimate 2025 and 2030 conditions, respectively. 

Table 4: Background Traffic Growth Rate 

Site 

ID Description 

2015 Entering 

Volume (PM) 

2035 Entering 

Volume (PM) 

Linear Growth 

Rate (2015-35) 

#17 Union Street / W 3rd Street 926 1,080 0.8% 

#18 Union Street / W 2nd Street 935 1,050 0.6% 

#24 Brewery Overpass Road / US 30 1,209 1,455 1.0% 

   Max: 1.0% 

4.2.  IN-PROCESS DEVELOPMENT PROJECTS  

At the request of City staff, new trips associated with a proposed development at the northeast corner of 

Washington Street and E. 3rd Street (Chronicle Building) have been added to 2025/2030 background traffic 

volumes to account for additional traffic that is likely to be added to the system within the timeframe of this 

proposed project. It is assumed that any additional projects not listed here are either already included in the 

August 2023 traffic volume counts, or are captured within the general background growth rate: 

• Chronicle Building8 

◼ PM Eastbound Trips through Study Area:  21 vehicle trips 
◼ PM Westbound Trips through Study Area: 27 vehicle trips 

 

The in-process trips used in the Future Year Background Traffic Volume Scenarios are shown in Figure A2 in 

Appendix A. 

4.3.  FUTURE BACKGROUND TRAFFIC VOLUMES  

The future year (2025 and 2030) background PM peak hour traffic volumes, taking into account background 

traffic growth as well as traffic associated with the proposed nearby development, are shown in Figure A3 

and A4 in Appendix A.   

 
 

8 No TIS has been completed for the project as of September 2023. The following assumptions were made in calculating 
trips through the study area: 5,919 ft2 grocery (8.95 trips/1,000 ft2, 50% inbound), 4,499 ft2 restaurant bar (9.05 
trips/1,000 ft2, 61% inbound), 1,950 ft2 bar (11.36 trips/1,000 ft2, 66% inbound), 735 ft2 office space (2.16 trips/1,000 
ft2, 34% inbound), and 607 ft2 medical building (3.69 trips/1,000 ft2, 30% inbound). Of these calculated 68 total inbound 
trips and 52 total outbound trips, it was assumed that 40% of the outbound trips (21 trips) would travel on E. 3rd Street to 
the east through the study area, and 40% of the inbound trips (27 trips) would travel on E. 2nd Street to the west through 
the study area (60% of the trips would not travel through the study area of this project). At the intersection of E. 2nd Street 
and Brewery Overpass Road, 30% of the trips were assumed to/from Brewery Overpass Road and 10% were assumed 
to/from Highway 30 west of Brewery Overpass Road. 

Attachment 2

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 134 of 342



Basalt Commons, The Dalles, OR Traffic Impact Study 

 
 

 
 Page | 11 September 2023 
  Version 1 
 

 

5.0 Proposed Site Development 

5.1.  DEVELOPMENT ASSUMPTIONS 

The proposed project includes ground level retail and 108 residential units on floors 2 through 5. The retail 

uses are assumed to be a 6,383 ft2 microbrewery space and 2,966 ft2 of pub/restaurant space (including 403 

ft2 of covered patio area). 32 on-site parking stalls are proposed, primarily for residents. Customers, 

employees, residential guests, and additional residents will use a combination of on-street parking and off-

site leased parking.  

5.2.  TRIP GENERATION 

The proposed project includes three (3) distinct land uses that most closely correspond to the following land 

use category within ITE’s Trip Generation Manual (11th Edition): 

• Multifamily Residential: Land Use 221, Multifamily Housing (Mid-Rise) 

◼ Description: Mid-rise multifamily housing includes apartments and condominiums located in a 
building that has between four and 10 floors of living space. Access to individual dwelling units is 
through an outside building entrance, a lobby, elevator, and a set of hallways. 

• Microbrewery: Land Use 140, Manufacturing 

◼ Description: A manufacturing facility is an area where the primary activity is the conversion of 
raw materials or parts into finished products. Size and type of activity may vary substantially 
from one facility to another. In addition to the actual production of goods, a manufacturing 
facility typically has an office and may provide space for warehouse, research, and associated 
functions. 

• Restaurant/Brewpub: Land Use 930, Fast Casual Restaurant  

◼ Description: A fast casual restaurant is a sit-down restaurant with no (or very limited) wait staff 
or table service. A customer typically orders off a menu board, pays for food before the food is 
prepared, and seats themselves. The menu generally contains higher-quality, made-to-order food 
items with fewer frozen or processed ingredients than at a fast-food restaurant. Most patrons eat 
their meal within the restaurant, but a significant proportion of the restaurant sales can be carry-
out orders. A fast casual restaurant typically serves lunch and dinner; some serve breakfast. A 
typical duration of stay for an eat-in customer is 40 minutes or less. 

 

Table 5 shows the corresponding PM peak hour vehicle trips for these land uses.   

Table 5: PM Peak Hour Trips 

Land Use 
ITE 

Code Units Trip Rate 

PM 
Trips 

In 

PM 
Trips 
Out 

PM 
Trips 
Total 

Mid-Rise Multifamily Residential* 221 108 units 0.26 trips / dwelling unit 21 7 28 

Manufacturing** 140 6.383 ksf 0.74 trips / 1,000 ft2 GFA 1 4 5 

Fast Casual Restaurant** 930 2.966 ksf 12.55 trips / 1,000 ft2 GFA 20 17 37 
*Dense Multi-Use Urban Rate Used 
** Urban/Suburban Rate Used   Total 42 28 70 

 

  

Attachment 2

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 135 of 342



Basalt Commons, The Dalles, OR Traffic Impact Study 

 
 

 
 Page | 12 September 2023 
  Version 1 
 

 

5.3.  DISTRIBUTION  

The assumed trip distribution patterns are shown in Figure 4, based on a review of local traffic patterns and 

access to regional highways (also included in the TIS Scoping Memo dated July 17, 2023). The graphic shows 

the general direction of trips to and from the site, and specific assignment of individual vehicle trips is 

discussed in Section 5.4. 

Most vehicle trips to and from the site during the PM peak hour are associated with the restaurant/pub, and 

these visitors are very likely to park on-street as close to the site as possible.  

Figure 4: Proposed Trip Distribution 

 
 

5.4.  TRIP ASSIGNMENT 

New vehicle trips are shown in Figure A5 in Appendix A. It is expected that many trips will make use of on-

street parking and will therefore park on some combination of E. 2nd Street, E. 3rd Street, Jefferson Street, and 

Laughlin Street. As a conservative assumption, all trips to and from the site have been assigned to the north 

end of the site via the alley. While most trips will park before turning down the alley, this assumption helps to 

ensure all potential turning movements off of the major corridors (E. 2nd Street and E. 3rd Street) are captured 

within the analysis.  

Below is a detailed description of how the trips have been assigned to the local network based on the one-

way street configuration and assumed regional distribution patterns: 

 

 

1
0

%
 

Site 

1
0

%
 

40% 40% 

Attachment 2

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 136 of 342



Basalt Commons, The Dalles, OR Traffic Impact Study 

 
 

 
 Page | 13 September 2023 
  Version 1 
 

 

• 30% to/from Brewery Overpass Road 
◼ Inbound via E. 2nd Street to Jefferson Street (13 Trips) 
◼ Outbound via Laughlin Street to E. 3rd Street to Brewery Overpass Road (8 Trips) 

• 10% to/from Highway 30 (east of Brewery Overpass Road) 

◼ Inbound via E. 2nd Street to Jefferson Street (4 Trips) 
◼ Outbound via Laughlin Street to E. 3rd Street to Highway 30 (3 Trips) 

• 10% to/from Jefferson Street (south of E. 3rd Street) 

◼ Inbound via Jefferson Street (4 Trips) 
◼ Outbound via Laughlin Street to E. 3rd Street to Jefferson Street (3 Trips) 

• 10% to/from Laughlin Street (south of E. 3rd Street) 

◼ Inbound via E. 3rd Street to Jefferson Street (4 Trips) 
◼ Outbound via Laughlin Street (3 Trips) 

• 40% to/from areas west of Laughlin Street 
◼ Inbound via E. 3rd Street to Jefferson Street (17 Trips) 
◼ Outbound via Laughlin Street to E. 2nd Street (11 Trips) 

 

The combination of all background traffic and new project trips are shown in Figures A6 and A7 in 

Appendix A. 

  

Attachment 2

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 137 of 342



Basalt Commons, The Dalles, OR Traffic Impact Study 

 
 

 
 Page | 14 September 2023 
  Version 1 
 

 

6.0 Operational Analysis 

6.1.  METHODOLOGY 

Intersection operations were analyzed using Synchro 10 software, making use of the Transportation 

Research Board’s (TRB) Highway Capacity Manual 6th Edition methodologies. ODOT’s default Synchro 

parameters (including a saturation flow rate of 1,750 vehicles per hour per lane) were used, along with actual 

signal timing information obtained from ODOT. ODOT’s Analysis Procedures Manual includes a method for 

converting results from Synchro’s HCM 6 results into a critical intersection volume to capacity (v/c) ratio at 

signalized intersections, and this method was used.  

6.2.  PERFORMANCE MEASURES 

The Dalles’ Transportation System Plan uses a mobility standard of LOS D for City intersections. For the 

intersection of Brewery Overpass Road and E. 2nd Street/Highway 30, ODOT uses a mobility standard of v/c < 

0.90. 

6.3.  OPERATIONAL ANALYSIS  

Table 6 presents the delay, level of service, and v/c ratio for each study area intersection for Existing 

Conditions (2023), Background Years (2025 / 2030), and the Full Build Scenarios (2025 / 2030). Each of the 

two midblock intersections with the alley operate at LOS A through all scenarios and are not reported here, 

but are shown in Appendix G. 

As shown in the table, all intersections operate within the established mobility standards through all 

scenarios, for both The Dalles and ODOT.  

  

Attachment 2

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 138 of 342



Basalt Commons, The Dalles, OR Traffic Impact Study 

Page | 15 September 2023 
Version 1 

Table 6: Operational Results 

PM Peak Hour 

Delay LOS v/c 

E. 2nd Street & Laughlin Street

2023 Existing 11 B 0.34 

2025 Background + In-Process 11 B 0.36 

2025 Background + In-Process + Build 11 B 0.37 

2030 Background + In-Process 12 B 0.38 

2030 Background + In-Process + Build 12 B 0.39 

E. 3rd Street & Laughlin Street

2023 Existing 10 B 0.27 

2025 Background + In-Process 11 B 0.28 

2025 Background + In-Process + Build 11 B 0.31 

2030 Background + In-Process 11 B 0.30 

2030 Background + In-Process + Build 11 B 0.32 

E. 2nd Street & Jefferson Street

2023 Existing 17 C 0.13 

2025 Background + In-Process 18 C 0.14 

2025 Background + In-Process + Build 19 C 0.15 

2030 Background + In-Process 19 C 0.15 

2030 Background + In-Process + Build 20 C 0.17 

E. 3rd Street & Jefferson Street

2023 Existing 16 C 0.21 

2025 Background + In-Process 16 C 0.22 

2025 Background + In-Process + Build 18 C 0.25 

2030 Background + In-Process 17 C 0.25 

2030 Background + In-Process + Build 19 C 0.28 

E. 2nd Street & Brewery Overpass Road

2023 Existing 25 C 0.39 

2025 Background + In-Process 28 D 0.43 

2025 Background + In-Process + Build 29 D 0.45 

2030 Background + In-Process 31 D 0.46 

2030 Background + In-Process + Build 32 D 0.48 

Attachment 2

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 139 of 342



Basalt Commons, The Dalles, OR Traffic Impact Study 

 
 

 
 Page | 16 September 2023 
  Version 1 
 

 

7.0 Findings and Recommendations 

7.1.  KEY FINDINGS 

• The Institute of Transportation Engineers (ITE) estimates that the proposed Basalt Commons Mixed-
Use project is expected to generate a total of 70 new PM peak hour trips (42 inbound / 28 outbound) 
based on the proposed uses. This includes 28 peak hour trips associated with the multifamily 
residential units, 5 peak hour trips associated with the brewery space, and 37 peak hour trips 
associated with the restaurant. 

• No intersections included within the study have elevated crash levels under existing conditions 
(based on 2017-21 data). The Dalles and ODOT should continue to monitor the intersection and E. 2nd 
Street and Brewery Overpass Road, which has a crash rate near ODOT’s 90th percentile rate for urban 
3-leg unsignalized intersections. 

• Through 2030, including background growth, in-process trips associated with a nearby project, and 
new project trips associated with the Basalt Commons project, all intersections analyzed are 
expected to operate within the mobility targets for vehicle delay/level of service (LOS) established by 
The Dalles and ODOT.  

• Based on the analysis included as part of this TIS, level-of-service standards adopted by the City have 
been met and adequate transportation facilities exist to serve the proposed development9. 

7.2.  RECOMMENDATIONS 

• Identify nearby off-street locations for employees and overflow residential parking to ensure that 
adjacent on-street parking is prioritized for customers and short-term visitors to minimize local 
traffic circulation. 

 

 

 
 

9 Section 10.10.060.A.4. of The Dalles Municipal Code lists three (3) key approval criteria: a) Location of new arterial 
streets shall conform to the Transportation System Plan, and traffic signals should generally not be spaced closer than 
1,500 feet for reasonable traffic progression, b) The TIS demonstrates that adequate transportation facilities exist to serve 
the proposed development or identifies mitigation measures that resolve identified traffic safety problems in a manner 
that is satisfactory to the City and, when state highway facilities are affected, to ODOT, c) For affected non-highway 
facilities, the TIS establishes that level-of-service standards adopted by the City have been met. 

Attachment 2

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 140 of 342



Basalt Commons, The Dalles, OR Traffic Impact Study 

 
 

 
  September 2023 
  Version 1 
 

 

Appendix A: Traffic Volume Figures 

  

Attachment 2

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 141 of 342



Basalt Commons, The Dalles, OR Traffic Impact Study 

 
 

 
  September 2023 
  Version 1 
 

 

 

Figure A1: 2023 Existing Conditions – PM Peak Hour (4:30 PM – 5:30 PM) 

 

 

1
E 2nd Street & Laughlin Street

2
E 3rd Street & Laughlin Street

3
E 2nd Street & Jefferson Street

↱ 0 ↱ 7

5 13 ← 552 25 21 8 14 ← 533

↲ ↓ ↰ 25 ↓ ↳ ↲ ↓ ↰ 59

E 2nd Street E 3rd Street E 2nd Street

↰ ↑ 40

↰

↑ ↱ ↰ ↑

62 0 533 → 18 12 36 1

22

↱

4
E 3rd Street & Jefferson Street

5
Alley & Laughlin Street

6
Alley & Jefferson Street

↱ 6 ↱ 3

42 37 1 37 ← 0 5 68 ← 0

↓ ↳ ↲ ↓ ↰ 9 ↲ ↓ ↰ 11

E 3rd Street Alley Alley

17
↰

↑ ↱ ↰ ↑ ↰ ↑

542 → 18 93 2 56 1 34

7

↱

7
E 2nd Street & Brewery Overpass Road

↱ 19

290 25 ← 194

↲ ↳

E 2nd Street

222

↰

307 →

Existing Conditions (2023)

PM Peak Hour

La
u

g
h

li
n

 S
tr

e
e

t

La
u

g
h

li
n

 S
tr

e
e

t

Je
ff

e
rs

o
n

 S
tr

e
e

t
Je

ff
e

rs
o

n
 S

tr
e

e
t

La
u

g
h

li
n

 S
tr

e
e

t

Je
ff

e
rs

o
n

 S
tr

e
e

t
B

re
w

e
ry

 O
ve

rp
a

ss

1

2

34

5

6

Site Parking

7

8

1

2

3

4

5 6

Site 
7

Attachment 2

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 142 of 342



Basalt Commons, The Dalles, OR Traffic Impact Study 

 
 

 
  September 2023 
  Version 1 
 

 

 

Figure A2: In-Process Trips – PM Peak Hour 

 

 

1
E 2nd Street & Laughlin Street

2
E 3rd Street & Laughlin Street

3
E 2nd Street & Jefferson Street

↱ 0 ↱ 0

0 0 ← 27 0 0 0 0 ← 27

↲ ↓ ↰ 0 ↓ ↳ ↲ ↓ ↰ 0

E 2nd Street E 3rd Street E 2nd Street

↰ ↑ 0

↰

↑ ↱ ↰ ↑

0 0 21 → 0 0 0 0

0

↱

4
E 3rd Street & Jefferson Street

5
Alley & Laughlin Street

6
Alley & Jefferson Street

↱ 0 ↱ 0

0 0 0 0 ← 0 0 0 ← 0

↓ ↳ ↲ ↓ ↰ 0 ↲ ↓ ↰ 0

E 3rd Street Alley Alley

0
↰

↑ ↱ ↰ ↑ ↰ ↑

21 → 0 0 0 0 0 0

0

↱

7
E 2nd Street & Brewery Overpass Road

↱ 0

20 0 ← 7

↲ ↳

E 2nd Street

16

↰

5 →

In-Process Trips

PM Peak Hour

La
u

g
h

li
n

 S
tr

e
e

t

La
u

g
h

li
n

 S
tr

e
e

t

Je
ff

e
rs

o
n

 S
tr

e
e

t
Je

ff
e

rs
o

n
 S

tr
e

e
t

La
u

g
h

li
n

 S
tr

e
e

t

Je
ff

e
rs

o
n

 S
tr

e
e

t
B

re
w

e
ry

 O
ve

rp
a

ss

1

2

34

5

6

Site Parking

7

8

1

2

3

4

5 6

Site 
7

Attachment 2

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 143 of 342



Basalt Commons, The Dalles, OR Traffic Impact Study 

 
 

 
  September 2023 
  Version 1 
 

 

 

Figure A3: 2025 Background + In-Process Trips – PM Peak Hour (4:30 PM – 5:30 PM) 

1
E 2nd Street & Laughlin Street

2
E 3rd Street & Laughlin Street

3
E 2nd Street & Jefferson Street

↱ 0 ↱ 7

5 13 ← 590 26 21 8 14 ← 571

↲ ↓ ↰ 26 ↓ ↳ ↲ ↓ ↰ 61

E 2nd Street E 3rd Street E 2nd Street

↰ ↑ 41

↰

↑ ↱ ↰ ↑

63 0 565 → 18 12 37 1

22

↱

4
E 3rd Street & Jefferson Street

5
Alley & Laughlin Street

6
Alley & Jefferson Street

↱ 6 ↱ 3

43 38 1 38 ← 0 5 70 ← 0

↓ ↳ ↲ ↓ ↰ 9 ↲ ↓ ↰ 11

E 3rd Street Alley Alley

17

↰

↑ ↱ ↰ ↑ ↰ ↑

574 → 19 95 2 57 1 35

7

↱

7
E 2nd Street & Brewery Overpass Road

↱ 19

316 26 ← 205

↲ ↳

E 2nd Street

242

↰

318 →

2025 Background + In-Process Trips

PM Peak Hour

La
u

g
h

li
n

 S
tr

e
e

t

La
u

g
h

li
n

 S
tr

e
e

t

Je
ff

e
rs

o
n

 S
tr

e
e

t
Je

ff
e

rs
o

n
 S

tr
e

e
t

La
u

g
h

li
n

 S
tr

e
e

t

Je
ff

e
rs

o
n

 S
tr

e
e

t
B

re
w

e
ry

 O
ve

rp
a

ss

1

2

34

5

6

Site Parking

7

8

1

2

3

4

5 6

Site 
7

Attachment 2

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 144 of 342



Basalt Commons, The Dalles, OR Traffic Impact Study 

 
 

 
  September 2023 
  Version 1 
 

 

 

Figure A4: 2030 Background + In-Process Trips – PM Peak Hour (4:30 PM – 5:30 PM) 

 

1
E 2nd Street & Laughlin Street

2
E 3rd Street & Laughlin Street

3
E 2nd Street & Jefferson Street

↱ 0 ↱ 7

5 14 ← 618 28 22 9 15 ← 597

↲ ↓ ↰ 27 ↓ ↳ ↲ ↓ ↰ 64

E 2nd Street E 3rd Street E 2nd Street

↰ ↑ 43

↰

↑ ↱ ↰ ↑

66 0 591 → 19 13 39 1

24

↱

4
E 3rd Street & Jefferson Street

5
Alley & Laughlin Street

6
Alley & Jefferson Street

↱ 6 ↱ 3

46 40 1 40 ← 0 5 74 ← 0

↓ ↳ ↲ ↓ ↰ 10 ↲ ↓ ↰ 12

E 3rd Street Alley Alley

18

↰

↑ ↱ ↰ ↑ ↰ ↑

601 → 20 100 2 60 1 37

7

↱

7
E 2nd Street & Brewery Overpass Road

↱ 20

330 27 ← 215

↲ ↳

E 2nd Street

254

↰

333 →

2030 Background + In-Process Trips

PM Peak Hour

La
u

g
h

li
n

 S
tr

e
e

t

La
u

g
h

li
n

 S
tr

e
e

t

Je
ff

e
rs

o
n

 S
tr

e
e

t
Je

ff
e

rs
o

n
 S

tr
e

e
t

La
u

g
h

li
n

 S
tr

e
e

t

Je
ff

e
rs

o
n

 S
tr

e
e

t
B

re
w

e
ry

 O
ve

rp
a

ss

1

2

34

5

6

Site Parking

7

8

1

2

3

4

5 6

Site 
7

Attachment 2

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 145 of 342



Basalt Commons, The Dalles, OR Traffic Impact Study 

 
 

 
  September 2023 
  Version 1 
 

 

 

Figure A5: New Project Trips – PM Peak Hour 

 

1
E 2nd Street & Laughlin Street

2
E 3rd Street & Laughlin Street

3
E 2nd Street & Jefferson Street

↱ 0 ↱ 0

0 0 ← 0 3 14 0 0 ← 0

↲ ↓ ↰ 0 ↓ ↳ ↲ ↓ ↰ 17

E 2nd Street E 3rd Street E 2nd Street

↰ ↑ 0

↰

↑ ↱ ↰ ↑

11 0 17 → 0 4 0 0

0

↱

4
E 3rd Street & Jefferson Street

5
Alley & Laughlin Street

6
Alley & Jefferson Street

↱ 11 ↱ 0

0 0 0 0 ← 0 17 0 ← 0

↓ ↳ ↲ ↓ ↰ 17 ↲ ↓ ↰ 0

E 3rd Street Alley Alley

21

↰

↑ ↱ ↰ ↑ ↰ ↑

11 → 4 0 0 0 25 0

3

↱

7
E 2nd Street & Brewery Overpass Road

↱ 0

13 0 ← 4

↲ ↳

E 2nd Street

8

↰

3 →

New Trips

PM Peak Hour

La
u

g
h

li
n

 S
tr

e
e

t

La
u

g
h

li
n

 S
tr

e
e

t

Je
ff

e
rs

o
n

 S
tr

e
e

t
Je

ff
e

rs
o

n
 S

tr
e

e
t

La
u

g
h

li
n

 S
tr

e
e

t

Je
ff

e
rs

o
n

 S
tr

e
e

t
B

re
w

e
ry

 O
ve

rp
a

ss

1

2

34

5

6

Site Parking

7

8

1

2

3

4

5 6

Site 
7

Attachment 2

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 146 of 342



Basalt Commons, The Dalles, OR Traffic Impact Study 

 
 

 
  September 2023 
  Version 1 
 

 

 

Figure A6: 2025 Full Build + Background + In-Process Trips – PM Peak Hour (4:30 PM – 5:30 PM) 

 

 

1
E 2nd Street & Laughlin Street

2
E 3rd Street & Laughlin Street

3
E 2nd Street & Jefferson Street

↱ 0 ↱ 7

5 13 ← 590 29 35 8 14 ← 571

↲ ↓ ↰ 26 ↓ ↳ ↲ ↓ ↰ 78

E 2nd Street E 3rd Street E 2nd Street

↰ ↑ 41

↰

↑ ↱ ↰ ↑

74 0 582 → 18 16 37 1

22

↱

4
E 3rd Street & Jefferson Street

5
Alley & Laughlin Street

6
Alley & Jefferson Street

↱ 17 ↱ 3

43 38 1 38 ← 0 22 70 ← 0

↓ ↳ ↲ ↓ ↰ 26 ↲ ↓ ↰ 11

E 3rd Street Alley Alley

38
↰

↑ ↱ ↰ ↑ ↰ ↑

585 → 23 95 2 57 26 35

10

↱

7
E 2nd Street & Brewery Overpass Road

↱ 19

329 26 ← 209

↲ ↳

E 2nd Street

250

↰

321 →

2025 Full Build + Background + In-Process

PM Peak Hour

La
u

g
h

li
n

 S
tr

e
e

t

La
u

g
h

li
n

 S
tr

e
e

t

Je
ff

e
rs

o
n

 S
tr

e
e

t
Je

ff
e

rs
o

n
 S

tr
e

e
t

La
u

g
h

li
n

 S
tr

e
e

t

Je
ff

e
rs

o
n

 S
tr

e
e

t
B

re
w

e
ry

 O
ve

rp
a

ss

1

2

34

5

6

Site Parking

7

8

1

2

3

4

5 6

Site 
7

Attachment 2

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 147 of 342



Basalt Commons, The Dalles, OR Traffic Impact Study 

 
 

 
  September 2023 
  Version 1 
 

 

 
Figure A7: 2030 Full Build + Background + In-Process Trips – PM Peak Hour (4:30 PM – 5:30 PM) 

 

  

1
E 2nd Street & Laughlin Street

2
E 3rd Street & Laughlin Street

3
E 2nd Street & Jefferson Street

↱ 0 ↱ 7

5 14 ← 618 31 36 9 15 ← 597

↲ ↓ ↰ 27 ↓ ↳ ↲ ↓ ↰ 81

E 2nd Street E 3rd Street E 2nd Street

↰ ↑ 43

↰

↑ ↱ ↰ ↑

77 0 608 → 19 17 39 1

24

↱

4
E 3rd Street & Jefferson Street

5
Alley & Laughlin Street

6
Alley & Jefferson Street

↱ 17 ↱ 3

46 40 1 40 ← 0 22 74 ← 0

↓ ↳ ↲ ↓ ↰ 27 ↲ ↓ ↰ 12

E 3rd Street Alley Alley

39
↰

↑ ↱ ↰ ↑ ↰ ↑

612 → 24 100 2 60 26 37

10

↱

7
E 2nd Street & Brewery Overpass Road

↱ 20

343 27 ← 219

↲ ↳

E 2nd Street

262

↰

336 →

2030 Full Build + Background + In-Process

PM Peak Hour

La
u

g
h

li
n

 S
tr

e
e

t

La
u

g
h

li
n

 S
tr

e
e

t

Je
ff

e
rs

o
n

 S
tr

e
e

t
Je

ff
e

rs
o

n
 S

tr
e

e
t

La
u

g
h

li
n

 S
tr

e
e

t

Je
ff

e
rs

o
n

 S
tr

e
e

t
B

re
w

e
ry

 O
ve

rp
a

ss

1

2

34

5

6

Site Parking

7

8

1

2

3

4

5 6

Site 
7

Attachment 2

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 148 of 342



Basalt Commons, The Dalles, OR Traffic Impact Study 

 
 

 
  September 2023 
  Version 1 
 

 

Appendix B: TIS Scoping Memo 

  

Attachment 2

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 149 of 342



 
 

2000 NE 42nd Ave #1091 | Portland, OR | 97213 
(541) 904-0649 | info@rbtconsultants.com | www.rbtconsultants.com 

 
 

MEMORANDUM 
 

To: Dale McCabe, PE 

Joshua Chandler 

City of The Dalles 

From: William Reynolds, PE (OR), AICP 

RBT Consultants 
 

Date: July 17, 2023 

Version 1 
 

Subject: Basalt Commons – Traffic Impact Study Scoping Memo 

 

Introduction 
The following scoping memo summarizes the proposed Traffic Impact Study (TIS) methodology and 

assumptions for the proposed Basalt Commons Mixed-Use project, located at 523 E. 3rd Street in The Dalles, 

OR.   

The proposed project includes ground level retail and 108 residential units on floors 2 through 5. The retail 

uses are assumed to be a 6,383 ft2 microbrewery space and 2,966 ft2 of pub/restaurant space (including 403 

ft2 of covered patio area). 32 on-site parking stalls are proposed, primarily for residents. Customers, 

employees, residential guests, and additional residents will use a combination of on-street parking and off-

site leased parking.  

Study Area 
Based on preliminary discussions with the City, the following study intersections will be analyzed within the 

TIS: 

1. Laughlin St at E 2nd St (signalized) 

2. Laughlin St at E 3rd St (signalized) 

3. Jefferson St at E 2nd St (unsignalized) 

4. Jefferson St at E 3rd St (unsignalized) 

5. Site access from alley on Laughlin St between E 2nd St and E 3rd St 

6. Site access from alley on Jefferson St between E 2nd St and E 3rd St 

7. Brewery Overpass Rd at E 2nd St (unsignalized) 

  

Attachment 2

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 150 of 342



Basalt Commons, 523 E Third Street, The Dalles, OR TIS Scoping Memo 

Page | 2 July 2023 

Figure 1: TIS Study Area Intersections 

*Intersection #7 (Brewery Overpass Rd at E 2nd St) not shown, located ½ mile east of the site

The functional classification, ownership, and mobility standards (volume to capacity ratio) are provided in 

Table 1, based on The Dalles’ Transportation System Plan (TSP). 

Table 1: Functional Classification / Mobility Standards 

Owner Functional Classification 

Posted 

Speed Mobility Standard 

East 3rd Street City Principal Arterial 20 LOS D 

East 2nd Street City Principal Arterial 20 LOS D 

Laughlin Street City Minor Collector 20 LOS D 

Jefferson Street City Minor Collector 20 LOS D 

Brewery Overpass Road ODOT Principal Arterial 40 v/c < 0.90 

Analysis Scenarios 
The following analysis scenarios are proposed, assuming full build by 2025: 

1. 2023 Existing Conditions (PM Peak Hour)

2. 2025 Background Traffic (PM Peak Hour)

3. 2025 Full Build + Background (PM Peak Hour)

4. 2030 Background Traffic (PM Peak Hour)

5. 2030 Full Build + Background (PM Peak Hour)

For each scenario, the level of service, volume to capacity ratio, and queue length will be analyzed for each 

study area intersection using the Highway Capacity Manual 6th Edition for signalized and unsignalized 

intersections.  

2 

3 

4 

Site 

1 

5 6 

Attachment 2

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 151 of 342



Basalt Commons, 523 E Third Street, The Dalles, OR TIS Scoping Memo 

 

 
 Page | 3  July 2023 
   
 
 

Existing Traffic Volumes 

Data Collection 

PM peak hour intersection turning movement counts will be collected at all seven (7) study area intersections 

between the hours of 3:30 PM and 6:30 PM on a midweek weekday. Data collection is anticipated to take 

place in either July, August, or September.  

As the summer is generally the peak season in The Dalles, no seasonal adjustments are proposed. 

Future Traffic Volumes 

Growth Rate Adjustments 

Forecasted traffic volumes were obtained from the nearest intersections within the TSP and shown in Table 

2. Based on anticipated traffic growth through 2035 (using the highest growth rate from the 3 selected 

intersections), a linear growth rate of 1.0% will be applied for two (2) years and seven (7) years to existing 

traffic volumes to estimate 2025 and 2030 conditions, respectively.  

Table 2: Proposed Background Traffic Growth Rate 

TSP ID Description 

2015 Entering 

Volume (PM) 

2035 Entering 

Volume (PM) 

Linear Growth 

Rate 

(2015-35) 

#17 Union St/W 3rd St 926 1,080 0.8% 

#18 Union St/W 2nd St 935 1,050 0.6% 

#24 Brewery Overpass Rd/US 30 1,209 1,455 1.0% 

   Max: 1.0% 

Project Trip Generation 
The proposed project includes three (3) distinct land uses that most closely correspond to the following land 

use category within ITE’s Trip Generation Manual (11th Edition): 

• Multifamily Residential: Land Use 221, Multifamily Housing (Mid-Rise) 

◼ Description: Mid-rise multifamily housing includes apartments and condominiums located in a 
building that has between four and 10 floors of living space. Access to individual dwelling units is 
through an outside building entrance, a lobby, elevator, and a set of hallways. 

• Microbrewery: Land Use 140, Manufacturing 

◼ Description: A manufacturing facility is an area where the primary activity is the conversion of 
raw materials or parts into finished products. Size and type of activity may vary substantially 
from one facility to another. In addition to the actual production of goods, a manufacturing 
facility typically has an office and may provide space for warehouse, research, and associated 
functions. 

• Restaurant/Brewpub: Land Use 930, Fast Casual Restaurant  

◼ Description: A fast casual restaurant is a sit-down restaurant with no (or very limited) wait staff 
or table service. A customer typically orders off a menu board, pays for food before the food is 
prepared, and seats themselves. The menu generally contains higher-quality, made-to-order food 
items with fewer frozen or processed ingredients than at a fast-food restaurant. Most patrons eat 
their meal within the restaurant, but a significant proportion of the restaurant sales can be carry-

Attachment 2

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 152 of 342



Basalt Commons, 523 E Third Street, The Dalles, OR TIS Scoping Memo 

 

 
 Page | 4  July 2023 
   
 
 

out orders. A fast casual restaurant typically serves lunch and dinner; some serve breakfast. A 
typical duration of stay for an eat-in customer is 40 minutes or less. 

 

Table 3 shows the corresponding PM peak hour vehicle trips for these land uses.   

Table 3: PM Peak Hour Trips 

Land Use 
ITE 

Code Location Units Trip Rate 
PM 

Trips 

Mid-Rise Multifamily Residential 221 Dense Multi-Use Urban 108 units 0.26 trips / dwelling unit 128 

Manufacturing 140 Urban/Suburban 6.383 ksf 0.74 trips / 1,000 ft2 GFA 25 

Fast Casual Restaurant 930 Urban/Suburban 2.966 ksf 12.55 trips / 1,000 ft2 GFA 337 

    Total 70 

Trip Distribution 

Proposed trip distribution patterns are shown in Figure 2, based on a review of local traffic patterns and 

access to regional highways. Most vehicle trips to and from the site during the PM peak hour are associated 

with the restaurant/pub, and these visitors are very likely to park on-street as close to the site as possible. 

Rather than distribute each trip to different blocks, all trips will be assigned to the alley between 3rd Street 

and 2nd Street as a conservative assumption (most vehicles will find parking before turning into the alley). 

These distribution assumptions may be refined based on input from the City. 

 
 

1 74% Entering / 26% Exiting 
2 31% Entering / 69% Exiting 
3 55% Entering / 45% Exiting 

Attachment 2

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 153 of 342



Basalt Commons, 523 E Third Street, The Dalles, OR TIS Scoping Memo 

 

 
 Page | 5  July 2023 
   
 
 

Figure 2: Proposed Trip Distribution 

 

Next Steps 
To finalize the TIS methodology prior to data collection, correspondence with City staff is recommended in 

order to: 

1. Confirm intersections, scope of data collection, and all other methodology assumptions. 

2. Identify any in-process projects for inclusion within the future year scenarios. 

3. Confirm or refine the trip distribution assumptions. 

Closing  
Please feel free to reach out to me to discuss the contents of this Memo.  

Sincerely,  

 

 

William Reynolds, PE (OR), AICP 

RBT Consultants 

1
0

%
 

Site 

1
0

%
 

40% 40% 

Attachment 2

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 154 of 342



Basalt Commons, The Dalles, OR Traffic Impact Study 

 
 

 
  September 2023 
  Version 1 
 

 

Appendix C: Traffic Volume Counts 

  

Attachment 2

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 155 of 342



Wednesday, August 2, 2023: 4:00 PM to 6:00 PM
E 2nd Street & Laughlin Street

1 NB SB EB WB
Start Time U Left Thru Right HV Ped App Total U Left Thru Right HV Ped App Total U Left Thru Right HV Ped App Total U Left Thru Right HV Ped App Total Int Total Peak Hour Network Peak Hour

4:00 PM 0 14 0 0 0 4 14 0 0 2 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 2 140 1 2 1 143 159 4:00 hour 656 4:00 PM 3,807
4:15 PM 0 7 0 0 0 2 7 0 0 2 2 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 5 117 1 2 0 123 134 4:15 hour 629 4:15 PM 3,878
4:30 PM 0 23 0 0 0 5 23 0 0 1 1 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 183 0 2 4 187 212 4:30 hour 656 4:30 PM 3,991
4:45 PM 0 15 0 0 1 1 15 0 0 2 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 5 129 0 3 0 134 151 4:45 hour 575 4:45 PM 3,737
5:00 PM 0 11 0 0 1 2 11 0 0 7 1 0 0 8 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 110 0 5 0 113 132 5:00 hour 524 5:00 PM 3,548
5:15 PM 0 13 0 0 0 2 13 0 0 3 3 0 0 6 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 12 130 0 2 0 142 161 7,355
5:30 PM 0 10 0 0 1 0 10 0 0 0 2 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 119 0 4 0 119 131 PHF 0.77
5:45 PM 0 10 0 0 0 0 10 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 86 0 3 0 89 100 HV% 2.1%

Peak Hour 0 62 0 0 2 10 62 0 0 13 5 0 0 18 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 24 552 0 12 4 576 656
Seasonally Adjusted 0 62 0 0 2 10 62 0 0 13 5 0 0 18 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 25 552 0 12 4 577 657 Seasonal 1.00 Peak 15 Minutes

3% 0 0% 38 0% 0 2% 619 657 4:00 PM 907
HV% to North HV% to South HV% to East HV% to West 4:15 PM 900

E 3rd Street & Laughlin Street 4:30 PM 1,106
2 NB SB EB WB 4:45 PM 894

Start Time U Left Thru Right HV Ped App Total U Left Thru Right HV Ped App Total U Left Thru Right HV Ped App Total U Left Thru Right HV Ped App Total Int Total Peak Hour 5:00 PM 978
4:00 PM 0 0 2 3 0 0 5 0 3 1 0 0 2 4 0 10 115 6 4 0 131 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 140 4:00 hour 616 5:15 PM 1,013
4:15 PM 0 0 3 2 0 0 5 0 4 3 0 0 0 7 0 5 137 8 3 0 150 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 162 4:15 hour 660 5:30 PM 852
4:30 PM 0 0 6 3 0 0 9 0 5 3 0 0 0 8 0 11 127 3 2 2 141 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 158 4:30 hour 667 5:45 PM 705
4:45 PM 0 0 3 4 0 0 7 0 3 6 0 0 2 9 0 8 126 6 4 1 140 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 156 4:45 hour 649 7,355
5:00 PM 0 0 4 2 2 0 6 0 9 6 0 0 0 15 0 8 147 8 3 1 163 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 184 5:00 hour 622
5:15 PM 0 0 4 3 0 0 7 0 4 10 0 1 1 14 0 10 133 5 2 1 148 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 169 PHF 0.90
5:30 PM 0 0 0 1 0 1 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 1 0 9 126 3 2 0 138 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 140 PHF 0.91
5:45 PM 0 0 1 1 0 0 2 0 3 2 0 0 1 5 0 6 115 1 3 0 122 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 129 HV% 2.1%

Peak Hour 0 0 17 12 2 0 29 0 21 25 0 1 3 46 0 37 533 22 11 5 592 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 667
Seasonally Adjusted 0 0 18 12 2 0 30 0 21 25 0 1 3 46 0 40 533 22 11 5 595 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 671 Seasonal 1.00

7% 58 2% 47 2% 566 0% 0 671
HV% to North HV% to South HV% to East HV% to West

E 2nd Street & Jefferson Street
3 NB SB EB WB

Start Time U Left Thru Right HV Ped App Total U Left Thru Right HV Ped App Total U Left Thru Right HV Ped App Total U Left Thru Right HV Ped App Total Int Total Peak Hour
4:00 PM 0 5 0 0 0 4 5 0 0 7 9 1 1 16 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 17 122 6 1 0 145 166 4:00 hour 673
4:15 PM 0 10 3 0 0 7 13 0 0 4 3 0 6 7 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 13 113 2 3 0 128 148 4:15 hour 635
4:30 PM 0 9 0 0 0 3 9 0 0 2 2 0 7 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 21 172 1 1 0 194 207 4:30 hour 641
4:45 PM 0 5 1 0 0 1 6 0 0 3 2 0 0 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 12 125 4 1 1 141 152 4:45 hour 570
5:00 PM 0 11 0 0 0 2 11 0 0 4 1 0 2 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 13 98 1 4 0 112 128 5:00 hour 525
5:15 PM 0 11 0 0 0 5 11 0 0 5 3 0 0 8 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 9 125 1 2 1 135 154
5:30 PM 0 5 1 0 0 2 6 0 0 2 2 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 17 109 0 5 0 126 136 PHF 0.77
5:45 PM 0 5 1 0 0 0 6 0 0 3 5 1 2 8 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 10 79 4 2 0 93 107 HV% 1.2%

Peak Hour 0 36 1 0 0 11 37 0 0 14 8 0 9 22 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 55 520 7 8 2 582 641
Seasonally Adjusted 0 36 1 0 0 11 37 0 0 14 8 0 9 22 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 59 533 7 8 2 599 658 Seasonal 1.00

0% 8 0% 73 0% 0 1% 577 658
HV% to North HV% to South HV% to East HV% to West

E 3rd Street & Jefferson Street
4 NB SB EB WB

Start Time U Left Thru Right HV Ped App Total U Left Thru Right HV Ped App Total U Left Thru Right HV Ped App Total U Left Thru Right HV Ped App Total Int Total Peak Hour
4:00 PM 0 0 2 14 0 0 16 0 12 14 0 1 1 26 0 1 120 1 4 0 122 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 164 4:00 hour 693
4:15 PM 0 0 3 19 0 0 22 0 7 7 0 1 0 14 0 11 128 3 3 0 142 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 178 4:15 hour 736
4:30 PM 0 0 4 18 0 0 22 0 7 16 0 0 0 23 0 4 129 1 2 0 134 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 179 4:30 hour 750
4:45 PM 0 0 4 22 0 1 26 0 8 10 0 0 1 18 0 3 123 2 2 1 128 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 172 4:45 hour 739
5:00 PM 0 0 5 23 0 0 28 0 11 10 0 0 0 21 0 4 150 4 3 0 158 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 207 5:00 hour 716
5:15 PM 0 0 4 30 0 0 34 0 11 6 0 0 0 17 0 6 135 0 2 0 141 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 192
5:30 PM 0 0 3 15 0 0 18 0 15 8 0 0 2 23 0 2 124 1 0 1 127 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 168 PHF 0.91
5:45 PM 0 0 3 14 0 0 17 0 6 7 0 1 0 13 0 3 116 0 1 0 119 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 149 HV% 1.2%

Peak Hour 0 0 17 93 0 1 110 0 37 42 0 0 1 79 0 17 537 7 9 1 561 0 0 0 0 0 7 0 750
Seasonally Adjusted 0 0 18 93 0 1 111 0 37 42 0 0 1 79 0 17 542 7 9 1 566 0 0 0 0 0 7 0 756 Seasonal 1.00

0% 35 0% 49 2% 672 0% 0 756
HV% to North HV% to South HV% to East HV% to West

Alley & Laughlin Street
5 NB SB EB WB

Start Time U Left Thru Right HV Ped App Total U Left Thru Right HV Ped App Total U Left Thru Right HV Ped App Total U Left Thru Right HV Ped App Total Int Total Peak Hour
4:00 PM 0 0 12 0 0 0 12 0 0 3 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 15 4:00 hour 80
4:15 PM 0 2 7 0 0 0 9 0 0 7 1 0 0 8 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 1 18 4:15 hour 91
4:30 PM 0 0 22 0 0 0 22 0 0 5 0 0 0 5 0 1 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 28 4:30 hour 100
4:45 PM 0 0 11 0 1 0 11 0 0 8 0 0 0 8 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 19 4:45 hour 82
5:00 PM 0 0 11 1 2 0 12 0 0 11 0 0 0 11 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 2 0 0 3 26 5:00 hour 75
5:15 PM 0 0 12 1 0 0 13 0 0 13 1 1 0 14 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 27
5:30 PM 0 0 10 0 0 0 10 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 10 PHF 0.89
5:45 PM 0 0 6 1 0 0 7 0 0 4 0 1 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 1 12 HV% 4.0%

Peak Hour 0 0 56 2 3 0 58 0 0 37 1 1 0 38 0 1 0 0 0 1 1 0 1 0 2 0 0 3 100
Seasonally Adjusted 0 2 56 0 3 0 58 0 0 37 1 1 0 38 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 9 0 6 0 0 15 111 Seasonal 1.00

5% 62 3% 46 0% 0 0% 3 111
HV% to North HV% to South HV% to East HV% to West

Alley & Jefferson Street
6 NB SB EB WB

Start Time U Left Thru Right HV Ped App Total U Left Thru Right HV Ped App Total U Left Thru Right HV Ped App Total U Left Thru Right HV Ped App Total Int Total Peak Hour
4:00 PM 0 0 2 0 0 0 2 0 0 22 0 1 0 22 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 2 0 0 5 29 4:00 hour 123
4:15 PM 0 0 14 0 0 0 14 0 0 13 2 2 0 15 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 2 0 0 3 32 4:15 hour 125
4:30 PM 0 0 9 0 0 0 9 0 0 23 0 0 0 23 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 2 34 4:30 hour 120
4:45 PM 0 1 6 0 0 2 7 0 0 16 2 0 0 18 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 1 3 28 4:45 hour 117
5:00 PM 0 0 9 0 0 0 9 0 0 15 3 0 0 18 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 1 0 0 4 31 5:00 hour 107
5:15 PM 0 0 10 0 0 0 10 0 0 14 0 0 0 14 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 2 3 27
5:30 PM 0 0 7 0 0 0 7 0 0 20 1 0 0 21 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 2 3 31 PHF 0.88
5:45 PM 0 0 6 0 0 0 6 0 0 12 0 0 0 12 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 18 HV% 0.0%

Peak Hour 0 1 34 0 0 2 35 0 0 68 5 0 0 73 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 10 0 2 0 3 12 120
Seasonally Adjusted 0 1 34 0 0 2 35 0 0 68 5 0 0 73 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 11 0 3 0 3 14 122 Seasonal 1.00

0% 37 0% 79 0% 0 0% 6 122
HV% to North HV% to South HV% to East HV% to West

E 2nd Street & Brewery Overpass Road
7 NB SB EB WB

Start Time U Left Thru Right HV Ped App Total U Left Thru Right HV Ped App Total U Left Thru Right HV Ped App Total U Left Thru Right HV Ped App Total Int Total Peak Hour
4:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 8 0 66 6 0 74 0 43 60 0 5 0 103 0 0 48 9 3 0 57 234 4:00 hour 966
4:15 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5 0 46 1 0 51 0 59 67 0 8 0 126 0 0 45 6 2 0 51 228 4:15 hour 1,002
4:30 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 74 1 0 77 0 50 79 0 1 0 129 0 0 76 6 5 0 82 288 4:30 hour 1,057
4:45 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 10 0 56 5 0 66 0 40 65 0 4 0 105 0 0 41 4 5 0 45 216 4:45 hour 1,005
5:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5 0 75 4 0 80 0 68 83 0 2 0 151 0 0 34 5 1 0 39 270 5:00 hour 979
5:15 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 7 0 85 3 0 92 0 64 80 0 1 0 144 0 0 43 4 2 0 47 283
5:30 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 8 0 64 7 0 72 0 59 65 0 2 0 124 0 0 40 0 1 0 40 236 PHF 0.92
5:45 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 58 1 0 62 0 42 45 0 0 0 87 0 0 37 4 1 0 41 190 HV% 3.2%

Peak Hour 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 25 0 290 13 0 315 0 222 307 0 8 0 529 0 0 194 19 13 0 213 1,057
Seasonally Adjusted 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 25 0 290 13 0 315 0 222 307 0 8 0 529 0 0 194 19 13 0 213 1,057 Seasonal 1.00

0% 241 4% 0 2% 332 6% 484 1,057
HV% to North HV% to South HV% to East HV% to West

Attachment 2

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 156 of 342



Type of peak hour being reported: Intersection Peak Method for determining peak hour: Total Entering Volume

LOCATION: LOCATION: Laughlin St -- Mosier-the Dalles Hwy QC JOB #: QC JOB #: 16255201
CITY/STATE: CITY/STATE: The Dalles, OR DATE: DATE: Wed, Aug 2 2023

10 2

3 7 0

631 0 2 587

0 0.770.77 569

0 0 16 0

59 0 0

23 59

Peak-Hour: 4:00 PM -- 5:00 PMPeak-Hour: 4:00 PM -- 5:00 PM
Peak 15-Min: 4:30 PM -- 4:45 PMPeak 15-Min: 4:30 PM -- 4:45 PM 0 0

0 0 0

1.6 0 0 1.5

0 1.6

0 0 0 0

1.7 0 0

0 1.7

0

6 5

12

0 0 0

0 0

1 1

0 0

0 0 0

N/A

N/A N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A N/A

N/A

5-Min Count5-Min Count
PeriodPeriod

Beginning AtBeginning At

Laughlin StLaughlin St
(Northbound)(Northbound)

Laughlin StLaughlin St
(Southbound)(Southbound)

Mosier-the Dalles HwyMosier-the Dalles Hwy
(Eastbound)(Eastbound)

Mosier-the Dalles HwyMosier-the Dalles Hwy
(Westbound)(Westbound) TotalTotal HourlyHourly

TotalsTotals
LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU

3:30 PM 8 1 0 0 0 2 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 46 0 0 59
3:35 PM 4 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 3 44 0 0 52
3:40 PM 6 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 2 48 0 0 58
3:45 PM 4 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 42 1 0 49
3:50 PM 4 0 0 0 0 1 2 0 0 0 0 0 2 35 0 0 44
3:55 PM 1 1 0 0 0 2 1 0 0 0 0 0 2 35 0 0 42
4:00 PM 6 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 52 1 0 60
4:05 PM 2 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 46 0 0 50
4:10 PM 6 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 42 0 0 49
4:15 PM 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 4 38 0 0 44
4:20 PM 4 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 49 1 0 56
4:25 PM 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 30 0 0 34 597
4:30 PM 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 67 0 0 72 610
4:35 PM 9 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 61 0 0 71 629
4:40 PM 11 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 2 55 0 0 69 640
4:45 PM 7 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 40 0 0 49 640
4:50 PM 6 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 46 0 0 54 650
4:55 PM 2 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 43 0 0 48 656
5:00 PM 4 0 0 0 0 3 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 40 0 0 49 645
5:05 PM 2 0 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 37 0 0 42 637
5:10 PM 5 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 33 0 0 41 629
5:15 PM 6 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 39 0 0 47 632
5:20 PM 6 0 0 0 0 2 2 0 0 0 0 0 4 47 0 0 61 637
5:25 PM 1 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 6 44 0 0 53 656
5:30 PM 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 35 0 0 40 624
5:35 PM 1 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 54 0 0 57 610
5:40 PM 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 30 0 0 34 575
5:45 PM 2 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 34 0 0 37 563
5:50 PM 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 28 0 0 33 542
5:55 PM 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 24 0 0 30 524
6:00 PM 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 33 1 0 41 516
6:05 PM 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 25 0 0 27 501
6:10 PM 2 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 36 0 0 39 499
6:15 PM 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 34 1 0 39 491
6:20 PM 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 31 0 0 32 462
6:25 PM 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 36 0 0 38 447

Page 1 of 2

Attachment 2

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 157 of 342



5-Min Count5-Min Count
Period Period 

Beginning AtBeginning At

Laughlin StLaughlin St
(Northbound)(Northbound)

Laughlin StLaughlin St
(Southbound)(Southbound)

Mosier-the Dalles HwyMosier-the Dalles Hwy
(Eastbound)(Eastbound)

Mosier-the Dalles HwyMosier-the Dalles Hwy
(Westbound)(Westbound) TotalTotal HourlyHourly

TotalsTotals
LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU

Peak 15-MinPeak 15-Min
FlowratesFlowrates

NorthboundNorthbound SouthboundSouthbound EastboundEastbound WestboundWestbound
TotalTotalLeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU

All Vehicles 92 0 0 0 0 4 4 0 0 0 0 0 16 732 0 0 848
Heavy Trucks 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 8 0 8

Buses
Pedestrians 20 0 0 16 36

Bicycles 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Scooters

Comments:

Report generated on 8/9/2023 12:21 PM SOURCE: Quality Counts, LLC (http://www.qualitycounts.net) 1-877-580-2212

Page 2 of 2

Attachment 2

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 158 of 342



Type of peak hour being reported: Intersection Peak Method for determining peak hour: Total Entering Volume

LOCATION: LOCATION: Laughlin St -- E 3rd St QC JOB #: QC JOB #: 16255202
CITY/STATE: CITY/STATE: The Dalles, OR DATE: DATE: Wed, Aug 2 2023

44 56

0 24 20

0 39 0 0

538 0.910.91 0

600 23 0 569

0 17 11

47 28

Peak-Hour: 4:35 PM -- 5:35 PMPeak-Hour: 4:35 PM -- 5:35 PM
Peak 15-Min: 5:00 PM -- 5:15 PMPeak 15-Min: 5:00 PM -- 5:15 PM 2.3 5.4

0 4.2 0

0 2.6 0 0

1.9 0

1.8 0 0 1.8

0 11.8 0

2.1 7.1

3

5 1

0

1 0 0

0 0

2 0

0 0

0 0 0

N/A

N/A N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A N/A

N/A

5-Min Count5-Min Count
PeriodPeriod

Beginning AtBeginning At

Laughlin StLaughlin St
(Northbound)(Northbound)

Laughlin StLaughlin St
(Southbound)(Southbound)

E 3rd StE 3rd St
(Eastbound)(Eastbound)

E 3rd StE 3rd St
(Westbound)(Westbound) TotalTotal HourlyHourly

TotalsTotals
LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU

3:30 PM 0 2 0 0 3 1 0 0 9 38 2 0 0 0 0 0 55
3:35 PM 0 0 0 0 1 2 0 0 4 43 5 0 0 0 0 0 55
3:40 PM 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 6 28 2 0 0 0 0 0 38
3:45 PM 0 1 0 0 0 1 0 0 4 44 2 0 0 0 0 0 52
3:50 PM 0 1 1 0 2 1 0 0 4 40 4 0 0 0 0 0 53
3:55 PM 0 0 1 0 3 1 0 0 3 37 2 0 0 0 0 0 47
4:00 PM 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 5 37 2 0 0 0 0 0 45
4:05 PM 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 2 37 2 0 0 0 0 0 43
4:10 PM 0 2 3 0 1 0 0 0 3 41 2 0 0 0 0 0 52
4:15 PM 0 0 0 0 2 3 0 0 0 38 1 0 0 0 0 0 44
4:20 PM 0 2 1 0 1 0 0 0 2 54 4 0 0 0 0 0 64
4:25 PM 0 1 1 0 1 0 0 0 3 45 3 0 0 0 0 0 54 602
4:30 PM 0 0 1 0 1 1 0 0 2 41 0 0 0 0 0 0 46 593
4:35 PM 0 5 1 0 2 1 0 0 2 49 1 0 0 0 0 0 61 599
4:40 PM 0 1 1 0 2 1 0 0 7 37 2 0 0 0 0 0 51 612
4:45 PM 0 1 2 0 1 2 0 0 5 48 2 0 0 0 0 0 61 621
4:50 PM 0 1 0 0 1 1 0 0 3 40 1 0 0 0 0 0 47 615
4:55 PM 0 1 2 0 1 3 0 0 0 38 3 0 0 0 0 0 48 616
5:00 PM 0 2 1 0 4 0 0 0 3 49 1 0 0 0 0 0 60 631
5:05 PM 0 2 0 0 3 3 0 0 1 52 4 0 0 0 0 0 65 653
5:10 PM 0 0 1 0 2 3 0 0 4 46 3 0 0 0 0 0 59 660
5:15 PM 0 4 3 0 0 2 0 0 3 41 2 0 0 0 0 0 55 671
5:20 PM 0 0 0 0 3 1 0 0 6 50 2 0 0 0 0 0 62 669
5:25 PM 0 0 0 0 1 7 0 0 1 42 1 0 0 0 0 0 52 667
5:30 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 46 1 0 0 0 0 0 51 672
5:35 PM 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 2 41 1 0 0 0 0 0 46 657
5:40 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 39 1 0 0 0 0 0 43 649
5:45 PM 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 1 39 0 0 0 0 0 0 41 629
5:50 PM 0 1 1 0 0 1 0 0 3 36 0 0 0 0 0 0 42 624
5:55 PM 0 0 0 0 2 1 0 0 2 40 1 0 0 0 0 0 46 622
6:00 PM 0 1 1 0 3 1 0 0 1 33 0 0 0 0 0 0 40 602
6:05 PM 0 1 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 37 1 0 0 0 0 0 41 578
6:10 PM 0 1 1 0 1 1 0 0 1 47 0 0 0 0 0 0 52 571
6:15 PM 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 2 34 2 0 0 0 0 0 39 555
6:20 PM 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 1 32 1 0 0 0 0 0 35 528
6:25 PM 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 1 22 2 0 0 0 0 0 26 502

Page 1 of 2

Attachment 2

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 159 of 342



5-Min Count5-Min Count
Period Period 

Beginning AtBeginning At

Laughlin StLaughlin St
(Northbound)(Northbound)

Laughlin StLaughlin St
(Southbound)(Southbound)

E 3rd StE 3rd St
(Eastbound)(Eastbound)

E 3rd StE 3rd St
(Westbound)(Westbound) TotalTotal HourlyHourly

TotalsTotals
LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU

Peak 15-MinPeak 15-Min
FlowratesFlowrates

NorthboundNorthbound SouthboundSouthbound EastboundEastbound WestboundWestbound
TotalTotalLeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU

All Vehicles 0 16 8 0 36 24 0 0 32 588 32 0 0 0 0 0 736
Heavy Trucks 0 8 0 0 0 0 0 12 0 0 0 0 20

Buses
Pedestrians 0 0 4 0 4

Bicycles 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Scooters

Comments:

Report generated on 8/9/2023 12:21 PM SOURCE: Quality Counts, LLC (http://www.qualitycounts.net) 1-877-580-2212

Page 2 of 2

Attachment 2

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 160 of 342



Type of peak hour being reported: Intersection Peak Method for determining peak hour: Total Entering Volume

LOCATION: LOCATION: Jefferson St -- Mosier-the Dalles Hwy QC JOB #: QC JOB #: 16255204
CITY/STATE: CITY/STATE: The Dalles, OR DATE: DATE: Wed, Aug 2 2023

31 17

16 15 0

577 0 14 612

0 0.820.82 532

0 0 66 0

29 3 0

81 32

Peak-Hour: 3:55 PM -- 4:55 PMPeak-Hour: 3:55 PM -- 4:55 PM
Peak 15-Min: 4:30 PM -- 4:45 PMPeak 15-Min: 4:30 PM -- 4:45 PM 3.2 0

0 6.7 0

0.9 0 0 1

0 0.9

0 0 1.5 0

0 0 0

2.5 0

17

0 1

17

0 0 0

0 0

0 2

0 0

0 0 0

N/A

N/A N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A N/A

N/A

5-Min Count5-Min Count
Period Period 

Beginning AtBeginning At

Jefferson StJefferson St
(Northbound)(Northbound)

Jefferson StJefferson St
(Southbound)(Southbound)

Mosier-the Dalles HwyMosier-the Dalles Hwy
(Eastbound)(Eastbound)

Mosier-the Dalles HwyMosier-the Dalles Hwy
(Westbound)(Westbound) TotalTotal HourlyHourly

TotalsTotals
LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU

3:30 PM 0 1 0 0 0 1 2 0 0 0 0 0 3 44 1 0 52
3:35 PM 2 1 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 45 1 0 53
3:40 PM 3 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 3 45 2 0 54
3:45 PM 2 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 39 0 0 43
3:50 PM 4 1 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 28 1 0 38
3:55 PM 2 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 5 41 1 0 51
4:00 PM 3 0 0 0 0 3 4 0 0 0 0 0 8 42 2 0 62
4:05 PM 1 0 0 0 0 1 2 0 0 0 0 0 5 43 1 0 53
4:10 PM 1 0 0 0 0 3 3 0 0 0 0 0 4 37 3 0 51
4:15 PM 5 0 0 0 0 1 3 0 0 0 0 0 3 43 1 0 56
4:20 PM 4 1 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 36 0 0 44
4:25 PM 1 2 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 8 34 1 0 48 605
4:30 PM 4 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 6 64 0 0 76 629
4:35 PM 2 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 8 52 0 0 64 640
4:40 PM 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 7 56 1 0 67 653
4:45 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 6 43 2 0 52 662
4:50 PM 3 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 41 2 0 51 675
4:55 PM 2 1 0 0 0 2 1 0 0 0 0 0 2 41 0 0 49 673
5:00 PM 6 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 7 33 0 0 47 658
5:05 PM 4 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 3 32 1 0 42 647
5:10 PM 1 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 33 0 0 39 635
5:15 PM 5 0 0 0 0 2 1 0 0 0 0 0 4 39 1 0 52 631
5:20 PM 3 0 0 0 0 3 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 43 0 0 50 637
5:25 PM 3 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 5 43 0 0 52 641
5:30 PM 2 1 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 6 30 0 0 41 606
5:35 PM 3 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 8 52 0 0 64 606
5:40 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 3 27 0 0 31 570
5:45 PM 2 1 0 0 0 1 3 0 0 0 0 0 3 31 1 0 42 560
5:50 PM 2 0 0 0 0 2 2 0 0 0 0 0 4 26 2 0 38 547
5:55 PM 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 22 1 0 27 525
6:00 PM 4 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 31 0 0 37 515
6:05 PM 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 27 1 0 34 507
6:10 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 3 34 0 0 38 506
6:15 PM 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 3 37 0 0 42 496
6:20 PM 3 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 30 0 0 36 482
6:25 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 34 1 0 37 467

Page 1 of 2

Attachment 2

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 161 of 342



5-Min Count5-Min Count
Period Period 

Beginning AtBeginning At

Jefferson StJefferson St
(Northbound)(Northbound)

Jefferson StJefferson St
(Southbound)(Southbound)

Mosier-the Dalles HwyMosier-the Dalles Hwy
(Eastbound)(Eastbound)

Mosier-the Dalles HwyMosier-the Dalles Hwy
(Westbound)(Westbound) TotalTotal HourlyHourly

TotalsTotals
LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU

Peak 15-MinPeak 15-Min
FlowratesFlowrates

NorthboundNorthbound SouthboundSouthbound EastboundEastbound WestboundWestbound
TotalTotalLeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU

All Vehicles 36 0 0 0 0 8 8 0 0 0 0 0 84 688 4 0 828
Heavy Trucks 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 4

Buses
Pedestrians 12 28 0 0 40

Bicycles 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 4
Scooters

Comments:

Report generated on 8/9/2023 12:21 PM SOURCE: Quality Counts, LLC (http://www.qualitycounts.net) 1-877-580-2212

Page 2 of 2

Attachment 2

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 162 of 342



Type of peak hour being reported: Intersection Peak Method for determining peak hour: Total Entering Volume

LOCATION: LOCATION: Jefferson St -- E 3rd St QC JOB #: QC JOB #: 16255203
CITY/STATE: CITY/STATE: The Dalles, OR DATE: DATE: Wed, Aug 2 2023

83 35

0 41 42

0 16 0 0

541 0.910.91 0

564 7 0 674

0 19 91

48 110

Peak-Hour: 4:25 PM -- 5:25 PMPeak-Hour: 4:25 PM -- 5:25 PM
Peak 15-Min: 5:00 PM -- 5:15 PMPeak 15-Min: 5:00 PM -- 5:15 PM 1.2 0

0 0 2.4

0 0 0 0

1.7 0

1.6 0 0 1.5

0 0 0

0 0

1

1 7

1

0 0 0

0 0

2 0

0 0

0 0 0

N/A

N/A N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A N/A

N/A

5-Min Count5-Min Count
PeriodPeriod

Beginning AtBeginning At

Jefferson StJefferson St
(Northbound)(Northbound)

Jefferson StJefferson St
(Southbound)(Southbound)

E 3rd StE 3rd St
(Eastbound)(Eastbound)

E 3rd StE 3rd St
(Westbound)(Westbound) TotalTotal HourlyHourly

TotalsTotals
LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU

3:30 PM 0 1 6 0 2 2 0 0 2 36 1 0 0 0 0 0 50
3:35 PM 0 2 3 0 3 2 0 0 3 42 0 0 0 0 0 0 55
3:40 PM 0 2 4 0 2 2 0 0 0 29 0 0 0 0 0 0 39
3:45 PM 0 1 2 0 1 0 0 0 0 43 2 0 0 0 0 0 49
3:50 PM 0 1 6 0 1 3 0 0 3 39 1 0 0 0 0 0 54
3:55 PM 0 2 3 0 4 3 0 0 1 39 3 0 0 0 0 0 55
4:00 PM 0 2 5 0 7 4 0 0 1 39 1 0 0 0 0 0 59
4:05 PM 0 0 2 0 2 6 0 0 0 35 0 0 0 0 0 0 45
4:10 PM 0 0 7 0 3 4 0 0 0 46 0 0 0 0 0 0 60
4:15 PM 0 0 5 0 1 2 0 0 5 34 1 0 0 0 0 0 48
4:20 PM 0 1 8 0 0 3 0 0 4 51 2 0 0 0 0 0 69
4:25 PM 0 2 6 0 6 2 0 0 2 43 0 0 0 0 0 0 61 644
4:30 PM 0 3 3 0 2 4 0 0 2 42 0 0 0 0 0 0 56 650
4:35 PM 0 0 7 0 4 6 0 0 1 51 1 0 0 0 0 0 70 665
4:40 PM 0 1 8 0 1 6 0 0 1 36 0 0 0 0 0 0 53 679
4:45 PM 0 0 4 0 1 4 0 0 0 47 2 0 0 0 0 0 58 688
4:50 PM 0 3 6 0 3 3 0 0 1 39 0 0 0 0 0 0 55 689
4:55 PM 0 1 12 0 4 3 0 0 2 37 0 0 0 0 0 0 59 693
5:00 PM 0 3 4 0 2 5 0 0 2 53 0 0 0 0 0 0 69 703
5:05 PM 0 2 9 0 5 3 0 0 2 50 4 0 0 0 0 0 75 733
5:10 PM 0 0 10 0 4 2 0 0 0 47 0 0 0 0 0 0 63 736
5:15 PM 0 3 12 0 4 2 0 0 1 44 0 0 0 0 0 0 66 754
5:20 PM 0 1 10 0 6 1 0 0 2 52 0 0 0 0 0 0 72 757
5:25 PM 0 0 8 0 1 3 0 0 3 39 0 0 0 0 0 0 54 750
5:30 PM 0 0 6 0 7 2 0 0 2 45 0 0 0 0 0 0 62 756
5:35 PM 0 2 4 0 6 4 0 0 0 43 0 0 0 0 0 0 59 745
5:40 PM 0 1 5 0 2 2 0 0 0 36 1 0 0 0 0 0 47 739
5:45 PM 0 2 6 0 1 2 0 0 1 40 0 0 0 0 0 0 52 733
5:50 PM 0 0 1 0 4 3 0 0 2 35 0 0 0 0 0 0 45 723
5:55 PM 0 1 7 0 1 2 0 0 0 41 0 0 0 0 0 0 52 716
6:00 PM 0 3 3 0 1 1 0 0 2 36 0 0 0 0 0 0 46 693
6:05 PM 0 1 2 0 1 3 0 0 0 37 2 0 0 0 0 0 46 664
6:10 PM 0 0 4 0 2 2 0 0 0 49 1 0 0 0 0 0 58 659
6:15 PM 0 0 4 0 1 2 0 0 1 30 0 0 0 0 0 0 38 631
6:20 PM 0 1 5 0 1 2 0 0 1 32 0 0 0 0 0 0 42 601
6:25 PM 0 0 7 0 0 1 0 0 1 22 1 0 0 0 0 0 32 579

Page 1 of 2

Attachment 2

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 163 of 342



5-Min Count5-Min Count
PeriodPeriod

Beginning AtBeginning At

Jefferson StJefferson St
(Northbound)(Northbound)

Jefferson StJefferson St
(Southbound)(Southbound)

E 3rd StE 3rd St
(Eastbound)(Eastbound)

E 3rd StE 3rd St
(Westbound)(Westbound) TotalTotal HourlyHourly

TotalsTotals
LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU

Peak 15-MinPeak 15-Min
FlowratesFlowrates

NorthboundNorthbound SouthboundSouthbound EastboundEastbound WestboundWestbound
TotalTotalLeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU

All Vehicles 0 20 92 0 44 40 0 0 16 600 16 0 0 0 0 0 828
Heavy Trucks 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 12 0 0 0 0 12

Buses
Pedestrians 0 0 0 8 8

Bicycles 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Scooters

Comments:

Report generated on 8/9/2023 12:21 PM SOURCE: Quality Counts, LLC (http://www.qualitycounts.net) 1-877-580-2212

Page 2 of 2

Attachment 2

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 164 of 342



Type of peak hour being reported: Intersection Peak Method for determining peak hour: Total Entering Volume

LOCATION: LOCATION: Laughlin St -- Alley QC JOB #: QC JOB #: 16255206
CITY/STATE: CITY/STATE: The Dalles, OR DATE: DATE: Wed, Aug 2 2023

36 62

1 35 0

1 1 2 3

0 0.810.81 0

1 0 1 2

0 59 2

36 61

Peak-Hour: 4:35 PM -- 5:35 PMPeak-Hour: 4:35 PM -- 5:35 PM
Peak 15-Min: 4:35 PM -- 4:50 PMPeak 15-Min: 4:35 PM -- 4:50 PM 2.8 4.8

0 2.9 0

0 0 0 0

0 0

0 0 0 0

0 5.1 0

2.8 4.9

0

1 0

0

0 0 0

0 0

0 0

0 1

0 0 0

N/A

N/A N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A N/A

N/A

5-Min Count5-Min Count
Period Period 

Beginning AtBeginning At

Laughlin StLaughlin St
(Northbound)(Northbound)

Laughlin StLaughlin St
(Southbound)(Southbound)

AlleyAlley
(Eastbound)(Eastbound)

AlleyAlley
(Westbound)(Westbound) TotalTotal HourlyHourly

TotalsTotals
LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU

3:30 PM 1 10 1 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 15
3:35 PM 0 4 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 7
3:40 PM 0 6 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 8
3:45 PM 0 4 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5
3:50 PM 0 5 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 8
3:55 PM 0 3 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 7
4:00 PM 0 5 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 6
4:05 PM 0 2 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4
4:10 PM 0 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5
4:15 PM 0 0 0 0 0 5 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 7
4:20 PM 0 4 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5
4:25 PM 2 3 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 6 83
4:30 PM 0 3 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5 73
4:35 PM 0 8 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 10 76
4:40 PM 0 11 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 13 81
4:45 PM 0 5 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 8 84
4:50 PM 0 4 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 6 82
4:55 PM 0 2 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5 80
5:00 PM 0 4 1 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 8 82
5:05 PM 0 2 0 0 0 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 8 86
5:10 PM 0 5 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 10 91
5:15 PM 0 6 1 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 9 93
5:20 PM 0 5 0 0 0 4 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 10 98
5:25 PM 0 1 0 0 0 7 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 8 100
5:30 PM 0 6 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 6 101
5:35 PM 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 93
5:40 PM 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 82
5:45 PM 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 2 76
5:50 PM 0 4 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 6 76
5:55 PM 0 1 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 75
6:00 PM 0 2 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 6 73
6:05 PM 0 1 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 68
6:10 PM 0 2 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 4 62
6:15 PM 0 2 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 56
6:20 PM 0 1 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 48
6:25 PM 0 1 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 42

Page 1 of 2

Attachment 2

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 165 of 342



Peak 15-MinPeak 15-Min
FlowratesFlowrates

NorthboundNorthbound SouthboundSouthbound EastboundEastbound WestboundWestbound
TotalTotalLeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU

All Vehicles 0 96 0 0 0 24 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 124
Heavy Trucks 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Buses
Pedestrians 0 0 0 0 0

Bicycles 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Scooters

Comments:

Report generated on 8/9/2023 12:21 PM SOURCE: Quality Counts, LLC (http://www.qualitycounts.net) 1-877-580-2212

Page 2 of 2

Attachment 2

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 166 of 342



Type of peak hour being reported: Intersection Peak Method for determining peak hour: Total Entering Volume

LOCATION: LOCATION: Jefferson St -- Alley QC JOB #: QC JOB #: 16255205
CITY/STATE: CITY/STATE: The Dalles, OR DATE: DATE: Wed, Aug 2 2023

75 43

7 68 0

8 0 5 13

0 0.840.84 0

0 0 8 0

1 38 0

76 39

Peak-Hour: 4:10 PM -- 5:10 PMPeak-Hour: 4:10 PM -- 5:10 PM
Peak 15-Min: 4:25 PM -- 4:40 PMPeak 15-Min: 4:25 PM -- 4:40 PM 4 0

0 4.4 0

0 0 0 0

0 0

0 0 0 0

0 0 0

3.9 0

0

0 1

2

0 0 0

0 0

0 0

0 0

0 0 0

N/A

N/A N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A N/A

N/A

5-Min Count5-Min Count
Period Period 

Beginning AtBeginning At

Jefferson StJefferson St
(Northbound)(Northbound)

Jefferson StJefferson St
(Southbound)(Southbound)

AlleyAlley
(Eastbound)(Eastbound)

AlleyAlley
(Westbound)(Westbound) TotalTotal HourlyHourly

TotalsTotals
LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU

3:30 PM 0 2 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 6
3:35 PM 0 4 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 9
3:40 PM 0 2 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 7
3:45 PM 0 1 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 5
3:50 PM 0 4 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 7
3:55 PM 0 3 0 0 0 6 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 10
4:00 PM 0 2 0 0 0 9 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 12
4:05 PM 0 0 0 0 0 7 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 9
4:10 PM 0 0 0 0 0 6 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 8
4:15 PM 0 5 0 0 0 3 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 10
4:20 PM 0 5 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 8
4:25 PM 0 4 0 0 0 7 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 14 105
4:30 PM 0 4 0 0 0 7 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 12 111
4:35 PM 0 2 0 0 0 9 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 12 114
4:40 PM 0 3 0 0 0 7 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 10 117
4:45 PM 0 0 0 0 0 5 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 6 118
4:50 PM 1 3 0 0 0 7 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 13 124
4:55 PM 0 3 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 9 123
5:00 PM 0 5 0 0 0 5 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 12 123
5:05 PM 0 4 0 0 0 5 2 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 13 127
5:10 PM 0 0 0 0 0 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 6 125
5:15 PM 0 4 0 0 0 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 10 125
5:20 PM 0 2 0 0 0 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 8 125
5:25 PM 0 4 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 9 120
5:30 PM 0 3 0 0 0 8 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 12 120
5:35 PM 0 3 0 0 0 9 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 15 123
5:40 PM 0 1 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 117
5:45 PM 0 3 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5 116
5:50 PM 0 2 0 0 0 7 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 9 112
5:55 PM 0 1 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 107
6:00 PM 0 5 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 7 102
6:05 PM 0 1 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 6 95
6:10 PM 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 4 93
6:15 PM 0 1 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 87
6:20 PM 0 2 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5 84
6:25 PM 0 1 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 77

Page 1 of 2

Attachment 2

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 167 of 342



5-Min Count5-Min Count
Period Period 

Beginning AtBeginning At

Jefferson StJefferson St
(Northbound)(Northbound)

Jefferson StJefferson St
(Southbound)(Southbound)

AlleyAlley
(Eastbound)(Eastbound)

AlleyAlley
(Westbound)(Westbound) TotalTotal HourlyHourly

TotalsTotals
LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU

Peak 15-MinPeak 15-Min
FlowratesFlowrates

NorthboundNorthbound SouthboundSouthbound EastboundEastbound WestboundWestbound
TotalTotalLeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU

All Vehicles 0 40 0 0 0 92 4 0 0 0 0 0 8 0 8 0 152
Heavy Trucks 0 0 0 0 8 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 8

Buses
Pedestrians 0 0 0 0 0

Bicycles 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Scooters

Comments:

Report generated on 8/9/2023 12:21 PM SOURCE: Quality Counts, LLC (http://www.qualitycounts.net) 1-877-580-2212

Page 2 of 2

Attachment 2

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 168 of 342



Type of peak hour being reported: Intersection Peak Method for determining peak hour: Total Entering Volume

LOCATION: LOCATION: Brewery Overpass Rd -- Mosier-the Dalles Hwy QC JOB #: QC JOB #: 16255207
CITY/STATE: CITY/STATE: The Dalles, OR DATE: DATE: Wed, Aug 2 2023

315 241

290 0 25

484 222 19 213

307 0.900.90 194

529 0 0 332

0 0 0

0 0

Peak-Hour: 4:30 PM -- 5:30 PMPeak-Hour: 4:30 PM -- 5:30 PM
Peak 15-Min: 5:10 PM -- 5:25 PMPeak 15-Min: 5:10 PM -- 5:25 PM 4.1 2.5

1.7 0 32

2.9 0.9 21.1 6.1

2 4.6

1.5 0 0 4.2

0 0 0

0 0

0

0 0

0

0 0 0

0 0

0 0

0 0

0 0 0

N/A

N/A N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A N/A

N/A

5-Min Count5-Min Count
Period Period 

Beginning AtBeginning At

Brewery Overpass RdBrewery Overpass Rd
(Northbound)(Northbound)

Brewery Overpass RdBrewery Overpass Rd
(Southbound)(Southbound)

Mosier-the Dalles HwyMosier-the Dalles Hwy
(Eastbound)(Eastbound)

Mosier-the Dalles HwyMosier-the Dalles Hwy
(Westbound)(Westbound) TotalTotal HourlyHourly

TotalsTotals
LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU

3:30 PM 0 0 0 0 1 0 26 0 17 23 0 0 0 22 0 0 89
3:35 PM 0 0 0 0 1 0 14 0 14 21 0 0 0 15 0 0 65
3:40 PM 0 0 0 0 2 0 25 0 21 18 0 0 0 19 0 0 85
3:45 PM 0 0 0 0 5 0 24 0 18 22 0 0 0 19 3 0 91
3:50 PM 0 0 0 0 5 0 19 0 9 17 0 0 0 15 3 0 68
3:55 PM 0 0 0 0 4 0 19 0 19 22 0 0 0 26 4 0 94
4:00 PM 0 0 0 0 2 0 37 0 14 19 0 0 0 16 2 0 90
4:05 PM 0 0 0 0 5 0 18 0 9 20 0 0 0 20 4 0 76
4:10 PM 0 0 0 0 1 0 11 0 20 21 0 0 0 12 3 0 68
4:15 PM 0 0 0 0 1 0 13 0 22 22 0 0 0 14 2 0 74
4:20 PM 0 0 0 0 3 0 20 0 14 24 0 0 0 13 0 0 74
4:25 PM 0 0 0 0 1 0 13 0 23 21 0 0 0 18 4 0 80 954
4:30 PM 0 0 0 0 1 0 31 0 14 25 0 0 0 22 1 0 94 959
4:35 PM 0 0 0 0 1 0 15 0 17 34 0 0 0 31 3 0 101 995
4:40 PM 0 0 0 0 1 0 28 0 19 20 0 0 0 23 2 0 93 1003
4:45 PM 0 0 0 0 1 0 21 0 13 22 0 0 0 14 1 0 72 984
4:50 PM 0 0 0 0 5 0 19 0 17 18 0 0 0 13 1 0 73 989
4:55 PM 0 0 0 0 4 0 16 0 10 25 0 0 0 14 2 0 71 966
5:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 25 0 21 19 0 0 0 10 1 0 76 952
5:05 PM 0 0 0 0 2 0 29 0 24 33 0 0 0 10 3 0 101 977
5:10 PM 0 0 0 0 3 0 21 0 23 31 0 0 0 14 1 0 93 1002
5:15 PM 0 0 0 0 4 0 23 0 22 29 0 0 0 10 2 0 90 1018
5:20 PM 0 0 0 0 2 0 29 0 24 31 0 0 0 23 0 0 109 1053
5:25 PM 0 0 0 0 1 0 33 0 18 20 0 0 0 10 2 0 84 1057
5:30 PM 0 0 0 0 1 0 23 0 24 26 0 0 0 14 0 0 88 1051
5:35 PM 0 0 0 0 5 0 24 0 18 26 0 0 0 18 0 0 91 1041
5:40 PM 0 0 0 0 2 0 17 0 17 13 0 0 0 8 0 0 57 1005
5:45 PM 0 0 0 0 2 0 23 0 18 15 0 0 0 11 1 0 70 1003
5:50 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 18 0 14 15 0 0 0 12 0 0 59 989
5:55 PM 0 0 0 0 2 0 17 0 10 15 0 0 0 14 3 0 61 979
6:00 PM 0 0 0 0 1 0 22 0 11 18 0 0 0 15 1 0 68 971
6:05 PM 0 0 0 0 3 0 18 0 14 18 0 0 0 11 4 0 68 938
6:10 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 20 0 14 21 0 0 0 12 2 0 69 914
6:15 PM 0 0 0 0 2 0 17 0 18 10 0 0 0 14 1 0 62 886
6:20 PM 0 0 0 0 2 0 15 0 13 18 0 0 0 9 1 0 58 835
6:25 PM 0 0 0 0 2 0 18 0 7 17 0 0 0 10 0 0 54 805

Page 1 of 2

Attachment 2

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 169 of 342



5-Min Count5-Min Count
Period Period 

Beginning AtBeginning At

Brewery Overpass RdBrewery Overpass Rd
(Northbound)(Northbound)

Brewery Overpass RdBrewery Overpass Rd
(Southbound)(Southbound)

Mosier-the Dalles HwyMosier-the Dalles Hwy
(Eastbound)(Eastbound)

Mosier-the Dalles HwyMosier-the Dalles Hwy
(Westbound)(Westbound) TotalTotal HourlyHourly

TotalsTotals
LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU

Peak 15-MinPeak 15-Min
FlowratesFlowrates

NorthboundNorthbound SouthboundSouthbound EastboundEastbound WestboundWestbound
TotalTotalLeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU

All Vehicles 0 0 0 0 36 0 292 0 276 364 0 0 0 188 12 0 1168
Heavy Trucks 0 0 0 12 0 0 0 4 0 0 4 4 24

Buses
Pedestrians 0 0 0 0 0

Bicycles 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Scooters

Comments:

Report generated on 8/9/2023 12:21 PM SOURCE: Quality Counts, LLC (http://www.qualitycounts.net) 1-877-580-2212

Page 2 of 2

Attachment 2

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 170 of 342



Basalt Commons, The Dalles, OR Traffic Impact Study 

September 2023 
Version 1 

Appendix D: Volume Development Worksheets 

Attachment 2

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 171 of 342



Volume Development - PM (2025)
E 2nd Street & Laughlin Street

1 NB SB EB WB
U Left Thru Right HV Ped App Total U Left Thru Right HV Ped App Total U Left Thru Right HV Ped App Total U Left Thru Right HV Ped App Total Int Total

Existing (2023) 0 62 0 0 2 10 62 0 0 13 5 0 0 18 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 25 552 0 12 4 577 657
In-Process #1 0 0 0 27 27 27
Future (2025) 0 63 0 0 2 10 63 0 0 13 5 0 0 18 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 26 590 0 12 4 616 697
Pass-By Trips 0 0 0 0 0

New Trips 11 11 0 0 0 11
0 74 0 0 2 10 74 0 0 13 5 0 0 18 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 26 590 0 12 4 616 708

Balance Check
0 39 0 669

to North to South to East to West
E 3rd Street & Laughlin Street

2 NB SB EB WB
U Left Thru Right HV Ped App Total U Left Thru Right HV Ped App Total U Left Thru Right HV Ped App Total U Left Thru Right HV Ped App Total Int Total

Existing (2023) 0 0 18 12 2 0 30 0 21 25 0 1 3 46 0 40 533 22 11 5 595 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 671
In-Process #1 0 0 21 21 0 21
Future (2025) 0 0 18 12 2 0 30 0 21 26 0 1 3 47 0 41 565 22 11 5 628 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 705
Pass-By Trips 0 0 0 0 0

New Trips 4 4 14 3 17 17 17 0 38
0 0 18 16 2 0 34 0 35 29 0 1 3 64 0 41 582 22 11 5 645 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 743

Balance Check
59 51 633 0

to North to South to East to West
E 2nd Street & Jefferson Street

3 NB SB EB WB
U Left Thru Right HV Ped App Total U Left Thru Right HV Ped App Total U Left Thru Right HV Ped App Total U Left Thru Right HV Ped App Total Int Total

Existing (2023) 0 36 1 0 0 11 37 0 0 14 8 0 9 22 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 59 533 7 8 2 599 658
In-Process #1 0 0 0 27 27 27
Future (2025) 0 37 1 0 0 11 38 0 0 14 8 0 9 22 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 61 571 7 8 2 639 699
Pass-By Trips 0 0 0 0 0

New Trips 0 0 0 17 17 17
0 37 1 0 0 11 38 0 0 14 8 0 9 22 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 78 571 7 8 2 656 716

Balance Check
8 92 0 616

to North to South to East to West
E 3rd Street & Jefferson Street

4 NB SB EB WB
U Left Thru Right HV Ped App Total U Left Thru Right HV Ped App Total U Left Thru Right HV Ped App Total U Left Thru Right HV Ped App Total Int Total

Existing (2023) 0 0 18 93 0 1 111 0 37 42 0 0 1 79 0 17 542 7 9 1 566 0 0 0 0 0 7 0 756
In-Process #1 0 0 21 21 0 21
Future (2025) 0 0 19 95 0 1 114 0 38 43 0 0 1 81 0 17 574 7 9 1 598 0 0 0 0 0 7 0 793
Pass-By Trips 0 0 0 0 0

New Trips 4 4 0 21 11 3 35 0 39
0 0 23 95 0 1 118 0 38 43 0 0 1 81 0 38 585 10 9 1 633 0 0 0 0 0 7 0 832

Balance Check
61 53 718 0

to North to South to East to West
Alley & Laughlin Street

5 NB SB EB WB
U Left Thru Right HV Ped App Total U Left Thru Right HV Ped App Total U Left Thru Right HV Ped App Total U Left Thru Right HV Ped App Total Int Total

Existing (2023) 0 2 56 0 3 0 58 0 0 37 1 1 0 38 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 9 0 6 0 0 15 111
In-Process #1 0 0 0 0 0
Future (2025) 0 2 57 0 3 0 59 0 0 38 1 1 0 39 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 9 0 6 0 0 15 113
Pass-By Trips 0 0 0 0 0

New Trips 0 0 0 17 11 28 28
0 2 57 0 3 0 59 0 0 38 1 1 0 39 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 26 0 17 0 0 43 141

Balance Check
74 64 0 3

to North to South to East to West
Alley & Jefferson Street

6 NB SB EB WB
U Left Thru Right HV Ped App Total U Left Thru Right HV Ped App Total U Left Thru Right HV Ped App Total U Left Thru Right HV Ped App Total Int Total

Existing (2023) 0 1 34 0 0 2 35 0 0 68 5 0 0 73 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 11 0 3 0 3 14 122
In-Process #1 0 0 0 0 0
Future (2025) 0 1 35 0 0 2 36 0 0 70 5 0 0 75 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 11 0 3 0 3 14 125
Pass-By Trips 0 0 0 0 0

New Trips 25 25 17 17 0 0 42
0 26 35 0 0 2 61 0 0 70 22 0 0 92 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 11 0 3 0 3 14 167

Balance Check
38 81 0 48

to North to South to East to West
E 2nd Street & Brewery Overpass Road

7 NB SB EB WB
U Left Thru Right HV Ped App Total U Left Thru Right HV Ped App Total U Left Thru Right HV Ped App Total U Left Thru Right HV Ped App Total Int Total

Existing (2023) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 25 0 290 13 0 315 0 222 307 0 8 0 529 0 0 194 19 13 0 213 1,057
In-Process #1 0 20 20 16 5 21 7 7 48
Future (2025) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 26 0 316 13 0 342 0 242 318 0 8 0 560 0 0 205 19 13 0 224 1,126
Pass-By Trips 0 0 0 0 0

New Trips 0 13 13 8 3 11 4 4 28
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 26 0 329 13 0 355 0 250 321 0 8 0 571 0 0 209 19 13 0 228 1,154

Balance Check
269 0 347 538

to North to South to East to West

Attachment 2

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 172 of 342



Volume Development - PM (2030)
E 2nd Street & Laughlin Street

1 NB SB EB WB
U Left Thru Right HV Ped App Total U Left Thru Right HV Ped App Total U Left Thru Right HV Ped App Total U Left Thru Right HV Ped App Total Int Total

Existing (2023) 0 62 0 0 2 10 62 0 0 13 5 0 0 18 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 25 552 0 12 4 577 657
In-Process #1 0 0 0 27 27 27
Future (2030) 0 66 0 0 2 11 66 0 0 14 5 0 0 19 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 27 618 0 13 4 645 730
Pass-By Trips 0 0 0 0 0

New Trips 11 11 0 0 0 11
0 77 0 0 2 11 77 0 0 14 5 0 0 19 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 27 618 0 13 4 645 741

Balance Check
0 41 0 700

to North to South to East to West
E 3rd Street & Laughlin Street

2 NB SB EB WB
U Left Thru Right HV Ped App Total U Left Thru Right HV Ped App Total U Left Thru Right HV Ped App Total U Left Thru Right HV Ped App Total Int Total

Existing (2023) 0 0 18 12 2 0 30 0 21 25 0 1 3 46 0 40 533 22 11 5 595 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 671
In-Process #1 0 0 21 21 0 21
Future (2030) 0 0 19 13 2 0 32 0 22 28 0 1 3 50 0 43 591 24 12 5 658 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 740
Pass-By Trips 0 0 0 0 0

New Trips 4 4 14 3 17 17 17 0 38
0 0 19 17 2 0 36 0 36 31 0 1 3 67 0 43 608 24 12 5 675 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 778

Balance Check
62 55 661 0

to North to South to East to West
E 2nd Street & Jefferson Street

3 NB SB EB WB
U Left Thru Right HV Ped App Total U Left Thru Right HV Ped App Total U Left Thru Right HV Ped App Total U Left Thru Right HV Ped App Total Int Total

Existing (2023) 0 36 1 0 0 11 37 0 0 14 8 0 9 22 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 59 533 7 8 2 599 658
In-Process #1 0 0 0 27 27 27
Future (2030) 0 39 1 0 0 12 40 0 0 15 9 0 10 24 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 64 597 7 9 2 668 732
Pass-By Trips 0 0 0 0 0

New Trips 0 0 0 17 17 17
0 39 1 0 0 12 40 0 0 15 9 0 10 24 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 81 597 7 9 2 685 749

Balance Check
8 96 0 645

to North to South to East to West
E 3rd Street & Jefferson Street

4 NB SB EB WB
U Left Thru Right HV Ped App Total U Left Thru Right HV Ped App Total U Left Thru Right HV Ped App Total U Left Thru Right HV Ped App Total Int Total

Existing (2023) 0 0 18 93 0 1 111 0 37 42 0 0 1 79 0 17 542 7 9 1 566 0 0 0 0 0 7 0 756
In-Process #1 0 0 21 21 0 21
Future (2030) 0 0 20 100 0 1 120 0 40 46 0 0 1 86 0 18 601 7 10 1 626 0 0 0 0 0 7 0 832
Pass-By Trips 0 0 0 0 0

New Trips 4 4 0 21 11 3 35 0 39
0 0 24 100 0 1 124 0 40 46 0 0 1 86 0 39 612 10 10 1 661 0 0 0 0 0 7 0 871

Balance Check
63 56 752 0

to North to South to East to West
Alley & Laughlin Street

5 NB SB EB WB
U Left Thru Right HV Ped App Total U Left Thru Right HV Ped App Total U Left Thru Right HV Ped App Total U Left Thru Right HV Ped App Total Int Total

Existing (2023) 0 2 56 0 3 0 58 0 0 37 1 1 0 38 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 9 0 6 0 0 15 111
In-Process #1 0 0 0 0 0
Future (2030) 0 2 60 0 3 0 62 0 0 40 1 1 0 41 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 10 0 6 0 0 16 119
Pass-By Trips 0 0 0 0 0

New Trips 0 0 0 17 11 28 28
0 2 60 0 3 0 62 0 0 40 1 1 0 41 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 27 0 17 0 0 44 147

Balance Check
77 67 0 3

to North to South to East to West
Alley & Jefferson Street

6 NB SB EB WB
U Left Thru Right HV Ped App Total U Left Thru Right HV Ped App Total U Left Thru Right HV Ped App Total U Left Thru Right HV Ped App Total Int Total

Existing (2023) 0 1 34 0 0 2 35 0 0 68 5 0 0 73 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 11 0 3 0 3 14 122
In-Process #1 0 0 0 0 0
Future (2030) 0 1 37 0 0 2 38 0 0 74 5 0 0 79 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 12 0 3 0 3 15 132
Pass-By Trips 0 0 0 0 0

New Trips 25 25 17 17 0 0 42
0 26 37 0 0 2 63 0 0 74 22 0 0 96 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 12 0 3 0 3 15 174

Balance Check
40 86 0 48

to North to South to East to West
E 2nd Street & Brewery Overpass Road

7 NB SB EB WB
U Left Thru Right HV Ped App Total U Left Thru Right HV Ped App Total U Left Thru Right HV Ped App Total U Left Thru Right HV Ped App Total Int Total

Existing (2023) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 25 0 290 13 0 315 0 222 307 0 8 0 529 0 0 194 19 13 0 213 1,057
In-Process #1 0 20 20 16 5 21 7 7 48
Future (2030) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 27 0 330 14 0 357 0 254 333 0 9 0 587 0 0 215 20 14 0 235 1,179
Pass-By Trips 0 0 0 0 0

New Trips 0 13 13 8 3 11 4 4 28
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 27 0 343 14 0 370 0 262 336 0 9 0 598 0 0 219 20 14 0 239 1,207

Balance Check
282 0 363 562

to North to South to East to West

Attachment 2

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 173 of 342



Basalt Commons, The Dalles, OR Traffic Impact Study 

September 2023 
Version 1 

Appendix E: Volume to Capacity Worksheets 

Attachment 2

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 174 of 342



PM

Critical #1 Critical #2

E. 2nd Street & Laughlin Street MovementFlow Sat MovementFlow Sat Ratio Sum Lost Time Cycle v/c

2023 Existing WBLTR 749 3250 NBLT 81 1260 0.2947 8 60 0.3401

2025 Background WBLTR 800 3250 NBLT 82 1260 0.3112 8 60 0.3591

2025 Background + Build WBLTR 800 3250 NBLT 96 1260 0.3223 8 60 0.3719

2030 Background WBLTR 838 3250 NBLT 86 1259 0.3262 8 60 0.3763

2030 Background + Build WBLTR 838 3250 NBLT 100 1259 0.3373 8 60 0.3892

PM

Critical #1 Critical #2

E. 3rd Street & Laughlin Street MovementFlow Sat MovementFlow Sat Ratio Sum Lost Time Cycle v/c

2023 Existing EBLTR 650 3230 SBTL 50 1556 0.2334 8 60 0.2693

2025 Background EBLTR 686 3231 SBTL 52 1562 0.2456 8 60 0.2834

2025 Background + Build EBLTR 705 3232 SBTL 70 1498 0.2649 8 60 0.3056

2030 Background EBLTR 718 3231 SBTL 55 1560 0.2575 8 60 0.2971

2030 Background + Build EBLTR 737 3231 SBTL 74 1494 0.2776 8 60 0.3203

Attachment 2

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 175 of 342



Basalt Commons, The Dalles, OR Traffic Impact Study 

 
 

 
  September 2023 
  Version 1 
 

 

Appendix F: Crash Data 
  

Attachment 2

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 176 of 342



S D M

SER# P R J S W DATE CLASS CITY STREET INT-TYPE SPCL USE

INVEST E A U I C O DAY DIST FIRST STREET RD CHAR (MEDIAN) INT-REL OFFRD WTHR CRASH TRLR QTY MOVE A S

RD DPT E L G N H R TIME FROM SECOND STREET DIRECT LEGS TRAF- RNDBT SURF COLL OWNER FROM PRTC INJ G E LICNS PED

UNLOC? D C S V L K LAT LONG LRS LOCTN (#LANES) CONTL DRVWY LIGHT SVRTY V# TYPE TO P# TYPE SVRTY E X RES LOC ERROR ACT EVENT CAUSE

00357 N N N N 12/06/2018 14 LAUGHLIN ST INTER   CROSS  N N CLR O-1 L-TURN 01 NONE 9 STRGHT 02

NO RPT TH 0 2ND ST CN TRF SIGNAL N DRY TURN    N/A  NE-SW 000 00

N 5P 01 0 N DLIT PDO PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 00 Unk UNK  000 000 00

N 45 36 .59 -121 10
46.25

UNK  

02 NONE  9 TURN-L

N/A  SW-NW 000 00

PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 00 Unk UNK  000 000 00

UNK  

Disclaimer: The information contained in this report is compiled from individual driver and police crash reports submitted to the Oregon Department of Transportation as required in ORS 811.720. The Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit is committed to providing the highest quality crash data to customers. However, because submittal of crash report forms is 
the responsibility of the individual driver, the Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit can not guarantee that all qualifying crashes are represented nor can assurances be made that all details pertaining to a single crash are accurate. Note: Legislative changes to DMV's vehicle crash reporting requirement, effective 01/01/2004, may result in fewer property 
damage only crashes being eligible for inclusion in the Statewide Crash Data File.

OREGON.. DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION - TRANSPORTATION DEVELOPMENT DIVISION

TRANSPORTATION DATA SECTION - CRASH ANAYLYSIS AND REPORTING UNIT

URBAN NON-SYSTEM CRASH LISTING

2ND ST at LAUGHLIN ST, City of The Dalles, Wasco County, 01/01/2017 to 12/31/2021

09/04/2023

CDS380 Page: 1

CITY OF THE DALLES, WASCO COUNTY

1 - 1 of   1 Crash records shown.

Attachment 2

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 177 of 342

William Reynolds
Highlight

William Reynolds
Highlight

William Reynolds
Highlight



S D M

SER# P R J S W DATE CLASS CITY STREET INT-TYPE SPCL USE

INVEST E A U I C O DAY DIST FIRST STREET RD CHAR (MEDIAN) INT-REL OFFRD WTHR CRASH TRLR QTY MOVE A S

RD DPT E L G N H R TIME FROM SECOND STREET DIRECT LEGS TRAF- RNDBT SURF COLL OWNER FROM PRTC INJ G E LICNS PED

UNLOC? D C S V L K LAT LONG LRS LOCTN (#LANES) CONTL DRVWY LIGHT SVRTY V# TYPE TO P# TYPE SVRTY E X RES LOC ERROR ACT EVENT CAUSE

00175 Y N N N N N 06/16/2021 14 LAUGHLIN ST           
      

INTER   CROSS  N N CLR ANGL-OTH  01 NONE  0 STRGHT 04,30

CITY  WE 0 3RD ST                
      

CN ONE-WAY   N DRY TURN    PRVTE NW-SE 000 00

N 9A 04 0 N DAY INJ PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 37 M OTH-Y 050 000 30

N 45 35 58.28 -121 10 
48.46

N-RES

02 NONE  0 TURN-R

PRVTE SW-SE 000 00

PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR INJC 60 M OR-Y 020 000 04

OR>25

02 NONE  0 TURN-R

PRVTE SW-SE 000 00

PSNGR CAR 02 PSNG INJC 00 F 000 000 00

Disclaimer: The information contained in this report is compiled from individual driver and police crash reports submitted to the Oregon Department of Transportation as required in ORS 811.720. The Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit is committed to providing the highest quality crash data to customers. However, because submittal of crash report forms is 
the responsibility of the individual driver, the Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit can not guarantee that all qualifying crashes are represented nor can assurances be made that all details pertaining to a single crash are accurate. Note: Legislative changes to DMV's vehicle crash reporting requirement, effective 01/01/2004, may result in fewer property 
damage only crashes being eligible for inclusion in the Statewide Crash Data File.

OREGON.. DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION - TRANSPORTATION DEVELOPMENT DIVISION

TRANSPORTATION DATA SECTION - CRASH ANAYLYSIS AND REPORTING UNIT

URBAN NON-SYSTEM CRASH LISTING

3RD ST at LAUGHLIN ST, City of The Dalles, Wasco County, 01/01/2017 to 12/31/2021

09/04/2023

CDS380 Page: 1

CITY OF THE DALLES, WASCO COUNTY

1 - 1 of   1 Crash records shown.

Attachment 2

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 178 of 342

William Reynolds
Highlight

William Reynolds
Highlight

William Reynolds
Highlight



S D M

SER# P R J S W DATE CLASS CITY STREET INT-TYPE SPCL USE

INVEST E A U I C O DAY DIST FIRST STREET RD CHAR (MEDIAN) INT-REL OFFRD WTHR CRASH TRLR QTY MOVE A S

RD DPT E L G N H R TIME FROM SECOND STREET DIRECT LEGS TRAF- RNDBT SURF COLL OWNER FROM PRTC INJ G E LICNS PED

UNLOC? D C S V L K LAT LONG LRS LOCTN (#LANES) CONTL DRVWY LIGHT SVRTY V# TYPE TO P# TYPE SVRTY E X RES LOC ERROR ACT EVENT CAUSE

00291 N N N N 07/21/2017 14 JEFFERSON ST INTER   CROSS  N N CLR O-1 L-TURN 01 NONE 9 TURN-L 02

NO RPT FR 0 2ND ST CN STOP SIGN N DRY TURN    N/A  SW-NW 000 00

N 3P 01 0 N DAY PDO PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 00 Unk UNK  000 000 00

N 45 35 58.55 -121 10 
41.9

UNK  

02 NONE  9 STRGHT

N/A  NE-SW 000 00

PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 00 Unk UNK  000 000 00

UNK  

00217 N N N N N N 07/18/2018 14 JEFFERSON ST INTER   CROSS  N N CLR O-1 L-TURN 01 NONE 9 TURN-L 02

CITY  WE 0 2ND ST CN STOP SIGN N DRY TURN    N/A  SW-NW 000 00

N 12P 01 0 N DAY PDO PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 00 Unk UNK  000 000 00

N 45 35 58.55 -121 10 
41.9

UNK  

02 NONE  9 STRGHT

N/A  NE-SW 000 00

PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 00 Unk UNK  000 000 00

UNK  

Disclaimer: The information contained in this report is compiled from individual driver and police crash reports submitted to the Oregon Department of Transportation as required in ORS 811.720. The Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit is committed to providing the highest quality crash data to customers. However, because submittal of crash report forms is 
the responsibility of the individual driver, the Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit can not guarantee that all qualifying crashes are represented nor can assurances be made that all details pertaining to a single crash are accurate. Note: Legislative changes to DMV's vehicle crash reporting requirement, effective 01/01/2004, may result in fewer property 
damage only crashes being eligible for inclusion in the Statewide Crash Data File.

OREGON.. DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION - TRANSPORTATION DEVELOPMENT DIVISION

TRANSPORTATION DATA SECTION - CRASH ANAYLYSIS AND REPORTING UNIT

URBAN NON-SYSTEM CRASH LISTING

2ND ST at JEFFERSON ST, City of The Dalles, Wasco County, 01/01/2017 to 12/31/2021

09/04/2023

CDS380 Page: 1

CITY OF THE DALLES, WASCO COUNTY

1 - 2 of   2 Crash records shown.

Attachment 2

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 179 of 342

William Reynolds
Highlight

William Reynolds
Highlight

William Reynolds
Highlight

William Reynolds
Highlight

William Reynolds
Highlight

William Reynolds
Highlight



S D M

SER# P R J S W DATE CLASS CITY STREET INT-TYPE SPCL USE

INVEST E A U I C O DAY DIST FIRST STREET RD CHAR (MEDIAN) INT-REL OFFRD WTHR CRASH TRLR QTY MOVE A S

RD DPT E L G N H R TIME FROM SECOND STREET DIRECT LEGS TRAF- RNDBT SURF COLL OWNER FROM PRTC INJ G E LICNS PED

UNLOC? D C S V L K LAT LONG LRS LOCTN (#LANES) CONTL DRVWY LIGHT SVRTY V# TYPE TO P# TYPE SVRTY E X RES LOC ERROR ACT EVENT CAUSE

00026 N N N N 01/09/2017 14 JEFFERSON ST INTER   CROSS  N N UNK S-1TURN 01 NONE  9 STRGHT 08

NONE  MO 0 3RD ST CN STOP SIGN N SNO TURN    N/A  NW-SE 000 00

N 11A 02 0 N DAY PDO PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 00 Unk UNK  000 000 00

N 45 35 56.24 -121 10 
44.12

UNK  

02 NONE  9 TURN-L

N/A  NW-NE 000 00

PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 00 Unk UNK  000 000 00

UNK  

Disclaimer: The information contained in this report is compiled from individual driver and police crash reports submitted to the Oregon Department of Transportation as required in ORS 811.720. The Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit is committed to providing the highest quality crash data to customers. However, because submittal of crash report forms is 
the responsibility of the individual driver, the Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit can not guarantee that all qualifying crashes are represented nor can assurances be made that all details pertaining to a single crash are accurate. Note: Legislative changes to DMV's vehicle crash reporting requirement, effective 01/01/2004, may result in fewer property 
damage only crashes being eligible for inclusion in the Statewide Crash Data File.

OREGON.. DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION - TRANSPORTATION DEVELOPMENT DIVISION

TRANSPORTATION DATA SECTION - CRASH ANAYLYSIS AND REPORTING UNIT

URBAN NON-SYSTEM CRASH LISTING

3RD ST at JEFFERSON ST, City of The Dalles, Wasco County, 01/01/2017 to 12/31/2021

09/04/2023

CDS380 Page: 1

CITY OF THE DALLES, WASCO COUNTY

1 - 1 of   1 Crash records shown.

Attachment 2

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 180 of 342

William Reynolds
Highlight

William Reynolds
Highlight

William Reynolds
Highlight



S D M

SER# P R J S W DATE COUNTY RD# FC CONN# RD CHAR INT-TYPE SPCL USE

INVEST E A U I C O DAY CITY COMPNT FIRST STREET DIRECT (MEDIAN) INT-REL OFFRD WTHR CRASH TRLR QTY MOVE A S

RD DPT E L G N H R TIME URBAN AREA MLG TYP SECOND STREET LOCTN LEGS TRAF- RNDBT SURF COLL OWNER FROM PRTC INJ G E LICNS PED

UNLOC? D C S V L K LAT LONG MILEPNT LRS (#LANES) CONTL DRVWY LIGHT SVRTY V# TYPE TO P# TYPE SVRTY E X RES LOC ERROR ACT EVENT CAUSE

00166 N N N N 08/07/2020 WASCO 1 14 2 INTER   3-LEG  N N CLR S-1STOP   01 NONE  0 STRGHT 29

NONE  FR THE DALLES CN 0 LEWIS ST              
      

N YIELD     N DRY REAR    PRVTE N -S 000 00

N 5P THE DLLS UA    85.71 2ND ST                
      

06 0 N DAY INJ PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 22 M OR-Y 026 000 29

N 45 35 48.46 -121 10 10.52 0002ET100S00 OR>25

02 NONE  0 STOP  

PRVTE N -S 011 00

PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR INJC 59 M OTH-Y 000 000 00

N-RES

00137 N N N N 07/08/2020 WASCO 1 14 2 INTER   3-LEG  N N CLR S-1STOP   01 NONE  9 STRGHT 29,07

NO RPT WE THE DALLES CN 0 LEWIS ST              
      

NW YIELD     N DRY REAR    N/A  N -S 000 00

N 2P THE DLLS UA    85.71 2ND ST                
      

09 1 N DAY PDO PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 00 Unk UNK  000 000 00

N 45 35 48.44 -121 10 10.52 0002ET100S00 UNK  

02 NONE  9 STOP  

N/A  N -S 011 00

PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 00 Unk UNK  000 000 00

UNK  

00181 N N N N 06/23/2021 WASCO 1 14 2 INTER   3-LEG  N N CLR ANGL-OTH  01 NONE  0 STRGHT 02

NONE  WE THE DALLES CN 0 LEWIS ST              
      

CN STOP SIGN N DRY TURN    PRVTE E -W 000 00

N 5P THE DLLS UA    85.71 2ND ST                
      

01 0 N DAY INJ PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR INJB 40 F OR-Y 000 000 00

N 45 35 48.44 -121 10 10.53 0002ET100S00 OR<25

01 NONE  0 STRGHT

PRVTE E -W 000 00

PSNGR CAR 02 PSNG INJB 15 F 000 000 00

01 NONE  0 STRGHT

PRVTE E -W 000 00

PSNGR CAR 03 PSNG INJB 15 F 000 000 00

02 NONE  0 TURN-L

PRVTE N -E 000 00

PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 47 M OR-Y 028 000 02

OR<25

00131 N N N N 05/28/2018 WASCO 1 14 2 INTER   3-LEG  N N CLR O-1 L-TURN 01 NONE  0 TURN-L 02

NO RPT MO THE DALLES CN 0 LEWIS ST              
      

CN STOP SIGN N DRY TURN    UNKN W -N 000 00

N 6P THE DLLS UA    85.71 2ND ST                
      

02 1 N DAY INJ PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 00 M UNK  028,004 000 02

N 45 35 48.44 -121 10 10.52 0002ET100S00 N-RES

02 NONE  0 STRGHT

PRVTE E -W 000 00

PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR INJC 21 F OR-Y 000 000 00

OR>25

Disclaimer: The information contained in this report is compiled from individual driver and police crash reports submitted to the Oregon Department of Transportation as required in ORS 811.720. The Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit is committed to providing the highest quality crash data to customers. However, because submittal of crash report forms is 
the responsibility of the individual driver, the Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit can not guarantee that all qualifying crashes are represented nor can assurances be made that all details pertaining to a single crash are accurate. Note: Legislative changes to DMV's vehicle crash reporting requirement, effective 01/01/2004, may result in fewer property 
damage only crashes being eligible for inclusion in the Statewide Crash Data File.

OREGON DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION - TRANSPORTATION DEVELOPMENT DIVISION

TRANSPORTATION DATA SECTION - CRASH ANAYLYSIS AND REPORTING UNIT

CONTINUOUS SYSTEM CRASH LISTING

Highway 002 CONNECTIONS, MP 85.70 to 85.71 01/01/2017 to 12/31/2021, Both Add and Non-Add mileage

09/04/2023

CDS380 Page: 1

002: COLUMBIA RIVER

1 - 4 of   6 Crash records shown.

Attachment 2

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 181 of 342

William Reynolds
Highlight

William Reynolds
Highlight

William Reynolds
Highlight

William Reynolds
Highlight

William Reynolds
Highlight

William Reynolds
Highlight

William Reynolds
Highlight

William Reynolds
Highlight

William Reynolds
Highlight

William Reynolds
Highlight

William Reynolds
Highlight

William Reynolds
Highlight



S D M

SER# P R J S W DATE COUNTY RD# FC CONN# RD CHAR INT-TYPE SPCL USE

INVEST E A U I C O DAY CITY COMPNT FIRST STREET DIRECT (MEDIAN) INT-REL OFFRD WTHR CRASH TRLR QTY MOVE A S

RD DPT E L G N H R TIME URBAN AREA MLG TYP SECOND STREET LOCTN LEGS TRAF- RNDBT SURF COLL OWNER FROM PRTC INJ G E LICNS PED

UNLOC? D C S V L K LAT LONG MILEPNT LRS (#LANES) CONTL DRVWY LIGHT SVRTY V# TYPE TO P# TYPE SVRTY E X RES LOC ERROR ACT EVENT CAUSE

00224 N N N N N N 07/11/2019 WASCO 1 14 2 INTER   3-LEG  N N CLR ANGL-OTH  01 NONE  STRGHT 02

CITY  TH THE DALLES CN 0 BREWERY GRADE         
      

CN STOP SIGN N DRY ANGL    PRVTE E -W 000 00

N 2P THE DLLS UA    85.71 2ND ST                
      

04 2 N DAY INJ PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR INJC 35 F OR-Y 000 000 00

N 45 35 48.45 -121 10 10.52 0002ET100S00 OR<25

02 NONE  TURN-L

PRVTE N -E 000 00

PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 39 F OTH-Y 004,082,028 000 02

OR>25

00229 N Y N N N N 08/14/2018 WASCO 1 14 2 INTER   3-LEG  N N CLR S-OTHER   01 NONE  0 TURN-R 07

STATE TU THE DALLES CN 0 LEWIS ST              
      

CN YIELD     N DRY TURN    PRVTE N -W 000 00

N 1P THE DLLS UA    85.71 2ND ST                
      

09 1 N DAY INJ PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR INJB 37 M NONE 043 000 07

N 45 35 48.44 -121 10 10.52 0002ET100S00 OR<25

02 NONE  0 TURN-R

PRVTE N -W 013 00

PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 67 M OR-Y 000 000 00

OR<25

Disclaimer: The information contained in this report is compiled from individual driver and police crash reports submitted to the Oregon Department of Transportation as required in ORS 811.720. The Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit is committed to providing the highest quality crash data to customers. However, because submittal of crash report forms is 
the responsibility of the individual driver, the Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit can not guarantee that all qualifying crashes are represented nor can assurances be made that all details pertaining to a single crash are accurate. Note: Legislative changes to DMV's vehicle crash reporting requirement, effective 01/01/2004, may result in fewer property 
damage only crashes being eligible for inclusion in the Statewide Crash Data File.

OREGON DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION - TRANSPORTATION DEVELOPMENT DIVISION

TRANSPORTATION DATA SECTION - CRASH ANAYLYSIS AND REPORTING UNIT

CONTINUOUS SYSTEM CRASH LISTING

Highway 002 CONNECTIONS, MP 85.70 to 85.71 01/01/2017 to 12/31/2021, Both Add and Non-Add mileage

09/04/2023

CDS380 Page: 3

002: COLUMBIA RIVER

5 - 6 of   6 Crash records shown.

Attachment 2

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 182 of 342

William Reynolds
Highlight

William Reynolds
Highlight

William Reynolds
Highlight

William Reynolds
Highlight

William Reynolds
Highlight

William Reynolds
Highlight



Basalt Commons, The Dalles, OR Traffic Impact Study 

September 2023 
Version 1 

Appendix G: Traffic Operations Analysis Results 

Attachment 2

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 183 of 342



HCM 6th Signalized Intersection Summary
1: Laughlin St & E 2nd St 09/06/2023

Existing - PM 2023 Synchro 10 Report
RBT Consultants Page 1

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (veh/h) 0 0 0 25 552 0 62 0 0 0 13 5
Future Volume (veh/h) 0 0 0 25 552 0 62 0 0 0 13 5
Initial Q (Qb), veh 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Ped-Bike Adj(A_pbT) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Parking Bus, Adj 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Work Zone On Approach No No No
Adj Sat Flow, veh/h/ln 1723 1723 1723 1709 1709 0 0 1736 1736
Adj Flow Rate, veh/h 32 717 0 81 0 0 0 17 6
Peak Hour Factor 0.77 0.77 0.77 0.77 0.77 0.77 0.77 0.77 0.77
Percent Heavy Veh, % 2 2 2 3 3 0 0 1 1
Cap, veh/h 71 1661 0 589 0 0 0 429 151
Arrive On Green 0.52 0.52 0.00 0.35 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.35 0.35
Sat Flow, veh/h 137 3302 0 1340 0 0 0 1226 433
Grp Volume(v), veh/h 401 348 0 81 0 0 0 0 23
Grp Sat Flow(s),veh/h/ln 1716 1637 0 1340 0 0 0 0 1658
Q Serve(g_s), s 8.8 7.8 0.0 2.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.5
Cycle Q Clear(g_c), s 8.8 7.8 0.0 3.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.5
Prop In Lane 0.08 0.00 1.00 0.00 0.00 0.26
Lane Grp Cap(c), veh/h 887 846 0 589 0 0 0 0 580
V/C Ratio(X) 0.45 0.41 0.00 0.14 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.04
Avail Cap(c_a), veh/h 887 846 0 589 0 0 0 0 580
HCM Platoon Ratio 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Upstream Filter(I) 1.00 1.00 0.00 1.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 1.00
Uniform Delay (d), s/veh 9.1 8.9 0.0 13.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 12.9
Incr Delay (d2), s/veh 1.7 1.5 0.0 0.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1
Initial Q Delay(d3),s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
%ile BackOfQ(50%),veh/ln 3.2 2.7 0.0 0.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.2
Unsig. Movement Delay, s/veh
LnGrp Delay(d),s/veh 10.8 10.4 0.0 14.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 13.0
LnGrp LOS B B A B A A A A B
Approach Vol, veh/h 749 81 23
Approach Delay, s/veh 10.6 14.3 13.0
Approach LOS B B B

Timer - Assigned Phs 4 6 8
Phs Duration (G+Y+Rc), s 25.0 35.0 25.0
Change Period (Y+Rc), s 4.0 4.0 4.0
Max Green Setting (Gmax), s 21.0 31.0 21.0
Max Q Clear Time (g_c+I1), s 2.5 10.8 5.0
Green Ext Time (p_c), s 0.0 0.9 0.1

Intersection Summary
HCM 6th Ctrl Delay 11.0
HCM 6th LOS B

Attachment 2

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 184 of 342



HCM 6th Signalized Intersection Summary
2: Laughlin St & E 3rd St 09/06/2023

Existing - PM 2023 Synchro 10 Report
RBT Consultants Page 2

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (veh/h) 40 533 22 0 0 0 0 18 12 21 25 0
Future Volume (veh/h) 40 533 22 0 0 0 0 18 12 21 25 0
Initial Q (Qb), veh 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Ped-Bike Adj(A_pbT) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Parking Bus, Adj 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Work Zone On Approach No No No
Adj Sat Flow, veh/h/ln 1723 1723 1723 0 1654 1654 1723 1723 0
Adj Flow Rate, veh/h 44 586 24 0 20 13 23 27 0
Peak Hour Factor 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91
Percent Heavy Veh, % 2 2 2 0 7 7 2 2 0
Cap, veh/h 113 1581 68 0 328 213 308 326 0
Arrive On Green 0.52 0.52 0.52 0.00 0.35 0.35 0.35 0.35 0.00
Sat Flow, veh/h 219 3060 131 0 936 608 631 933 0
Grp Volume(v), veh/h 344 0 310 0 0 33 50 0 0
Grp Sat Flow(s),veh/h/ln1712 0 1699 0 0 1544 1563 0 0
Q Serve(g_s), s 7.3 0.0 6.5 0.0 0.0 0.9 0.0 0.0 0.0
Cycle Q Clear(g_c), s 7.3 0.0 6.5 0.0 0.0 0.9 1.2 0.0 0.0
Prop In Lane 0.13 0.08 0.00 0.39 0.46 0.00
Lane Grp Cap(c), veh/h 884 0 878 0 0 541 635 0 0
V/C Ratio(X) 0.39 0.00 0.35 0.00 0.00 0.06 0.08 0.00 0.00
Avail Cap(c_a), veh/h 884 0 878 0 0 541 635 0 0
HCM Platoon Ratio 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Upstream Filter(I) 1.00 0.00 1.00 0.00 0.00 1.00 1.00 0.00 0.00
Uniform Delay (d), s/veh 8.8 0.0 8.6 0.0 0.0 13.0 13.1 0.0 0.0
Incr Delay (d2), s/veh 1.3 0.0 1.1 0.0 0.0 0.2 0.2 0.0 0.0
Initial Q Delay(d3),s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
%ile BackOfQ(50%),veh/ln2.6 0.0 2.3 0.0 0.0 0.3 0.5 0.0 0.0
Unsig. Movement Delay, s/veh
LnGrp Delay(d),s/veh 10.1 0.0 9.7 0.0 0.0 13.2 13.3 0.0 0.0
LnGrp LOS B A A A A B B A A
Approach Vol, veh/h 654 33 50
Approach Delay, s/veh 9.9 13.2 13.3
Approach LOS A B B

Timer - Assigned Phs 2 4 8
Phs Duration (G+Y+Rc), s 35.0 25.0 25.0
Change Period (Y+Rc), s 4.0 4.0 4.0
Max Green Setting (Gmax), s 31.0 21.0 21.0
Max Q Clear Time (g_c+I1), s 9.3 3.2 2.9
Green Ext Time (p_c), s 0.8 0.0 0.0

Intersection Summary
HCM 6th Ctrl Delay 10.3
HCM 6th LOS B

Attachment 2

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 185 of 342



HCM 6th TWSC
3: Jefferson St & E 2nd St 09/06/2023

Existing - PM 2023 Synchro 10 Report
RBT Consultants Page 3

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 2.3

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 0 0 0 59 533 7 36 1 0 0 14 8
Future Vol, veh/h 0 0 0 59 533 7 36 1 0 0 14 8
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 9 0 11 11 0 9 0 0 2 2 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Free Free Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length - - - - - - - - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 2 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 77 77 77 77 77 77 77 77 77 77 77 77
Heavy Vehicles, % 0 0 0 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
Mvmt Flow 0 0 0 77 692 9 47 1 0 0 18 10
 

Major/Minor Major2 Minor1 Minor2
Conflicting Flow All 11 0 0 520 875 - - 871 360
          Stage 1 - - - 11 11 - - 860 -
          Stage 2 - - - 509 864 - - 11 -
Critical Hdwy 4.12 - - 7.52 6.52 - - 6.52 6.92
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - - - - 5.52 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - 6.52 5.52 - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 2.21 - - 3.51 4.01 - - 4.01 3.31
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 1614 - - 441 288 0 0 290 639
          Stage 1 - - - - - 0 0 373 -
          Stage 2 - - - 518 372 0 0 - -
Platoon blocked, % - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 1597 - - 382 260 - - 262 634
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - 382 260 - - 262 -
          Stage 1 - - - - - - - 341 -
          Stage 2 - - - 444 340 - - - -
 

Approach WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 0.9 15.9 16.8
HCM LOS C C
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBLn1 WBL WBT WBR SBLn1
Capacity (veh/h) 377 1597 - - 333
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.127 0.048 - - 0.086
HCM Control Delay (s) 15.9 7.4 0.2 - 16.8
HCM Lane LOS C A A - C
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.4 0.2 - - 0.3

Attachment 2

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 186 of 342



HCM 6th TWSC
4: Jefferson St & E 3rd St 09/06/2023

Existing - PM 2023 Synchro 10 Report
RBT Consultants Page 4

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 3.7

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 17 542 7 0 0 0 0 18 93 37 42 0
Future Vol, veh/h 17 542 7 0 0 0 0 18 93 37 42 0
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 1 0 1 1 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 1
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Free Free Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length - - - - - - - - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 16979 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 91 91 91 91 91 91 91 91 91 91 91 91
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 0 0 0 1 1 1 1 1 1
Mvmt Flow 19 596 8 0 0 0 0 20 102 41 46 0
 

Major/Minor Major1 Minor1 Minor2
Conflicting Flow All 1 0 0 - 640 303 347 644 -
          Stage 1 - - - - 639 - 1 1 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 1 - 346 643 -
Critical Hdwy 4.14 - - - 6.52 6.92 7.52 6.52 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - 5.52 - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - - - 6.52 5.52 -
Follow-up Hdwy 2.22 - - - 4.01 3.31 3.51 4.01 -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 1620 - - 0 394 696 586 392 0
          Stage 1 - - - 0 471 - - - 0
          Stage 2 - - - 0 - - 646 469 0
Platoon blocked, % - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 1618 - - - 386 695 473 384 -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - 386 - 473 384 -
          Stage 1 - - - - 462 - - - -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 518 460 -
 

Approach EB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 0.3 12.3 15.8
HCM LOS B C
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBLn1 EBL EBT EBR SBLn1
Capacity (veh/h) 615 1618 - - 421
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.198 0.012 - - 0.206
HCM Control Delay (s) 12.3 7.3 0.1 - 15.8
HCM Lane LOS B A A - C
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.7 0 - - 0.8

Attachment 2

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 187 of 342



HCM 6th TWSC
5: Laughlin St & Alley 09/06/2023

Existing - PM 2023 Synchro 10 Report
RBT Consultants Page 5

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 1.4

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 0 0 0 9 0 6 2 56 0 0 37 1
Future Vol, veh/h 0 0 0 9 0 6 2 56 0 0 37 1
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 1
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Free Free Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length - - - - - - - - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 2 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 89 89 89 89 89 89 89 89 89 89 89 89
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 1 1 1 5 5 5 3 3 3
Mvmt Flow 0 0 0 10 0 7 2 63 0 0 42 1

Major/Minor Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 110 111 63 44 0 - - - 0
          Stage 1 67 67 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 43 44 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.41 6.51 6.21 4.15 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.41 5.51 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.41 5.51 - - - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.509 4.009 3.309 2.245 - - - - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 889 781 1004 1545 - 0 0 - -
          Stage 1 958 841 - - - 0 0 - -
          Stage 2 982 860 - - - 0 0 - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 888 0 1004 1545 - - - - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 888 0 - - - - - - -
          Stage 1 957 0 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 982 0 - - - - - - -

Approach WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 8.9 0.3 0
HCM LOS A

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBTWBLn1 SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 1545 - 931 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.001 - 0.018 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 7.3 0 8.9 - -
HCM Lane LOS A A A - -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0 - 0.1 - -

Attachment 2

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 188 of 342



HCM 6th TWSC
6: Jefferson St & Alley 09/06/2023

Existing - PM 2023 Synchro 10 Report
RBT Consultants Page 6

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 1.1

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 0 0 0 11 0 3 1 34 0 0 68 5
Future Vol, veh/h 0 0 0 11 0 3 1 34 0 0 68 5
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 2 2 0 0 0 0 3 3 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Free Free Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length - - - - - - - - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 2 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 88 88 88 88 88 88 88 88 88 88 88 88
Heavy Vehicles, % 0 0 0 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
Mvmt Flow 0 0 0 13 0 3 1 39 0 0 77 6
 

Major/Minor Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 123 124 39 83 0 - - - 0
          Stage 1 41 41 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 82 83 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.41 6.51 6.21 4.11 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.41 5.51 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.41 5.51 - - - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.509 4.009 3.309 2.209 - - - - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 875 768 1035 1520 - 0 0 - -
          Stage 1 984 863 - - - 0 0 - -
          Stage 2 944 828 - - - 0 0 - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 872 0 1035 1520 - - - - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 872 0 - - - - - - -
          Stage 1 983 0 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 942 0 - - - - - - -
 

Approach WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 9.1 0.2 0
HCM LOS A
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBTWBLn1 SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 1520 - 902 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.001 - 0.018 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 7.4 0 9.1 - -
HCM Lane LOS A A A - -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0 - 0.1 - -

Attachment 2

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 189 of 342



HCM 6th TWSC
7: E 2nd Street & Brewery Overpass Rd 09/06/2023

Existing - PM 2023 Synchro 10 Report
RBT Consultants Page 7

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 5.7

Movement EBL EBT WBT WBR SBL SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 222 307 194 19 25 290
Future Vol, veh/h 222 307 194 19 25 290
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Stop Stop
RT Channelized - None - None - Yield
Storage Length 100 - - - 0 75
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 0 - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 0 - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 92 92 92 92 92 92
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 6 6 4 4
Mvmt Flow 241 334 211 21 27 315
 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor2
Conflicting Flow All 232 0 - 0 1038 222
          Stage 1 - - - - 222 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 816 -
Critical Hdwy 4.12 - - - 6.44 6.24
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - 5.44 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - 5.44 -
Follow-up Hdwy 2.218 - - - 3.536 3.336
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 1336 - - - 254 813
          Stage 1 - - - - 810 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 431 -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 1336 - - - 208 813
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - 208 -
          Stage 1 - - - - 664 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 431 -
 

Approach EB WB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 3.5 0 13.2
HCM LOS B
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt EBL EBT WBT WBR SBLn1 SBLn2
Capacity (veh/h) 1336 - - - 208 813
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.181 - - - 0.131 0.388
HCM Control Delay (s) 8.3 - - - 24.9 12.2
HCM Lane LOS A - - - C B
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.7 - - - 0.4 1.8

Attachment 2

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 190 of 342



HCM Signalized Intersection Capacity Analysis
1: Laughlin St & E 2nd St 09/06/2023

Existing - PM 2023 Synchro 10 Report
RBT Consultants Page 1

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 0 0 0 25 552 0 62 0 0 0 13 5
Future Volume (vph) 0 0 0 25 552 0 62 0 0 0 13 5
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1750 1750 1750 1750 1750 1750 1750 1750 1750 1750 1750 1750
Total Lost time (s) 4.0 4.0 4.0
Lane Util. Factor 0.95 1.00 1.00
Frpb, ped/bikes 1.00 1.00 1.00
Flpb, ped/bikes 1.00 1.00 1.00
Frt 1.00 1.00 0.96
Flt Protected 1.00 0.95 1.00
Satd. Flow (prot) 3250 1612 1666
Flt Permitted 1.00 0.74 1.00
Satd. Flow (perm) 3250 1260 1666
Peak-hour factor, PHF 0.77 0.77 0.77 0.77 0.77 0.77 0.77 0.77 0.77 0.77 0.77 0.77
Adj. Flow (vph) 0 0 0 32 717 0 81 0 0 0 17 6
RTOR Reduction (vph) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 0
Lane Group Flow (vph) 0 0 0 0 749 0 0 81 0 0 19 0
Confl. Peds. (#/hr) 10 10 1 4 4 1
Heavy Vehicles (%) 0% 0% 0% 2% 2% 2% 3% 3% 3% 1% 1% 1%
Turn Type Perm NA Perm NA NA
Protected Phases 6 8 4
Permitted Phases 6 8
Actuated Green, G (s) 31.0 21.0 21.0
Effective Green, g (s) 31.0 21.0 21.0
Actuated g/C Ratio 0.52 0.35 0.35
Clearance Time (s) 4.0 4.0 4.0
Vehicle Extension (s) 0.2 0.2 0.2
Lane Grp Cap (vph) 1679 441 583
v/s Ratio Prot 0.01
v/s Ratio Perm 0.23 c0.06
v/c Ratio 0.45 0.18 0.03
Uniform Delay, d1 9.1 13.5 12.8
Progression Factor 1.00 1.27 1.00
Incremental Delay, d2 0.9 0.9 0.1
Delay (s) 10.0 18.1 12.9
Level of Service A B B
Approach Delay (s) 0.0 10.0 18.1 12.9
Approach LOS A A B B

Intersection Summary
HCM 2000 Control Delay 10.8 HCM 2000 Level of Service B
HCM 2000 Volume to Capacity ratio 0.34
Actuated Cycle Length (s) 60.0 Sum of lost time (s) 8.0
Intersection Capacity Utilization 40.7% ICU Level of Service A
Analysis Period (min) 15
c    Critical Lane Group

Attachment 2

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 191 of 342



HCM Signalized Intersection Capacity Analysis
2: Laughlin St & E 3rd St 09/06/2023

Existing - PM 2023 Synchro 10 Report
RBT Consultants Page 2

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 40 533 22 0 0 0 0 18 12 21 25 0
Future Volume (vph) 40 533 22 0 0 0 0 18 12 21 25 0
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1750 1750 1750 1750 1750 1750 1750 1750 1750 1750 1750 1750
Total Lost time (s) 4.0 4.0 4.0
Lane Util. Factor 0.95 1.00 1.00
Frpb, ped/bikes 1.00 0.99 1.00
Flpb, ped/bikes 1.00 1.00 1.00
Frt 0.99 0.95 1.00
Flt Protected 1.00 1.00 0.98
Satd. Flow (prot) 3230 1541 1676
Flt Permitted 1.00 1.00 0.91
Satd. Flow (perm) 3230 1541 1556
Peak-hour factor, PHF 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91
Adj. Flow (vph) 44 586 24 0 0 0 0 20 13 23 27 0
RTOR Reduction (vph) 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 8 0 0 0 0
Lane Group Flow (vph) 0 650 0 0 0 0 0 25 0 0 50 0
Confl. Peds. (#/hr) 3 3 5 1 1 5
Heavy Vehicles (%) 2% 2% 2% 0% 0% 0% 7% 7% 7% 2% 2% 2%
Turn Type Perm NA NA Perm NA
Protected Phases 2 8 4
Permitted Phases 2 4
Actuated Green, G (s) 31.0 21.0 21.0
Effective Green, g (s) 31.0 21.0 21.0
Actuated g/C Ratio 0.52 0.35 0.35
Clearance Time (s) 4.0 4.0 4.0
Vehicle Extension (s) 0.2 0.2 0.2
Lane Grp Cap (vph) 1668 539 544
v/s Ratio Prot 0.02
v/s Ratio Perm 0.20 c0.03
v/c Ratio 0.39 0.05 0.09
Uniform Delay, d1 8.8 12.9 13.1
Progression Factor 1.00 1.00 0.90
Incremental Delay, d2 0.7 0.2 0.3
Delay (s) 9.5 13.0 12.1
Level of Service A B B
Approach Delay (s) 9.5 0.0 13.0 12.1
Approach LOS A A B B

Intersection Summary
HCM 2000 Control Delay 9.8 HCM 2000 Level of Service A
HCM 2000 Volume to Capacity ratio 0.27
Actuated Cycle Length (s) 60.0 Sum of lost time (s) 8.0
Intersection Capacity Utilization 43.0% ICU Level of Service A
Analysis Period (min) 15
c    Critical Lane Group

Attachment 2

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 192 of 342



HCM 6th Signalized Intersection Summary
1: Laughlin St & E 2nd St 09/06/2023

Background - PM 2025 Synchro 10 Report
RBT Consultants Page 1

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (veh/h) 0 0 0 26 590 0 63 0 0 0 13 5
Future Volume (veh/h) 0 0 0 26 590 0 63 0 0 0 13 5
Initial Q (Qb), veh 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Ped-Bike Adj(A_pbT) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Parking Bus, Adj 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Work Zone On Approach No No No
Adj Sat Flow, veh/h/ln 1723 1723 1723 1709 1709 0 0 1736 1736
Adj Flow Rate, veh/h 34 766 0 82 0 0 0 17 6
Peak Hour Factor 0.77 0.77 0.77 0.77 0.77 0.77 0.77 0.77 0.77
Percent Heavy Veh, % 2 2 2 3 3 0 0 1 1
Cap, veh/h 70 1662 0 589 0 0 0 429 151
Arrive On Green 0.52 0.52 0.00 0.35 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.35 0.35
Sat Flow, veh/h 136 3302 0 1340 0 0 0 1226 433
Grp Volume(v), veh/h 428 372 0 82 0 0 0 0 23
Grp Sat Flow(s),veh/h/ln 1716 1637 0 1340 0 0 0 0 1658
Q Serve(g_s), s 9.6 8.5 0.0 2.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.5
Cycle Q Clear(g_c), s 9.6 8.5 0.0 3.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.5
Prop In Lane 0.08 0.00 1.00 0.00 0.00 0.26
Lane Grp Cap(c), veh/h 887 846 0 589 0 0 0 0 580
V/C Ratio(X) 0.48 0.44 0.00 0.14 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.04
Avail Cap(c_a), veh/h 887 846 0 589 0 0 0 0 580
HCM Platoon Ratio 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Upstream Filter(I) 1.00 1.00 0.00 1.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 1.00
Uniform Delay (d), s/veh 9.3 9.1 0.0 13.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 12.9
Incr Delay (d2), s/veh 1.9 1.7 0.0 0.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1
Initial Q Delay(d3),s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
%ile BackOfQ(50%),veh/ln 3.5 3.0 0.0 0.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.2
Unsig. Movement Delay, s/veh
LnGrp Delay(d),s/veh 11.2 10.7 0.0 14.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 13.0
LnGrp LOS B B A B A A A A B
Approach Vol, veh/h 800 82 23
Approach Delay, s/veh 11.0 14.4 13.0
Approach LOS B B B

Timer - Assigned Phs 4 6 8
Phs Duration (G+Y+Rc), s 25.0 35.0 25.0
Change Period (Y+Rc), s 4.0 4.0 4.0
Max Green Setting (Gmax), s 21.0 31.0 21.0
Max Q Clear Time (g_c+I1), s 2.5 11.6 5.1
Green Ext Time (p_c), s 0.0 1.0 0.1

Intersection Summary
HCM 6th Ctrl Delay 11.3
HCM 6th LOS B

Attachment 2

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 193 of 342



HCM 6th Signalized Intersection Summary
2: Laughlin St & E 3rd St 09/06/2023

Background - PM 2025 Synchro 10 Report
RBT Consultants Page 2

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (veh/h) 41 565 22 0 0 0 0 18 12 21 26 0
Future Volume (veh/h) 41 565 22 0 0 0 0 18 12 21 26 0
Initial Q (Qb), veh 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Ped-Bike Adj(A_pbT) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Parking Bus, Adj 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Work Zone On Approach No No No
Adj Sat Flow, veh/h/ln 1723 1723 1723 0 1654 1654 1723 1723 0
Adj Flow Rate, veh/h 45 621 24 0 20 13 23 29 0
Peak Hour Factor 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91
Percent Heavy Veh, % 2 2 2 0 7 7 2 2 0
Cap, veh/h 110 1589 64 0 328 213 298 338 0
Arrive On Green 0.52 0.52 0.52 0.00 0.35 0.35 0.35 0.35 0.00
Sat Flow, veh/h 213 3075 125 0 936 608 603 967 0
Grp Volume(v), veh/h 362 0 328 0 0 33 52 0 0
Grp Sat Flow(s),veh/h/ln1712 0 1700 0 0 1544 1570 0 0
Q Serve(g_s), s 7.8 0.0 6.9 0.0 0.0 0.9 0.0 0.0 0.0
Cycle Q Clear(g_c), s 7.8 0.0 6.9 0.0 0.0 0.9 1.2 0.0 0.0
Prop In Lane 0.12 0.07 0.00 0.39 0.44 0.00
Lane Grp Cap(c), veh/h 885 0 878 0 0 541 636 0 0
V/C Ratio(X) 0.41 0.00 0.37 0.00 0.00 0.06 0.08 0.00 0.00
Avail Cap(c_a), veh/h 885 0 878 0 0 541 636 0 0
HCM Platoon Ratio 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Upstream Filter(I) 1.00 0.00 1.00 0.00 0.00 1.00 1.00 0.00 0.00
Uniform Delay (d), s/veh 8.9 0.0 8.7 0.0 0.0 13.0 13.1 0.0 0.0
Incr Delay (d2), s/veh 1.4 0.0 1.2 0.0 0.0 0.2 0.3 0.0 0.0
Initial Q Delay(d3),s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
%ile BackOfQ(50%),veh/ln2.8 0.0 2.5 0.0 0.0 0.3 0.5 0.0 0.0
Unsig. Movement Delay, s/veh
LnGrp Delay(d),s/veh 10.3 0.0 9.9 0.0 0.0 13.2 13.3 0.0 0.0
LnGrp LOS B A A A A B B A A
Approach Vol, veh/h 690 33 52
Approach Delay, s/veh 10.1 13.2 13.3
Approach LOS B B B

Timer - Assigned Phs 2 4 8
Phs Duration (G+Y+Rc), s 35.0 25.0 25.0
Change Period (Y+Rc), s 4.0 4.0 4.0
Max Green Setting (Gmax), s 31.0 21.0 21.0
Max Q Clear Time (g_c+I1), s 9.8 3.2 2.9
Green Ext Time (p_c), s 0.8 0.0 0.0

Intersection Summary
HCM 6th Ctrl Delay 10.5
HCM 6th LOS B

Attachment 2

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 194 of 342



HCM 6th TWSC
3: Jefferson St & E 2nd St 09/06/2023

Background - PM 2025 Synchro 10 Report
RBT Consultants Page 3

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 2.4

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 0 0 0 61 571 7 37 1 0 0 14 8
Future Vol, veh/h 0 0 0 61 571 7 37 1 0 0 14 8
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 9 0 11 11 0 9 0 0 2 2 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Free Free Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length - - - - - - - - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 2 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 77 77 77 77 77 77 77 77 77 77 77 77
Heavy Vehicles, % 0 0 0 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
Mvmt Flow 0 0 0 79 742 9 48 1 0 0 18 10
 

Major/Minor Major2 Minor1 Minor2
Conflicting Flow All 11 0 0 549 929 - - 925 385
          Stage 1 - - - 11 11 - - 914 -
          Stage 2 - - - 538 918 - - 11 -
Critical Hdwy 4.12 - - 7.52 6.52 - - 6.52 6.92
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - - - - 5.52 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - 6.52 5.52 - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 2.21 - - 3.51 4.01 - - 4.01 3.31
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 1614 - - 421 268 0 0 269 616
          Stage 1 - - - - - 0 0 352 -
          Stage 2 - - - 497 351 0 0 - -
Platoon blocked, % - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 1597 - - 361 241 - - 242 611
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - 361 241 - - 242 -
          Stage 1 - - - - - - - 319 -
          Stage 2 - - - 422 318 - - - -
 

Approach WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 1 16.7 17.8
HCM LOS C C
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBLn1 WBL WBT WBR SBLn1
Capacity (veh/h) 356 1597 - - 310
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.139 0.05 - - 0.092
HCM Control Delay (s) 16.7 7.4 0.3 - 17.8
HCM Lane LOS C A A - C
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.5 0.2 - - 0.3

Attachment 2

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 195 of 342



HCM 6th TWSC
4: Jefferson St & E 3rd St 09/06/2023

Background - PM 2025 Synchro 10 Report
RBT Consultants Page 4

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 3.7

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 17 574 7 0 0 0 0 19 95 38 43 0
Future Vol, veh/h 17 574 7 0 0 0 0 19 95 38 43 0
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 1 0 1 1 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 1
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Free Free Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length - - - - - - - - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 16979 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 91 91 91 91 91 91 91 91 91 91 91 91
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 0 0 0 1 1 1 1 1 1
Mvmt Flow 19 631 8 0 0 0 0 21 104 42 47 0
 

Major/Minor Major1 Minor1 Minor2
Conflicting Flow All 1 0 0 - 675 321 365 679 -
          Stage 1 - - - - 674 - 1 1 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 1 - 364 678 -
Critical Hdwy 4.14 - - - 6.52 6.92 7.52 6.52 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - 5.52 - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - - - 6.52 5.52 -
Follow-up Hdwy 2.22 - - - 4.01 3.31 3.51 4.01 -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 1620 - - 0 376 678 569 374 0
          Stage 1 - - - 0 454 - - - 0
          Stage 2 - - - 0 - - 630 452 0
Platoon blocked, % - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 1618 - - - 368 677 453 367 -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - 368 - 453 367 -
          Stage 1 - - - - 445 - - - -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 499 443 -
 

Approach EB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 0.3 12.7 16.4
HCM LOS B C
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBLn1 EBL EBT EBR SBLn1
Capacity (veh/h) 594 1618 - - 403
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.211 0.012 - - 0.221
HCM Control Delay (s) 12.7 7.3 0.1 - 16.4
HCM Lane LOS B A A - C
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.8 0 - - 0.8

Attachment 2

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 196 of 342



HCM 6th TWSC
5: Laughlin St & Alley 09/06/2023

Background - PM 2025 Synchro 10 Report
RBT Consultants Page 5

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 1.3

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 0 0 0 9 0 6 2 57 0 0 38 1
Future Vol, veh/h 0 0 0 9 0 6 2 57 0 0 38 1
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 1
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Free Free Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length - - - - - - - - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 2 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 89 89 89 89 89 89 89 89 89 89 89 89
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 1 1 1 5 5 5 3 3 3
Mvmt Flow 0 0 0 10 0 7 2 64 0 0 43 1
 

Major/Minor Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 112 113 64 45 0 - - - 0
          Stage 1 68 68 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 44 45 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.41 6.51 6.21 4.15 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.41 5.51 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.41 5.51 - - - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.509 4.009 3.309 2.245 - - - - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 887 779 1003 1544 - 0 0 - -
          Stage 1 957 840 - - - 0 0 - -
          Stage 2 981 859 - - - 0 0 - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 886 0 1003 1544 - - - - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 886 0 - - - - - - -
          Stage 1 956 0 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 981 0 - - - - - - -
 

Approach WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 8.9 0.2 0
HCM LOS A
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBTWBLn1 SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 1544 - 929 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.001 - 0.018 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 7.3 0 8.9 - -
HCM Lane LOS A A A - -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0 - 0.1 - -

Attachment 2

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 197 of 342



HCM 6th TWSC
6: Jefferson St & Alley 09/06/2023

Background - PM 2025 Synchro 10 Report
RBT Consultants Page 6

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 1.1

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 0 0 0 11 0 3 1 35 0 0 70 5
Future Vol, veh/h 0 0 0 11 0 3 1 35 0 0 70 5
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 2 2 0 0 0 0 3 3 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Free Free Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length - - - - - - - - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 2 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 88 88 88 88 88 88 88 88 88 88 88 88
Heavy Vehicles, % 0 0 0 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
Mvmt Flow 0 0 0 13 0 3 1 40 0 0 80 6
 

Major/Minor Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 127 128 40 86 0 - - - 0
          Stage 1 42 42 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 85 86 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.41 6.51 6.21 4.11 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.41 5.51 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.41 5.51 - - - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.509 4.009 3.309 2.209 - - - - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 870 764 1034 1517 - 0 0 - -
          Stage 1 983 862 - - - 0 0 - -
          Stage 2 941 826 - - - 0 0 - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 867 0 1034 1517 - - - - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 867 0 - - - - - - -
          Stage 1 982 0 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 939 0 - - - - - - -
 

Approach WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 9.1 0.2 0
HCM LOS A
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBTWBLn1 SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 1517 - 898 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.001 - 0.018 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 7.4 0 9.1 - -
HCM Lane LOS A A A - -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0 - 0.1 - -

Attachment 2

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 198 of 342



HCM 6th TWSC
7: E 2nd Street & Brewery Overpass Rd 09/06/2023

Background - PM 2025 Synchro 10 Report
RBT Consultants Page 7

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 6

Movement EBL EBT WBT WBR SBL SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 242 318 205 19 26 316
Future Vol, veh/h 242 318 205 19 26 316
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Stop Stop
RT Channelized - None - None - Yield
Storage Length 100 - - - 0 75
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 0 - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 0 - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 92 92 92 92 92 92
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 6 6 4 4
Mvmt Flow 263 346 223 21 28 343

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor2
Conflicting Flow All 244 0 - 0 1106 234
          Stage 1 - - - - 234 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 872 -
Critical Hdwy 4.12 - - - 6.44 6.24
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - 5.44 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - 5.44 -
Follow-up Hdwy 2.218 - - - 3.536 3.336
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 1322 - - - 231 800
          Stage 1 - - - - 800 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 406 -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 1322 - - - 185 800
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - 185 -
          Stage 1 - - - - 641 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 406 -

Approach EB WB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 3.6 0 13.9
HCM LOS B

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt EBL EBT WBT WBR SBLn1 SBLn2
Capacity (veh/h) 1322 - - - 185 800
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.199 - - - 0.153 0.429
HCM Control Delay (s) 8.4 - - - 27.9 12.8
HCM Lane LOS A - - - D B
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.7 - - - 0.5 2.2

Attachment 2

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 199 of 342



HCM Signalized Intersection Capacity Analysis
1: Laughlin St & E 2nd St 09/06/2023

Background - PM 2025 Synchro 10 Report
RBT Consultants Page 1

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 0 0 0 26 590 0 63 0 0 0 13 5
Future Volume (vph) 0 0 0 26 590 0 63 0 0 0 13 5
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1750 1750 1750 1750 1750 1750 1750 1750 1750 1750 1750 1750
Total Lost time (s) 4.0 4.0 4.0
Lane Util. Factor 0.95 1.00 1.00
Frpb, ped/bikes 1.00 1.00 1.00
Flpb, ped/bikes 1.00 1.00 1.00
Frt 1.00 1.00 0.96
Flt Protected 1.00 0.95 1.00
Satd. Flow (prot) 3250 1612 1666
Flt Permitted 1.00 0.74 1.00
Satd. Flow (perm) 3250 1260 1666
Peak-hour factor, PHF 0.77 0.77 0.77 0.77 0.77 0.77 0.77 0.77 0.77 0.77 0.77 0.77
Adj. Flow (vph) 0 0 0 34 766 0 82 0 0 0 17 6
RTOR Reduction (vph) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 0
Lane Group Flow (vph) 0 0 0 0 800 0 0 82 0 0 19 0
Confl. Peds. (#/hr) 10 10 1 4 4 1
Heavy Vehicles (%) 0% 0% 0% 2% 2% 2% 3% 3% 3% 1% 1% 1%
Turn Type Perm NA Perm NA NA
Protected Phases 6 8 4
Permitted Phases 6 8
Actuated Green, G (s) 31.0 21.0 21.0
Effective Green, g (s) 31.0 21.0 21.0
Actuated g/C Ratio 0.52 0.35 0.35
Clearance Time (s) 4.0 4.0 4.0
Vehicle Extension (s) 0.2 0.2 0.2
Lane Grp Cap (vph) 1679 441 583
v/s Ratio Prot 0.01
v/s Ratio Perm 0.25 c0.07
v/c Ratio 0.48 0.19 0.03
Uniform Delay, d1 9.3 13.6 12.8
Progression Factor 1.00 1.27 1.00
Incremental Delay, d2 1.0 0.9 0.1
Delay (s) 10.3 18.1 12.9
Level of Service B B B
Approach Delay (s) 0.0 10.3 18.1 12.9
Approach LOS A B B B

Intersection Summary
HCM 2000 Control Delay 11.0 HCM 2000 Level of Service B
HCM 2000 Volume to Capacity ratio 0.36
Actuated Cycle Length (s) 60.0 Sum of lost time (s) 8.0
Intersection Capacity Utilization 41.9% ICU Level of Service A
Analysis Period (min) 15
c    Critical Lane Group

Attachment 2

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 200 of 342



HCM Signalized Intersection Capacity Analysis
2: Laughlin St & E 3rd St 09/06/2023

Background - PM 2025 Synchro 10 Report
RBT Consultants Page 2

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 41 565 22 0 0 0 0 18 12 21 26 0
Future Volume (vph) 41 565 22 0 0 0 0 18 12 21 26 0
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1750 1750 1750 1750 1750 1750 1750 1750 1750 1750 1750 1750
Total Lost time (s) 4.0 4.0 4.0
Lane Util. Factor 0.95 1.00 1.00
Frpb, ped/bikes 1.00 0.99 1.00
Flpb, ped/bikes 1.00 1.00 1.00
Frt 0.99 0.95 1.00
Flt Protected 1.00 1.00 0.98
Satd. Flow (prot) 3231 1541 1678
Flt Permitted 1.00 1.00 0.91
Satd. Flow (perm) 3231 1541 1562
Peak-hour factor, PHF 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91
Adj. Flow (vph) 45 621 24 0 0 0 0 20 13 23 29 0
RTOR Reduction (vph) 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 8 0 0 0 0
Lane Group Flow (vph) 0 686 0 0 0 0 0 25 0 0 52 0
Confl. Peds. (#/hr) 3 3 5 1 1 5
Heavy Vehicles (%) 2% 2% 2% 0% 0% 0% 7% 7% 7% 2% 2% 2%
Turn Type Perm NA NA Perm NA
Protected Phases 2 8 4
Permitted Phases 2 4
Actuated Green, G (s) 31.0 21.0 21.0
Effective Green, g (s) 31.0 21.0 21.0
Actuated g/C Ratio 0.52 0.35 0.35
Clearance Time (s) 4.0 4.0 4.0
Vehicle Extension (s) 0.2 0.2 0.2
Lane Grp Cap (vph) 1669 539 546
v/s Ratio Prot 0.02
v/s Ratio Perm 0.21 c0.03
v/c Ratio 0.41 0.05 0.10
Uniform Delay, d1 8.9 12.9 13.1
Progression Factor 1.00 1.00 0.90
Incremental Delay, d2 0.7 0.2 0.3
Delay (s) 9.6 13.0 12.2
Level of Service A B B
Approach Delay (s) 9.6 0.0 13.0 12.2
Approach LOS A A B B

Intersection Summary
HCM 2000 Control Delay 10.0 HCM 2000 Level of Service A
HCM 2000 Volume to Capacity ratio 0.28
Actuated Cycle Length (s) 60.0 Sum of lost time (s) 8.0
Intersection Capacity Utilization 44.0% ICU Level of Service A
Analysis Period (min) 15
c    Critical Lane Group

Attachment 2

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 201 of 342



HCM 6th Signalized Intersection Summary
1: Laughlin St & E 2nd St 09/06/2023

Background - PM 2030 Synchro 10 Report
RBT Consultants Page 1

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (veh/h) 0 0 0 27 618 0 66 0 0 0 14 5
Future Volume (veh/h) 0 0 0 27 618 0 66 0 0 0 14 5
Initial Q (Qb), veh 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Ped-Bike Adj(A_pbT) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Parking Bus, Adj 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Work Zone On Approach No No No
Adj Sat Flow, veh/h/ln 1723 1723 1723 1709 1709 0 0 1736 1736
Adj Flow Rate, veh/h 35 803 0 86 0 0 0 18 6
Peak Hour Factor 0.77 0.77 0.77 0.77 0.77 0.77 0.77 0.77 0.77
Percent Heavy Veh, % 2 2 2 3 3 0 0 1 1
Cap, veh/h 69 1663 0 588 0 0 0 436 145
Arrive On Green 0.52 0.52 0.00 0.35 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.35 0.35
Sat Flow, veh/h 134 3305 0 1338 0 0 0 1246 415
Grp Volume(v), veh/h 449 389 0 86 0 0 0 0 24
Grp Sat Flow(s),veh/h/ln 1716 1637 0 1338 0 0 0 0 1661
Q Serve(g_s), s 10.3 9.1 0.0 2.6 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.6
Cycle Q Clear(g_c), s 10.3 9.1 0.0 3.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.6
Prop In Lane 0.08 0.00 1.00 0.00 0.00 0.25
Lane Grp Cap(c), veh/h 887 846 0 588 0 0 0 0 581
V/C Ratio(X) 0.51 0.46 0.00 0.15 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.04
Avail Cap(c_a), veh/h 887 846 0 588 0 0 0 0 581
HCM Platoon Ratio 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Upstream Filter(I) 1.00 1.00 0.00 1.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 1.00
Uniform Delay (d), s/veh 9.5 9.2 0.0 13.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 12.9
Incr Delay (d2), s/veh 2.1 1.8 0.0 0.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1
Initial Q Delay(d3),s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
%ile BackOfQ(50%),veh/ln 3.8 3.2 0.0 0.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.2
Unsig. Movement Delay, s/veh
LnGrp Delay(d),s/veh 11.6 11.0 0.0 14.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 13.0
LnGrp LOS B B A B A A A A B
Approach Vol, veh/h 838 86 24
Approach Delay, s/veh 11.3 14.4 13.0
Approach LOS B B B

Timer - Assigned Phs 4 6 8
Phs Duration (G+Y+Rc), s 25.0 35.0 25.0
Change Period (Y+Rc), s 4.0 4.0 4.0
Max Green Setting (Gmax), s 21.0 31.0 21.0
Max Q Clear Time (g_c+I1), s 2.6 12.3 5.2
Green Ext Time (p_c), s 0.0 1.0 0.1

Intersection Summary
HCM 6th Ctrl Delay 11.6
HCM 6th LOS B

Attachment 2

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 202 of 342



HCM 6th Signalized Intersection Summary
2: Laughlin St & E 3rd St 09/06/2023

Background - PM 2030 Synchro 10 Report
RBT Consultants Page 2

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (veh/h) 43 591 24 0 0 0 0 19 13 22 28 0
Future Volume (veh/h) 43 591 24 0 0 0 0 19 13 22 28 0
Initial Q (Qb), veh 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Ped-Bike Adj(A_pbT) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Parking Bus, Adj 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Work Zone On Approach No No No
Adj Sat Flow, veh/h/ln 1723 1723 1723 0 1654 1654 1723 1723 0
Adj Flow Rate, veh/h 47 649 26 0 21 14 24 31 0
Peak Hour Factor 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91
Percent Heavy Veh, % 2 2 2 0 7 7 2 2 0
Cap, veh/h 110 1586 67 0 324 216 294 342 0
Arrive On Green 0.52 0.52 0.52 0.00 0.35 0.35 0.35 0.35 0.00
Sat Flow, veh/h 212 3070 129 0 926 617 593 978 0
Grp Volume(v), veh/h 379 0 343 0 0 35 55 0 0
Grp Sat Flow(s),veh/h/ln1712 0 1699 0 0 1543 1571 0 0
Q Serve(g_s), s 8.3 0.0 7.3 0.0 0.0 0.9 0.0 0.0 0.0
Cycle Q Clear(g_c), s 8.3 0.0 7.3 0.0 0.0 0.9 1.3 0.0 0.0
Prop In Lane 0.12 0.08 0.00 0.40 0.44 0.00
Lane Grp Cap(c), veh/h 885 0 878 0 0 540 636 0 0
V/C Ratio(X) 0.43 0.00 0.39 0.00 0.00 0.06 0.09 0.00 0.00
Avail Cap(c_a), veh/h 885 0 878 0 0 540 636 0 0
HCM Platoon Ratio 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Upstream Filter(I) 1.00 0.00 1.00 0.00 0.00 1.00 1.00 0.00 0.00
Uniform Delay (d), s/veh 9.0 0.0 8.8 0.0 0.0 13.0 13.1 0.0 0.0
Incr Delay (d2), s/veh 1.5 0.0 1.3 0.0 0.0 0.2 0.3 0.0 0.0
Initial Q Delay(d3),s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
%ile BackOfQ(50%),veh/ln3.0 0.0 2.6 0.0 0.0 0.3 0.5 0.0 0.0
Unsig. Movement Delay, s/veh
LnGrp Delay(d),s/veh 10.5 0.0 10.1 0.0 0.0 13.2 13.4 0.0 0.0
LnGrp LOS B A B A A B B A A
Approach Vol, veh/h 722 35 55
Approach Delay, s/veh 10.3 13.2 13.4
Approach LOS B B B

Timer - Assigned Phs 2 4 8
Phs Duration (G+Y+Rc), s 35.0 25.0 25.0
Change Period (Y+Rc), s 4.0 4.0 4.0
Max Green Setting (Gmax), s 31.0 21.0 21.0
Max Q Clear Time (g_c+I1), s 10.3 3.3 2.9
Green Ext Time (p_c), s 0.9 0.0 0.0

Intersection Summary
HCM 6th Ctrl Delay 10.6
HCM 6th LOS B

Attachment 2

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 203 of 342



HCM 6th TWSC
3: Jefferson St & E 2nd St 09/06/2023

Background - PM 2030 Synchro 10 Report
RBT Consultants Page 3

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 2.5

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 0 0 0 64 597 7 39 1 0 0 15 9
Future Vol, veh/h 0 0 0 64 597 7 39 1 0 0 15 9
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 9 0 11 11 0 9 0 0 2 2 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Free Free Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length - - - - - - - - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 2 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 77 77 77 77 77 77 77 77 77 77 77 77
Heavy Vehicles, % 0 0 0 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
Mvmt Flow 0 0 0 83 775 9 51 1 0 0 19 12
 

Major/Minor Major2 Minor1 Minor2
Conflicting Flow All 11 0 0 574 970 - - 966 401
          Stage 1 - - - 11 11 - - 955 -
          Stage 2 - - - 563 959 - - 11 -
Critical Hdwy 4.12 - - 7.52 6.52 - - 6.52 6.92
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - - - - 5.52 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - 6.52 5.52 - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 2.21 - - 3.51 4.01 - - 4.01 3.31
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 1614 - - 404 253 0 0 255 602
          Stage 1 - - - - - 0 0 337 -
          Stage 2 - - - 481 336 0 0 - -
Platoon blocked, % - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 1597 - - 341 225 - - 227 597
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - 341 225 - - 227 -
          Stage 1 - - - - - - - 303 -
          Stage 2 - - - 401 302 - - - -
 

Approach WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 1 17.6 18.6
HCM LOS C C
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBLn1 WBL WBT WBR SBLn1
Capacity (veh/h) 337 1597 - - 296
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.154 0.052 - - 0.105
HCM Control Delay (s) 17.6 7.4 0.3 - 18.6
HCM Lane LOS C A A - C
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.5 0.2 - - 0.3

Attachment 2

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 204 of 342



HCM 6th TWSC
4: Jefferson St & E 3rd St 09/06/2023

Background - PM 2030 Synchro 10 Report
RBT Consultants Page 4

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 3.9

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 18 601 7 0 0 0 0 20 100 40 46 0
Future Vol, veh/h 18 601 7 0 0 0 0 20 100 40 46 0
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 1 0 1 1 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 1
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Free Free Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length - - - - - - - - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 16979 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 91 91 91 91 91 91 91 91 91 91 91 91
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 0 0 0 1 1 1 1 1 1
Mvmt Flow 20 660 8 0 0 0 0 22 110 44 51 0
 

Major/Minor Major1 Minor1 Minor2
Conflicting Flow All 1 0 0 - 706 335 382 710 -
          Stage 1 - - - - 705 - 1 1 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 1 - 381 709 -
Critical Hdwy 4.14 - - - 6.52 6.92 7.52 6.52 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - 5.52 - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - - - 6.52 5.52 -
Follow-up Hdwy 2.22 - - - 4.01 3.31 3.51 4.01 -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 1620 - - 0 361 664 553 359 0
          Stage 1 - - - 0 440 - - - 0
          Stage 2 - - - 0 - - 616 438 0
Platoon blocked, % - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 1618 - - - 353 663 432 351 -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - 353 - 432 351 -
          Stage 1 - - - - 431 - - - -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 478 429 -
 

Approach EB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 0.3 13.1 17.4
HCM LOS B C
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBLn1 EBL EBT EBR SBLn1
Capacity (veh/h) 578 1618 - - 385
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.228 0.012 - - 0.245
HCM Control Delay (s) 13.1 7.3 0.1 - 17.4
HCM Lane LOS B A A - C
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.9 0 - - 1

Attachment 2

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 205 of 342



HCM 6th TWSC
5: Laughlin St & Alley 09/06/2023

Background - PM 2030 Synchro 10 Report
RBT Consultants Page 5

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 1.3

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 0 0 0 10 0 6 2 60 0 0 40 1
Future Vol, veh/h 0 0 0 10 0 6 2 60 0 0 40 1
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 1
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Free Free Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length - - - - - - - - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 2 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 89 89 89 89 89 89 89 89 89 89 89 89
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 1 1 1 5 5 5 3 3 3
Mvmt Flow 0 0 0 11 0 7 2 67 0 0 45 1
 

Major/Minor Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 117 118 67 47 0 - - - 0
          Stage 1 71 71 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 46 47 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.41 6.51 6.21 4.15 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.41 5.51 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.41 5.51 - - - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.509 4.009 3.309 2.245 - - - - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 881 774 999 1541 - 0 0 - -
          Stage 1 954 838 - - - 0 0 - -
          Stage 2 979 858 - - - 0 0 - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 880 0 999 1541 - - - - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 880 0 - - - - - - -
          Stage 1 953 0 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 979 0 - - - - - - -
 

Approach WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 9 0.2 0
HCM LOS A
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBTWBLn1 SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 1541 - 921 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.001 - 0.02 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 7.3 0 9 - -
HCM Lane LOS A A A - -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0 - 0.1 - -

Attachment 2

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 206 of 342



HCM 6th TWSC
6: Jefferson St & Alley 09/06/2023

Background - PM 2030 Synchro 10 Report
RBT Consultants Page 6

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 1.1

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 0 0 0 12 0 3 1 37 0 0 74 5
Future Vol, veh/h 0 0 0 12 0 3 1 37 0 0 74 5
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 2 2 0 0 0 0 3 3 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Free Free Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length - - - - - - - - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 2 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 88 88 88 88 88 88 88 88 88 88 88 88
Heavy Vehicles, % 0 0 0 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
Mvmt Flow 0 0 0 14 0 3 1 42 0 0 84 6
 

Major/Minor Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 133 134 42 90 0 - - - 0
          Stage 1 44 44 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 89 90 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.41 6.51 6.21 4.11 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.41 5.51 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.41 5.51 - - - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.509 4.009 3.309 2.209 - - - - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 863 759 1032 1512 - 0 0 - -
          Stage 1 981 860 - - - 0 0 - -
          Stage 2 937 822 - - - 0 0 - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 860 0 1032 1512 - - - - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 860 0 - - - - - - -
          Stage 1 980 0 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 935 0 - - - - - - -
 

Approach WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 9.1 0.2 0
HCM LOS A
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBTWBLn1 SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 1512 - 890 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.001 - 0.019 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 7.4 0 9.1 - -
HCM Lane LOS A A A - -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0 - 0.1 - -

Attachment 2

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 207 of 342



HCM 6th TWSC
7: E 2nd Street & Brewery Overpass Rd 09/06/2023

Background - PM 2030 Synchro 10 Report
RBT Consultants Page 7

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 6.3

Movement EBL EBT WBT WBR SBL SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 254 333 215 20 27 330
Future Vol, veh/h 254 333 215 20 27 330
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Stop Stop
RT Channelized - None - None - Yield
Storage Length 100 - - - 0 75
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 0 - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 0 - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 92 92 92 92 92 92
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 6 6 4 4
Mvmt Flow 276 362 234 22 29 359
 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor2
Conflicting Flow All 256 0 - 0 1159 245
          Stage 1 - - - - 245 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 914 -
Critical Hdwy 4.12 - - - 6.44 6.24
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - 5.44 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - 5.44 -
Follow-up Hdwy 2.218 - - - 3.536 3.336
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 1309 - - - 214 789
          Stage 1 - - - - 791 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 388 -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 1309 - - - 169 789
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - 169 -
          Stage 1 - - - - 624 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 388 -
 

Approach EB WB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 3.7 0 14.6
HCM LOS B
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt EBL EBT WBT WBR SBLn1 SBLn2
Capacity (veh/h) 1309 - - - 169 789
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.211 - - - 0.174 0.455
HCM Control Delay (s) 8.5 - - - 30.7 13.3
HCM Lane LOS A - - - D B
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.8 - - - 0.6 2.4

Attachment 2

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 208 of 342



HCM Signalized Intersection Capacity Analysis
1: Laughlin St & E 2nd St 09/06/2023

Background - PM 2030 Synchro 10 Report
RBT Consultants Page 1

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 0 0 0 27 618 0 66 0 0 0 14 5
Future Volume (vph) 0 0 0 27 618 0 66 0 0 0 14 5
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1750 1750 1750 1750 1750 1750 1750 1750 1750 1750 1750 1750
Total Lost time (s) 4.0 4.0 4.0
Lane Util. Factor 0.95 1.00 1.00
Frpb, ped/bikes 1.00 1.00 1.00
Flpb, ped/bikes 1.00 1.00 1.00
Frt 1.00 1.00 0.97
Flt Protected 1.00 0.95 1.00
Satd. Flow (prot) 3250 1612 1669
Flt Permitted 1.00 0.74 1.00
Satd. Flow (perm) 3250 1259 1669
Peak-hour factor, PHF 0.77 0.77 0.77 0.77 0.77 0.77 0.77 0.77 0.77 0.77 0.77 0.77
Adj. Flow (vph) 0 0 0 35 803 0 86 0 0 0 18 6
RTOR Reduction (vph) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 0
Lane Group Flow (vph) 0 0 0 0 838 0 0 86 0 0 20 0
Confl. Peds. (#/hr) 10 10 1 4 4 1
Heavy Vehicles (%) 0% 0% 0% 2% 2% 2% 3% 3% 3% 1% 1% 1%
Turn Type Perm NA Perm NA NA
Protected Phases 6 8 4
Permitted Phases 6 8
Actuated Green, G (s) 31.0 21.0 21.0
Effective Green, g (s) 31.0 21.0 21.0
Actuated g/C Ratio 0.52 0.35 0.35
Clearance Time (s) 4.0 4.0 4.0
Vehicle Extension (s) 0.2 0.2 0.2
Lane Grp Cap (vph) 1679 440 584
v/s Ratio Prot 0.01
v/s Ratio Perm 0.26 c0.07
v/c Ratio 0.50 0.20 0.03
Uniform Delay, d1 9.4 13.6 12.8
Progression Factor 1.00 1.26 1.00
Incremental Delay, d2 1.1 1.0 0.1
Delay (s) 10.5 18.1 12.9
Level of Service B B B
Approach Delay (s) 0.0 10.5 18.1 12.9
Approach LOS A B B B

Intersection Summary
HCM 2000 Control Delay 11.3 HCM 2000 Level of Service B
HCM 2000 Volume to Capacity ratio 0.38
Actuated Cycle Length (s) 60.0 Sum of lost time (s) 8.0
Intersection Capacity Utilization 42.7% ICU Level of Service A
Analysis Period (min) 15
c    Critical Lane Group

Attachment 2

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 209 of 342



HCM Signalized Intersection Capacity Analysis
2: Laughlin St & E 3rd St 09/06/2023

Background - PM 2030 Synchro 10 Report
RBT Consultants Page 2

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 43 591 24 0 0 0 0 19 13 22 28 0
Future Volume (vph) 43 591 24 0 0 0 0 19 13 22 28 0
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1750 1750 1750 1750 1750 1750 1750 1750 1750 1750 1750 1750
Total Lost time (s) 4.0 4.0 4.0
Lane Util. Factor 0.95 1.00 1.00
Frpb, ped/bikes 1.00 0.99 1.00
Flpb, ped/bikes 1.00 1.00 1.00
Frt 0.99 0.95 1.00
Flt Protected 1.00 1.00 0.98
Satd. Flow (prot) 3231 1539 1678
Flt Permitted 1.00 1.00 0.91
Satd. Flow (perm) 3231 1539 1560
Peak-hour factor, PHF 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91
Adj. Flow (vph) 47 649 26 0 0 0 0 21 14 24 31 0
RTOR Reduction (vph) 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 9 0 0 0 0
Lane Group Flow (vph) 0 718 0 0 0 0 0 26 0 0 55 0
Confl. Peds. (#/hr) 3 3 5 1 1 5
Heavy Vehicles (%) 2% 2% 2% 0% 0% 0% 7% 7% 7% 2% 2% 2%
Turn Type Perm NA NA Perm NA
Protected Phases 2 8 4
Permitted Phases 2 4
Actuated Green, G (s) 31.0 21.0 21.0
Effective Green, g (s) 31.0 21.0 21.0
Actuated g/C Ratio 0.52 0.35 0.35
Clearance Time (s) 4.0 4.0 4.0
Vehicle Extension (s) 0.2 0.2 0.2
Lane Grp Cap (vph) 1669 538 546
v/s Ratio Prot 0.02
v/s Ratio Perm 0.22 c0.04
v/c Ratio 0.43 0.05 0.10
Uniform Delay, d1 9.0 12.9 13.1
Progression Factor 1.00 1.00 0.89
Incremental Delay, d2 0.8 0.2 0.4
Delay (s) 9.8 13.1 12.0
Level of Service A B B
Approach Delay (s) 9.8 0.0 13.1 12.0
Approach LOS A A B B

Intersection Summary
HCM 2000 Control Delay 10.1 HCM 2000 Level of Service B
HCM 2000 Volume to Capacity ratio 0.30
Actuated Cycle Length (s) 60.0 Sum of lost time (s) 8.0
Intersection Capacity Utilization 44.9% ICU Level of Service A
Analysis Period (min) 15
c    Critical Lane Group

Attachment 2

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 210 of 342



HCM 6th Signalized Intersection Summary
1: Laughlin St & E 2nd St 09/06/2023

Full Build - PM 2025 Synchro 10 Report
RBT Consultants Page 1

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (veh/h) 0 0 0 26 590 0 74 0 0 0 13 5
Future Volume (veh/h) 0 0 0 26 590 0 74 0 0 0 13 5
Initial Q (Qb), veh 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Ped-Bike Adj(A_pbT) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Parking Bus, Adj 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Work Zone On Approach No No No
Adj Sat Flow, veh/h/ln 1723 1723 1723 1709 1709 0 0 1736 1736
Adj Flow Rate, veh/h 34 766 0 96 0 0 0 17 6
Peak Hour Factor 0.77 0.77 0.77 0.77 0.77 0.77 0.77 0.77 0.77
Percent Heavy Veh, % 2 2 2 3 3 0 0 1 1
Cap, veh/h 70 1662 0 552 0 0 0 429 151
Arrive On Green 0.52 0.52 0.00 0.35 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.35 0.35
Sat Flow, veh/h 136 3302 0 1235 0 0 0 1226 433
Grp Volume(v), veh/h 428 372 0 96 0 0 0 0 23
Grp Sat Flow(s),veh/h/ln 1716 1637 0 1235 0 0 0 0 1658
Q Serve(g_s), s 9.6 8.5 0.0 3.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.5
Cycle Q Clear(g_c), s 9.6 8.5 0.0 3.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.5
Prop In Lane 0.08 0.00 1.00 0.00 0.00 0.26
Lane Grp Cap(c), veh/h 887 846 0 552 0 0 0 0 580
V/C Ratio(X) 0.48 0.44 0.00 0.17 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.04
Avail Cap(c_a), veh/h 887 846 0 552 0 0 0 0 580
HCM Platoon Ratio 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Upstream Filter(I) 1.00 1.00 0.00 1.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 1.00
Uniform Delay (d), s/veh 9.3 9.1 0.0 14.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 12.9
Incr Delay (d2), s/veh 1.9 1.7 0.0 0.7 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1
Initial Q Delay(d3),s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
%ile BackOfQ(50%),veh/ln 3.5 3.0 0.0 1.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.2
Unsig. Movement Delay, s/veh
LnGrp Delay(d),s/veh 11.2 10.7 0.0 14.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 13.0
LnGrp LOS B B A B A A A A B
Approach Vol, veh/h 800 96 23
Approach Delay, s/veh 11.0 14.8 13.0
Approach LOS B B B

Timer - Assigned Phs 4 6 8
Phs Duration (G+Y+Rc), s 25.0 35.0 25.0
Change Period (Y+Rc), s 4.0 4.0 4.0
Max Green Setting (Gmax), s 21.0 31.0 21.0
Max Q Clear Time (g_c+I1), s 2.5 11.6 5.8
Green Ext Time (p_c), s 0.0 1.0 0.1

Intersection Summary
HCM 6th Ctrl Delay 11.4
HCM 6th LOS B

Attachment 2

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 211 of 342



HCM 6th Signalized Intersection Summary
2: Laughlin St & E 3rd St 09/06/2023

Full Build - PM 2025 Synchro 10 Report
RBT Consultants Page 2

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (veh/h) 41 582 22 0 0 0 0 18 16 35 29 0
Future Volume (veh/h) 41 582 22 0 0 0 0 18 16 35 29 0
Initial Q (Qb), veh 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Ped-Bike Adj(A_pbT) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Parking Bus, Adj 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Work Zone On Approach No No No
Adj Sat Flow, veh/h/ln 1723 1723 1723 0 1654 1654 1723 1723 0
Adj Flow Rate, veh/h 45 640 24 0 20 18 38 32 0
Peak Hour Factor 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91
Percent Heavy Veh, % 2 2 2 0 7 7 2 2 0
Cap, veh/h 107 1594 63 0 281 253 344 260 0
Arrive On Green 0.52 0.52 0.52 0.00 0.35 0.35 0.35 0.35 0.00
Sat Flow, veh/h 207 3085 121 0 802 722 717 742 0
Grp Volume(v), veh/h 372 0 337 0 0 38 70 0 0
Grp Sat Flow(s),veh/h/ln1712 0 1700 0 0 1524 1460 0 0
Q Serve(g_s), s 8.1 0.0 7.2 0.0 0.0 1.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Cycle Q Clear(g_c), s 8.1 0.0 7.2 0.0 0.0 1.0 1.7 0.0 0.0
Prop In Lane 0.12 0.07 0.00 0.47 0.54 0.00
Lane Grp Cap(c), veh/h 885 0 879 0 0 533 603 0 0
V/C Ratio(X) 0.42 0.00 0.38 0.00 0.00 0.07 0.12 0.00 0.00
Avail Cap(c_a), veh/h 885 0 879 0 0 533 603 0 0
HCM Platoon Ratio 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Upstream Filter(I) 1.00 0.00 1.00 0.00 0.00 1.00 1.00 0.00 0.00
Uniform Delay (d), s/veh 9.0 0.0 8.7 0.0 0.0 13.0 13.2 0.0 0.0
Incr Delay (d2), s/veh 1.5 0.0 1.3 0.0 0.0 0.3 0.4 0.0 0.0
Initial Q Delay(d3),s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
%ile BackOfQ(50%),veh/ln2.9 0.0 2.6 0.0 0.0 0.4 0.7 0.0 0.0
Unsig. Movement Delay, s/veh
LnGrp Delay(d),s/veh 10.4 0.0 10.0 0.0 0.0 13.3 13.6 0.0 0.0
LnGrp LOS B A B A A B B A A
Approach Vol, veh/h 709 38 70
Approach Delay, s/veh 10.2 13.3 13.6
Approach LOS B B B

Timer - Assigned Phs 2 4 8
Phs Duration (G+Y+Rc), s 35.0 25.0 25.0
Change Period (Y+Rc), s 4.0 4.0 4.0
Max Green Setting (Gmax), s 31.0 21.0 21.0
Max Q Clear Time (g_c+I1), s 10.1 3.7 3.0
Green Ext Time (p_c), s 0.9 0.1 0.0

Intersection Summary
HCM 6th Ctrl Delay 10.7
HCM 6th LOS B

Attachment 2

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 212 of 342



HCM 6th TWSC
3: Jefferson St & E 2nd St 09/06/2023

Full Build - PM 2025 Synchro 10 Report
RBT Consultants Page 3

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 2.5

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 0 0 0 78 571 7 37 1 0 0 14 8
Future Vol, veh/h 0 0 0 78 571 7 37 1 0 0 14 8
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 9 0 11 11 0 9 0 0 2 2 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Free Free Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length - - - - - - - - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 2 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 77 77 77 77 77 77 77 77 77 77 77 77
Heavy Vehicles, % 0 0 0 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
Mvmt Flow 0 0 0 101 742 9 48 1 0 0 18 10
 

Major/Minor Major2 Minor1 Minor2
Conflicting Flow All 11 0 0 593 973 - - 969 385
          Stage 1 - - - 11 11 - - 958 -
          Stage 2 - - - 582 962 - - 11 -
Critical Hdwy 4.12 - - 7.52 6.52 - - 6.52 6.92
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - - - - 5.52 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - 6.52 5.52 - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 2.21 - - 3.51 4.01 - - 4.01 3.31
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 1614 - - 391 252 0 0 254 616
          Stage 1 - - - - - 0 0 336 -
          Stage 2 - - - 468 335 0 0 - -
Platoon blocked, % - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 1597 - - 327 220 - - 222 611
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - 327 220 - - 222 -
          Stage 1 - - - - - - - 297 -
          Stage 2 - - - 385 296 - - - -
 

Approach WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 1.1 18.1 18.8
HCM LOS C C
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBLn1 WBL WBT WBR SBLn1
Capacity (veh/h) 323 1597 - - 289
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.153 0.063 - - 0.099
HCM Control Delay (s) 18.1 7.4 0.3 - 18.8
HCM Lane LOS C A A - C
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.5 0.2 - - 0.3

Attachment 2

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 213 of 342



HCM 6th TWSC
4: Jefferson St & E 3rd St 09/06/2023

Full Build - PM 2025 Synchro 10 Report
RBT Consultants Page 4

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 4.1

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 38 585 10 0 0 0 0 23 95 38 43 0
Future Vol, veh/h 38 585 10 0 0 0 0 23 95 38 43 0
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 1 0 1 1 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 1
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Free Free Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length - - - - - - - - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 16979 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 91 91 91 91 91 91 91 91 91 91 91 91
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 0 0 0 1 1 1 1 1 1
Mvmt Flow 42 643 11 0 0 0 0 25 104 42 47 0
 

Major/Minor Major1 Minor1 Minor2
Conflicting Flow All 1 0 0 - 735 328 419 740 -
          Stage 1 - - - - 734 - 1 1 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 1 - 418 739 -
Critical Hdwy 4.14 - - - 6.52 6.92 7.52 6.52 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - 5.52 - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - - - 6.52 5.52 -
Follow-up Hdwy 2.22 - - - 4.01 3.31 3.51 4.01 -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 1620 - - 0 347 671 521 345 0
          Stage 1 - - - 0 426 - - - 0
          Stage 2 - - - 0 - - 586 424 0
Platoon blocked, % - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 1618 - - - 332 670 401 330 -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - 332 - 401 330 -
          Stage 1 - - - - 408 - - - -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 445 406 -
 

Approach EB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 0.5 13.4 18.3
HCM LOS B C
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBLn1 EBL EBT EBR SBLn1
Capacity (veh/h) 559 1618 - - 360
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.232 0.026 - - 0.247
HCM Control Delay (s) 13.4 7.3 0.1 - 18.3
HCM Lane LOS B A A - C
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.9 0.1 - - 1

Attachment 2

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 214 of 342



HCM 6th TWSC
5: Laughlin St & Alley 09/06/2023

Full Build - PM 2025 Synchro 10 Report
RBT Consultants Page 5

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 2.9

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 0 0 0 26 0 17 2 57 0 0 38 1
Future Vol, veh/h 0 0 0 26 0 17 2 57 0 0 38 1
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 1
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Free Free Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length - - - - - - - - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 2 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 89 89 89 89 89 89 89 89 89 89 89 89
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 1 1 1 5 5 5 3 3 3
Mvmt Flow 0 0 0 29 0 19 2 64 0 0 43 1
 

Major/Minor Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 112 113 64 45 0 - - - 0
          Stage 1 68 68 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 44 45 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.41 6.51 6.21 4.15 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.41 5.51 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.41 5.51 - - - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.509 4.009 3.309 2.245 - - - - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 887 779 1003 1544 - 0 0 - -
          Stage 1 957 840 - - - 0 0 - -
          Stage 2 981 859 - - - 0 0 - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 886 0 1003 1544 - - - - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 886 0 - - - - - - -
          Stage 1 956 0 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 981 0 - - - - - - -
 

Approach WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 9.1 0.2 0
HCM LOS A
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBTWBLn1 SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 1544 - 929 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.001 - 0.052 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 7.3 0 9.1 - -
HCM Lane LOS A A A - -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0 - 0.2 - -

Attachment 2

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 215 of 342



HCM 6th TWSC
6: Jefferson St & Alley 09/06/2023

Full Build - PM 2025 Synchro 10 Report
RBT Consultants Page 6

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 2

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 0 0 0 11 0 3 26 35 0 0 70 22
Future Vol, veh/h 0 0 0 11 0 3 26 35 0 0 70 22
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 2 2 0 0 0 0 3 3 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Free Free Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length - - - - - - - - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 2 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 88 88 88 88 88 88 88 88 88 88 88 88
Heavy Vehicles, % 0 0 0 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
Mvmt Flow 0 0 0 13 0 3 30 40 0 0 80 25

Major/Minor Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 195 205 40 105 0 - - - 0
          Stage 1 100 100 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 95 105 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.41 6.51 6.21 4.11 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.41 5.51 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.41 5.51 - - - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.509 4.009 3.309 2.209 - - - - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 796 693 1034 1493 - 0 0 - -
          Stage 1 927 814 - - - 0 0 - -
          Stage 2 931 810 - - - 0 0 - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 778 0 1034 1493 - - - - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 778 0 - - - - - - -
          Stage 1 908 0 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 929 0 - - - - - - -

Approach WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 9.5 3.2 0
HCM LOS A

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBTWBLn1 SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 1493 - 822 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.02 - 0.019 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 7.5 0 9.5 - -
HCM Lane LOS A A A - -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.1 - 0.1 - -

Attachment 2

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 216 of 342



HCM 6th TWSC
7: E 2nd Street & Brewery Overpass Rd 09/06/2023

Full Build - PM 2025 Synchro 10 Report
RBT Consultants Page 7

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 6.3

Movement EBL EBT WBT WBR SBL SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 250 321 209 19 26 329
Future Vol, veh/h 250 321 209 19 26 329
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Stop Stop
RT Channelized - None - None - Yield
Storage Length 100 - - - 0 75
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 0 - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 0 - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 92 92 92 92 92 92
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 6 6 4 4
Mvmt Flow 272 349 227 21 28 358
 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor2
Conflicting Flow All 248 0 - 0 1131 238
          Stage 1 - - - - 238 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 893 -
Critical Hdwy 4.12 - - - 6.44 6.24
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - 5.44 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - 5.44 -
Follow-up Hdwy 2.218 - - - 3.536 3.336
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 1318 - - - 223 796
          Stage 1 - - - - 797 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 397 -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 1318 - - - 177 796
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - 177 -
          Stage 1 - - - - 633 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 397 -
 

Approach EB WB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 3.7 0 14.4
HCM LOS B
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt EBL EBT WBT WBR SBLn1 SBLn2
Capacity (veh/h) 1318 - - - 177 796
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.206 - - - 0.16 0.449
HCM Control Delay (s) 8.4 - - - 29.2 13.2
HCM Lane LOS A - - - D B
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.8 - - - 0.6 2.3

Attachment 2

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 217 of 342



HCM Signalized Intersection Capacity Analysis
1: Laughlin St & E 2nd St 09/06/2023

Full Build - PM 2025 Synchro 10 Report
RBT Consultants Page 1

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 0 0 0 26 590 0 74 0 0 0 13 5
Future Volume (vph) 0 0 0 26 590 0 74 0 0 0 13 5
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1750 1750 1750 1750 1750 1750 1750 1750 1750 1750 1750 1750
Total Lost time (s) 4.0 4.0 4.0
Lane Util. Factor 0.95 1.00 1.00
Frpb, ped/bikes 1.00 1.00 1.00
Flpb, ped/bikes 1.00 1.00 1.00
Frt 1.00 1.00 0.96
Flt Protected 1.00 0.95 1.00
Satd. Flow (prot) 3250 1612 1666
Flt Permitted 1.00 0.74 1.00
Satd. Flow (perm) 3250 1260 1666
Peak-hour factor, PHF 0.77 0.77 0.77 0.77 0.77 0.77 0.77 0.77 0.77 0.77 0.77 0.77
Adj. Flow (vph) 0 0 0 34 766 0 96 0 0 0 17 6
RTOR Reduction (vph) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 0
Lane Group Flow (vph) 0 0 0 0 800 0 0 96 0 0 19 0
Confl. Peds. (#/hr) 10 10 1 4 4 1
Heavy Vehicles (%) 0% 0% 0% 2% 2% 2% 3% 3% 3% 1% 1% 1%
Turn Type Perm NA Perm NA NA
Protected Phases 6 8 4
Permitted Phases 6 8
Actuated Green, G (s) 31.0 21.0 21.0
Effective Green, g (s) 31.0 21.0 21.0
Actuated g/C Ratio 0.52 0.35 0.35
Clearance Time (s) 4.0 4.0 4.0
Vehicle Extension (s) 0.2 0.2 0.2
Lane Grp Cap (vph) 1679 441 583
v/s Ratio Prot 0.01
v/s Ratio Perm 0.25 c0.08
v/c Ratio 0.48 0.22 0.03
Uniform Delay, d1 9.3 13.7 12.8
Progression Factor 1.00 1.24 1.00
Incremental Delay, d2 1.0 1.1 0.1
Delay (s) 10.3 18.1 12.9
Level of Service B B B
Approach Delay (s) 0.0 10.3 18.1 12.9
Approach LOS A B B B

Intersection Summary
HCM 2000 Control Delay 11.2 HCM 2000 Level of Service B
HCM 2000 Volume to Capacity ratio 0.37
Actuated Cycle Length (s) 60.0 Sum of lost time (s) 8.0
Intersection Capacity Utilization 41.9% ICU Level of Service A
Analysis Period (min) 15
c    Critical Lane Group

Attachment 2

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 218 of 342



HCM Signalized Intersection Capacity Analysis
2: Laughlin St & E 3rd St 09/06/2023

Full Build - PM 2025 Synchro 10 Report
RBT Consultants Page 2

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 41 582 22 0 0 0 0 18 16 35 29 0
Future Volume (vph) 41 582 22 0 0 0 0 18 16 35 29 0
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1750 1750 1750 1750 1750 1750 1750 1750 1750 1750 1750 1750
Total Lost time (s) 4.0 4.0 4.0
Lane Util. Factor 0.95 1.00 1.00
Frpb, ped/bikes 1.00 0.99 1.00
Flpb, ped/bikes 1.00 1.00 1.00
Frt 0.99 0.94 1.00
Flt Protected 1.00 1.00 0.97
Satd. Flow (prot) 3232 1522 1669
Flt Permitted 1.00 1.00 0.87
Satd. Flow (perm) 3232 1522 1498
Peak-hour factor, PHF 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91
Adj. Flow (vph) 45 640 24 0 0 0 0 20 18 38 32 0
RTOR Reduction (vph) 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 12 0 0 0 0
Lane Group Flow (vph) 0 705 0 0 0 0 0 26 0 0 70 0
Confl. Peds. (#/hr) 3 3 5 1 1 5
Heavy Vehicles (%) 2% 2% 2% 0% 0% 0% 7% 7% 7% 2% 2% 2%
Turn Type Perm NA NA Perm NA
Protected Phases 2 8 4
Permitted Phases 2 4
Actuated Green, G (s) 31.0 21.0 21.0
Effective Green, g (s) 31.0 21.0 21.0
Actuated g/C Ratio 0.52 0.35 0.35
Clearance Time (s) 4.0 4.0 4.0
Vehicle Extension (s) 0.2 0.2 0.2
Lane Grp Cap (vph) 1669 532 524
v/s Ratio Prot 0.02
v/s Ratio Perm 0.22 c0.05
v/c Ratio 0.42 0.05 0.13
Uniform Delay, d1 9.0 12.9 13.3
Progression Factor 1.00 1.00 0.93
Incremental Delay, d2 0.8 0.2 0.5
Delay (s) 9.7 13.1 12.9
Level of Service A B B
Approach Delay (s) 9.7 0.0 13.1 12.9
Approach LOS A A B B

Intersection Summary
HCM 2000 Control Delay 10.2 HCM 2000 Level of Service B
HCM 2000 Volume to Capacity ratio 0.31
Actuated Cycle Length (s) 60.0 Sum of lost time (s) 8.0
Intersection Capacity Utilization 44.5% ICU Level of Service A
Analysis Period (min) 15
c    Critical Lane Group

Attachment 2

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 219 of 342



HCM 6th Signalized Intersection Summary
1: Laughlin St & E 2nd St 09/06/2023

Full Build - PM 2030 Synchro 10 Report
RBT Consultants Page 1

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (veh/h) 0 0 0 27 618 0 77 0 0 0 14 5
Future Volume (veh/h) 0 0 0 27 618 0 77 0 0 0 14 5
Initial Q (Qb), veh 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Ped-Bike Adj(A_pbT) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Parking Bus, Adj 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Work Zone On Approach No No No
Adj Sat Flow, veh/h/ln 1723 1723 1723 1709 1709 0 0 1736 1736
Adj Flow Rate, veh/h 35 803 0 100 0 0 0 18 6
Peak Hour Factor 0.77 0.77 0.77 0.77 0.77 0.77 0.77 0.77 0.77
Percent Heavy Veh, % 2 2 2 3 3 0 0 1 1
Cap, veh/h 69 1663 0 588 0 0 0 436 145
Arrive On Green 0.52 0.52 0.00 0.35 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.35 0.35
Sat Flow, veh/h 134 3305 0 1338 0 0 0 1246 415
Grp Volume(v), veh/h 449 389 0 100 0 0 0 0 24
Grp Sat Flow(s),veh/h/ln 1716 1637 0 1338 0 0 0 0 1661
Q Serve(g_s), s 10.3 9.1 0.0 3.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.6
Cycle Q Clear(g_c), s 10.3 9.1 0.0 3.7 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.6
Prop In Lane 0.08 0.00 1.00 0.00 0.00 0.25
Lane Grp Cap(c), veh/h 887 846 0 588 0 0 0 0 581
V/C Ratio(X) 0.51 0.46 0.00 0.17 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.04
Avail Cap(c_a), veh/h 887 846 0 588 0 0 0 0 581
HCM Platoon Ratio 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Upstream Filter(I) 1.00 1.00 0.00 1.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 1.00
Uniform Delay (d), s/veh 9.5 9.2 0.0 14.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 12.9
Incr Delay (d2), s/veh 2.1 1.8 0.0 0.6 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1
Initial Q Delay(d3),s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
%ile BackOfQ(50%),veh/ln 3.8 3.2 0.0 1.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.2
Unsig. Movement Delay, s/veh
LnGrp Delay(d),s/veh 11.6 11.0 0.0 14.7 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 13.0
LnGrp LOS B B A B A A A A B
Approach Vol, veh/h 838 100 24
Approach Delay, s/veh 11.3 14.7 13.0
Approach LOS B B B

Timer - Assigned Phs 4 6 8
Phs Duration (G+Y+Rc), s 25.0 35.0 25.0
Change Period (Y+Rc), s 4.0 4.0 4.0
Max Green Setting (Gmax), s 21.0 31.0 21.0
Max Q Clear Time (g_c+I1), s 2.6 12.3 5.7
Green Ext Time (p_c), s 0.0 1.0 0.1

Intersection Summary
HCM 6th Ctrl Delay 11.7
HCM 6th LOS B

Attachment 2

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 220 of 342



HCM 6th Signalized Intersection Summary
2: Laughlin St & E 3rd St 09/06/2023

Full Build - PM 2030 Synchro 10 Report
RBT Consultants Page 2

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (veh/h) 43 608 24 0 0 0 0 19 17 36 31 0
Future Volume (veh/h) 43 608 24 0 0 0 0 19 17 36 31 0
Initial Q (Qb), veh 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Ped-Bike Adj(A_pbT) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Parking Bus, Adj 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Work Zone On Approach No No No
Adj Sat Flow, veh/h/ln 1723 1723 1723 0 1654 1654 1723 1723 0
Adj Flow Rate, veh/h 47 668 26 0 21 19 40 34 0
Peak Hour Factor 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91
Percent Heavy Veh, % 2 2 2 0 7 7 2 2 0
Cap, veh/h 107 1591 65 0 280 253 355 272 0
Arrive On Green 0.52 0.52 0.52 0.00 0.35 0.35 0.35 0.35 0.00
Sat Flow, veh/h 207 3080 126 0 800 724 750 777 0
Grp Volume(v), veh/h 389 0 352 0 0 40 74 0 0
Grp Sat Flow(s),veh/h/ln1712 0 1700 0 0 1523 1527 0 0
Q Serve(g_s), s 8.5 0.0 7.6 0.0 0.0 1.1 0.1 0.0 0.0
Cycle Q Clear(g_c), s 8.5 0.0 7.6 0.0 0.0 1.1 1.8 0.0 0.0
Prop In Lane 0.12 0.07 0.00 0.47 0.54 0.00
Lane Grp Cap(c), veh/h 885 0 878 0 0 533 627 0 0
V/C Ratio(X) 0.44 0.00 0.40 0.00 0.00 0.08 0.12 0.00 0.00
Avail Cap(c_a), veh/h 885 0 878 0 0 533 627 0 0
HCM Platoon Ratio 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Upstream Filter(I) 1.00 0.00 1.00 0.00 0.00 1.00 1.00 0.00 0.00
Uniform Delay (d), s/veh 9.1 0.0 8.8 0.0 0.0 13.0 13.2 0.0 0.0
Incr Delay (d2), s/veh 1.6 0.0 1.4 0.0 0.0 0.3 0.4 0.0 0.0
Initial Q Delay(d3),s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
%ile BackOfQ(50%),veh/ln3.1 0.0 2.7 0.0 0.0 0.4 0.7 0.0 0.0
Unsig. Movement Delay, s/veh
LnGrp Delay(d),s/veh 10.7 0.0 10.2 0.0 0.0 13.3 13.6 0.0 0.0
LnGrp LOS B A B A A B B A A
Approach Vol, veh/h 741 40 74
Approach Delay, s/veh 10.4 13.3 13.6
Approach LOS B B B

Timer - Assigned Phs 2 4 8
Phs Duration (G+Y+Rc), s 35.0 25.0 25.0
Change Period (Y+Rc), s 4.0 4.0 4.0
Max Green Setting (Gmax), s 31.0 21.0 21.0
Max Q Clear Time (g_c+I1), s 10.5 3.8 3.1
Green Ext Time (p_c), s 0.9 0.1 0.0

Intersection Summary
HCM 6th Ctrl Delay 10.9
HCM 6th LOS B

Attachment 2

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 221 of 342



HCM 6th TWSC
3: Jefferson St & E 2nd St 09/06/2023

Full Build - PM 2030 Synchro 10 Report
RBT Consultants Page 3

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 2.7

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 0 0 0 81 597 7 39 1 0 0 15 9
Future Vol, veh/h 0 0 0 81 597 7 39 1 0 0 15 9
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 9 0 11 11 0 9 0 0 2 2 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Free Free Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length - - - - - - - - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 2 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 77 77 77 77 77 77 77 77 77 77 77 77
Heavy Vehicles, % 0 0 0 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
Mvmt Flow 0 0 0 105 775 9 51 1 0 0 19 12
 

Major/Minor Major2 Minor1 Minor2
Conflicting Flow All 11 0 0 618 1014 - - 1010 401
          Stage 1 - - - 11 11 - - 999 -
          Stage 2 - - - 607 1003 - - 11 -
Critical Hdwy 4.12 - - 7.52 6.52 - - 6.52 6.92
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - - - - 5.52 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - 6.52 5.52 - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 2.21 - - 3.51 4.01 - - 4.01 3.31
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 1614 - - 376 239 0 0 240 602
          Stage 1 - - - - - 0 0 322 -
          Stage 2 - - - 453 320 0 0 - -
Platoon blocked, % - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 1597 - - 309 207 - - 208 597
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - 309 207 - - 208 -
          Stage 1 - - - - - - - 282 -
          Stage 2 - - - 365 280 - - - -
 

Approach WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 1.1 19.2 19.8
HCM LOS C C
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBLn1 WBL WBT WBR SBLn1
Capacity (veh/h) 305 1597 - - 275
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.17 0.066 - - 0.113
HCM Control Delay (s) 19.2 7.4 0.3 - 19.8
HCM Lane LOS C A A - C
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.6 0.2 - - 0.4

Attachment 2

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 222 of 342



HCM 6th TWSC
4: Jefferson St & E 3rd St 09/06/2023

Full Build - PM 2030 Synchro 10 Report
RBT Consultants Page 4

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 4.3

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 39 612 10 0 0 0 0 24 100 40 46 0
Future Vol, veh/h 39 612 10 0 0 0 0 24 100 40 46 0
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 1 0 1 1 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 1
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Free Free Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length - - - - - - - - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 16979 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 91 91 91 91 91 91 91 91 91 91 91 91
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 0 0 0 1 1 1 1 1 1
Mvmt Flow 43 673 11 0 0 0 0 26 110 44 51 0
 

Major/Minor Major1 Minor1 Minor2
Conflicting Flow All 1 0 0 - 767 343 437 772 -
          Stage 1 - - - - 766 - 1 1 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 1 - 436 771 -
Critical Hdwy 4.14 - - - 6.52 6.92 7.52 6.52 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - 5.52 - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - - - 6.52 5.52 -
Follow-up Hdwy 2.22 - - - 4.01 3.31 3.51 4.01 -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 1620 - - 0 333 656 506 331 0
          Stage 1 - - - 0 412 - - - 0
          Stage 2 - - - 0 - - 572 410 0
Platoon blocked, % - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 1618 - - - 318 655 381 316 -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - 318 - 381 316 -
          Stage 1 - - - - 394 - - - -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 425 392 -
 

Approach EB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 0.5 13.8 19.4
HCM LOS B C
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBLn1 EBL EBT EBR SBLn1
Capacity (veh/h) 544 1618 - - 343
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.25 0.026 - - 0.276
HCM Control Delay (s) 13.8 7.3 0.1 - 19.4
HCM Lane LOS B A A - C
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 1 0.1 - - 1.1

Attachment 2

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 223 of 342



HCM 6th TWSC
5: Laughlin St & Alley 09/06/2023

Full Build - PM 2030 Synchro 10 Report
RBT Consultants Page 5

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 2.8

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 0 0 0 27 0 17 2 60 0 0 40 1
Future Vol, veh/h 0 0 0 27 0 17 2 60 0 0 40 1
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 1
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Free Free Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length - - - - - - - - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 2 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 89 89 89 89 89 89 89 89 89 89 89 89
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 1 1 1 5 5 5 3 3 3
Mvmt Flow 0 0 0 30 0 19 2 67 0 0 45 1
 

Major/Minor Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 117 118 67 47 0 - - - 0
          Stage 1 71 71 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 46 47 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.41 6.51 6.21 4.15 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.41 5.51 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.41 5.51 - - - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.509 4.009 3.309 2.245 - - - - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 881 774 999 1541 - 0 0 - -
          Stage 1 954 838 - - - 0 0 - -
          Stage 2 979 858 - - - 0 0 - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 880 0 999 1541 - - - - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 880 0 - - - - - - -
          Stage 1 953 0 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 979 0 - - - - - - -
 

Approach WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 9.1 0.2 0
HCM LOS A
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBTWBLn1 SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 1541 - 922 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.001 - 0.054 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 7.3 0 9.1 - -
HCM Lane LOS A A A - -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0 - 0.2 - -

Attachment 2

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 224 of 342



HCM 6th TWSC
6: Jefferson St & Alley 09/06/2023

Full Build - PM 2030 Synchro 10 Report
RBT Consultants Page 6

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 1.9

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 0 0 0 12 0 3 26 37 0 0 74 22
Future Vol, veh/h 0 0 0 12 0 3 26 37 0 0 74 22
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 2 2 0 0 0 0 3 3 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Free Free Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length - - - - - - - - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 2 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 88 88 88 88 88 88 88 88 88 88 88 88
Heavy Vehicles, % 0 0 0 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
Mvmt Flow 0 0 0 14 0 3 30 42 0 0 84 25
 

Major/Minor Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 201 211 42 109 0 - - - 0
          Stage 1 102 102 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 99 109 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.41 6.51 6.21 4.11 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.41 5.51 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.41 5.51 - - - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.509 4.009 3.309 2.209 - - - - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 790 688 1032 1488 - 0 0 - -
          Stage 1 925 813 - - - 0 0 - -
          Stage 2 927 807 - - - 0 0 - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 772 0 1032 1488 - - - - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 772 0 - - - - - - -
          Stage 1 906 0 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 925 0 - - - - - - -
 

Approach WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 9.5 3.1 0
HCM LOS A
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBTWBLn1 SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 1488 - 813 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.02 - 0.021 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 7.5 0 9.5 - -
HCM Lane LOS A A A - -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.1 - 0.1 - -

Attachment 2

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 225 of 342



HCM 6th TWSC
7: E 2nd Street & Brewery Overpass Rd 09/06/2023

Full Build - PM 2030 Synchro 10 Report
RBT Consultants Page 7

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 6.4

Movement EBL EBT WBT WBR SBL SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 262 336 219 20 27 343
Future Vol, veh/h 262 336 219 20 27 343
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Stop Stop
RT Channelized - None - None - Yield
Storage Length 100 - - - 0 75
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 0 - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 0 - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 92 92 92 92 92 92
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 6 6 4 4
Mvmt Flow 285 365 238 22 29 373
 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor2
Conflicting Flow All 260 0 - 0 1184 249
          Stage 1 - - - - 249 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 935 -
Critical Hdwy 4.12 - - - 6.44 6.24
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - 5.44 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - 5.44 -
Follow-up Hdwy 2.218 - - - 3.536 3.336
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 1304 - - - 207 785
          Stage 1 - - - - 788 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 379 -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 1304 - - - 162 785
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - 162 -
          Stage 1 - - - - 615 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 379 -
 

Approach EB WB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 3.7 0 15
HCM LOS C
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt EBL EBT WBT WBR SBLn1 SBLn2
Capacity (veh/h) 1304 - - - 162 785
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.218 - - - 0.181 0.475
HCM Control Delay (s) 8.5 - - - 32.1 13.7
HCM Lane LOS A - - - D B
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.8 - - - 0.6 2.6

Attachment 2

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 226 of 342



HCM Signalized Intersection Capacity Analysis
1: Laughlin St & E 2nd St 09/06/2023

Full Build - PM 2030 Synchro 10 Report
RBT Consultants Page 1

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 0 0 0 27 618 0 77 0 0 0 14 5
Future Volume (vph) 0 0 0 27 618 0 77 0 0 0 14 5
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1750 1750 1750 1750 1750 1750 1750 1750 1750 1750 1750 1750
Total Lost time (s) 4.0 4.0 4.0
Lane Util. Factor 0.95 1.00 1.00
Frpb, ped/bikes 1.00 1.00 1.00
Flpb, ped/bikes 1.00 1.00 1.00
Frt 1.00 1.00 0.97
Flt Protected 1.00 0.95 1.00
Satd. Flow (prot) 3250 1612 1669
Flt Permitted 1.00 0.74 1.00
Satd. Flow (perm) 3250 1259 1669
Peak-hour factor, PHF 0.77 0.77 0.77 0.77 0.77 0.77 0.77 0.77 0.77 0.77 0.77 0.77
Adj. Flow (vph) 0 0 0 35 803 0 100 0 0 0 18 6
RTOR Reduction (vph) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 0
Lane Group Flow (vph) 0 0 0 0 838 0 0 100 0 0 20 0
Confl. Peds. (#/hr) 10 10 1 4 4 1
Heavy Vehicles (%) 0% 0% 0% 2% 2% 2% 3% 3% 3% 1% 1% 1%
Turn Type Perm NA Perm NA NA
Protected Phases 6 8 4
Permitted Phases 6 8
Actuated Green, G (s) 31.0 21.0 21.0
Effective Green, g (s) 31.0 21.0 21.0
Actuated g/C Ratio 0.52 0.35 0.35
Clearance Time (s) 4.0 4.0 4.0
Vehicle Extension (s) 0.2 0.2 0.2
Lane Grp Cap (vph) 1679 440 584
v/s Ratio Prot 0.01
v/s Ratio Perm 0.26 c0.08
v/c Ratio 0.50 0.23 0.03
Uniform Delay, d1 9.4 13.8 12.8
Progression Factor 1.00 1.23 1.00
Incremental Delay, d2 1.1 1.2 0.1
Delay (s) 10.5 18.2 12.9
Level of Service B B B
Approach Delay (s) 0.0 10.5 18.2 12.9
Approach LOS A B B B

Intersection Summary
HCM 2000 Control Delay 11.4 HCM 2000 Level of Service B
HCM 2000 Volume to Capacity ratio 0.39
Actuated Cycle Length (s) 60.0 Sum of lost time (s) 8.0
Intersection Capacity Utilization 42.7% ICU Level of Service A
Analysis Period (min) 15
c    Critical Lane Group

Attachment 2

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 227 of 342



HCM Signalized Intersection Capacity Analysis
2: Laughlin St & E 3rd St 09/06/2023

Full Build - PM 2030 Synchro 10 Report
RBT Consultants Page 2

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 43 608 24 0 0 0 0 19 17 36 31 0
Future Volume (vph) 43 608 24 0 0 0 0 19 17 36 31 0
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1750 1750 1750 1750 1750 1750 1750 1750 1750 1750 1750 1750
Total Lost time (s) 4.0 4.0 4.0
Lane Util. Factor 0.95 1.00 1.00
Frpb, ped/bikes 1.00 0.99 1.00
Flpb, ped/bikes 1.00 1.00 1.00
Frt 0.99 0.94 1.00
Flt Protected 1.00 1.00 0.97
Satd. Flow (prot) 3231 1521 1670
Flt Permitted 1.00 1.00 0.87
Satd. Flow (perm) 3231 1521 1494
Peak-hour factor, PHF 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91
Adj. Flow (vph) 47 668 26 0 0 0 0 21 19 40 34 0
RTOR Reduction (vph) 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 12 0 0 0 0
Lane Group Flow (vph) 0 737 0 0 0 0 0 28 0 0 74 0
Confl. Peds. (#/hr) 3 3 5 1 1 5
Heavy Vehicles (%) 2% 2% 2% 0% 0% 0% 7% 7% 7% 2% 2% 2%
Turn Type Perm NA NA Perm NA
Protected Phases 2 8 4
Permitted Phases 2 4
Actuated Green, G (s) 31.0 21.0 21.0
Effective Green, g (s) 31.0 21.0 21.0
Actuated g/C Ratio 0.52 0.35 0.35
Clearance Time (s) 4.0 4.0 4.0
Vehicle Extension (s) 0.2 0.2 0.2
Lane Grp Cap (vph) 1669 532 522
v/s Ratio Prot 0.02
v/s Ratio Perm 0.23 c0.05
v/c Ratio 0.44 0.05 0.14
Uniform Delay, d1 9.1 12.9 13.3
Progression Factor 1.00 1.00 0.92
Incremental Delay, d2 0.8 0.2 0.6
Delay (s) 9.9 13.1 12.9
Level of Service A B B
Approach Delay (s) 9.9 0.0 13.1 12.9
Approach LOS A A B B

Intersection Summary
HCM 2000 Control Delay 10.3 HCM 2000 Level of Service B
HCM 2000 Volume to Capacity ratio 0.32
Actuated Cycle Length (s) 60.0 Sum of lost time (s) 8.0
Intersection Capacity Utilization 45.4% ICU Level of Service A
Analysis Period (min) 15
c    Critical Lane Group

Attachment 2

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 228 of 342



Parking Management Plan & Parking Demand Assessment 
Basalt Commons Project 

May 8, 2024 
Version 4 

 12/31/2024 

Attachment 3

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 229 of 342



  

Contents 
CONTENTS ................................................................................................................................................................................................................................. 1 

1.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY ......................................................................................................................................................................................................... 2 

1.1 ESTIMATING DEMAND............................................................................................................................................................................................................... 2 
1.2 ASSESSMENT OF ADJACENT PARKING SUPPLY ................................................................................................................................................................................ 2 

2.0 PURPOSE .............................................................................................................................................................................................................................. 3 

3.0 PARKING DEMAND BY INDIVIDUAL LAND USE ..................................................................................................................................................................... 4 

3.1 BASE LEVEL PARKING DEMAND RATIOS – MINIMUMS, RECOMMENDED & WAIVER .............................................................................................................................. 5 
3.2  QUANTIFYING PARKING STALLS BASED ON PROGRAMMED LAND USES (STACKED PEAK DEMAND) ........................................................................................................... 6 

4.0 SHARED PARKING ANALYSIS ................................................................................................................................................................................................ 8 

4.1 PARKING DEMAND ANALYSIS – EFFICIENCY OF A SHARED PARKING SUPPLY ......................................................................................................................................... 8 
4.2 PARKING DEMAND SUMMARY .................................................................................................................................................................................................. 11 

5.0 PARKING OCCUPANCY STUDY ............................................................................................................................................................................................ 12 

5.1  MEASURING PERFORMANCE .................................................................................................................................................................................................... 12 
5.2 STUDY AREA ......................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 13 
5.3 METHODOLOGY ..................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 15 
5.4 FORMAT OF THE PARKING SUPPLY ............................................................................................................................................................................................. 16 
5.5 PARKING OCCUPANCIES ........................................................................................................................................................................................................... 17 
5.6  OCCUPANCY DATA SUMMARY .................................................................................................................................................................................................. 24 

6.0 ASSESSMENT SUMMARY .................................................................................................................................................................................................... 25 

APPENDIX A – WEEKDAY/WEEKEND OFF-STREET OCCUPANCIES BY LOT ................................................................................................................................. 26 

APPENDIX B – OFF-STREET SITE BY LAND USE CATEGORY ........................................................................................................................................................ 29 

Attachment 3

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 230 of 342



Basalt Commons Development, The Dalles, OR  Parking Management Plan & Parking Demand Assessment 
 

 Page  2 May 2024 
  Version 4 

1.0 Executive Summary 
The purpose of this review is to examine parking demand related to the proposed Basalt Commons Development in downtown The Dalles, OR. 
The analysis examines the range of parking demand the site will generate and evaluates the potential impacts of any parking demand exceeding 
the proposed on-site parking supply (35 stalls). 

1.1 Estimating Demand 

• Using a traditional demand approach, each individual land use can be expected to generate the following range of peak demands: 
o Office:    13 to 17 vehicles 
o Restaurant:  26 to 30 vehicles 
o Residential:  114 to 152 vehicles 

• Considering demand by time of day (referred to as a shared-use demand model), off-site parking demand is estimated to range from a 
minimum of 91 off-site parked vehicles at 10:00 AM to 124 off-site parked vehicles at the 8:00 PM peak hour. This excludes on-site 
parking, to be used dedicated to the exclusive use of 35 resident vehicles.  

• The shared-use approach is used in this model as it assumes the use of existing underutilized parking both on-street and in off-street 
facilities and accounts for the varied peak hours unique to each new land use. This eliminates the need to stack peak demand by use. 

1.2 Assessment of Adjacent Parking Supply 

• The measured demand for parking in the study area surrounding the proposed project is low by industry standards of parking 
occupancy. This is true for both the weekday and Saturday included in the parking demand assessment. 

• There is significant parking availability, both on and off-street, during downtown peak hours (1:00 to 2:00 PM) and at the anticipated 
peak demand period for Basalt Commons at 9:00 PM and 10:00 PM. As such, there is sufficient capacity to absorb additional parking 
demand generated from new development. A protocol for setting up shared use agreements with existing off-site facilities would 
facilitate a program for moving residents and employees into off-street sites. Implementing on-street parking time limits on commercial 
streets, as necessary to manage demand and turnover, would provide easy and convenient parking to visitors of this site and general 
growth in visitor parking downtown. 

• The project, through this analysis, meets all provisions for a request for a reduction in on-site parking requirements, complying with 
the provisions of 10.7.020.040 (F)(1)-(3) with The Dalles Municipal Code. 

Attachment 3

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 231 of 342



Basalt Commons Development, The Dalles, OR  Parking Management Plan & Parking Demand Assessment 
 

 Page  3 May 2024 
  Version 4 

2.0 Purpose 
The purpose of this review is to examine anticipated parking demand associated with the proposed Basalt 
Commons development in downtown The Dalles, located at 523 E 3rd Street. The proposed project is a 
mixed-use development comprising 116 residential units, 8,278 ft2 of initial office space, and 1,565 ft2 of 
initial restaurant space. The site programming is set up in a manner that could shift 1,420 ft2 out of the 
office space and convert it to additional restaurant space (resulting in a split of 6,858 ft2 office space and 
2,985 ft2 restaurant space). Thirty-five (35) parking spaces will be provided on-site. 

Per Code Section 10.7.020.040.D, “Minimum off-street parking spaces required by Article 7.060: Minimum 
and Maximum Off-Street Parking Requirements may be waived” if “the property is located within Sub-
district CBC-2 in the Central Business Commercial district, as defined in Section 10.5.050.020: Sub-Districts. 
The proposed project is located within the CBC-2 district, and the developer is seeking a waiver to the 
minimum parking requirements.  

To ensure parking for the project is adequately addressed, this document is following the process laid out 
within City Code for developing a “Parking Management Plan” within Article 10.7.020.040, which states: 

F. Parking Management Plan. The off-street parking requirements in Article 7.060: Minimum and Maximum Off-Street Parking 
Requirements may be reduced or added to based on an approved parking management plan submitted by the applicant which 
adequately demonstrates that the plan will meet the parking needs of the proposed project without negative impact to adjacent uses. 
The approving authority shall approve, approve with conditions, or deny the parking management plan. The parking management plan 
must include the following and be prepared by a licensed professional engineer: 

1. A parking demand analysis for the project. 
2. A project vicinity off-street parking supply and demand analysis. 
3. A shared parking analysis. 

This analysis assesses the new parking demand generated by the proposed land uses and how any parking demand that exceeds the provided 
on-site supply can be addressed. This report will also assess the impact of potential parking demands on parking adjacent to the site to 
demonstrate compliance with 10.7.020.040 (F)(1)-(3).  

Elements evaluated to address the specific code provisions include: 

Attachment 3

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 232 of 342

https://library.qcode.us/lib/the_dalles_or/pub/municipal_code/lookup/7.060


Basalt Commons Development, The Dalles, OR  Parking Management Plan & Parking Demand Assessment 
 

 Page  4 May 2024 
  Version 4 

a) 10.7.020.040 (F)(1). Apply parking demand ratios to the site’s proposed land use mix, including the City’s required minimum and those 
recommended by the Institute of Transportation Engineers (ITE) for individual land uses (i.e., residential units and non-residential square 
footage). Provide approaches determining the estimated number of stalls needed to support the proposed development (stacked vs. 
shared demand scenarios). 

b) 10.7.020.040 (F)(2). Quantify the parking demand that can be accommodated on-site and evaluate the excess demand that could be 
assigned to other parking areas (on-street and off-site), and  

c) 10.7.020.040 (F)(3). Evaluate adjacent on- and off-street parking availability based on recent samples conducted by RWC in June 2023, 
particularly at the peak hour of demand generated by the site. 

3.0 Parking Demand by Individual Land Use 
Stacked peak parking demand assumes that each land use within a development needs a predetermined amount of parking (per unit or square 
foot), typically set at its assumed demand at the peak hour. The parking requirement is usually considered to serve this individual land use 
exclusively, assuming that the associated parking supply cannot be shared with other land uses in the same mixed-use site, which are approved 
as accessory to their unique “parking demand.”1 In short, the variability of parking demand by time of day for each land use is not accounted for 
in the parking approval processes. 

Traditionally, this is how most municipal codes quantify needed parking for new developments. This has resulted in overbuilt supplies, lower 
land use densities, and underused supply across most of the operating day. In response to this inefficient use of the urban form, many 
jurisdictions are now lowering or eliminating their minimum parking requirements to counteract this practice.  

Sections 3.1 and 3.2 look at the peak demand for each land use and “stack” them on top of one another to determine the total amount of 
parking needed to support the development assuming no parking can be shared between each land use. This section, therefore, provides a high-
end forecast of the parking supply needed to serve the site, recognizing that the total supply may never fill given different peak hours for each 
land use on site.  

 
1 Accessory parking means off-street parking that serves only the parking demand of a specific use. 

Attachment 3

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 233 of 342

https://www.lawinsider.com/dictionary/accessory-parking


Basalt Commons Development, The Dalles, OR  Parking Management Plan & Parking Demand Assessment 
 

 Page  5 May 2024 
  Version 4 

3.1 Base Level Parking Demand Ratios – Minimums, Recommended & Waiver  
Given that 10.7.020.040 allows for a request to reduce required parking for this project and to provide a sense of what actual demand could be, 
the project will be evaluated as if it were built outside the CBC-2 District, where standard parking minimums are in place. This allows for a look at 
how the City’s required minimums, allowed credits, and reductions would affect parking in development with a similar mix of uses. 

Table 1 shows the City’s Standard Parking Code Requirements, expressed as parking ratios (per unit, employee, or square feet), translating 
allowed credits or reductions into a Resulting Minimum Parking Requirement. For comparative purposes, the column at the far right of the table 
shows RWC ITE-based Ratios, which come directly from the Urban Land Institute or Institute of Transportation Engineers. The table shows that 
demand ratios in the three proposed project land use categories (multi-family residential units, office space, and restaurant2) vary between the 
standard code, credit/reductions, and ITE models.  

Table 1: Off-Street Parking Demand Ratio Guidelines 
Land Use Category  
According to City Code 

Standard Parking Code  
Requirements 

Maximum Parking Credit / 
Reduction  

Resulting Minimum 
Requirement RWC ITE-based Ratios 

The Dalles Parking Standards   Minimum 20%3   

Multi-Family Residential 1.004 / unit N/A 1.00 / unit 1.315 / unit 
Office  2.00 / 1,000 ft2 0.20 / 1,000 ft2 1.80 / 1,000 ft2 2.516 / 1,000 ft2 
Restaurant 7.00 / 1,000 ft2 1.40 / 1,000 ft2 5.60 / 1,000 ft2 9.937 / 1,000 ft2 

 
  

 
2 The restaurant use is initially proposed at 1,565 ft2, which could expand to 2,985 ft2, but would reduce the office space by the same amount, roughly 1,420 ft2. It is anticipated 
that restaurant functions will operate until 10:00 PM most evenings but are not expected to extend beyond that hour due to the on-site residences.  
3 10.7.020.040.A:  A reduction of up to 10% of the minimum off-street vehicle parking requirements established in Article 7.060: Minimum and Maximum Off-Street Parking 
Requirements is allowed as a right of development for all nonresidential uses. Minimum and Maximum Off-Street Parking Requirements may be reduced by 10% in addition to 
the reductions allowed in Subsection A, if replaced by bicycle parking over the amount required in Article 7.060, at the rate of 1 bicycle space for 1 vehicle space. 
4 1 parking space for every 2 bedrooms, but not less than 1 parking space per dwelling unit. 
5 ITE Multi-Family Housing (Mid-Rise), general urban/suburban (no nearby rail transit) – 1.31 average rate (1.47 @ 85th percentile). 
6 General office building, general urban/suburban – 2.51 average rate per 1,000 SF (3.42 @ 85th percentile). 
7 Fast Casual Restaurant, general urban/suburban  

Attachment 3

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 234 of 342



Basalt Commons Development, The Dalles, OR  Parking Management Plan & Parking Demand Assessment 
 

 Page  6 May 2024 
  Version 4 

Parking Credits and Reductions 

• Right of Development. A reduction of up to 10% of the minimum off-street vehicle parking requirements established in Article 7.060: 
Minimum and Maximum Off-Street Parking Requirements is allowed as a right of development for all nonresidential uses. 

• Reductions for Bicycle Parking. Off-street motor vehicle parking requirements for nonresidential uses established in Article 7.060 may be 
reduced by 10% in addition to the reductions allowed in Subsection A if replaced by bicycle parking over the amount required in Article 
7.060, at the rate of 1 bicycle space for 1 vehicle space. 

• Parking Management Plan. The off-street parking requirements in Article 7.060 may be reduced or added to based on an approved 
parking management plan submitted by the applicant which adequately demonstrates that the plan will meet the parking needs of the 
proposed project without negative impact on adjacent uses. The parking management plan must include the following and be prepared 
by a licensed professional engineer: 

1.  A parking demand analysis for the project. 
2.  A project vicinity off-street parking supply and demand analysis. 
3.  A shared parking analysis. 

3.2  Quantifying Parking Stalls Based on Programmed Land Uses (Stacked Peak Demand) 
The following analysis uses the proposed land use configuration provided in the development proposal to assess the “stacked peak demand,” or 
the total parking required if no parking is shared between uses. Stacked peak demand is the total peak hour demand for each use layered on top 
of one another without considering the potential for shared parking or variations in parking demand by time of day.  

Table 2 summarizes the number of dwelling units and expected building square footage for both8 office and restaurant use and their 
corresponding parking requirements per code minimum with reductions (Column C), CBC-2 waiver (Column D), and RWC-generated stacked 
parking demand ratios (Column E). No shared parking is assumed within this analysis.9  

  

 
8 For the purposes of this analysis, the larger restaurant and the smaller office footprint were chosen in order to assess the land use combination that will result in the highest 
parking demand. 
9 Section 4 assesses shared parking opportunities among compatible uses to reduce the overall parking need. 

Attachment 3

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 235 of 342



Basalt Commons Development, The Dalles, OR  Parking Management Plan & Parking Demand Assessment 
 

 Page  7 May 2024 
  Version 4 

Table 2: Initial Estimated Parking Stalls Needed to Support Land Uses – Stacked Peak Demand with No Shared Parking Supply 
Required Parking Stalls (Using Stacked Peak Demand) 

 Column A Column B Column C Column D Column E 
Land Use Classification Units/ 

Square Feet 
Standard Code 
Requirements 

Code Minimum  
 w/ Reductions 

CBC-2  
Waiver 

RWC Ratio 
 (stacked) 

Residential – multi-family 116 116 116 0 152 
Office 6,85810 14 12 0 17 
Restaurant 2,98511 21 17 0 30 

Total Stalls Required  151 145 0 199 

Using the minimum requirements per unit or square foot estimates from Table 1, eliminating parking requirements entirely could be considered 
if the project is built with a CBC-2 waiver. If the project were outside the CBC-2 District, 151 stalls or as few as 145 stalls (with allowed 
reductions) would be required. Under the RWC Ratio (stacked peak demand model), up to 199 stalls would be needed to accommodate the peak 
demand for each individual land use with no sharing of the parking supply. As such, Table 2 estimates provide a range of required parking stalls 
that the site would need to meet minimum code requirements (Columns B-C) or estimated peak demand for each land use with no shared 
parking (Column E), showing from 145 stalls at the low end to 199 stalls at the high end. 

  

 
10 Assumes smaller office option (less 1,420 ft2) 
11 Assumes larger restaurant option (added 1,420ft2)  

Attachment 3

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 236 of 342



Basalt Commons Development, The Dalles, OR  Parking Management Plan & Parking Demand Assessment 
 

 Page  8 May 2024 
  Version 4 

4.0 Shared Parking Analysis 
This section evaluates a shared parking scenario to estimate the appropriate amount needed to support the Basalt Commons development, 
considering variations in parking demand by time of day for each land use. The goal is to maximize the efficiency of the on-site supply through 
shared use, thereby sizing the parking supply to anticipated parking demand at a single peak hour for the site.12 The ability to share parking 
depends on the compatibility of the on-site uses and whether they have complementary or offset peak hours. 
 
As proposed, the project is designed to have 35 on-site parking spaces. The developer is looking at off-site shared parking opportunities through 
lease agreements or possible purchases. Excess parking demand beyond the capacity of the off-street facilities can also be anticipated to spill 
over into the on-street system, which currently has no time restrictions.13 Currently, The Dalles has a prohibition in its Downtown Parking 
District, which restricts downtown residents/employees from parking on-street between 9 AM and 6 PM. This is a difficult restriction to enforce 
in an unregulated environment. If on-street time restrictions were imposed in this downtown area, the overall system would work more 
effectively, likely with higher compliance, and encourage longer-term parkers to seek off-street options. Also, it should be noted that some 
residents would choose to park on-street after the time-restricted period ends.  

4.1 Parking Demand Analysis – Efficiency of a Shared Parking Supply 
Each model run adheres to a set of operating assumptions. Assumptions can be modified, which affects the outcome of the demand model. 
These assumptions intend to create a progressive shared-use model, utilizing the entire parking supply across all user groups. Since, in this case, 
the parking isn’t confined to a particular site, the goal is to minimize the total number of parking stalls in use at one time (i.e., shared use – stalls 
will serve multiple user groups over the operating day). However, it is assumed that there will be some level of parking management of the 
site(s) to safeguard parking operations and support the desired shared-use scenario. This can be accomplished through clearly displayed signage 
and periodic enforcement of the identified off-street locations to ensure residents are parking in the appropriate stalls and/or to urge customers 
to park on-street in stalls intended (and signed) for short-term stays and higher turnover.  

 
12 Some call this “right-sizing” parking, which optimizes the operating capacity of a parking supply to assure that land uses with varied hours of peak need are blended into a 
shared supply. The result is less parking built while effectively serving the demand for parking between complementary mixed-uses. 
13 Ideally, on-street time limits in front of commercial ground-level businesses would be in place to (a) assure priority access to visitors during regulated hours and 
encourage/direct long-term parkers (e.g., employees and residents) to use off-street parking, both on-site and other private off-site locations engaged through agreements by 
the developer. This district restricts downtown residents/employees between 9a-6p.  
 

Attachment 3

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 237 of 342



Basalt Commons Development, The Dalles, OR  Parking Management Plan & Parking Demand Assessment 
 

 Page  9 May 2024 
  Version 4 

Parking Demand Model Operating Assumptions: 

Key model assumptions include: 

1) Reserved, on-site parking will be designated only for use by residents of the project site. It is assumed that only 35 on-site permits will be 
issued and all other residential parking demand will need to be accommodated off-site. 

2) Off-site (leased or purchased) parking will be managed to assure that residents not assigned to parking in the on-site facility are 
specifically directed to a “shared” off-site facility. This can be accomplished through a permit system, incorporated into the residents’ 
lease agreement, that provides access and rules of use at off-site locations. In instances of off-street parking sites without a master lease 
agreement, tenants may be instructed to work directly with the owner of the lot(s) to secure their parking. 

3) All commercial visitor parking is assumed on-street (i.e., restaurant patrons and office visitors). The developer is exploring off-site 
parking options for tenants and guests.  

4) Office and restaurant employees are assigned to a shared off-street site or at nearby low-use on-street spaces that continue to be 
managed by the City as unrestricted stalls. Similarly, off-site locations are being actively explored to provide additional parking options 
beyond the public right-of-way.  

Using the assumptions above, individual land uses were loaded into the shared parking model.14 [NOTE: This is the fourth iteration of the shared 
parking demand model. Tolerances for shared parking vary widely, and these assumptions can be adjusted based on client feedback.]  

Shared Demand Model 

Figure A displays the daily ebb and flow of estimated hourly parking demand for all proposed land uses. In this demand scenario, it is anticipated 
that restaurant operations are estimated to conclude by 10:00 PM out of respect for Basalt Commons residents.  

Table 3 shows estimated hourly aggregated off-site demand totals for all user groups of the development site, excluding the on-site parking 
supply, which will be reserved for the exclusive use by 35 residents with an on-site parking permit. The colors are presented as a “heat map,” 
where red indicates a higher usage level, orange and yellow moderate usage, and green indicates the lowest usage level.  

According to the shared parking demand model, the overall development is estimated to generate a peak off-site demand of 124 parked vehicles 
(at 8:00 PM) using these assumptions. At this hour, it is assumed that 28 additional residential vehicles would be parked on-site, for a total site 

 
14 Which follows the “weekday time-of-day adjustments” methodology outlined in ULI’s Shared Parking (3rd Edition). 

Attachment 3

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 238 of 342



Basalt Commons Development, The Dalles, OR  Parking Management Plan & Parking Demand Assessment 
 

 Page  10 May 2024 
  Version 4 

parking demand of 152 vehicles. This represents a need for 1 more stalls than the Standard Code Requirement (Table 2, Column B), 8 more stalls 
than the Code Minimum with Reductions (Column C), and a 46-stall savings over the ITE stacked ratio stall total (Column E).  

Figure A: Estimated Hourly Shared Weekday Parking Demand – Shared Demand Model 

 

  

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

12:00
AM

1:00
AM

2:00
AM

3:00
AM

4:00
AM

5:00
AM

6:00
AM

7:00
AM

8:00
AM

9:00
AM

10:00
AM

11:00
AM

12:00
PM

1:00
PM

2:00
PM

3:00
PM

4:00
PM

5:00
PM

6:00
PM

7:00
PM

8:00
PM

9:00
PM

10:00
PM

11:00
PM

Office 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 8 15 17 17 13 14 16 16 13 9 4 2 1 0 0 0

Restaurant - Employees 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 3 4 4 4 4 3 2 3 4 4 4 4 4 3 1

Restaurant - Customers 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 10 23 22 17 10 10 18 25 26 25 20 6 0

Residential - MF Mixed 115 115 115 117 117 117 111 99 88 76 70 64 59 59 59 64 70 76 82 88 94 99 111 113

Reserved - Empty 1 1 1 0 0 0 2 5 9 12 14 16 17 17 17 16 14 12 10 9 7 5 2 1

Reserved - Occupied 34 34 34 35 35 35 33 30 26 23 21 19 18 18 18 19 21 23 25 26 28 30 33 34

Total On-Site Empty/Reserved Stalls 1 1 1 0 0 0 2 5 9 12 14 16 17 17 17 16 14 12 10 9 7 5 2 1

Total On-Site Demand 34 34 34 35 35 35 33 30 26 23 21 19 18 18 18 19 21 23 25 26 28 30 33 34

Total Off-Site Demand 115 115 115 117 117 117 111 101 98 94 91 95 99 99 95 92 96 107 115 120 124 123 120 114

Totals 150 150 150 152 152 152 146 136 133 129 126 130 134 134 130 127 131 142 150 155 159 158 155 149

Ve
hi

cl
es

 P
ar

ke
d

Estimated Hourly Combined Parking Demand - Basalt Commons

Attachment 3

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 239 of 342



Basalt Commons Development, The Dalles, OR  Parking Management Plan & Parking Demand Assessment 
 

 Page  11 May 2024 
  Version 4 

Table 3: Estimated Hourly Off-Site Demand for Shared Parking – Shared Demand Model  
12

 A
M

 

1 
AM

 

2 
AM

 

3 
AM

 

4 
AM

 

5 
AM

 

6 
AM

 

7 
AM

 

8 
AM

 

9 
AM

 

10
 A

M
 

11
 A

M
 

12
 P

M
 

1 
PM

 

2 
PM

 

3 
PM

 

4 
PM

 

5 
PM

 

6 
PM

 

7 
PM

 

8 
PM

 

9 
PM

 

10
 P

M
 

11
 P

M
 

115 115 115 117 117 117 111 101 98 94 91 95 99 99 95 92 96 107 115 120 124 123 120 114 

*Note: On-site parking within the 35 on-site residential stalls is excluded from this table to focus on peak off-site parking demand. 

4.2 Parking Demand Summary 
Under the shared parking demand model, the peak hour for off-site parking demand will occur in 
the evening, between 8:00 and 9:00 PM, when some of the restaurant crowd is still there and 
residents are at or returning home for the evening. One hundred fifty-two (152) parked vehicles 
are expected at this time, including 124 vehicles parked off-site and 28 residential vehicles parked 
on-site15. The time of day with the lowest off-site demand is estimated to be 10:00 AM before the 
restaurant is open and after a number of residents have left for the day; similar low demand 
occurs between 3:00 and 4:00 PM we most residents are still at work and the restaurant is 
operating during an afternoon lull. During these times, 91 to 92 off-site vehicles are expected. 

At the 8:00 PM peak hour, the model estimates that 25 vehicles would be associated with 
restaurant customers. The customer demand is anticipated to be accommodated in the on-street stalls on the block faces surrounding and 
proximate to the site. The remaining off-site demand (99 vehicles), consisting of 5 employee vehicles (restaurant + office) and 94 off-site 
residential vehicles represents the approximate peak need for off-site shared parking. The addition of one or more potential leased or purchased 
off-street lots would further reduce the off-site parking need, further minimizing on-street spillover impacts.   

 
15 7 empty on-site stalls would be expected at this hour, assuming 20% of residents with an on-site parking permit remain away from home. 

Peak Shared Parking Need 

High-End Need (8:00 PM) 
25 customer vehicles + 5 employee vehicles + 94 off-site residential vehicles = 124 stalls of shared need 

(Excludes residents parking on-site) 

 

 

Attachment 3

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 240 of 342



Basalt Commons Development, The Dalles, OR  Parking Management Plan & Parking Demand Assessment 
 

 Page  12 May 2024 
  Version 4 

5.0 Parking Occupancy Study 
This section evaluates the surrounding on and off-street parking supply within relative proximity of the development site. The assessment 
quantifies the number of stalls and their relative availability for use based on occupancy. The purpose of this assessment is to determine the 
potential availability of proximate parking resources that could accommodate up to 81 vehicles of the project’s parking need in excess of its 
proposed on-site parking.  

This analysis can benefit the City and the developer in identifying off-site parking opportunities and developing a shared parking approach that 
maximizes existing parking supplies and mitigates impacts. This is addressed in Section 4.0. 

5.1  Measuring Performance 
The 85% Occupancy Standard is the most common approach for assessing a 
parking supply's performance in the parking industry. The 85% Occupancy 
Standard is a flexible measure for evaluating parking supply, whether as a 
facility-by-facility measure, sub-area, or block-face by block face.16 

The parking supply is considered constrained when 85% or more of an 
available parking supply is occupied for sustained periods (red band on the 
graphic). In a constrained system, finding an open spot is difficult, especially 
for infrequent users such as customers and visitors. This can cause 
frustration and negatively affect perceptions of an area or district. 
Continued constraints can make it difficult to absorb and attract new 
growth or to manage fluctuations in demand—for example, seasonal or 
event-based spikes. 

Most parking managers strive to maintain a supply in the 70% to 85% 
occupancy range (orange), deemed an “efficient” parking supply. An efficient parking supply shows active use but minimizes constraints that 
would create difficulty for users.  

 
16 Some may be aware of parking analyses presented by Donald Shoup in his book The High Cost of Free Parking. Dr. Shoup is strongly in favor of linking parking 
management strategies to the 85% Occupancy Standard. 

Color metrics for parking supply performance or demand 

> 85%  Constrained Supply

70% - 85%  Efficient Supply

55% - 69%  Moderate 
Demand

< 55% Low Demand 
(Parking Readily 

Available)

Attachment 3

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 241 of 342



Basalt Commons Development, The Dalles, OR  Parking Management Plan & Parking Demand Assessment 
 

 Page  13 May 2024 
  Version 4 

Efficient use supports vital ground-level businesses and business growth, is attractive to new users, and can respond to routine fluctuations, 
resulting in a supply that is robust and accessible. Occupancy rates of 69% or less (yellow and green) indicate moderate to low demand for 
parking, leaving greater percentages of supply empty with the potential to absorb parking demand. In other words, this indicates a potential 
opportunity to maximize and share with other uses.  

The analysis of the parking supply in proximity to the Basalt Commons development project uses these categories to evaluate the performance 
of the surveyed parking areas.  

5.2 Study Area 
The study area was selected in consultation with City staff to represent 
an area adjacent to the site that could evaluate the current 
performance of on and off-street parking resources within a reasonable 
walking distance from the proposed site (i.e., three blocks or less). 
Figure B illustrates the study area with the Basalt Commons site 
identified with a red star. On-street parking block faces are shown in 
red and off-street lots studied are shaded in blue. Each blue-shaded lot 
has been assigned a unique lot ID number. These lot numbers allow 
readers to learn specific information about the number of stalls on each 
lot, peak hour occupancy by survey day (weekday/Saturday), empty 
stalls at peak hour, and the primary land use served. This information 
can be found in Table 7 in Appendix A.  

 

 

 

 

  

Attachment 3

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 242 of 342



Basalt Commons Development, The Dalles, OR  Parking Management Plan & Parking Demand Assessment 
 

 Page  14 May 2024 
  Version 4 

Figure B: Data Collection Area 

 

Attachment 3

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 243 of 342



Basalt Commons Development, The Dalles, OR  Parking Management Plan & Parking Demand Assessment 
 

 Page  15 May 2024 
  Version 4 

5.3 Methodology 
Inventory 

Prior to data collection, RWC staff completed an on-the-ground inventory of the available on-street parking within the study area. Striped 
parking stalls were counted. Otherwise, unstriped stalls were physically measured to ensure an accurate parking inventory.17 Available parking 
supply within the inventory accounted for curb cuts (e.g., driveways/alleyways), fire hydrants, and other parking restrictions along the right-of-
way.  

The on-street supply was assessed for the number of stalls per block face and by “use type,” quantifying the number by specific time limit 
designation (e.g., 30-minute, No Limit18), if applicable. Additionally, the adjacent off-street supply was assessed by the location of the facility and 
the number of stalls physically striped on the lot. Each lot was assigned a Lot ID number in the database and on the study area map (Figure B). 
The breakout of inventory for the study area is summarized in Section 5.4. 

Data Collection Dates  

Surveyors were in the field collecting parking occupancy data on Tuesday, June 13th, and Saturday, June 17th, 2023. These dates were selected 
with input from City staff to represent a typical weekday and Saturday for parking activity. Weather conditions were ideal (sunny and clear) on 
both days.19 

Data Collection Process 

Occupancy data (count of number of parked vehicles) was recorded every hour over 13 hours on each survey day between 9:00 AM and 10:00 
PM. In other words, the number of parked vehicles parked along each block face was recorded in the three study areas. Similar hourly occupancy 
counts were collected for the off-street lots. No license plates were recorded as part of the study, as the intent was to observe the number of 
occupied parking stalls to measure demand rather than complete system utilization (e.g., duration of stay, violation rates, etc.) 

 

 
17 RWC surveyors use a 23-foot standard to quantify parallel on-street parking spaces. They also account for sight lines, distance from curb cuts, intersections, fire hydrants, and 
other obstructions that might prevent “creating” a usable parking space.  
18 “No Limit” parking stalls are parking spaces on-street that are unregulated, allowing unlimited parking duration. This contrasts with parking stalls that are time-limited, 
restricting the duration of use and requiring some level of corollary enforcement to facilitate compliance. 
19 Weather can, at times, affect parking activity, particularly for customers. For instance, rain/cold can reduce activity. Having sunny and clear weather for this study is 
advantageous, having no effect on parking activity. 

Attachment 3

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 244 of 342



Basalt Commons Development, The Dalles, OR  Parking Management Plan & Parking Demand Assessment 
 

 Page  16 May 2024 
  Version 4 

5.4 Format of the Parking Supply 
On-street 

Table 4 summarizes the breakout of the on-street parking supply in Downtown. As shown in the table, there are 789 on-street spaces located in 
the 21-block area around the Basalt Commons project site.  

• 99% of the on-street parking supply is No-Limit parking (stalls without any signage indicating a time restriction), which allows an 
unlimited time stay by any user (visitor, resident, employee).20  

• A total of 11 stalls are designated for handicapped parking (shown as ADA accessible). 
• Currently, no time restrictions are posted for stays on-street within the study area, all days, and all hours. 

Table 4:  Downtown On-Street Inventory by Use Type 
Use Type Stalls % Total 

On-Street Supply Studied 789 100% 

ADA accessible 11 1.4% 
No Limit 778 98.6% 

 

Off-street 

There are 30 off-street lots located within the study area. Combined, they total 729 parking stalls21. Two of the 30 lots are signed for “public 
parking,” totaling 112 stalls; this includes Lot 3 (80 stalls) and Lot 4 (32 stalls) – shown in Figure B and referenced in Table 7. 

Surveyors cataloged the lots by their observed use, looking at signage, adjacency of nearby buildings, street orientation, or inquiring with facility 
users. Table 5 summarizes the off-street supply based on these categories. Figure F in Appendix B provides a look at the location of these lots 
within the study area. 

 

 
20 As stated earlier, The Dalles has an on-street employee/resident restriction in the Downtown Parking District. The consultant did not find that this restriction was enforced or 
measurably impacting the use of the on-street system for purposes of estimating actual weekday and Saturday demand. 
21 It is worth noting most of the building use along 3rd Avenue is office (Gohbi/County, three banks, Salvation Army), consequently the parking demand related to these uses 
dissipates dramatically at 5:00 PM. 

Attachment 3

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 245 of 342



Basalt Commons Development, The Dalles, OR  Parking Management Plan & Parking Demand Assessment 
 

 Page  17 May 2024 
  Version 4 

Table 5:  Downtown Off-Street Inventory by Public Lot 
Use Type Sites Stalls % Total 
Off-Street 

Supply Studied 30 729 100% 

Institution 2 31 4% 
Mixed Use 2 33 5% 

Office 8 199 27% 
Public 2 112 15% 

Residential 1 39 5% 
Retail 13 275 38% 

Vacant 2 40 6% 
 

• The largest category of off-street lots is Retail, with 13 facilities representing 275 stalls or 38% of the study area’s supply.  
• The largest individual lot within the study area is an 80-stall public parking lot (Lot 3) located two blocks from the project site (corner of 

Washington and E 1st Street).  
• The lot located immediately south of the project site across E 3rd Street is a 41-stall lot serving Ace Hardware (Lot 17). 
• The lot west of the site, across Laughlin Street, is the 37-stall Gobhi lot (Lot 18); on-site signage identifies it as permit only. 

5.5 Parking Occupancies 
On-Street 

Figure C illustrates occupancy levels for the study area in hourly increments. All surveyed hours fall in the low-demand range for performance 
metrics described in Section 5.1 (green band). 

Key Findings: 

• Average Occupancy: Average weekday occupancy was 35% over the 13-hour survey day (32% on Saturday), indicating low demand 
(green band). 

• Peak Hour: Weekday peak occupancy occurs at 1:00 PM, when 47% of stalls are occupied (37% on Saturday at 12:00 PM).  
• Occupancy Trend: Weekday occupancies elevate early in the day and sustain themselves throughout the early afternoon, then taper off 

in the early evening. Saturday occupancies have less variation throughout the day, retaining consistent demand in the evening hours 

Attachment 3

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 246 of 342



Basalt Commons Development, The Dalles, OR  Parking Management Plan & Parking Demand Assessment 
 

 Page  18 May 2024 
  Version 4 

(e.g., restaurant/bar crowd). Nonetheless, overall demand for parking is very low relative to the available supply throughout the 
weekday and Saturday operating days. 

• Empty Stalls: Overall, there is a high percentage of empty on-street stalls during the weekday and Saturday. At the weekday peak hour 
(1:00 PM), 421 empty parking stalls were observed on-street in the study area; during the Saturday peak (12:00 PM), there were 496 
empty on-street stalls.  

Figure C: Weekday/Saturday On-Street Occupancies by Hour 

 
 

 

 

25
%

35
%

45
%

43
% 47

%

45
%

42
%

39
%

34
%

30
%

28
%

21
%

18
%

29
% 34

% 37
%

37
%

34
%

32
%

31
%

29
% 31

% 33
%

34
%

32
%

26
%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

9AM 10AM 11AM 12PM 1PM 2PM 3PM 4PM 5PM 6PM 7PM 8PM 9PM

City of The Dalles - Development Site Demand - Occupancy by Hour
Weekday vs. Saturday: 2023 on-street occupancies (789 stalls)

Weekday Saturday

Attachment 3

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 247 of 342



Basalt Commons Development, The Dalles, OR  Parking Management Plan & Parking Demand Assessment 
 

 Page  19 May 2024 
  Version 4 

Off-Street 

Figure D illustrates occupancy trends for the surrounding off-street supply in hourly increments. All surveyed hours fall in the low-demand range 
for performance (green band). 

Key Findings: 

• Average Occupancy: The average weekday occupancy was 23% over the 13-hour survey day and 15% on Saturday when all off-street 
parking is aggregated, indicating low demand for the off-street parking system relative to the available parking supply. 

• Peak Hour: Weekday peak occupancy was observed at 12:00 PM when 33% of stalls were occupied, while Saturday peak occupancy was 
observed at 11:00 AM when 19% were occupied.  

• Occupancy Trend: Weekday occupancies follow a similar trendline as the on-street supply, peaking around 12:00 PM with sustained 
rates through 3:00 PM, then tapering off through the end of the day. On Saturday, occupancy rates never reach 20%; as such, it is 
difficult to determine a prevailing trend.  

• Empty Stalls: A high percentage of off-street stalls are empty during the weekday and Saturday. During the weekday peak period (12:00 
PM), 489 empty parking stalls were observed off-street in the public supply; on Saturday, during the 11:00 AM peak hour, there were 
593 empty stalls.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Attachment 3

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 248 of 342



Basalt Commons Development, The Dalles, OR  Parking Management Plan & Parking Demand Assessment 
 

 Page  20 May 2024 
  Version 4 

Figure D: Weekday/Saturday Off-Street Occupancies by Hour 

 
 
Focusing on the weekday, with noticeably higher average occupancy rates, Table 6 provides a lot-by-lot breakout of peak hour performance in 
each of the five (5) off-street lots located closest to the development site. These sites were selected because of their location and size and to 
illustrate a potential shared-use solution for the site’s demonstrated off-site parking need. In actuality, any of the sites shown in Figure E below 
could be considered potential shared-use opportunity sites, as demand in all sites is low.  

The top row of this table shows the combined peak hour at the 12:00 – 1:00 PM hour (33%). All subsequent rows indicate the peak hour 
occupancy for each unique lot and the number of empty stalls during the stated peak.  

19
% 24

% 28
% 33

%

32
%

32
%

31
%

27
%

19
%

19
%

13
%

11
%

10
%14

% 18
%

19
%

18
%

14
%

12
%

12
%

12
% 14

% 16
%

15
%

13
%

11
%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

9AM 10AM 11AM 12PM 1PM 2PM 3PM 4PM 5PM 6PM 7PM 8PM 9PM

City of The Dalles - Development Site Demand - Occupancy by Hour
Weekday vs. Saturday: 2023 off-street occupancies (729 stalls)

Weekday Saturday

Attachment 3

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 249 of 342



Basalt Commons Development, The Dalles, OR  Parking Management Plan & Parking Demand Assessment 
 

 Page  21 May 2024 
  Version 4 

Each of the five (5) lots has more than 20 empty stalls during their individual peak hour and is within a two-block walking distance from the 
project site. Four (4) of the five (5) lots are privately owned, which would require personal follow-up if lease agreements (or purchases) were to 
occur. These five (5) lots combine for 133 empty parking stalls. Lots 6, 17, and 18 would have even more empty stalls as their individual peak 
hours occur well before the 8:00 PM peak hour of demand of the Basalt Commons Development. This would indicate an adequate parking 
supply if agreements were procured at these sites, not including other off-site facilities totaling 356 empty stalls. 
 
A complete list of each surveyed lot can be found in the Appendix of this report (Table 7). 

Table 6: Weekday Off-Street Occupancies by Unique Lot and Peak Hour 
ID Facility Stalls Peak Hour Peak Occupancy Empty Stalls 

 Total off-street supply studied (30 lots) 729 12:00 PM – 1:00 PM 33% 489 

4 Public Parking #2 32 7:00 PM - 8:00 PM* 13% 28 

6 Gravel Lot 37 9:00 AM - 1:00 PM 16% 31 

17 Sawyer's Ace Hardware 41 3:00 PM - 4:00 PM 41% 24 

18 Gobhi (Permit Only) 37 12:00 PM - 1:00 PM 27% 27 

19 Hammel Building Tenants  30 9:00 AM - 10:00 AM 23% 23 

*9:00 PM – 10:00 PM had identical demand 

Heat Maps 

Occupancy findings within a large study area boundary can often understate performance outcomes, masking localized areas of constraint. This 
can be addressed with heat maps that provide visual observation of smaller operating areas and the relationship between parking activity on-
street relative to the off-street supply. A heat map uses the same industry color-coded performance categories illustrated in Section 5.1 to 
display occupancy levels (red, orange, yellow, and green).  

Occupancies During Project’s Peak Demand – Weekday Evening 
Figure E (next page) summarizes on-street occupancy by block face and off-street occupancies by lot at a set time, 8:00 PM, during the peak 
period of demand for parking usage at the Basalt Commons.  

 

Attachment 3

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 250 of 342



Basalt Commons Development, The Dalles, OR  Parking Management Plan & Parking Demand Assessment 
 

 Page  22 May 2024 
  Version 4 

Key Findings: 

The study area has 24 total or partial city blocks. Within those 24 blocks are 84 block faces, 79 allowing vehicle parking.22 As part of the 
assessment, 30 off-street facilities were measured.  

On-street parking 

• During the observed weekday peak hour for the proposed project (8:00 PM), only one (1) block face is constrained and occupied at or 
above 85% (red). This represents just over 1% of all parkable block faces. 

• Two (2) block faces are in the “efficient” level (orange) – 3% of parkable block faces; both are located at least one block from the 
development site.  

• Four (4) block faces are considered to have “moderate” occupancy (yellow) – 5% of parkable block faces. One (1) is located on the east 
side of Jefferson Street across from the development site; the rest are at least two blocks away.  

• The remaining 72 block faces are green with low demand, 91% of parkable block faces.  

 

Off-street parking 

• At the proposed project's 8:00 PM weekday peak hour, only one surface lot (Lots #15 – Zims Frau Haus) shows an efficient occupancy 
level (orange) above the low-demand category. 

• All other off-street facilities show low demand (green). 

 
 

  

 
22 As a rule, a city “block” is generally comprised of four “block faces.”  Of these block faces, some allow the parking of a vehicle. Other block faces (or portions) 
may not allow parking. Block faces that allow vehicle parking are considered “parkable” for purposes of occupancy and utilization measurement. 

Attachment 3

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 251 of 342



Basalt Commons Development, The Dalles, OR  Parking Management Plan & Parking Demand Assessment 
 

 Page  23 May 2024 
  Version 4 

Figure E: Weekday Heat Map for On and Off-street Occupancy at 8:00 PM – During Peak Demand for Basalt Commons 

 

Attachment 3

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 252 of 342



Basalt Commons Development, The Dalles, OR  Parking Management Plan & Parking Demand Assessment 
 

 Page  24 May 2024 
  Version 4 

5.6  Occupancy Data Summary 
Except for a few isolated pockets of moderately-low parking demand, the parking system in this section of The Dalles has significant parking 
availability, both on and off-street, during peak hours (1:00/2:00 PM) and during the peak demand period for Basalt Commons (8:00 PM). As 
such, there is sufficient capacity to absorb additional parking demand that comes from new development. A protocol for setting up shared use 
agreements with existing off-site facilities would facilitate a program for moving residents and employees into off-street sites. Implementing on-
street parking time limits on commercial streets, as necessary to manage demand and turnover, would provide easy and convenient parking for 
visitors to this site and general growth in visitor parking downtown. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Attachment 3

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 253 of 342



Basalt Commons Development, The Dalles, OR  Parking Management Plan & Parking Demand Assessment 
 

 Page  25 May 2024 
  Version 4 

6.0 Assessment Summary 
The Basalt Commons is estimated to generate a peak need for 124 off-site vehicles during its peak-hour operations (8:00 PM). As described in 
Section 4.0, the development site will also accommodate the demand for up to 35 residential vehicles. For residents and employees, this can be 
reasonably accommodated in proximate off-street sites. Visitor demand can be easily accommodated on-street. To this end, the analyses 
provided in Sections 3.0 and 4.0 fully comply with the intent of 10.7.020.040 (F)(1) to provide a thorough and accurate parking demand 
analysis. 

Section 5.0 comprehensively examined parking occupancies and demand for parking within the defined study zone surrounding the proposed 
development site. The analysis looked at a typical weekday and a Saturday, measuring occupancy performance for both the on and off-street 
systems across 13-hour operating days. Given the current capacity within the parking system, all the vehicles can be accommodated within the 
reasonably adjacent supply (on and off-street), which currently performs at a very low level of demand relative to the available supply per 
parking industry standards, with abundant empty parking. To this end, the analysis provided in Section 5.0 fully complies with the intent of 
10.7.020.040 (F)(2) to provide a thorough and accurate parking demand analysis of off-street parking in the vicinity of the project. The 
standard was further exceeded with the inclusion of the on-street system. 

Section 5.0 also provided a lot-by-lot demand analysis of 30 off-street lots in the study area summarizing peak demand and unused parking 
capacity. This summary is included in Appendix A. A more focused summary was provided in Table 6 of five (5) potential shared-use opportunity 
sites close to the site. These five (5) sites alone have 133 empty parking stalls, more than enough to procure shared-use agreements for off-
street parking for residents and employees not served by the 35 on-site stalls. Further, there is an abundance of nearby available off-street 
parking stalls beyond these five (5) sites.  To this end, the analysis provided in Section 5.0 fully complies with the intent of 10.7.020.040 (F)(3) 
to conduct a shared-use analysis. 

As a corollary note, and to ensure that the overspill of long-term users from the site does not monopolize on-street parking, the City will need to 
strategically initiate time restrictions on directly abutting and proximate commercial block faces favoring customer/visitor trips and on-street 
turnover. On-street time restrictions will reinforce a shared use program for residents and employees, encouraging off-street options.  

In sum, the demand for parking downtown is low relative to the available parking supply. Available parking is abundant, providing a reasonably 
proximate space near almost any destination in the study area. A well-managed shared-use program by the developer of the Basalt Commons 
and a controlled on-street supply by the City that favors customers and visitors will bring new land uses to the downtown and capture 
efficiencies within the existing parking supply. This will contribute to greater vibrancy downtown with a more compact urban form. 

Attachment 3

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 254 of 342



Basalt Commons Development, The Dalles, OR  Parking Management Plan & Parking Demand Assessment 
 

 Page  26 May 2024 
  Version 4 

Appendix A – Weekday/Weekend Off-street Occupancies by Lot 

Table 7: Comparative Off-Street Peak Hour Occupancies by Lot – Weekday (blue) vs. Weekend (orange) 
Lot 
ID Facility Stalls Peak Hour Peak 

Occupancy 
Empty 
Stalls Use Type 

Off-Street Supply Studied 
(30 sites) 729 

12:00 PM - 1:00 PM 32.9% 489 
  

12:00 PM - 1:00 PM 18.7% 593 

1 Commodore II (Permit Only) 39 
10:00 AM - 1:00 PM 23.1% 30 

Residential 
4:00 PM - 10:00 PM 12.8% 34 

2 Authorized Parking Only 23 
2:00 PM - 4:00 PM 13.0% 20 

Office 
11:00 AM - 12:00 PM 4.3% 22 

3 Public Parking #1 80 
2:00 PM & 4:00 PM 32.5% 54 

Public 
7:00 PM - 8:00 PM 20.0% 64 

4 Public Parking #2 32 
7:00 PM & 9:00 PM 12.5% 28 

Public 
7:00 PM - 8:00 PM 12.5% 28 

5 JD Smith Jewelers/ StateFarm 14 
1:00 PM - 2:00 PM 50.0% 7 

Retail 
multiple 7.1% 13 

6 Gravel Lot 37 
9:00 AM - 1:00 PM 16.2% 31 

Office 
10:00 AM - 12:00 PM 2.7% 36 

7 Second Street Mercantile/ La Fogata 18 
1:00 PM - 2:00 PM 66.7% 6 

Retail 
7:00 PM - 9:00 PM 27.8% 13 

8 Wonderworks Children's Museum 15 
9:00 AM - 1:00 PM 33.3% 10 

Institution 
9:00 AM - 12:00 PM 6.7% 14 

9 RiverTap Restaurant and Pub 20 
7:00 PM - 8:00 PM 80.0% 4 

Retail 
6:00 PM - 10:00 PM 100.0% 0 

10 Mid Columbia Auto Dealing/ RiverTap Parking after 5 
pm 18 

multiple 72.2% 5 
Retail 

multiple 27.8% 13 

11 Dominoes/ Sinclair Gas/ Holsteins Coffee 31 
multiple 35.5% 20 

Retail 
6:00 PM - 7:00 PM 35.5% 20 

12 Optimist Printers 6 
11:00 AM - 12:00 PM 66.7% 2 

Retail 
9:00 AM - 10:00 PM 50.0% 3 

Attachment 3

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 255 of 342



Basalt Commons Development, The Dalles, OR  Parking Management Plan & Parking Demand Assessment 
 

 Page  27 May 2024 
  Version 4 

Lot 
ID Facility Stalls Peak Hour Peak 

Occupancy 
Empty 
Stalls Use Type 

13 Farmers Insurance/ Infinity 9 
multiple 33.3% 6 

Mixed Use 
2:00 PM - 3:00 PM 22.2% 7 

14 Gorge Recovery Service/ Rio Grande Taqueria 24 
1:00 PM - 2:00 PM 66.7% 8 

Mixed Use 
6:00 PM - 7:00 PM 45.8% 13 

15 Zims Brau Haus 17 
6:00 PM - 7:00 PM 100.0% 0 

Retail 
6:00 PM - 7:00 PM 70.6% 5 

16 Reserved for Salvation Army 16 
- 0.0% 16 

Institution 
- 0.0% 16 

17 Sawyer's Ace Hardware 41 
3:00 PM - 4:00 PM 41.5% 24 

Retail 
12:00 PM - 1:00 PM 43.9% 23 

18 Gobhi (Permit Only) 37 
12:00 PM - 1:00 PM 27.0% 27 

Office 
- 0.0% 37 

19 Hammel Building Tenants (Private Parking) 30 
9:00 AM - 10:00 AM 23.3% 23 

Office 
3:00 PM - 10:00 PM 6.7% 28 

20 Oliver's Floor Covering 8 
9:00 AM - 4:00 PM 50.0% 4 

Retail 
6:00 PM - 7:00 PM 37.5% 5 

21 Wells Fargo 21 
2:00 PM - 3:00 PM 52.4% 10 

Retail 
10:00 AM - 11:00 AM 52.4% 10 

22 The Dalles Chronicle 19 
multiple 63.2% 7 

Office 
9:00 AM - 1:00 PM 68.4% 6 

23 Umpqua Bank 10 
1:00 PM - 2:00 PM 70.0% 3 

Retail 
6:00 PM - 10:00 PM 50.0% 5 

24 Medical Arts Building 15 
3:00 PM - 4:00 PM 93.3% 1 

Office 
6:00 PM - 7:00 PM 60.0% 6 

25 Private Parking 16 
11:00 AM - 12:00 PM 62.5% 6 

Office 
9:00 AM - 12:00 PM 12.5% 14 

26 US Bank/ CenturyLink 39 
11:00 AM & 3:00 PM 33.3% 26 

Retail 
9:00 AM - 12:00 PM 10.3% 35 

27 Mid-Columbia Vision Source 22 
4:00 PM - 5:00 PM 45.5% 12 

Office 
6:00 PM - 7:00 PM 22.7% 17 

Attachment 3

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 256 of 342



Basalt Commons Development, The Dalles, OR  Parking Management Plan & Parking Demand Assessment 
 

 Page  28 May 2024 
  Version 4 

Lot 
ID Facility Stalls Peak Hour Peak 

Occupancy 
Empty 
Stalls Use Type 

28 Development Site - East Lot 10 
- 0.0% 10 

Vacant 
- 0.0% 10 

29 Development Site - West Lot 30 
1:00 PM - 3:00 PM 3.3% 29 

Vacant 
7:00 PM - 9:00 PM 3.3% 29 

30 Discounts Plus 32 
12:00 PM - 1:00 PM 43.8% 18 

Retail 
12:00 PM - 1:00 PM 59.4% 13 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Attachment 3

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 257 of 342



Basalt Commons Development, The Dalles, OR  Parking Management Plan & Parking Demand Assessment 
 

 Page  29 May 2024 
  Version 4 

Appendix B – Off-street Site by Land Use Category 

Figure F: Off-Street Sites Collected – By Land Use Type Served 
 

Attachment 3

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 258 of 342



Attachment 4

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 259 of 342



June 18,2024

To: The City of The Dalles

Dept.: Community Development Department

Subject: 523 East 3rd Street Development

To whom it may concern:

Being the owner of a business which is across the street from the above-referenced proposed
development, it concerns me greatly about the negative impact this project will have on our
business.

We purchased Downey Furniture in July of 2022; this business has been at the same location since
1968.

Since my wife and I purchased the business, one of our main concerns is providing customers with
parking. Many of our customers are elderly and often need help with walkers/wheelchairs when
entering our business.

On many days, the parking spots adjacent to our store are taken especially leading up to and after
the lunch hour.

Without a doubt parking already has had an impact on our business as we have heard this from
customers.

Allowing a project such as this to happen, which does not have enough parking spaces per any
standard will only hurt our business.

Unless the city can come up with a solution to ensure that long established businesses next to this
project have proper parking for their customers such as dedicated, time limited or metered parking
this project should NOT proceed.

Sincerely,

Bob and Debbie Wickwire

Downey Furniture and Design

(ffOt ^. ^ ^
-7^ bft.//^ RECEIVED

JUN 2 02024

City of The Dalles
Community Development Deot

Attachment 4

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 260 of 342



1

Paula Webb

From: Bets Stelzer <betsstelzer@gmail.com>
Sent: Monday, June 24, 2024 7:26 PM
To: cdd
Subject: Mary Hanlon Project

WARNING: Email from external source. Links and attachments could pose security risks. Investigate sender and think before you 
click.  

 
Hey guys, first of all thank you for everything you’ve done to get my project almost to the finish line now.  
 
I just want to put my two cents in about Mary Halon’s project. She mentioned that some downtown neighbors 
were concerned, and campaigning against it, and I just want to say how instrumental I believe this development 
to be to the success of my business and downtown in general. We need more people downtown, we need more 
walkers, and we need more housing.  
 
I have gotten to see firsthand the hollowing out of Hood Rivers labor market the last 10 years, simply because 
there wasn’t reasonable places to stay for single people or small families in the service industry. This 
development is going to be an amazing labor resource for downtown, and I fully expect to be able to find at 
least some part-time workers who want to be able to walk to work and who enjoy the neighborhood market. I 
also expect the convenient distance to my business to be a huge attraction to renters, and for renters to be a huge 
opportunity for business for me. 
 
In my view, this is an unquestioning good for the community, and a huge reason why I bought 315 federal and 
put in a grocery store. Myself, and the neighbors that I’ve talk to are all enthusiastic about the project, and there 
shouldn’t be any illusion that it’s not wanted because there are a couple of loud protesters. To my knowledge, 
we are all enthusiastic about it and anything we can do to help it succeed we will.  
 
Bets Stelzer  
541-993-2813  

Attachment 4

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 261 of 342



Attachment 5

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 262 of 342



Planning Commission Resolution 623A-24 
APL 037-24 to SPR 544-24 | Page 1 of 2 

RESOLUTION NO. PC 623A-24 

Denial of Appeal Application 037-24, Bob Wickwire, and affirming the Community 
Development Director’s approval of Site Plan Review 544-24, requesting approval to construct 
116 for-rent apartments, over +/-9,500 sf of retail space, resident amenities and building services 
in a +/- 96,000 gross sf, five-story, mixed-use building. Property is located at 523 East 3rd Street, 
in The Dalles, Oregon, as depicted in Assessor’s Map No. 1N 13E BD as Tax Lots 6700, 6800, 
and 6900. Property is zoned “CBC” – Central Business Commercial. 

I. RECITALS:
A. On August 15, 2024, the Planning Commission of the City of The Dalles conducted a

public hearing to consider the above appeal.  A staff report was presented and stated
findings of fact, conclusions of law, and a staff recommendation.  Testimony and other
evidence was submitted and entered into the hearing record.

B. The staff report and its attachments, the evidence presented at the public hearing, and
all other components of the hearing record provide the basis for the Planning
Commission’s decision and this Resolution and are incorporated herein by reference.

II. RESOLUTION:
Now, therefore, be it FOUND, DETERMINED, and RESOLVED by the Planning Commission 
of the City of The Dalles as follows: 

A. In all respects, as set forth in Recitals, Part “I” of this Resolution:
Appeal 037-24 is hereby denied.

III. APPEALS AND CERTIFICATION:
A. Any party of record may appeal a decision of the Planning Commission to the City

Council for review. Appeals to the Planning Commission’s final decisions on quasi-
judicial planning actions must be made according to Section 3.020.080 of the Land Use
and Development Ordinance.

B. The Secretary of the Commission shall (a) certify to the adoption of this Resolution and
(b) transmit a copy of this Resolution with the notice of appeal decision to all parties
participating in the appeal.

Continued on next page. 

CITY of THE DALLES 
313 COURT STREET 

THE DALLES, OREGON 97058

(541) 296-5481 ext. 1125
PLANNING DEPARTMENT

Attachment 6

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 263 of 342



Planning Commission Resolution 623A-24 
APL 037-24 to SPR 544-24 | Page 2 of 2 

APPROVED AND ADOPTED THIS 15th DAY OF AUGUST, 2024. 

Cody Cornett, Chair 
Planning Commission 

I, Joshua Chandler, Community Development Director for the City of The Dalles, hereby certify 
that the foregoing Resolution was adopted at the regular meeting of the City Planning 
Commission, held on the 15th day of August, 2024. 

AYES: 

NAYS:  

ABSENT:  

ABSTAIN:  

ATTEST:  
Joshua Chandler 
Community Development Director 
City of The Dalles 

Attachment 6

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 264 of 342



Planning Commission Resolution 623B-24 
APL 037-24 to SPR 544-24 | Page 1 of 2 

RESOLUTION NO. PC 623B-24 

Approval of Appeal Application 037-24, Bob Wickwire and reversing the Community 
Development Director’s approval of Site Plan Review 544-24, requesting approval to construct 
116 for-rent apartments, over +/-9,500 sf of retail space, resident amenities and building services 
in a +/- 96,000 gross sf, five-story, mixed-use building. Property is located at 523 East 3rd Street, 
in The Dalles, Oregon, as depicted in Assessor’s Map No. 1N 13E BD as Tax Lots 6700, 6800, 
and 6900. Property is zoned “CBC” – Central Business Commercial. 

I. RECITALS:
A. On August 15, 2024, the Planning Commission of the City of The Dalles conducted a

public hearing to consider the above appeal. A staff report was presented and stated
findings of fact, conclusions of law, and a staff recommendation. Testimony and other
evidence was submitted and entered into the hearing record.

B. During that hearing, the Planning Commission challenged staff’s recommendation to
deny Appeal Application 037-24 and to affirm the Community Development Director’s
denial of Site Plan Review 544-24, citing inconsistencies with staff’s findings of unmet
criterion; specifically, the Planning Commission identified the following criteria to
validate its determination:
1. Text to be inserted following Planning Commission deliberations.

2. Text to be inserted following Planning Commission deliberations.
C. The staff report and its attachments, the evidence presented at the public hearing, and

all other components of the hearing record provide the basis for the Planning
Commission’s decision and this Resolution and are incorporated herein by reference.

II. RESOLUTION:
Now, therefore, be it FOUND, DETERMINED, and RESOLVED by the Planning Commission 
of the City of The Dalles as follows: 

A. In all respects, as set forth in Recitals, Part “I” of this Resolution:
Appeal 037-24 is hereby approved.

III. APPEALS AND CERTIFICATION:
A. Any party of record may appeal a decision of the Planning Commission to the City

Council for review. Appeals to the Planning Commission’s final decisions on quasi-

CITY of THE DALLES 
313 COURT STREET 

THE DALLES, OREGON 97058

(541) 296-5481 ext. 1125
PLANNING DEPARTMENT

Attachment 7

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 265 of 342



 
Planning Commission Resolution 623B-24 
APL 037-24 to SPR 544-24 | Page 2 of 2 
 

judicial planning actions must be made according to Section 3.020.080 of the Land Use 
and Development Ordinance. 

B. The Secretary of the Commission shall (a) certify to the adoption of this Resolution and 
(b) transmit a copy of this Resolution with the notice of appeal decision to all parties 
participating in the appeal. 

 
APPROVED AND ADOPTED THIS 15th DAY OF AUGUST, 2024. 
 
 
 
  
Cody Cornett, Chair 
Planning Commission 
 
 
I, Joshua Chandler, Community Development Director for the City of The Dalles, hereby certify 
that the foregoing Resolution was adopted at the regular meeting of the City Planning 
Commission, held on the 15th day of August, 2024. 
 
AYES:     

NAYS:       

ABSENT:       

ABSTAIN:     

 
 
ATTEST:     
 Joshua Chandler 
 Community Development Director, City of The Dalles 
 Planning Commission Secretary 
 

Attachment 7

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 266 of 342



CITY of THE DALLES 
313 COURT STREET 

THE DALLES, OREGON 97058 

(541) 296-5481 ext. 1125
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT 

CERTIFICATE OF MAILING 

I hereby certify that I served the attached  

Notice of Public Hearing

regarding: 

APL 037-24 – Bob Wickwire 

On August 1, 2024, by mailing a correct copy thereof, certified by me as such, contained in a sealed 
envelope, with postage paid and deposited in the post office at The Dalles Oregon on said day.  
Between the said Post Office and the address to which said copy was mailed, there is a regular 
communication by US Mail. 

DATED:    August 1, 2024 

Secretary 
Community Development Department 

Attachment 8

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 267 of 342



PC Public Hearing Mail Out 

 

 
 

 
 

Century Link 
902 Wasco St 
Hood River OR 97031 

Attachment 8

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 268 of 342



418 E 2ND ST LLC 
592 SE ANDOVER PL 
PORTLAND, OR 97202 

 
516E297058 LLC 
PO BOX 582 
HOUSTON, TX 77001 

 
616 E 3RD ST LLC 
19305 SOUTHWEST TETON AVE 
TUALATIN, OR 97062 

ALLEN PATRICIA SCHANO 
4384 N 6TH ST 
HARRISBURG, PA 17110 

 
AMICCI BRUNO C TRUSTEE 
12205 SW WINTERHAWK LN 
BEAVERTON, OR 97007 

 
BACKUS NICOLE M 
414 JEFFERSON ST 
THE DALLES, OR 97058 

BAKER ROGER L 
9 MONROE PKY STE 140 
LAKE OSWEGO, OR 97035 

 
BARRTELL PROPERTIES LLC 
PO BOX 2317 
THE DALLES, OR 97058 

 
BIG RAM LLC 
608 E 2ND ST 
THE DALLES, OR 97058 

BONHAM DANIEL G & LORILYN E 
624 E 2ND ST 
THE DALLES, OR 97058 

 
C & E LLC 
PO BOX 1371 
THE DALLES, OR 97058 

 
CHRISMAN & CHASE LLC 
200 E MAIN ST 
ENTERPRISE, OR 97828 

CLARK HOWARD P 
508 E 2ND 
THE DALLES, OR 97058 

 
COLUMBIA LODGE #5 IOOF 
1100 W 18TH ST 
THE DALLES, OR 97058 

 
CREZ PARTNERS LLC 
PO BOX 331 
THE DALLES, OR 97058 

ENTERPRISE TD LLC 
2406 NE 32ND AVE 
PORTLAND, OR 97212 

 
FIRST INTERSTATE BANK OF OR 
PO BOX 2609 
CARLSBAD, CA 92018 

 
FISHER JOHN & REBEKAH T 
421 E 4TH ST 
THE DALLES, OR 97058 

GOLZ CHRISTOPHER H 
417 E 4TH 
THE DALLES, OR 97058 

 

GREATER GORGE COMMUNITY 
HOUSING LLC 
312 COURT ST STE 419 
THE DALLES, OR 97058 

 

GREATER GORGE COMMUNITY 
HOUSING LLC 
500 E 2ND ST 
THE DALLES, OR 97058 

GRIZZLY FIREFIGHTERS INC 
PO BOX 17426 
SALEM, OR 97305 

 
HEISLER STANLEY D 
PO BOX 3 
THE DALLES, OR 97058 

 
MANCIU ANTHONY 
612 E 3RD 
THE DALLES, OR 97058 

MATTHEW BUILDINGS LLC 
PO BOX 939 
THE DALLES, OR 97058 

 
PENTA LLC 
2860 ARBOR DR 
WEST LINN, OR 97068 

 
QUEENLAND INVESTMENTS LLC 
812 E 20TH ST 
THE DALLES, OR 97058 

RUSHFORD PROPERTY PARTNERS LLC 
PO BOX 1562 
HOOD RIVER, OR 97031 

 
SALVATION ARMY THE 
8495 SE MONTEREY AVE 
HAPPY VALLEY, OR 97086 

 
SALVATION ARMY THE 
623 E 3RD ST 
THE DALLES, OR 97058 

Attachment 8

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 269 of 342



SAWYER PROPERTIES 
3350 SW XERO CT 
REDMOND, OR 97756 

 
SAWYER PROPERTIES LLC 
500 E 3RD ST 
THE DALLES, OR 97058 

 
SAWYER WARREN & MARCIA 
500 E 3RD ST 
THE DALLES, OR 97058 

SMITH PENELOPE A 
409 LAUGHLIN 
THE DALLES, OR 97058 

 
TD3RD LLC 
101 SW MAIN ST, STE 825 
PORTLAND, OR 97204 

 
TD3RD LLC 
101 W 2ND ST #2049 
THE DALLES, OR 97031 

THE DALLES CITY OF 
313 COURT ST 
THE DALLES, OR 97058 

 
TKW PROPERTIES LLC 
3426 BROKEN TEE DR 
HOOD RIVER, OR 97031 

 
TLG PROPERTIES LLC 
PO BOX 362 
WOLF CREEK, MT 59648 

VANN VINCENT JEFFERY 
3100 OLD DUFUR RD 
THE DALLES, OR 97058 

 
VERGEER RONALD D & CAROL L 
601 E 3RD ST 
THE DALLES, OR 97058 

 
WALTERS RONALD & KATHRYN 
2710 SE MERRITT DR 
BATTLE GROUND, WA 98604 

WASCO COUNTY ADMINISTRATOR 
511 WASHINGTON 
THE DALLES, OR 97058 

 
WEED THOMAS E & KERRI P 
3426 BROKEN TEE DR 
HOOD RIVER, OR 97031 

 
WOOLSEY SAMUEL H 
751 E 18TH ST 
THE DALLES, OR 97058 

ZSBG DEVELOPMENT LLC 
2530 E 14TH 
THE DALLES, OR 97058 

 
ZSBG PROPERTY LLC 
2530 E 14TH 
THE DALLES, OR 97058 

   

         

         

         

         

Attachment 8

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 270 of 342



Notice of Public Hearing 
APL 037-24 | Wickwire Page 1 of 3 

 

 

 

August 1, 2024 
 
 

NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING 
 
Notice is hereby given that the City of The Dalles Planning Commission will conduct a quasi-
judicial public hearing on Thursday, August 15, 2024 at 5:30 p.m.  The meeting will be held in 
the City Hall Council Chambers, 313 Court Street, The Dalles, Oregon 97058.  The meeting will 
be conducted in a room in compliance with ADA standards.  Anyone requiring accommodations 
may call the office of the City Clerk, (541) 296-5481, ext. 1119, Monday through Friday, from 
8:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. to make arrangements.  Interested parties may attend in person, via Zoom 
at https://us06web.zoom.us/j/88147760127?pwd=bzF6UVBBS0EvaDIxTEVyRngrbExmQT09, 
or by phone at 1-253-215-8782 or 1-669-900-6833.  Meeting ID:  881 4776 0127, Passcode:  
007612.  The livestream can be viewed at www.thedalles.org/live_streaming. 
 
This notice is sent to affected agencies, parties of record, and property owners within 300 feet of 
the subject property.  The request is outlined below, and followed by procedures for the public 
hearing.  The application and all related documents, as well as the applicable criteria, are 
available for viewing in the Community Development Department in City Hall.  
 
APPELLANT: Bob Wickwire 
 
APPLICATION 
NUMBER: APL 037-24 
 
REQUEST: Appeal of the administrative approval of Site Plan Review (SPR) 

544-24 on July 12, 2024, for the approval to construct 116 for-rent 
apartments, over =/-9,500 sq. ft. of retail space, resident amenities 
and building services in a  =/-96,000 gross sq. ft., five-story, mixed-
use building. 

 
PROPERTY OWNER: TD3RD LLC 
 
LOCATION:  The property is located at 523 E. 3rd Street and further described as 1N 13E BD 
tax lots 6700, 6800, and 6900.  Property is zoned CBC – Central Business Commercial District. 
 
REVIEW CRITERIA:  City of The Dalles Municipal Code Title 10 Land Use and 
Development, Section 3.020.080 Appeal Procedures, Article 3.030 Site Plan Review, Article 
5.050 CBC – Central Business Commercial District, Chapter 10.6 General Regulations, Chapter 
10.7 Parking Standards, Chapter 10.10 Improvements Required with Development. 
 

CITY of THE DALLES 
313 COURT STREET 

THE DALLES, OREGON 97058 
  

(541) 296-5481 ext. 1125 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT 

Attachment 8

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 271 of 342

https://us06web.zoom.us/j/88147760127?pwd=bzF6UVBBS0EvaDIxTEVyRngrbExmQT09
http://www.thedalles.org/live_streaming


Notice of Public Hearing 
APL 037-24 | Wickwire Page 2 of 3 

COMMENT PROCEDURE: 
1. Signed written comments may be submitted prior to the hearing by mail or personal 

delivery.  Faxes will be accepted only if sent to 541-296-6906.  Emails will be accepted 
only if sent to jchandler@ci.the-dalles.or.us.  All comments must include the name and 
address of the person making the comments.  Comments for a quasi-judicial hearing 
which are longer than one side of one page shall be accepted only by mail or in person 
and only if 12 copies are presented.  Comments must be at least equal in size to ten point 
type.  Comments must be received by 5:00 p.m .on the hearing date or may be presented 
in person at the hearing.  Additional information relating to comments and the quasi-
judicial hearing process can be found in The Dalles Municipal Code, Title 10 Land Use 
and Development, Article 3.020.070.  The full Code is on line at www.thedalles.org.  

2. Failure to raise an issue during the public hearing process, in person or by letter, or 
failure to provide statements or evidence sufficient to afford the decision maker an 
opportunity to respond to the issue will preclude an appeal to the City Council and the 
Land Use Board of Appeals based upon that issue. 

3. Copies of all review criteria and evidence relied upon by the decision maker or evidence 
provided by the applicant are available for free review or may be purchased at the 
Community Development Department, 313 Court Street, The Dalles, Oregon  97058.  
A Staff Report will be available for inspection seven days prior to the hearing. 

 
DECISION PROCESS: 

1. An application is received, decision date set, and notice mailed to property owners within 
300 feet of the subject property. 

2. All affected City departments and other agencies are asked to comment. 
3. All timely comments and the application are weighed against the approval criteria in a 

Staff Report. 
4. The provisions of The Dalles Municipal Code and the City of The Dalles Comprehensive 

Plan must be met. 
5. A decision is reached by the City Council based on the Findings of Fact in the Staff 

Report and other evidence submitted. 
6. Parties of Record (notified property owners, affected public agencies, and other parties 

who make timely comment) will receive a Notice of Decision. 
7. Aggrieved parties may appeal a quasi-judicial decision to the City Council within 10 days 

of the date a Notice of Decision is mailed, subject to the requirements for appeal 
procedures. 

 
Please direct any questions to Joshua Chandler, Director, Community Development Department 
at (541) 296-5481, ext. 1121, or contact via e-mail jchandler@ci.the-dalles.or.us.  

Attachment 8

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 272 of 342

mailto:jchandler@ci.the-dalles.or.us
mailto:jchandler@ci.the-dalles.or.us


E  3 R D  S T

E  2 N D  S T

E  4 T H  S T

E  1 S T  S T

M
A

D
I S

O
N

 S
T

L
A

U
G

H
L

I N
 S

T

F I R
E  R

D

F
E

D
E

R
A

L
 S

T

J
E

F
F

E
R

S
O

N
 S

T

I - 8 4  E

M
O

N
R

O
E

 S
T

W
A

S
H

I N
G

T
O

N
 S

T

0 100 200 300 400

FeetProperties within 300 feet of
APL 37-24

523 E. 3rd Street
1N 13E 3 BD, tax lots 6700, 6800, 6900

City of The Dalles
Community Development
Department
August 1, 2024 | JC ¹

Subject Property

Notified Properties

Taxlots

Roads

Ê

Ê

C o
l u

m
b i

a  
R i

v e
r

Ê
Ê

Attachment 8

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 273 of 342



APL  37-24

Attachment 9

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 274 of 342



Attachment 9

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 275 of 342



CITY of THE DALLES 
313 COURT STREET 

THE DALLES, OREGON 97058 

(541) 296-5481 ext. 1125
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT 

CERTIFICATE OF MAILING 

I hereby certify that I served the attached  

Notice of Administrative Decision

regarding: 

SPR 544-24 – Chris Hodney, Hacker Architects 

On July 12, 2024, by mailing a correct copy thereof, certified by me as such, contained in a sealed 
envelope, with postage paid and deposited in the post office at The Dalles Oregon on said day.  
Between the said Post Office and the address to which said copy was mailed, there is a regular 
communication by US Mail. 

DATED:    July 12, 2024 

Secretary 
Community Development Department 

Attachment 10

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 276 of 342



NOD Mail Out 

 
 
 
CENTURY LINK MARK POPPOFF 
902 WASCO ST 213 E 9th ST 
HOOD RIVER OR 97031 THE DALLES OR 97058 

Attachment 10

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 277 of 342



CHRIS HODNEY 
HACKER ARCHITECTS 
555 SE MLK JR BLVD, STE 501 
PORTLAND OR 97214 

 
TD3RD LLC 
101 W 2ND ST, #2049 
THE DALLES OR 97058 

 
RONALD & KATHRYN WALTERS 
2710 SE MERRITT DR 
BATTLE GROUND WA 98604 

BOB & DEBBIE WICKWIRE 
DOWNEY FURNITURE & DESIGN 
601 E 3RD ST 
THE DALLES OR 97058 

 
BETS STELZER 
VIA EMAIL:  
BETSSTELZER@GMAIL.COM 

 
DANIEL MEADER 
911 E 7TH ST 
THE DALLES OR 97058 

         

         

         

         

         

         

         

         

Attachment 10

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 278 of 342



Notice of Decision 
SPR 544-24 | Chris Hodney, Hacker Architects  Page 1 of 5 

 

 

 

 
NOTICE OF ADMINISTRATIVE DECISION 

SPR 544-24 
Chris Hodney, Hacker Architects 

 
DECISION DATE: July 12, 2024 
 
APPLICANT: Chris Hodney, Hacker Architects 
 
PROPERTY OWNER: TD3rd, LLC 
 
REQUEST: Applicant is requesting approval to construct 116 for-rent 

apartments, over +/-9,500 sq. ft. of retail space, resident amenities 
and building services in a +/- 96,000 gross sq. ft., five-story, mixed-
use building. 

 
LOCATION: The subject property is located at 523 East 3rd Street and further 

described as 1N 13E 3 BD tax lots 6700, 6800, 6900. 
 
COMPREHENSIVE   
PLAN AND ZONING  CBC – Central Business Commercial District 
DESIGNATIONS: 
 
AUTHORITY: City of The Dalles Municipal Code, Title 10 Land Use and 

Development 
 
DECISION:  Based on the findings of fact and conclusions in the staff report of SPR 544-24, 
the request by Chris Hodney, Hacker Architects is hereby approved with the following 
conditions: 

1. Conditions Requiring Resolution Prior to Final Plan Approval: 
a. Final plan submission must meet all requirements of The Dalles Municipal Code, 

Title 10 Land Use and Development, and all other applicable provisions of The 
Dalles Municipal Code. 

b. Applicant is required to submit a specific schedule for completion of project phases to 
ensure construction is diligently pursued toward completion. 

CITY of THE DALLES 
313 COURT STREET 

THE DALLES, OREGON 97058 
  

(541) 296-5481 ext. 1125 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT 

Attachment 10

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 279 of 342



Notice of Decision 
SPR 544-24 | Chris Hodney, Hacker Architects  Page 2 of 5 

c. The applicant is required to demonstrate that a Conditional Use (CUP) for the 60 ft. 
building height is approved, or submit revised plans that comply with the building 
height of the underlying zoning district (55’). 

d. All construction/design plans for public infrastructure, improvements, or ROW shall 
be approved by the City Engineer. 

e. A sanitary sewer analysis is required to be submitted for this development and 
approved by the City Engineer. 

f. The Applicant shall ensure the private stormwater facilities can manage drainage 
from the subject development and shall coordinate any main line extensions with the 
City Engineer. 

g. All proposed street trees shall be chosen from a list provided by the City. 
h. All street tree planting systems must be approved by the Public Works Director, or 

designee. 
i. The Mid-Columbia Fire and Rescue Fire Marshal must approve all proposed street 

tree locations. 
j. The City Engineer must approve all proposed street tree locations to ensure 

compliance with TDMC 10.6.010.060(E). 
k. The bicycle parking on E. 3rd Street right-of-way is required to be approved by the 

City Engineer or will need to be located on-site consistent with the requirements of 
TDMC 10.7.040.030(A).  

l. The Applicant shall coordinate all required easements with local utilities and establish 
said easements on the final plan.  

m. The development must provide sufficient space to accommodate no less than four (4) 
motorcycles and/or mopeds. 

n. All mail delivery facility locations must be approved by the Postmaster. 

2. Conditions Requiring Resolution Prior to Building Permit Issuance:  
a. A detailed site plan, construction/design and landscape plan consistent with the 

conditions of approval included within this Staff Report must be approved by the 
Director and City Engineer prior to permit approval. 

b. The Minor Partition and Final Plat to consolidate the three tax lots into one tax lots 
shall be approved prior to the issuance of building permits. 

c. All construction/design plans for public infrastructure, improvements, or rights-of-
way required with this development must be approved by the City Engineer. 

d. All System Development Charges shall be paid. 
e. Plans submitted with the subsequent building permits shall be consistent with the 

approved Site Plan Review.  
f. A cut and fill permit is required on all excavation that exceeds 50 cubic yards.  If the 

excavation exceeds 250 cubic yards, plans must be completed by a licensed engineer. 

Attachment 10

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 280 of 342



Notice of Decision 
SPR 544-24 | Chris Hodney, Hacker Architects  Page 3 of 5 

3. Conditions Required Prior to Construction: 
a. Prior to the installation of public facilities, a pre-construction meeting is required 

between the City and the Applicant. 
b. Applicant is required to obtain all applicable City permits for the planting of these 

trees. 
c. Walkways, including driveway and accessway crossings, shall be constructed and 

maintained for pedestrian safety, and shall meet the requirements of the Americans 
with Disabilities Act, the State of Oregon Structural Specialties Code, and the Oregon 
Revised Statutes. 

d. The Applicant will be required to record all utility easements proposed for this 
development.   

4. Conditions Required During Construction: 
a. The Applicant shall take effective action to prevent the escape of sediment from the 

site by installation of erosion and sediment control measures and practices prior to, 
and concurrent with, land disturbing activities. 

b. The Applicant shall prevent the formation of any airborne dust nuisance and shall be 
responsible for any damage resulting from failure to do so. 

c. An oil/water separator must be installed on the subject property and a maintenance 
agreement established with the City’s Public Works Department. 

d. All ROW improvements must be constructed to City standards. 

5. Conditions Required Prior to Occupancy: 
a. All required landscaping and improvements shall be completed or financially 

guaranteed per the provisions of Section 10.9.040.060(I):  Performance Guarantee 
prior to occupancy. 

b. All parking spaces shall be striped and hard surfaced prior to occupancy. 
c. All required improvements, including all ROW improvements, shall be installed prior 

to occupancy. 
d. All ADA signage and spaces must be installed on site as shown on the site plan prior 

to occupancy. 

6. Ongoing Conditions: 
a. All development must adhere to the approved site plan for this development. 
b. All proposed lighting shall not directly illuminate adjoining properties.  Lighting 

sources in the parking area shall be shielded and arranged to prevent glare in any 
public ROW, with a maximum illumination at the property line not to exceed an 
average horizontal foot-candle of 0.3 for non-cut-off lights, and 1.0 for cut-off lights.  

c. All required landscaping shall be irrigated and maintained.  If street trees or other 
plant materials do not survive or are removed, materials shall be replaced in kind by 
the developer or party responsible for removing the trees and/or plant material. 

Attachment 10

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 281 of 342



Notice of Decision 
SPR 544-24 | Chris Hodney, Hacker Architects  Page 4 of 5 

d. Trees shall be pruned by the property owner, to provide a minimum clearance of 9 
feet above sidewalks and 14 feet above street and roadway surfaces. 

e. All points of access for refuse collection shall remain unobstructed. 
f. Pursuant to TDMC 6.080.020, no tenant of the development (commercial or 

residential) may park along the E. 3rd Street and Laughlin Street frontages during the 
hours of 9am-6pm.  All violators will be towed at their own expense. 

g. To allow for weekly street sweeping within the downtown area, no tenant of the 
development (commercial or residential) may park along the E. 3rd Street frontage 
during the hours of 12pm-7am each day of sweeping.  At this time, sweeping occurs 
each Friday morning, but may change at a future date. 

 
Signed this 12th day of July, 2024 by 

 
Joshua Chandler 
Director  
Community Development Department  
 
 
TIME LIMITS:  The period of approval is valid for the time period specified for the particular 
application type in City of The Dalles Municipal Code, Title 10 Land Use and Development.  All 
conditions of approval shall be fulfilled within the time limit set forth in the approval thereof, or, 
if no specific time has been set forth, within a reasonable time.  Failure to fulfill any of the 
conditions of approval within the time limits imposed can be considered grounds for revocation 
of approval by the Director. 
 
Please Note!  No guarantee of extension or subsequent approval either expressed or implied can 
be made by the City of The Dalles Community Development Department.  Please take care in 
implementing your approved proposal in a timely manner. 
 
APPEAL PROCESS:  The Director’s approval, approval with conditions, or denial is the City’s 
final decision, and may be appealed to the Planning Commission if a completed Notice of 
Appeal is received by the Director no later than 5:00 p.m. on July 22, 2024.  The following may 
file an appeal of administrative decisions: 

1. Any party of record to the particular administrative action. 
2. A person entitled to notice and to whom no notice was mailed.  (A person to whom notice 

is mailed is deemed notified even if notice is not received.) 
3. The Historic Landmarks Commission, the Planning Commission, or the City Council by 

majority vote. 

Attachment 10

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 282 of 342



Notice of Decision 
SPR 544-24 | Chris Hodney, Hacker Architects  Page 5 of 5 

A complete record of application for administrative action is available for review upon request 
during regular business hours, or copies can be ordered at a reasonable price, at the City of The 
Dalles Community Development Department.  Notice of Appeal forms are also available at The 
Dalles Community Development Office.  The fee to file a Notice of Appeal is $250.00.  The 
appeal process is regulated by Section 10.3.020.080:  Appeal Procedures of The Dalles 
Municipal Code, Title 10 Land Use and Development. 

Attachment 10

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 283 of 342



SPR 544-24, Chris Hodney | Hacker Architects 
Basalt Commons 
Staff Report Page 1 of 26 

STAFF REPORT 
Site Plan Review 544-24 

Chris Hodney, Hacker Architects 
Basalt Commons 

Procedure Type: Administrative 

Assessor’s Map: Township 1 North, 13 East, Section 3 BD 

Tax Lots: 6700, 6800, 6900 

Address: 523 E. 3rd Street 

Zoning District: “CBC” Central Business Commercial 

Subdistrict: CBC-2 

Prepared by: Joshua Chandler, Community Development Director 

Date Prepared: July 12, 2024 

REQUEST:  Applicant is requesting approval to construct 116 for-rent apartments, over +/-
9,500 sq. ft. of retail space, resident amenities and building services in a +/- 96,000 gross sq. ft., 
five-story, mixed-use building. This document is limited to Site Plan Review only.  

The Basalt Commons Mixed Use development has two additional land use applications reviewed 
through the Community Development Department (CDD).  

• Minor Partition (MIP 438-24): Consolidation of 3 parcels. Approved on June 18, 2024.

• Conditional Use (CUP 212-24): Allow height increase from 55’ maximum to 60’.
Currently under appeal (APL 036-24) and awaiting a City Council decision at the July
22, 2024 hearing.

The Conditions of Approval address the timing and approval of these applications in relation to 
the development of the property. 

NOTIFICATION:  Property owners within 100 feet, City Departments and Franchise Utilities. 

CITY of THE DALLES 
313 COURT STREET 

THE DALLES, OREGON 97058

(541) 296-5481 ext. 1125
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT

Attachment 11

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 284 of 342



SPR 544-24, Chris Hodney | Hacker Architects 
Basalt Commons 
Staff Report Page 2 of 26 

COMMENTS RECEIVED: Three comments were received during the 14-day comment period 
are compiled in Attachment 4 and are outlined below: 

• June 13, 2024:  Ronald and Kathryn Walters | 518 E. 2nd Street.  The comment received 
was in opposition of the project due to the total number of proposed units. The Walters 
believe that the lack of parking will create a huge problem for everyone much further 
than a 100’ vicinity. In addition, they also cite a potential negative impact on nearby 
property values.  
RESPONSE #1:  This Staff Report will address the applicable development standards, 
including parking, in subsequent findings below.     

• June 18, 2024:  Bob and Debbie Wickwire | 601 E. 3rd Street.  The comment received 
expressed concern over the proposed development due to the overall lack of parking 
spaces provided. As a result, the Wickwires believe allowing this project to continue with 
the lack of parking will only hurt businesses in the area. They believe that the project 
should not proceed unless the unless the City can come up with a solution to ensure that 
long established businesses next to this project have proper parking for their customers 
such as dedicated, time limited or metered parking. 
RESPONSE #2:  This Staff Report will address the applicable development standards, 
including parking, in subsequent findings below. In addition, the City is currently in the 
process of evaluating downtown parking as a whole with a 2024 Downtown Parking 
Assessment, which will outline tools, and techniques the City may use to manage parking 
within the downtown area. This assessment is anticipated for completion by fall 2024.     

• June 24, 2024:  Bets Stelzer | betsstelzer@gmail.com.  The comment received was in 
overall support for the project for various reasons, namely the positive impact it will have 
on the downtown area, ultimately leading to more people downtown, more walkers, and 
addressing the overall need for more housing.  
RESPONSE #3:  No comment.       

ATTACHMENTS:   
• Attachment 1 – Site Plan Review Plan Set 
• Attachment 2 – Traffic Impact Study and Update 
• Attachment 3 – Parking Management Plan and Demand Assessment 
• Attachment 4 – Comments Received - Compiled 

 
REVIEW CRITERIA: 
City of The Dalles Municipal Code 
Title 10 Land Use and Development 

Section 10.3.010.040 Applications 
A. Acceptance 
FINDING #1:  The Applicant submitted a pre-application (Site Team) request on April 9, 
2024, and the meeting was held on April 25, 2024.  Following the Site Team meeting, the 
City provided Applicant meeting notes on April 29, 2024. Applicant submitted the 

Attachment 11

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 285 of 342



SPR 544-24, Chris Hodney | Hacker Architects 
Basalt Commons 
Staff Report Page 3 of 26 

application and materials for Site Plan Review (SPR) No. 544-24 on May 7, 2024.  
Following the submittal, Staff deemed the application incomplete on May 14, 2024, and 
requested additional information to include with the application materials.  Applicant 
submitted the remainder of the application material on May 29, 2024.  Criteria met.  
B. Completeness 
FINDING #2:  The application was deemed complete on May 29, 2024.  Criterion met.  

Section 10.3.020.040 Administrative Actions 
B. Decision Types. 
FINDING #3:  Pursuant to The Dalles Municipal Code (TDMC), an SPR application is 
processed as an Administrative Action unless elevated to a Quasi-Judicial Action.  Criterion 
met.  
C. Notice of Application 
FINDING #4:  A Notice of Application for Administrative Action was mailed June 10, 2024 
to property owners within 100 feet, as well as any affected governmental agency, department, 
or public district within whose boundaries the subject property lies.  Criterion met.  
D. Staff Report 
FINDING #5:  This document serves as the Staff Report.  Criterion met. 

Article 3.030 Site Plan Review 
Section 10.3.030.020 Review Procedures  
A. Process. 
FINDING #6:  As a condition of approval, this decision requires a detailed site plan, 
construction/design plans, and landscaping plans, consistent with all other conditions of 
approval, to be approved by the Community Development Director and the City Engineer 
before a building permit is issued.  Criterion met with conditions. 

Section 10.3.030.040 Review Criteria 
A. City Ordinance Provisions. 
FINDING #7:  Provisions for the proposed development are further addressed in subsequent 
findings.  Criterion met. 
B. Public Facilities Capacity. 
FINDING #8:  A Site Team meeting was held on April 25, 2024 with Staff detailing the 
public facilities that exist to the site and the facility requirements for the proposed 
development. It is the responsibility of the Applicant to determine specific site needs for the 
proposed development.  Upsizing or upgrading of existing utilities will incur additional 
System Development Charges payable to the City. Additional fees will be collected through a 
separate building permit process.  A condition of approval is included that requires all 
construction and design plans for public infrastructure, improvements, or rights-of-way 
(ROW) be approved by the City Engineer. Utility and ROW Improvement Plans (Attachment 
1, C100-600) were submitted with the application. In addition, a specific building setback 
from an existing powerline was required by Northern Wasco County PUD Electric.  The Site 

Attachment 11

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 286 of 342



SPR 544-24, Chris Hodney | Hacker Architects 
Basalt Commons 
Staff Report Page 4 of 26 

Plan (Attachment 1, SPR-01) submitted with the application shows the setbacks from the 
exiting power lines.  Criterion met with conditions. 
C. Arrangement of Site Elements. 

1. Promote pedestrian, bicycle, and vehicular safety and welfare. 
FINDING #9: The site plan illustrates pedestrian walkways and bicycle parking to promote 
pedestrian, bicycle, and vehicular safety.  Details regarding these features will be addressed 
in the subsequent findings in the Staff Report. Criterion met. 

2. Preserve and maintain public amenities and significant natural features. 
FINDING #10:  No significant natural features were identified at the subject site.  No public 
amenities exist on site per the Existing Conditions Plan (Attachment 1, C-101).  Criterion 
met. 

3. Avoid traffic congestion. 
FINDING #11:  The Applicant included a Turning Movement Plan (Attachment 1, C-202) 
indicating how vehicle circulation will be managed on site to avoid traffic congestion. 
Vehicular access to the site is taken from the alley via one way in and one way out access. In 
addition, a Traffic Impact Study (TIS), included as Attachment 2, was submitted as the 
proposed development will result in the creation of 16 or more dwelling units, pursuant to 
TDMC 10.10.060(A)(1).  City Staff reviewed the TIS and determined the development 
would not require additional traffic mitigation tactics to control congestion at any of the 
nearby intersections.  Criterion met. 

4. Minimize potential adverse impacts on surrounding properties. 
FINDING #12:  The Staff Report addresses additional zone standards and requirements of 
this article in subsequent findings. A Parking Management Plan and Parking Demand 
Assessment (PMP/PDA), included as Attachment 3 was provided to address the impacts and 
mitigation of impacts of additional parking on the surrounding properties. Criterion met. 
D. Design Standards – All Development. 

1. Scale.  Buildings with walls greater than 80 feet in length shall include street 
façades that are varied and articulated at regular 20-, 30-, 40- or 50-foot intervals along 
the façade to provide the appearance of smaller buildings.  Articulation shall be achieved 
through the use of offsets, jogs, variation of finishes, projections, windows, bays, porches, 
traditional storefront elements, entries or other similar distinctive changes. 

FINDING #13:  Attachment 1, SPR-08 Exterior Elevations, depicts the proposed building 
articulation, which comprises an overall length of 301 feet along E. 3rd Street, and a width of 
66 feet along Jefferson and Laughlin streets. To mitigate the building's length, the design 
incorporates shifts in the building plane along E. 3rd Street, breaking the massing into varied 
facade widths ranging between roughly 37 and 92 feet. The choice of irregular and varied 
intervals in the façade was intentional to emulate the district's building widths, creating 
deeper usable outdoor seating at the ground floor, and directly reflecting the varied 
residential unit types within the building's upper floors. Each resulting facade is further 
articulated with a regular rhythm of piers that reflect the unit widths and the rooms within. 

Attachment 11

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 287 of 342



SPR 544-24, Chris Hodney | Hacker Architects 
Basalt Commons 
Staff Report Page 5 of 26 

At the upper floors, pier spacing is varied, and infilled with a variety of window types, accent 
material panels, and small (Juliette) balconies. These varied infill strategies reflect the 
diversity of living uses and enable residents to activate the facade and connect with the 
outdoors. 
The ground floor is differentiated from the upper facades in height, material, and amount of 
glazing and storefront. Pier spacing is widened to allow for transparency and visual 
connection from the sidewalk to the commercial space within. Storefront windows and 
entries are recessed into the façade to provide necessary articulation and shadow relative to 
the height of the ground floor. Criterion met. 

2. Parking Location. 
FINDING #14:  Attachment 1, SPR-01 and SPR-02 illustrate the proposed parking area, 
which is an open, tuck-under surface parking lot. The lot is located along and accessed from 
the northern alley. The parking lot is set back from both Laughlin and Jefferson streets and 
screened with the building and landscaped outdoor courtyard. Criterion met. 

3. Fences/Walls. 
FINDING #15:  No fences and/or walls are proposed in the front and/or corner side yards.  
Criterion not applicable.  

4. Parking Lot Landscaping.  
FINDING #16:  TDMC 10.7.030.040 (B) states that this standard is not applicable in alleys 
and accessways. All proposed parking is screened from Jefferson and Laughlin streets by the 
building and a landscaped courtyard. Refer to Attachment 1, SPR-01, SPR-02, and L-500. 
Criterion not applicable. 

5. Pedestrian/Bicycle Circulation.  
FINDING #17:  The proposed site plan is depicted on Attachment 1, SPR-01 and SPR-02. 
All retail entries and the residential lobby entry (which is the single shared residential 
entrance) are directly accessed and connected to the public ROW via sidewalks along 
Laughlin, E. 3rd, and Jefferson streets. On-site parking is connected to the residential lobby at 
the southeast corner of the lot, with retail access provided along E. 3rd Street. This proposed 
development does not include open space areas. All sidewalks are not less than 5 feet in 
width. Criterion met. 

6. Building Orientation. 
FINDING #18:  The proposed building is oriented directly to all streets, with residential unit 
windows, balconies, and storefront entries equally oriented along all street facades. Refer to 
Attachment 1, SPR-01, and SPR-08. Criterion met. 

7. Front Porches.  
FINDING #19: There is no front setback required and no front porches are proposed.  
Criterion not applicable.   

8. Trim and Details. 
FINDING #20:  Prefinished sheet metal trim and flashing will be utilized at all windows, 
doors, and cladding seams to provide visual detail, scale, and durability to the upper floors of 

Attachment 11

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 288 of 342



SPR 544-24, Chris Hodney | Hacker Architects 
Basalt Commons 
Staff Report Page 6 of 26 

the building. The ground-floor storefront and entry areas will utilize durable trim and steel 
accent materials to accentuate the storefront windows, transoms and canopies and integrate 
mechanical venting. Refer to Attachment 1, SPR-08. Criterion met. 
E. Design Standards – Residential. In addition to design standards for all development, the 
following standards shall apply to the different types of residential development: 

2. Multifamily dwellings (3 or more units) shall: 
a. Have variation in roof plane and elevation. This standard is met by providing one 

of the following details: 
i. Eaves on all sides of the building; 

ii. An overhang or projecting roof form, for example, over a front porch; 
iii. An offset along the ridge of the highest roof form that is at least 1 foot in 

height; or 
iv. At least one secondary roof form in addition to the primary or largest roof 

elevation, such as a cross-gable, dormer, or similar roof form as shown in 
Figure 1 below. 

v. For 3 and 4 dwellings exceeding 25 feet in height, eave or parapet at 25 feet 
and pitched roof for remainder of height. 

FINDING #21:  Flat rooflines are required in the CBC-2 Subdistrict per TDMC 
10.5.050.080(B)(2), and maximum setbacks are zero feet per TDMC 10.5.050.060. 
Therefore, items 2.a.ii, iv, and v are not applicable to a multifamily building within the CBC-
2 Subdistrict. 
The proposed massing articulation provides significant variation of the elevation/building 
plane, and a varied roofline. The building is a flat roof building like other downtown 
buildings in context and therefore has no eaves or ridgelines in the roof. Instead, a stepped 
parapet line is provided at each alternate massing  (as permitted by TDMC 
10.5.050.080(B)(2)) and is offset 16 inches in height and 12 inches in depth to reinforce the 
feeling of separate buildings provided by the massing. Refer to architectural elevations on 
Attachment 1, SPR-08. Criterion met. 

b. Have stairways to upper floors which are illuminated to a minimum of 1 foot 
candle (11 lux) and protected by a canopy or enclosure from wind, rain, sun, and 
snow. 

FINDING #22:  All residential units and spaces on upper floors are accessed via internal 
elevator, corridor, and stairways. These accessways will be protected from external elements 
and lit with a minimum of 1.0-foot candle as required by the Building Code. Refer to 
Attachment 1, SPR-02 through SPR-07.  Criterion met. 

c. Locate any garages or carports at least 10 feet behind the front building line. 
FINDING #23:  The parking lot is separated from the front building line (E. 3rd Street) by 42 
feet (the depth of the retail) as depicted on Attachment 1, SPR-01.  Criterion met. 

d. Provide individual covered dwelling unit entrances, such as covered front 
porches, portico or similar architectural detail. 

Attachment 11

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 289 of 342



SPR 544-24, Chris Hodney | Hacker Architects 
Basalt Commons 
Staff Report Page 7 of 26 

FINDING #24:  All residential units share a common lobby entrance along E. 3rd Street. All 
units are at the upper floors (2-5) and have individual entries located off an internal corridor. 
Refer to Attachment 1, SPR-02 through SPR-06. Criterion met. 

e. Have articulation such that no individual wall plane that is more than 500 square 
feet in area; wall planes must be broken up by changes in plane of not less than 1 
foot. 

FINDING #25:  The proposed design is reflective of the scale of the context and the 
buildings in the CBC-2 Subdistrict and of urban mixed-use, pedestrian oriented development. 
The building is articulated into primary building planes ranging between 2,500 sf and 4,200 
2,800-5,500 sf separated from each other by 7 feet of depth. 
Each façade plane is further articulated by regularized window alignments and material 
detailing, and a horizontal band of material change at every floor. Windows and accent 
materials are recessed into the primary fiber cement panel material by 2 inches and are 
contrasting in color to the primary façade. This effectively articulates the facade into planes 
ranging between 35 and 80 square feet. See Attachment 1, SPR-01 and SPR-08 for building 
articulation.  Criterion met. 

f. Have a horizontal line that breaks up the vertical mass of the building; this 
standard is met by providing a belt course, bellyband, change in materials or color, 
or similar detail that extends the width of all exterior walls. 

FINDING #26:  The ground-floor is differentiated from the upper floors with a material 
change – from plastered brick along the ground-floor to fiber-cement panels at the upper 
floors. The horizontal band of brick is 34 inches tall, and is additionally strengthened with a 
2-inch-tall, recessed shadow line and horizontal break. Each upper floor is further articulated 
with a 7-inch-tall horizontal band at each floor line. See Attachment 1, SPR-08 for details.  
Criterion met.  

g. Where multifamily use is combined with a nonresidential use (mixed-use), the site 
plan review standards of this section (multifamily dwelling design) shall apply. 
Additionally, as applicable, nonresidential ground floors shall have a weather 
protection canopy or awning, corner entrance (entrance is within 20 feet of corner, 
for corner buildings) and ground floor detailing. 

FINDING #27:  The proposal combines ground-floor non-residential (retail/restaurant) with 
residential use on the upper floors and is in compliance with the SPR standards for 
multifamily design. The proposed design is illustrated in Attachment 1, SPR-01, and SPR-08. 
Changes in building plane are provided with the 7-foot-deep shifts in the proposed massing. 
The ground floor is articulated with brick piers and varied-width bays to differentiate picture 
windows vs. retail entries. All entrances are oriented directly to the streets and public ROW. 
Canopies provide weather protection at all storefronts and entry openings along Laughlin, E. 
3rd, and Jefferson streets. Primary retail entries are at or within 20 feet of the corner, and 
secondary retail entries/exits will be spaced along the street frontages between. The primary 
residential entry is approximately 23 feet west of the southeast building corner. Criterion 
met.  

  

Attachment 11

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 290 of 342



SPR 544-24, Chris Hodney | Hacker Architects 
Basalt Commons 
Staff Report Page 8 of 26 

F. Lighting. 
FINDING #28:  Exterior lighting on the proposed building is illustrated on Attachment 1, 
SPR-10 and SPR-11. All exterior lights illuminate the immediately adjacent on-site spaces, 
or pedestrian path and entries at the surrounding ROWs. There are no adjoining properties – 
all are separated by a public ROW; however, the provided photometric plan (Attachment 1, 
SPR-11) illustrates the lighting levels will not exceed 1.0 ft. candle at the rear property line 
adjacent to the alley which is adjacent to buildings on an adjoining property. Criterion met. 
G. City Engineer Approval. 
FINDING #29:  Attachment 1, C-200, C-201, C-300, C-400, and C-500 illustrate all 
proposed plans for the infrastructure and ROW affected by the proposal. All proposed civil 
design work is in accordance with city standards. Curb Ramp Design Exception Requests 
have been provided with this application for the ADA curb ramps at Laughlin and at 
Jefferson streets. A condition of approval is included that requires any construction/design 
plans for any public infrastructure, improvements, or ROW affected by, or located within, the 
proposed development site be approved by the City Engineer prior to issuing a building 
permit.  Criterion met with conditions. 
J.  Improvements Required of Development. 
FINDING #30:  Staff will address this criterion in subsequent findings. Criterion met with 
conditions.  

Section 10.3.030.070 Time Limits and Extensions 
FINDING #31:  Pursuant to TDMC 10.3.030.070 (A),  

The duration of the site plan review approval shall be one year from the date of final 
approval. Construction must be commenced and diligently pursued toward completion 
within the one year period or the site plan approval shall expire, and a new application 
required 

For long-term and ongoing projects expected to be completed over a period of years, a 
specific schedule for completion of project phases may be a condition of approval (TDMC 
10.3.030.070(C)). In previous discussions, the Applicant mentioned this project will certainly 
require an extended period of time for final design, permitting, and construction, and 
requested the one-year expiration period outlined in TDMC 10.3.030.070(A) be extended to 
three (3) years. After further review, Staff determined an initial three (3) year extension 
request may not be granted from the onset of application approval; therefore, the application 
shall be valid for a period of one (1) year from the date of the Notice of Decision. As a 
condition of approval, the Applicant is required to submit a specific schedule for completion 
of project phases to ensure construction is diligently pursued toward completion.  
Additionally, TDMC 10.3.030.070(B) provides for an extension of up to twelve months, 
approved by the CDD Director, if submitted no less than one month prior to the expiration of 
SPR approval. Criterion met with conditions.  

Article 10.5.050 CBC Central Business Commercial District: Sub-district 2 Downtown 
Core  
Section 10.5.050.030 Permitted Uses 

Attachment 11

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 291 of 342



SPR 544-24, Chris Hodney | Hacker Architects 
Basalt Commons 
Staff Report Page 9 of 26 

A. Primary Uses:  
• Food Services 
• Professional and admin. Offices and services 
• Residential uses as Follows: CBC-2, All dwellings so long as the ground floor is a 

permitted commercial use 
• Retail Uses 

FINDING #32:  Proposed uses are tabulated on Attachment 1, SPR-02. The proposed uses 
of multifamily residential, retail (or leasable commercial such as restaurant) are permitted 
outright within the CBC-2 zone, provided that the ground floor is a permitted commercial 
use. The entire ground floor is commercial use except for the lobby and leasing spaces for the 
apartment entry. All residential units are located on upper floors. Criterion met.  

Section 10.5.080.060 Development Standards 
Setbacks:  
Front and Corner Side- 0 ft maximum* *Applicant may request up to 15-foot exception 
where outdoor seating for food service is proposed. 
Side and Rear- No min or max, except 15 ft. where shares lot line with residential zone* 

FINDING #33:  The proposed building footprint is depicted in Attachment 1, SPR-01 and 
SPR-02. The proposed development is built up to the ROW for the majority of the front and 
side lot lines (facing Laughlin, E. 3rd, and Jefferson streets). The building is set back 7 feet 
from the property line at two locations along E. 3rd Street. These are intended to expand the 
usable sidewalk for outdoor retail/café seating, help activate the pedestrian walkways and 
storefront, and further articulate the overall bulk of the building to meet other standards. As 
illustrated in SPR-01, the upper stories of the building step back 1.5 feet from the ground 
floor to accentuate the ground floor, and allow separation from existing power lines at the 
Jefferson and Laughlin street frontages. The property does not share a lot line with a 
residentially zoned property.  
Pursuant to TDMC 10.2.030, “setbacks” are defined as  

“The minimum allowable horizontal distance from a given point or line of reference, 
which for purposes of this Title shall be the property line unless otherwise excepted, to 
the nearest vertical wall of a building or structure, fence, or other elements as defined by 
this Title.”   

Staff determined the nearest vertical wall of the proposed building complies with the zero 
setback requirement of the CBC-2 Subdistrict. Criterion met. 

Lot Size, Width, Depth: No minimum/one full City block maximum provided any public 
rights-of-way are maintained 

FINDING #34:  As previously mentioned, the proposed development includes three separate 
land use applications, including a Minor Replat (MIP 438-24) to consolidate three parcels 
into a single lot, surrounded on all frontages by public street and alley. This application was 
approved on June 18, 2024. With the approval of MIP 438-24, the parcel will be less than a 
full city block and meet the maximum lot size requirement. A condition of approval will be 

Attachment 11

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 292 of 342



SPR 544-24, Chris Hodney | Hacker Architects 
Basalt Commons 
Staff Report Page 10 of 26 

added by staff requiring the Final Plat be approved prior to the issuance of building permits. 
Criterion met with conditions.  

Building Height: 55 ft. maximum, except 75 ft. with a conditional use permit.  
FINDING #35:  TDMC 10.6.090.010.A.3 provides an exception to the underlying zoning 
district building height limits for necessary structural components of a building not used for 
human occupancy and measuring less than 75 feet in height in nonresidential zones. For 
consideration of this application, the Applicant demonstrated an overall physical building 
height of 63 feet, 4 inches, including 3 feet, 4 inches of “necessary roof structures”; however, 
the applicant presented a proposed building height of 60 feet for purposes of areas used for 
human occupancy. The additional building height of 5 feet, which exceeds the maximum 
building height in the CBC zoning district, is being reviewed under Conditional Use Permit 
CUP 212-24. In the event CUP is not approved, a condition of approval is included that 
requires the Applicant, prior to final plan approval, to demonstrate that a CUP for the 60-foot 
building height is approved, or submit revised plans that comply with the building height of 
the underlying zoning district (55 feet). Criterion met with conditions. 

Building Orientation: Primarily toward a street or designated accessway rather than a 
parking area. 

FINDING #36: The proposed building and all primary building entrances are oriented to the 
surrounding streets. Criterion met. 

Pedestrian Access: All building entrances shall have a clear pedestrian connection to the 
street and sidewalk per 10.5.050.070.C 

FINDING #37: Refer to Attachment 1, SPR-01 and SPR-02. The building entrances are 
immediately open and adjacent to the surrounding ROW at Laughlin, E. 3rd, and Jefferson 
streets. Criterion met. 

Off-Street Parking 
FINDING #38: Staff will address this criterion in subsequent findings. Criterion met. 

Landscaping 
FINDING #39: Staff will address this criterion in subsequent findings. Criterion met. 

Access Management 
FINDING #40: See Finding #62. Criterion met. 

Section 10.5.050.070 Design Standards- All Development 
A. Exterior Elevations. 
FINDING #41:  The building elevations are depicted on Attachment 1, SPR-08. 
Architectural features such as building plane offsets, differentiation of the ground floor, 
varied window and opening infill, Juliet balconies, and detailed storefront openings help to 
articulate the overall façade and give prominence to the pedestrian level. 
Specifically, the following horizontal and vertical features are used: 

Horizontal Features – 

Attachment 11

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 293 of 342



SPR 544-24, Chris Hodney | Hacker Architects 
Basalt Commons 
Staff Report Page 11 of 26 

The whole building length is broken down into five building plane changes with offsets 
to more relate to the existing context and adjacent building scales. Each building plane is 
further articulated horizontally with piers which mark the rhythm of structure and 
residential rooms within. Between the piers, regular stacks of varied-width window 
openings are punctuated by accent panels, casements, and Juliet balconies. 
Vertical Features – 
A material change, a 32-inch-tall masonry ‘belly band’, and metal shadow reveal 
differentiate the ground floor from the upper floors. Storefront window and entry 
openings are vertically articulated with sills raised 2 feet above the sidewalk, and a strong 
transom and canopy datum 12 feet above the sidewalk. Each upper floor is delineated 
with a horizontal 7-inch-tall fiber cement trim board. At the roofline, the parapet 
comprises a fiber cement trim board, and a detailed 16-inch-tall metal coping which sets 
back 12 inches. The additional height request allows the ground floor to have a civic 
scale that matches existing patterns. Criterion met. 

B. Entries. 
FINDING #42: Refer to Attachment 1, SPR-01 and SPR-02. All commercial space entries 
are primarily located at the corners, and secondary entries will be located along the streets. 
Residential units on the upper floors are accessed through a shared residential lobby and 
leasing area along E. 3rd Street, and individually entered through internal corridors at the 
upper floors. No exterior stairways are proposed. Criterion met. 
C. Pedestrian Walkways. 
FINDING #43: Refer to Attachment 1, SPR-01. Concrete sidewalks extend to the recessed 
building entrances with shortest practical distance and easy access. The pedestrian sidewalks 
are on three sides of the building with the vehicle driveway/ aisle being located and separated 
from the building in the north along the alley. Criterion met. 

Section 10.5.050.080 Design Standards – Sub-district CBC-2 
B. Sub-District CBC-2 (Downtown Core) 

1.  Building Exteriors. 
FINDING #44:  Building materials are provided on the building elevations in Attachment 1, 
SPR-08 and SPR-09. The proposed building is primarily clad with masonry at the ground 
floor, and fiber-cementitious paneling at the upper floors. No wood, metal siding, or vinyl 
materials are proposed as primary materials. The upper floor fiber-cement panels will be 
arranged and detailed to minimize panel edges and joints and mimic a similar scale and 
arrangement of joints that would be seen in commercial plaster or brick facades (floor line 
joints, vertical joints at each pier). Secondary materials will include aluminum storefront; 
prefinished sheet metal flashings, copings, and fascia panels; and durable steel detailing at 
storefront openings and entries. Tertiary materials include reclaimed wood siding, art 
screening, and murals. Staff interprets this code provision to apply directly to primary 
building finishes only, as standard building construction materials will inevitably include to 
some degree wood, metal, or vinyl materials. For example, common commercial and 
residential storefront and window systems include all three of these materials and is evident 

Attachment 11

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 294 of 342



SPR 544-24, Chris Hodney | Hacker Architects 
Basalt Commons 
Staff Report Page 12 of 26 

in the majority, if not all, of the existing buildings in the surrounding downtown area. 
Criterion met.  

2.  Roofs.  
FINDING #45:  Refer to Attachment 1, SPR-08 and SPR-07. The proposed building utilizes 
a flat roof. Criterion met. 

3.  Minimum Building Height.  
FINDING #46:  Pursuant to TDMC 10.5.050.080(B)(3), within the CBC-2 Subdistrict, 
buildings shall be at least 16 feet minimum height with a façade having the architectural 
appearance of a 2-story structure. As previously mentioned, the proposed building height is 
60 feet. See Finding #35 for height specific conditions of approval.  Criterion met. 

Article 6.010 Landscaping Standards 
Section 10.6.010.030 General Provisions 
B. Landscaping Plans 
FINDING #47:  Landscaping plans were submitted with the application.  Criterion met. 
C.  Completion Prior to Occupancy. 

FINDING #48:  A condition of approval is included that requires all landscaping and 
improvements be completed, or financially guaranteed per the provisions of Section 
10.9.040.060(I): Performance Guarantee prior to occupancy.  Criterion met with 
conditions. 
E.  Maintenance. 
FINDING #49:  An ongoing condition of approval is included that requires all landscaping, 
buffering, and screening be irrigated and maintained.  Criterion met with conditions. 
G.  Trees in Public Rights-of-Way. 
FINDING #50:  As shown on landscape plans (Attachment 1, L-200 through L-760) street 
trees are provided along the street frontages of E. 3rd, Jefferson, and Laughlin streets. A 
condition of approval is included that requires the street trees be selected from the City’s list 
prior to final plan approval. In addition, the Applicant is required to obtain all applicable City 
permits for the planting of these trees. Criterion met with conditions. 
H.  Preservation of Significant Trees. 
FINDING #51:  Staff determined no tree species exist on or abutting the subject property.  
Criterion not applicable. 
J. Irrigation Systems. Irrigation systems shall be required where necessary to assure survival 
of plant materials. 
FINDING #52: Attachment 1, L-600 illustrates an irrigation system to assure survival of 
plant materials.  Criterion met. 

  

Attachment 11

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 295 of 342



SPR 544-24, Chris Hodney | Hacker Architects 
Basalt Commons 
Staff Report Page 13 of 26 

K. Vision Clearance.  
FINDING #53: Pursuant to TDMC 10.6.100.020, vision clearance at street intersections and 
alley intersections with streets shall not be required in the CBC - Central Business 
Commercial District. Criterion not applicable. 
L. Fences.  
FINDING #54: See Finding #15.  Criterion not applicable. 

Section 10.6.010.060 Street Trees 
A. General. Street trees shall count toward the required landscape requirement. Street trees 
shall be planted and maintained in accordance with the following standards for all public 
street frontages, and along private street and accessways more than 150 feet long. Street 
trees shall be required in all zoning districts where there is a designated planting strip in the 
public right-of-way. Selection of species may be made from the recommended tree list 
provided by the Director. 
FINDING #55:  As shown on landscape plans (Attachment 1, L-200 through L-760) street 
trees are provided along the street frontages of E. 3rd, Jefferson, and Laughlin streets. The 
tree species are required to be consistent with the tree list provided by the City of The Dalles 
planning department. A condition of approval is included that requires the street trees be 
selected from the City’s list prior to final plan approval. Criteria met with conditions.   
B. Spacing. 
FINDING #56:  The Planting Plan (Attachment 1, L-500) shows trees spaced 30 feet on 
center.  Criterion met. 
C. Planting Requirements. 
FINDING #57: Pursuant to TDMC 10.6.010.060(C), trees planted within 5 feet of 
permanent hard surface paving or walkways shall use special planting techniques and 
specifications approved by the Public Works Director. As a condition of approval, all street 
tree planting systems must be approved by the Public Works Director, or designee, prior to 
final plan approval. Criterion met with conditions. 
D. Fire Hydrants. 
FINDING #58: Pursuant to TDMC 10.6.010.060(D), street tree clearance from fire hydrants 
shall be as specified in the Uniform Fire Code as adopted by the local fire protection district. 
As a condition of approval, the Mid-Columbia Fire and Rescue Fire Marshal must approve 
all proposed street tree locations prior to final plan approval.  Criterion met with 
conditions. 
E. Location. 
FINDING #59: As a condition of approval, the City Engineer must approve all proposed 
street tree locations prior to final plan approval to ensure compliance with TDMC 
10.6.010.060(E).  Criterion met with conditions. 
G. Clearance. 

Attachment 11

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 296 of 342



SPR 544-24, Chris Hodney | Hacker Architects 
Basalt Commons 
Staff Report Page 14 of 26 

FINDING #60: As an ongoing condition of approval, trees shall be pruned, by the property 
owner, to provide a minimum clearance of 9 feet above sidewalks and 14 feet above street 
and roadway surfaces.  Criterion met with conditions. 

Section 10.6.010.070 Required Landscaping by Zone 
CBC-2:  none 
FINDING #61 There are no on-site landscape requirements in the CBC-2 Subdistrict.  
Criterion met. 
Article 6.050 Access Management 
E.  Emergency Access. 
FINDING #62: Pursuant to TDMC 10.6.050.030(E), all development shall be arranged on 
site so as to provide safe and convenient access for emergency vehicles. The proposed 
development will provide unobstructed access on E. 3rd, Laughlin, and Jefferson streets, as 
well as providing alley access. Criterion met. 

Chapter 10.7 Parking Standards 
Section 10.7.020.040 Allowed Motor Vehicle Parking Reductions, Waivers, and 
Exemptions 
D. Off-Street Parking Waiver. Minimum off-street parking spaces required by Article 7.060: 
Minimum and Maximum Off-Street Parking Requirements may be waived for the following: 

2.     The property is located within Sub-district CBC-2 in the Central Business 
Commercial district, as defined in Section 10.5.050.020: Sub-Districts. 

FINDING #63:  As previously mentioned, the subject property is located within the CBC-2 
Subdistrict. Pursuant to TDMC 10.7.020.040(D)(2), the minimum off-street parking 
requirement may be waived for properties located within the CBC-2 Subdistrict. The 
Applicant proposed to apply this waiver to the development prior to formal application 
submission. This parking waiver provision provides flexibility in overall parking 
requirements and complements Comprehensive Plan Goal #10 Housing, Policy 14 which 
states:  

“Development standards in residential and mixed use areas shall provide for flexibility in 
site planning and development. Standards shall consider flexibility for lot sizes, setbacks, 
accessory residential uses on the same lot, parking, alleyways and other development 
features.” 

In addition, as discussed in Finding #51, Staff determined from the submitted PMP/PDA 
(Attachment 3), that the existing parking demand and off-street parking analysis support this 
proposed development. Criterion met.  
F.     Parking Management Plan. The off-street parking requirements in Article 7.060: 
Minimum and Maximum Off-Street Parking Requirements may be reduced or added to based 
on an approved parking management plan submitted by the applicant which adequately 
demonstrates that the plan will meet the parking needs of the proposed project without 
negative impact to adjacent uses. The approving authority shall approve, approve with 

Attachment 11

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 297 of 342



SPR 544-24, Chris Hodney | Hacker Architects 
Basalt Commons 
Staff Report Page 15 of 26 

conditions, or deny the parking management plan. The parking management plan must 
include the following and be prepared by a licensed professional engineer: 

1.     A parking demand analysis for the project. 
2.     A project vicinity off-street parking supply and demand analysis. 
3.     A shared parking analysis. 

FINDING #64:  The Applicant voluntarily provided a PMP/PDA (Attachment 3) prepared 
by a licensed professional engineer that complies with the provisions of TDMC 
10.7.020.040(F)(1-3) and submitted it to be reviewed concurrently with the SPR application.  
Demand Analysis 
As referenced in the PMP/PDA, in using a “stacked demand” analysis, the proposed 
development would require up to 199 total parking spaces. The stacked demand is the total 
peak hour demand for each use layered on top of one another without considering any 
potential reductions to overall parking totals. Conversely, a “shared demand” analysis 
determined that the proposed development would require up to 152 parking spaces at a peak 
parking demand (8pm-9pm), the time when restaurant crowds and residents are at or 
returning home for the evening. Both of these totals do not account for the 35 on-site parking 
spaces proposed with this development. In doing so, the stacked demand model would result 
in the need for 164 on-street parking spaces and 117 on-street parking spaces with the shared 
demand model.  
In addition, Staff used this information to verify the total minimum parking requirements of 
the proposed development pursuant to TDMC 10.7.060.010. This figure represents a 
comparison to the “stacked demand” model referenced within the PMP/PDA.  

• Residential: 5 or more dwelling units 
o Minimum: 1 space per dwelling unit 
o 1 per dwelling unit (116 units) =   116 spaces 

• Retail Trade 
o Minimum: 3.5 spaces/1,000 SF floor area  
o 3.5 spaces/1,000 SF floor area at 6,858 sf =  24 spaces 

• Restaurants (without drive-thru) 
o Minimum: 7 spaces/1,000 SF floor area  
o 7 spaces/1,000 SF floor area at 2,985 sf =  21 spaces 

 
Total =  161 spaces 

Similar to the PMP/PDA, TDMC 10.7.020.070 provides a formula when calculating 
minimum/maximum parking requirements for proposed mixed-use developments much like 
that of the “shared demand” model referenced above. When applying this formula, the total 
minimum parking requirement (in this case 161 spaces) is calculated as follows:  

Primary Use. The primary use (largest portion of total floor area within the development) 
at 100% of the minimum vehicle parking required 

Attachment 11

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 298 of 342



SPR 544-24, Chris Hodney | Hacker Architects 
Basalt Commons 
Staff Report Page 16 of 26 

• Residential: 5 or more dwelling units = 116 spaces 
Secondary Use. The secondary use or uses (second largest proportion of total floor area 
within the development) at 70% of the minimum vehicle parking required  

• Retail Trade: 24 spaces x 70% = 17 spaces 

Subsequent Uses. Subsequent use(s) at 50% of the vehicle parking required 

• Restaurants (without drive-thru): 21 spaces x 50% = 11 
 

Total =  144 spaces 
Both of these totals do not account for the 35 on-site parking spaces proposed with this 
development. In doing so, the standard minimum parking requirement per TDMC would 
result in the need for 126 on-street parking spaces and at least 109 on-street parking spaces 
with the “mixed-use” model.  
Overall, both Staff’s analysis of the PMP/PDA and existing provisions of TDMC determined 
a minimum of 109 on-street parking spaces needed for this development.  
Parking Supply and Occupancy 
In addition to determining overall minimum parking needs for the development, the 
PMP/PDA provided a study of existing conditions within a vicinity of the subject property 
(“study area”). This study area included analysis of all on-street and off-street (both public 
and private) parking spaces west to east from Court to Taylor streets and north to south from 
First to Fourth streets. This study area was outlined to represent an area of reasonable 
walking distance (three blocks or less) from the subject property. In total, the study area 
included 789 on-street parking spaces and 729 off-street parking spaces. Due to the fact 
Downtown The Dalles lacks striped on-street parking spaces (“Ts and Ls”), these spaces 
were determined based on a general size of 23 feet in length. Also, of the off-street parking 
spaces, many of these are located on private parking lots and resemble an opportunity for 
shared parking agreements for public use. Two of the off-street parking lots within the study 
area are signed for “public use” totaling 112 spaces.  
Once the study area was established, parking occupancies were measured to determine 
overall use of the parking system. Data was collected on a Tuesday and Saturday in June 
2023, with sunny and clear weather conditions. Overall, key findings from the parking 
occupancy data collection included (per PMP/PDA):  
On-Street: 

• Average Occupancy: Average weekday occupancy was 35% over the 13-hour survey 
day (32% on Saturday), indicating low demand 

• Peak Hour: Weekday peak occupancy occurs at 1:00 PM, when 47% of stalls are 
occupied (37% on Saturday at 12:00 PM). 

• Empty Stalls: Overall, there is a high percentage of empty on-street stalls during the 
weekday and Saturday. At the weekday peak hour (1:00 PM), 421 empty parking 
stalls were observed on-street in the study area; during the Saturday peak (12:00 
PM), there were 496 empty on-street stalls. 

Attachment 11

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 299 of 342



SPR 544-24, Chris Hodney | Hacker Architects 
Basalt Commons 
Staff Report Page 17 of 26 

Off-Street: 

• Average Occupancy: The average weekday occupancy was 23% over the 13-hour 
survey day and 15% on Saturday when all off-street parking is aggregated, indicating 
low demand for the off-street parking system relative to the available parking supply. 

• Peak Hour: Weekday peak occupancy was observed at 12:00 PM when 33% of stalls 
were occupied, while Saturday peak occupancy was observed at 11:00 AM when 19% 
were occupied. 

• Empty Stalls: A high percentage of off-street stalls are empty during the weekday and 
Saturday. During the weekday peak period (12:00 PM), 489 empty parking stalls 
were observed off-street in the public supply; on Saturday, during the 11:00 AM peak 
hour, there were 593 empty stalls. 

Overall PMP/PDA Analysis 
The PMP/PDA demonstrated the overall parking occupancy within the study area has 
significant parking availability, both on and off-street during peak hours to absorb the 
additional parking demand created from new development. Additional opportunities may 
also be availability to provide more parking options through the establishment of a shared 
parking agreement with the many private parking lots within the area. The information 
compiled with the PMP/PDA, as well as current data with an ongoing 2024 Downtown 
Parking Assessment and supporting Advisory Committee will further outline tools and 
techniques the City may use to manage parking within the downtown area.  
From the information gathered, as well as current provisions outlined in TDMC, the 
following conditions of approval are included for this development proposal.  

• Pursuant to TDMC 6.080.020, no tenant of the development (commercial or 
residential) may park along the E. 3rd Street and Laughlin Street frontages during the 
hours of 9am-6pm. All violators will be towed at their own expense.  

• To allow for weekly street sweeping within the downtown area, no tenant of the 
development (commercial or residential) may park along the E. 3rd Street frontage 
during the hours of 12pm-7am each day of sweeping. At this time, sweeping occurs 
each Friday morning, but may change at a later date in the future.  

In addition to the above-mentioned conditions, Staff recommends the following options to 
mitigate any potential impacts that may arise from any overflow parking from the proposed 
development.  

• Provide tenants with free or reduced Gorge Transit Passes. This pass provides 
connections to many of the communities in the Columbia Gorge and Portland.  

• Establish shared parking agreements with owners of nearby private parking lots.  

Criterion met with conditions. 
Section 10.7.020.070 Parking In Mixed Use Development 
B.     Parking Management Plan Method. A parking demand management plan may be 
submitted in accordance with Section 10.7.020.040(F) of this Article. 
FINDING #65: See Finding #64. 

Attachment 11

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 300 of 342



SPR 544-24, Chris Hodney | Hacker Architects 
Basalt Commons 
Staff Report Page 18 of 26 

Section 10.7.020.100 Stormwater Pretreatment 
Finding #66: Pursuant to TDMC 10.7.020.100,  

“All parking areas which are designed to accommodate 25 or more vehicles shall be 
required to install an oil/water separator to treat stormwater capture before discharging 
to the stormwater system. The design and maintenance agreement for the oil/water 
separator must be reviewed and approved by the City Engineer prior to any building 
permits being issued.”  

The Applicant is proposing 35 parking spaces, therefore an oil/water separator is required for 
this development. Staff determined from the submitted plans that the Applicant is proposing 
to install an oil/water separator near the western vehicular exit to the parking lot and 
connected to the alley. During the Site Team meeting, Staff determined the existing 
stormwater line in the alley is inadequately sized to handle the runoff from this development 
and a main line extension is required to the development from Laughlin Street. All such 
extensions are the responsibility of the development. A condition of approval is included that 
requires that an oil/water separator be installed on the subject property and a maintenance 
agreement established with the City’s Public Works Department. A condition of approval is 
included that requires the Applicant to confirm overall stormwater needs and coordinate any 
main line extensions with the City Engineer. Criterion met with conditions.   

Article 7.030 General Design Standards for Surface Parking Lots 
Section 10.7.030.020 Location, Surfacing, Striping and Curb Cuts 
A.  Location.  
FINDING #67:  The proposed site plan illustrates all parking areas are outside of the 
required setback areas.  Criterion met.  
B.  Surfacing.  
FINDING #68:  The site plan illustrates that all vehicle maneuvering areas will be hard 
surfaced.  Criterion met. 
C.  Striping.  
FINDING #69:  The site plan illustrates parking stall striping.  A condition of approval is 
included that requires all parking spaces be striped prior to occupancy.  Criterion met with 
conditions. 
D.  Curb Cuts.  
FINDING #70:  Vehicle access is provided to the site via an existing alley to the north. No 
new on-site curb cuts are proposed. A condition of approval is included that walkways, 
including driveway and accessway crossings, shall be constructed and maintained for 
pedestrian safety, and shall meet the requirements of the Americans with Disabilities Act, the 
State of Oregon Structural Specialties Code, and the Oregon Revised Statutes.  Criterion 
met with conditions. 
Section 10.7.030.030 Internal Circulation 
FINDING #712: The site plan and Turning Movement Plan (Attachment 1, SPR-1 & C-202) 
show safe pedestrian, bicycle and vehicular circulation. Pedestrian and bicycle access to the 

Attachment 11

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 301 of 342



SPR 544-24, Chris Hodney | Hacker Architects 
Basalt Commons 
Staff Report Page 19 of 26 

building do not cross parking areas. The parking lot circulation is one-way from the alley. 
Emergency vehicles may access the building via E. 3rd, Laughlin, and Jefferson streets, and 
not the parking area. Criterion met.   

Section 10.7.030.040 Landscaping Requirements 
A. General Provisions.  
FINDING #72:  The site plan (Attachment 1, SPR-1) illustrates 35 vehicular parking spaces 
with 18 tucked under the building. No parking lot landscape is proposed. Street trees are 
being used to meet the parking lot landscaping requirements as allowed pursuant to TDMC 
10.6.010.060(A). Criterion met.  

Section 10.7.030.050 Accessible Parking 
FINDING #73:  Refer to Attachment 1, SPR-02. The proposed development provides 35 on-
site parking stalls. Two (2) of the proposed parking spaces will be ADA accessible, and one 
(1) of the accessible stalls will be Van Accessible pursuant to TDMC. A condition of 
approval is included that requires all ADA signage and spaces to be installed on site as 
shown on the site plan prior to occupancy. Criterion met with conditions.  

Section 10.7.030.070 Vehicle Loading and Unloading 
FINDING #74:  The CBC – Central Business Commercial zoning district is exempt from 
vehicle loading/unloading provisions. Criterion not applicable.   

Section 10.7.030.080 Motorcycle Parking 
FINDING #75:  Pursuant to TDMC 10.7.030.080, all multifamily dwelling developments 
shall provide areas sufficient to accommodate one (1) motorcycle for every 10 parking 
spaces to park and store motorcycles and mopeds.  The Applicant is proposing 35 on-site 
parking spaces with this development. As a condition of approval, the development must 
provide sufficient space to accommodate no less than four (4) motorcycles and/or mopeds 
(rounded up from 3.5). Staff understands this may result in the loss of at least one vehicular 
parking space for this accommodation. Criterion met with conditions.   

Section 10.7.030.090 Driveways, Aisles, Clearance, Drainage, and Cross Access 
D. Drainage.  
FINDING #76:  See Finding #66. Pursuant to TDMC 10.7.030.090(D), Roof drains shall 
connect directly to the storm system, and shall not flow onto parking surfaces. Staff 
determined from Attachment 1, C-400 and SPR-07 that roof drains are being proposed on the 
western and eastern portions of the buildings connected runoff directly to the stormwater line 
in the alley. Criterion met.  

Section 10.7.030.110 Refuse Collection 
FINDING #77:  Applicant is proposing one (1) enclosed trash room within the building; 
therefore, no screening is required. The trash room opens to the driveway aisle. Criterion 
met.  

Section 10.7.030.120 Outdoor Lighting 
FINDING #78:  The Site Lighting Plan (Attachment 1, SPR-10) shows the parking areas 
adequately lit for safety.  Pursuant to TDMC 10.7.030.120, the maximum illumination at the 

Attachment 11

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 302 of 342



SPR 544-24, Chris Hodney | Hacker Architects 
Basalt Commons 
Staff Report Page 20 of 26 

property line for outdoor lighting shall not exceed an average horizontal foot candle of 0.3 
for non-cut-off light and 1.0 for cut-off lights. The Photometric Plan (Attachment 1, SPR-11) 
demonstrates the average horizontal foot candle at the property line adjacent to the parking 
areas to be below the maximum illumination limit. Criterion met. 

Section 10.7.030.130 Stall and Aisle Dimensions 
FINDING #79:  As shown on Attachment 1, SPR-02 and C-200, the proposed parking lot 
utilizes 60 degree stalls off a one-way drive aisle. Parking stalls are 19 feet deep and 9 feet 
wide, with a 16-foot one-way drive aisle between. Criterion met.  

Section 10.7.040.030 Bicycle Parking Location and Access 
A.  Location. 
FINDING #80:  All required residential bicycle parking, 116 spaces, are the proposed shown 
in each residential unit located on the upper floors (2-5). The location of the bicycle parking 
in each unit type is illustrated on Attachment 1, SPR-01 through SPR-07. Long-term bicycle 
parking for the possible future commercial tenants will be provided in their respective tenant 
spaces. Eight (8) short-term bicycle parking spaces are provided along the E. 3rd Street 
sidewalk as shown on Attachment 1, L-200 and L-300 and the bicycle rack detail on L-710. 
Subject to the approval of the City Engineer, bicycle parking may be located in the public 
ROW when the parking does not conflict with pedestrian accessibility. A condition of 
approval is included that requires the location of the bicycle parking on E. 3rd Street to be 
approved by the City Engineer or will need to be located on site consistent with the 
requirements of TDMC 10.7.040.030(A). Criteria met with conditions.  
B. Visibility.  
FINDING #81: The proposed location of the outdoor bicycle racks are located on the E. 3rd 
Street sidewalk close to the buildings without visual obstructions.  Criteria met.  
C. Lighting.  
FINDING #82:  The outdoor bicycle racks are for short term use and illuminated by the 
street lighting on E. 3rd Street. Criteria met.  
D. Walkway. 
FINDING #83:  The outdoor bicycle racks are connected to primary building entrances by a 
sidewalk that is greater than 4 feet wide. Criteria met.  

Section 10.7.040.040 Bicycle Rack Types and Space Dimensions 
FINDING #84:  The outdoor bicycle rack construction specifications are shown on 
Attachment 1, L-710. The required size and spacing of the bike parking is shown on 
Attachment 1, L-300.  Criteria met.  

Section 10.7.040.050 Paving and Surfacing of Bicycle Parking Area 
FINDING #85:  Attachment 1, L-300 shows the bicycle racks are located on concrete 
material of over a 2-inch depth.  Criteria met.  

Section 10.7.060.010 Minimum and Maximum Off-Street Parking Requirements 

• Residential: 5 or more dwelling units 

Attachment 11

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 303 of 342



SPR 544-24, Chris Hodney | Hacker Architects 
Basalt Commons 
Staff Report Page 21 of 26 

o Bicycle Parking: 1 space per dwelling unit 
• Retail Trade 

o Bicycle Parking: 0.3 space/1,000 SF floor area 
• Restaurants (without drive-thru) 

o Bicycle Parking: 1 space/1,000 SF floor area 

FINDING #86:  Staff determined the following minimum bicycle parking requirements for 
the proposed development from the floor plan detail provided on Attachment 1, SPR-02. 
Note the exact use of the commercial space is to be determined. 

• Residential: 5 or more dwelling units 
o 1 per dwelling unit (116 units) =  116 spaces 

• Retail Trade 
o 0.3 per 1,000 sf at 6,858 sf =   2 spaces 

• Restaurants (without drive-thru) 
o 1 per 1,000 sf at 2,985 sf =   3 spaces 

Total =  121 spaces 

As detailed on Attachment 1, SPR-03 – SPR-06, the minimum number of bicycle parking 
spaces for residential uses (116) are to be provided in each unit. Four (4) outdoor bicycle 
racks are illustrated on site with two (2) bicycle spaces in each for eight (8) short-term spaces 
on the 3rd Street ROW for the retail and restaurant bike parking. In addition, long-term 
bicycle spaces intended for commercial tenants are proposed within the ground floor retail 
space along the northern interior wall. In total, 134 bicycle parking spaces are proposed with 
this development. Criterion met. 

Section 10.10.030 Timing of Improvements 
FINDING #87:  Pursuant to TDMC 10.10.030(A),  

“The construction, installation, placement, or addition of one or more dwelling units on a 
lot, including one that replaces another dwelling or structure, shall initiate the 
requirement of full public improvements, including street, curb, sidewalk, and storm 
sewer.” 

At the time of development, the Applicant will be required to install half-street ROW 
improvements, including a complete curb, gutter, sidewalk system, and two new ADA ramps 
at the corner of E. 3rd/Jefferson streets and E. 3rd/Laughlin streets, as well as resurfacing of 
the entire alleyway to the north of the development. A condition of approval is included that 
requires the Applicant to install all ROW improvements prior to occupancy. Criterion met 
with conditions.  
Section 10.10.040 Pedestrian Requirements 
A. Pedestrian Requirements. 
FINDING #88:  Pursuant to The Dalles Transportation System Plan (TSP) Functional 
Roadway Classifications, E. 3rd Street is classified as an Arterial, while Jefferson and 

Attachment 11

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 304 of 342



SPR 544-24, Chris Hodney | Hacker Architects 
Basalt Commons 
Staff Report Page 22 of 26 

Laughlin streets are classified as Minor Collectors. TDMC 10.10.040(A) requires that all 
sidewalks along collector streets be a minimum of 5 feet wide and sidewalks along arterials 
be a minimum of 10 feet wide. As shown on Attachment 1, C-200, the proposed plans are 
showing a design that includes a 10.5-11 foot wide sidewalk surrounding the property, with 
15 4-foot wide tree wells distributed along all three street frontages. This layout is similar to 
the existing design on 2nd Street, with widths consistent to existing conditions along 3rd 
Street, and ideal for allowing wider pedestrian movement. Criteria met. 
B. Connectivity. 
FINDING #89:  Pursuant to TDMC Section 10.10.04(B),  

“Safe and convenient pedestrian facilities that strive to minimize travel distance to the 
greatest extent practicable shall be provided in conjunction with new development within 
and between new subdivisions, planned developments, [and] commercial developments.”   

Safe and convenient pedestrian access is provided from the site to adjacent developments by 
an existing network of public sidewalks, crosswalks, and ROW improvements with this 
development. See Attachment 1, C-200 for sidewalk connections. The main entry of the 
building, and of commercial tenants, are directly adjacent and oriented to public sidewalks 
included in public improvements with the proposal. Walkways directly align and connect to 
surrounding public sidewalks and are as direct as possible. No walkway/driveway crossings 
are proposed, and all internal walkways are separated from vehicle parking and maneuvering 
by grade and/or paving material in the parking lot. A condition of approval is included that 
requires all ROW improvements be constructed to City standards. Criteria met with 
conditions.  
C. Trail Linkages.  
FINDING #90:  The development is not adjacent to future trail linkages. Criterion not 
applicable. 
D. Pedestrian Network.  
FINDING #91:  As shown on Attachment 1, SPR-01 and C-200. All pedestrian facilities are 
immediately adjacent to and connect to the site boundary and ground-floor building wall or 
entries. Criteria met.  

Section 10.10.050 Bicycle Requirements 
FINDING #92: Pursuant to The Dalles TSP, all surrounding streets (E. 3rd, Jefferson, and 
Laughlin) are “shared roadways” with bicyclists and motorists sharing the same travel lane. 
All existing shared-roadway bike facilities are maintained on all three street frontages. No 
new through-block bicycle or pedestrian connection is proposed, while access via an existing 
alley is maintained. Criterion met.  

Section 10.10.060 Street Requirements 
FINDING #93:  Pursuant to TDMC 10.10.060, a TIS is required for the development of 16 
or more dwelling units.  As stated in previous findings, a TIS was required with the proposed 
development; refer to TIS and Update (Attachment 2). No new street development is 
proposed, and existing public streets are maintained with this application. Upon review of the 
TIS, Staff determined the development will result in an increase of vehicular travel along the 

Attachment 11

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 305 of 342



SPR 544-24, Chris Hodney | Hacker Architects 
Basalt Commons 
Staff Report Page 23 of 26 

alleyway to the north of the development due to the only ingress/egress to the parking lot. As 
previously mentioned, a condition of approval is included that requires the alleyway to be 
resurfaced at the time of development. Criterion met with conditions. 

Section 10.10.070 Public Utility Connections 
FINDING #94:  The utility connections are shown in Attachment 1, C-400 Utility Plan. The 
proposed development provides public water, sanitary sewer, and storm drainage and is 
connected to existing public utility lines. All connections to, modifications, or extensions of 
public utilities in this proposal, will be constructed concurrent with the proposed 
development. All utilities are designed to conform to City Standards and are further 
illustrated in Attachment 1, C-500 through C-502. No private utility facilities are proposed. A 
condition of approval is included that requires all construction and design plans for public 
infrastructure to be approved by the City Engineer prior to the issuance of any building 
permits.  Criterion met with conditions. 

Section 10.10.080 Public Improvement Procedures 
FINDING #95:  All construction/design plans for public infrastructure, improvements, or 
ROW shall be approved by the City Engineer.  Prior to the installation of public facilities, a 
pre-construction meeting is required between the City and the Applicant.  This decision 
includes this requirement as a condition of approval.  Criterion met with conditions.  

Section 10.10.100 Franchise Utility Installations 
FINDING #96:  Franchise utilities proposed include electrical power, natural gas, 
telecommunication, and cable television. Franchise utilities are accessed from existing gas 
lines and electrical overhead lines. All distribution facilities are located underground on-site, 
except for existing overhead power and low-voltage lines along all three street frontages and 
within the alley. The Applicant and general contractor are in contact with the electrical power 
provider to coordinate construction and future plans for the existing power lines. Existing 
street lighting is maintained on all three street frontages with the proposal. A condition of 
approval is included that requires the Applicant to coordinate all required easements with 
local utilities and dedicate all required easements on the final plan.  Criterion met with 
conditions. 
Section 10.10.110 Land for Public Purposes 
FINDING #97:  No land for public purposes is proposed with this application. Criterion not 
applicable. 
Section 10.10.120 Mail Delivery Facilities 
FINDING #98:  A central mail facility is provided within the residential lobby and amenity 
space. All mailboxes and parcel lockers, including mailboxes for commercial tenants, will be 
within this area inside the building. A condition of approval is included that requires all mail 
delivery facility locations to be approved by the Postmaster. Criterion met with conditions. 

Section 10.10.130 Transit Requirements 
FINDING #99: The proposal does not include and is not adjacent to a planned or existing 
transit stop. Criterion not applicable. 
 

Attachment 11

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 306 of 342



SPR 544-24, Chris Hodney | Hacker Architects 
Basalt Commons 
Staff Report Page 24 of 26 

RECOMMENDATION:  Based on the application materials and findings demonstrating 
compliance with the applicable criteria, Staff recommends approval of Site Plan Review 
544-24 subject to the following conditions of approval.  This approval is based on the 
Applicant’s submitted plans, written narrative, and supplemental application materials received 
by June 10, 2024.   

1. Conditions Requiring Resolution Prior to Final Plan Approval: 
a. Final plan submission must meet all requirements of The Dalles Municipal Code, 

Title 10 Land Use and Development, and all other applicable provisions of The 
Dalles Municipal Code. 

b. Applicant is required to submit a specific schedule for completion of project phases to 
ensure construction is being diligently pursued toward completion. 

c. The applicant is required to demonstrate that a Conditional Use (CUP) for the 60 ft. 
building height is approved or submit revised plans that comply with the building 
height of the underlying zoning district (55’). 

d. All construction/design plans for public infrastructure, improvements, or ROW shall 
be approved by the City Engineer. 

e. A sanitary sewer analysis is required to be submitted for this development and 
approved by the City Engineer. 

f. The Applicant shall ensure the private stormwater facilities can manage drainage 
from the subject development and shall coordinate any main line extensions with the 
City Engineer.   

g. All proposed street trees shall be chosen from a list provided by the City. 
h. All street tree planting systems must be approved by the Public Works Director, or 

designee. 
i. The Mid-Columbia Fire and Rescue Fire Marshal must approve all proposed street 

tree locations. 
j. The City Engineer must approve all proposed street tree locations to ensure 

compliance with TDMC 10.6.010.060(E). 
k. The bicycle parking on E. 3rd Street right-of-way is required to be approved by the 

City Engineer or will need to be located on-site consistent with the requirements of 
TDMC 10.7.040.030(A).  

l. The Applicant shall coordinate all required easements with local utilities and establish 
said easements on the final plan.  

m. The development must provide sufficient space to accommodate no less than four (4) 
motorcycles and/or mopeds. 

n. All mail delivery facility locations must be approved by the Postmaster. 

2. Conditions Requiring Resolution Prior to Building Permit Issuance:  

Attachment 11

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 307 of 342



SPR 544-24, Chris Hodney | Hacker Architects 
Basalt Commons 
Staff Report Page 25 of 26 

a. A detailed site plan, construction/design and landscape plan consistent with the 
conditions of approval included within this Staff Report must be approved by the 
Director and City Engineer prior to permit approval. 

b. The Minor Partition and Final Plat to consolidate the three tax lots into one tax lots 
shall be approved prior to the issuance of building permits. 

c. All construction/design plans for public infrastructure, improvements, or rights-of-
way required with this development must be approved by the City Engineer. 

d. All System Development Charges shall be paid. 
e. Plans submitted with the subsequent building permits shall be consistent with the 

approved Site Plan Review.  
f. A cut and fill permit is required on all excavation that exceeds 50 cubic yards.  If the 

excavation exceeds 250 cubic yards, plans must be completed by a licensed engineer. 

3. Conditions Required Prior to Construction: 
a. Prior to the installation of public facilities, a pre-construction meeting is required 

between the City and the Applicant. 
b. Applicant is required to obtain all applicable City permits for the planting of these 

trees. 
c. Walkways, including driveway and accessway crossings, shall be constructed and 

maintained for pedestrian safety, and shall meet the requirements of the Americans 
with Disabilities Act, the State of Oregon Structural Specialties Code, and the Oregon 
Revised Statutes. 

d. The Applicant will be required to record all utility easements proposed for this 
development.   

4. Conditions Required During Construction: 
a. The Applicant shall take effective action to prevent the escape of sediment from the 

site by installation of erosion and sediment control measures and practices prior to, 
and concurrent with, land disturbing activities. 

b. The Applicant shall prevent the formation of any airborne dust nuisance and shall be 
responsible for any damage resulting from failure to do so. 

c. An oil/water separator must be installed on the subject property and a maintenance 
agreement established with the City’s Public Works Department. 

d. All ROW improvements must be constructed to City standards. 

5. Conditions Required Prior to Occupancy: 
a. All required landscaping and improvements shall be completed or financially 

guaranteed per the provisions of Section 10.9.040.060(I): Performance Guarantee 
prior to occupancy. 

b. All parking spaces shall be striped and hard surfaced prior to occupancy. 

Attachment 11

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 308 of 342



SPR 544-24, Chris Hodney | Hacker Architects 
Basalt Commons 
Staff Report Page 26 of 26 

c. All required improvements, including all ROW improvements, shall be installed prior 
to occupancy. 

d. All ADA signage and spaces must be installed on site as shown on the site plan prior 
to occupancy. 

6. Ongoing Conditions: 
a. All development must adhere to the approved site plan for this development. 
b. All proposed lighting shall not directly illuminate adjoining properties.  Lighting 

sources in the parking area shall be shielded and arranged to prevent glare in any 
public ROW, with a maximum illumination at the property line not to exceed an 
average horizontal foot-candle of 0.3 for non-cut-off lights, and 1.0 for cut-off lights.  

c. All required landscaping shall be irrigated and maintained. If street trees or other 
plant materials do not survive or are removed, materials shall be replaced in kind by 
the developer or party responsible for removing the trees and/or plant material. 

d. Trees shall be pruned, by the property owner, to provide a minimum clearance of 9 
feet above sidewalks and 14 feet above street and roadway surfaces. 

e. All points of access for refuse collection shall remain unobstructed. 
f. Pursuant to TDMC 6.080.020, no tenant of the development (commercial or 

residential) may park along the E. 3rd Street and Laughlin Street frontages during the 
hours of 9am-6pm. All violators will be towed at their own expense. 

g. To allow for weekly street sweeping within the downtown area, no tenant of the 
development (commercial or residential) may park along the E. 3rd Street frontage 
during the hours of 12pm-7am each day of sweeping. At this time, sweeping occurs 
each Friday morning, but may change at a later date in the future.   

Attachment 11

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 309 of 342



CITY of THE DALLES 
313 COURT STREET 

THE DALLES, OREGON 97058 

(541) 296-5481 ext. 1125
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT 

CERTIFICATE OF MAILING 

I hereby certify that I served the attached 

Notice of Application for Administrative Action

regarding: 

SPR 544-24 – Chris Hodney, Hacker Architects 

On June 10, 2024, by mailing a correct copy thereof, certified by me as such, contained in a sealed 
envelope, with postage paid and deposited in the post office at The Dalles Oregon on said day.  
Between the said Post Office and the address to which said copy was mailed, there is a regular 
communication by US Mail. 

DATED:    June 10, 2024 

Secretary 
Community Development Department 

Attachment 12

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 310 of 342



VERGEER RONALD D & CAROL L 
601 E 3RD ST 
THE DALLES, OR 97058 

 
418 E 2ND ST LLC 
592 SE ANDOVER PL 
PORTLAND, OR 97202 

 
WEED THOMAS E & KERRI P 
3426 BROKEN TEE DR 
HOOD RIVER, OR 97031 

GREATER GORGE COMMUNITY 
HOUSING LLC 
312 COURT ST STE 419 
THE DALLES, OR 97058 

 

GREATER GORGE COMMUNITY 
HOUSING LLC 
500 E 2ND ST 
THE DALLES, OR 97058 

 
RUSHFORD PROPERTY PARTNERS LLC 
PO BOX 1562 
HOOD RIVER, OR 97031 

CLARK HOWARD P 
508 E 2ND 
THE DALLES, OR 97058 

 
516E297058 LLC 
PO BOX 582 
HOUSTON, TX 77001 

 
WALTERS RONALD & KATHRYN 
2710 SE MERRITT DR 
BATTLE GROUND, WA 98604 

TD3RD LLC 
101 SW MAIN ST 
PORTLAND, OR 97204 

 
TD3RD LLC 
101 W 2ND ST #2049 
THE DALLES, OR 97058 

 
ENTERPRISE TD LLC 
2406 NE 32ND AVE 
PORTLAND, OR 97212 

WASCO COUNTY ADMINISTRATOR 
511 WASHINGTON 
THE DALLES, OR 97058 

 
CREZ PARTNERS LLC 
PO BOX 331 
THE DALLES, OR 97058 

 
SAWYER PROPERTIES LLC 
500 E 3RD ST 
THE DALLES, OR 97058 

CENTURY LINK 
902 WASCO ST 
HOOD RIVER, OR 97031 

    

     

     

     

     

Attachment 12

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 311 of 342



NOAA Mail Out 

 
 

 
 
Century Link 
902 Wasco St 
Hood River OR 97031 

Attachment 12

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 312 of 342



Notice of Administrative Application  Page 1 of 3 
SPR 544-24 | Hodney, Hacker Architects 

 

 

 

June 10, 2024 
 
 

NOTICE OF APPLICATION FOR ADMINISTRATIVE ACTION 
 
Notice is hereby given that an application for Administrative Action has been received by The 
Dalles Community Development Department.  The City of The Dalles Community Development 
Director will make an Administrative Decision on the request stated below.  You are entitled to 
comment for or against the proposal by submitting a written statement to the Community 
Development Department, City of The Dalles, 313 Court Street, The Dalles, Oregon, 97058 by 
the due date shown. 
 
COMMENTS DUE BY: June 24, 2024 
 
APPLICANT(S): Chris Hodney, Hacker Architects 
 
APPLICATION NUMBER: SPR 544-24 
 
REQUEST: Applicant is requesting approval for construction of 116 for-rent 

apartments, over +/-9,500 sq. ft. of retail space, resident 
amenities and building services in a +/- 96,000 gross sq. ft., five-
story, mixed-use building. 

 
PROPERTY OWNER: TD3RD, LLC 
 
LOCATION: Property is located at 523 E. Third Street and further described as 

1N 13E BD tax lots 6700, 6800 and 6900.  Property is zoned 
CBC – Central Business Commercial District. 

 
REVIEW CRITERIA: City of The Dalles Municipal Code Title 10 Land Use and 

Development, Section 3.030.040 Site Plan Review, Article 5.050 
CBC – Central Business Commercial District, Chapter 10.6 
General Regulations, Chapter 10.7 Parking Standards, Chapter 
10.10 Improvements Required with Development. 

 
COMMENT PROCEDURE:   
 

1. Written comments for or against the proposal will be accepted for 14 days from the 
date this notice is mailed and are due by 5:00 p.m., June 24, 2024, in The Dalles 
Community Development Office, 313 Court Street, The Dalles, Oregon 97058. 

 

CITY of THE DALLES 
313 COURT STREET 

THE DALLES, OREGON 97058 
  

(541) 296-5481 ext. 1125 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT 

Attachment 12

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 313 of 342



Notice of Administrative Application  Page 2 of 3 
SPR 544-24 | Hodney, Hacker Architects 

2. Failure to raise an issue in writing within the comment period, or failure to provide 
statements or evidence sufficient to afford the decision maker an opportunity to respond 
to the issue, precludes further appeal on that issue. 

 
3. Copies of all review criteria and evidence relied upon by the decision maker or evidence 

provided by the applicant are available for free review or may be purchased at the 
Community Development Department, 313 Court Street, The Dalles, Oregon 97058. 

 

DECISION PROCESS: 
 

1. An application is received, decision date set, and notice mailed to property owners within 
100’ of the subject property. 

 
2. All affected City departments and other agencies are asked to comment. 
 
3. All timely comments and the application are weighed against the approval criteria in a 

staff report. 
 
4. The provisions of The Dalles Municipal Code, Title 10 Land Use and Development, and 

the City of The Dalles Comprehensive Plan must be met. 
 
5. A decision is reached by the Director based on the Findings of Fact in the staff report. 
 
6. Parties of Record (notified property owners, affected public agencies, and other parties 

who make timely comment) will receive a Notice of Decision. 
 
7. Aggrieved parties may appeal an Administrative Decision to the Planning Commission 

within 10 days of the date a Notice of Decision is mailed, subject to the requirements for 
appeal procedures. 

 
Please direct any questions to Joshua Chandler, Director, Community Development Department, 
at (541) 296-5481, ext. 1121, or email jchandler@ci.the-dalles.or.us. 
 

Attachment 12

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 314 of 342

mailto:jchandler@ci.the-dalles.or.us


-- Roads 

D Taxlots 

� Subject Properties 

� Notified Properties 

Properties within 100 feet of 
SPR 544-24 

523 E. 3rd Street 
1 N 13E BO tax lots 6700/6800/6900 

0 100 200 

Feet 

City of The Dalles 
Community Development 
Department 
June 10, 2024 

300 400 

A 

Attachment 12

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 315 of 342



City of The Dalles 
Community Development Dept 
313 Court Street 
The Dalles, OR 97058 
(541) 296-5481, ext. 1125
www.thedalles.org 

Received: ________ _ 

Application#: ________ _ 

Filing Fee: _________ _ 

Receipt#: _________ _ 

Deemed Complete: ______ _ 
Ready to Issue: _______ _ 

Date Issued: 
---------

Site Plan Review Application 

Applicant 

Name: Chris Hodney 

Address: 555 SE MLK Jr Blvd, Suite 501 
Portland, OR 97214 

Phone #: 503-227-1254

Email: ch odney@hackerarchitects.c om 

Property Information 

Address: 523 E. 3rd Street 

zone: CBC, CBC-2 Subdistrict 

City Limits: @ Yes Q No 

Geohazard Zone: None 
-----------

Project Information 

Legal Owner (if different than Applicant) 

N Mary Hanlon, Managing member, Hanlon Developmentame: ______________ _ 

Address: TD3rd LLC, W 2nd St., #20 49 
The Dalles, OR 97058 

Phone #: 503-539-2880 

Email: mary@hanl ondevel opment .com

Map and Tax Lot: 1 N 13E BD 6700/6800/6900 

Overlay: _N_ o_n_e ____________ _
S. f O I 

t 5 Stories, 96,000 gross sf, 116 units 1ze o eve opmen : _________ _ 

Flood Designation: _N_ o_n_e ________ _

@New Construction Q Expansion/Alteration Q Change of Use Q Amend Approved Plan 

Current Use of Property: _A_u_t _o _S_a _le _s _______________________ _
Proposed use of Property: Multifamily Housing and Retail 

Briefly Explain the Project: 
5-Story (Fully Sprinklered, Type VA over IA) multifamily residential, with ground floor commercial (office, retail sales,
restaurant) uses, resident amenities, and building management. Right-of-way and utility improvements on all 3 street 
frontages. Provides 59 total parking stalls (35 on-site, 24 in adjacent street improvements). Additional height requested 
through separate Conditional Use Review. Applicant requesting the expiration date on the Site Plan Approval be extended 
so the decision is valid so long as construction has begun within 3 years of the final decision. 
Proposed Building(s) Footprint Size (ft2): 20,373 sf 

Total Number of Parking Spaces Proposed: _5_9 __ _

Total Landscaping Proposed (ft2): _1_,_16_5 ____ _
Parking Lot Landscaping Proposed (ft2): 1 , 165 

Percentage of Irrigated Landscaping: 100% 

SPR 544-24
$440

520659

5/7/24

Attachment 13

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 316 of 342



Attachment 13

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 317 of 342

CHODNEY
Snapshot

CHODNEY
Snapshot

CHODNEY
Architect
5/6/2024



5 5 5  S E  M A R T I N  L U T H E R  K I N G  J R  B L V D  
S U I T E  5 0 1 ,  P O R T L A N D ,  O R  9 7 2 1 4  

+ 5 0 3  2 2 7  1 2 5 4
H A C K E R A R C H I T E C T S . C O M

BASALT COMMONS MULTIFAMILY DEVELOPMENT 

Land Use Reviews Application 

May 29, 2024 

Attachment 13

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 318 of 342



 
 
 
 

 

5 5 5  S E  M A R T I N  L U T H E R  K I N G  J R  B L V D  
S U I T E  5 0 1 ,  P O R T L A N D ,  O R  9 7 2 1 4  

+  5 0 3  2 2 7  1 2 5 4  
H A C K E R A R C H I T E C T S . C O M  

 

B a s a l t  C o m m o n s  Mu l t i f am i l y   Land Use  Rev iews  Appl i cat ion     P a g e  |  10  
 

Project Description 
The proposed project combines 116 for-rent apartments over approximately 9,000 sf of retail,  resident amenity and building 
services in a 95,400 gross square feet mixed-use building.  The anticipated construction type will be (4) floors of Type VA over 
a Type IA podium, and fully sprinklered.  Open-air, ‘tuck-under’ surface parking is proposed along the alley, with ground-floor 
retail, resident lobby, amenity, and building services wrapping along all pedestrian frontages.  An Open-air retail courtyard 
and outdoor seating niches are proposed along E. 3rd and Laughlin frontages to activate the corners, and provide expanded 
public sidewalk areas.  
 
The conceptual design recognizes tall ground-floor heights and varied building widths of the district as a defining character, 
and emulates these through a modern, timeless expression.  The building massing is broken to read as (4) separate masses, 
and the building plane alternates to pull back from E. 3rd - creating expanded outdoor seating off the sidewalk and breaking 
up the overall bulk of the building.  
 
 
 
 

Conditional Use Review Requests 
 
The CBC zone allows 55’ height in the zone, with up to 75’ allowed under Conditional Use review.   
 
This proposal is requesting an additional 5 feet of building height be allowed to grow the height of the ground floor.  The 
additional height will allow the ground floor to have a truly civic scale and match existing patterns for corner or more public 
buildings.  The resulting building height would be very similar to the historic Commodore at E. 3rd and Court Streets.   
 
The additional height provides some benefits to the vitality of the  
ground-floor, such as: 

• Provides civic scale and prominence to the ground-floor for the pedestrian experience 
• Allows ground-floor height that is consistent with commercial corner buildings of the district 
• Provides better proportion of ground-floor height to overall building height 
• Improves leasability - Creates flexible retail space that is attractive to a wider variety of tenant types (restaurants, 
pubs, etc. want taller ceilings) 
• Improves natural daylighting of the ground-floor spaces 

 
Additionally, the proposal requests that the expiration date of the land-use reviews be extended so that they are valid so long 
as development (construction) begins within 3 years from the final decision of the land use reviews (CUP, MIP, and SPR).  The 
anticipated project schedule including design phases and all entitlements and building permit reviews will take roughly 14 
months.  Therefore, with any reasonable schedule contingency, a conditional use decision will typically expire if held to the 
current code expiration limits prior to construction beginning on any project of this scale.   
 
*CUP Request is under review in case number CUP 212-24  

Attachment 13

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 319 of 342



5 5 5  S E  M A R T I N  L U T H E R  K I N G  J R  B L V D  
S U I T E  5 0 1 ,  P O R T L A N D ,  O R  9 7 2 1 4  

+ 5 0 3  2 2 7  1 2 5 4
H A C K E R A R C H I T E C T S . C O M

B a s a l t  C o m m o n s  Mu l t i f am i l y   Land Use  Rev iews  Appl i cat ion  P a g e  |  1 1  

10.3.050.040   Review Criteria 

A conditional use permit shall be granted if the Commission finds that the proposed use conforms with, or can be made to 
conform with through added conditions, any related requirements of this and other City ordinances and all of the following 
criteria: 

Requirement Code Reference Standard 

Permitted Use 10.3.050.040.A, 
10.5.050.030, 
10.5.050.040 

The proposed use is conditionally permitted in the zone district where it is 
proposed to be located 

RESPONSE: Complies. 
Proposed uses are illustrated on Exhibit  SPR-02.  The proposed uses are 
multifamily residential, food services (restaurants), retail uses, office.  All are 
allowed out-right within the district. An extension of the expiration date of the 
land-use reviews nor the additional height request affect this criterion. 

Standards 10.3.050.040.B The proposed use conforms to all applicable standards of the zone district 
where the use is proposed to be located.  The proposed use will also be 
consistent with the purposes of this Title, and any other statutes, ordinances, 
or policies that may be applicable. 

RESPONSE: Complies.. 
Complies with applicable standards described and responded to in the 
following tables. An extension of the expiration date of the land-use reviews nor 
the additional height request affect this criterion. 

Impact – Noise 10.3.050.040.C.1 Noise impacts across the property line shall not exceed 60 decibels.  Noise 
related to traffic impacts hall not be included in this determination.  Nothing in 
the Article shall modify other noise ordinance standards as adopted by the City. 

RESPONSE: Complies,  
The proposed site uses are not expected to generate noise exceeding 60 
decibels. An extension of the expiration date of the land-use reviews nor the 
additional height request affect this criterion. 

Impact – Lighting 10.5.050.040.C.2 Lighting impacts across the property line shall not exceed 0.5 foot-candles (a 
foot-candle is the amount of light falling upon a 1-square-foot surface which is 1 
foot away from a 1-candlepower light source). 

RESPONSE: Complies,  
Exterior lighting is illustrated on Exhibits SPR-10 and SPR-11, and will be located 
and detailed to focus light to the immediate pedestrian path around the 
building (sidewalk and retail/lobby entries). An extension of the expiration date 
of the land-use reviews nor the additional height request affect this criterion. 

Attachment 13

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 320 of 342



 
 
 
 

 

5 5 5  S E  M A R T I N  L U T H E R  K I N G  J R  B L V D  
S U I T E  5 0 1 ,  P O R T L A N D ,  O R  9 7 2 1 4  

+  5 0 3  2 2 7  1 2 5 4  
H A C K E R A R C H I T E C T S . C O M  

 

B a s a l t  C o m m o n s  Mu l t i f am i l y   Land Use  Rev iews  Appl i cat ion     P a g e  |  1 2  
 

Impact – Dust 10.5.050.040.C.3 Dust and other particulate matter shall be confined to the subject property 
 
RESPONSE: Complies, N/A  
The proposed uses will not generate dust or other particulate matter which 
would impact surrounding properties or right-of-way. An extension of the 
expiration date of the land-use reviews nor the additional height request affect 
this criterion. 

Impact – Odors 10.5.050.040.C.4 The following odors shall be completely confined to the subject property: 
a) Industrial and/or chemical grade chemicals, solvents, paints, 

cleaners, and similar substances. 
b) Fuels ,and 
c) Fertilizers, manure, or other animal waste products, other than for 

landscape installation and maintenance. 
 
RESPONSE: Complies , N/A  
The proposed uses will not generate any of the specified odors that would 
impact surrounding properties or right-of way. An extension of the expiration 
date of the land-use reviews nor the additional height request affect this 
criterion. 

Impact –Vibrations 10.5.050.040.C.5 Vibrations shall not be felt across the property line. 
 
RESPONSE: Complies,  
The proposed uses will not generate any vibrations that would impact 
surrounding properties or right-of way. An extension of the expiration date of 
the land-use reviews nor the additional height request affect this criterion. 

Impact – 
Transportation 

10.5.050.040.C.6 The transportation system is capable, or can be made capable, of supporting 
the additional transportation impacts generated by the use.  Evaluation factors 
shall include, but are limited to: 

a. Street designation and capacities; 
b. On-street parking impacts 
c. Bicycle safety and connectivity 
d. Pedestrian safety and connectivity, and 
e. Transit capacity and efficiency. 

 
RESPONSE: N/A for this review. 
No negative impacts to the transportation system are anticipated with this 
proposal.  Proposed uses and density are consistent with the requirements of 
the CBC-2 Subdistrict, and supported by traffic and parking analysis provided 
in the professional Traffic Impact Study and Parking Management and Demand 
Study which are provided with this application. The additional requested 
building height, nor the extension to the expiration date of the land-use 
decisions impact the allowed use or traffic and parking demand described in 
the reports. 

Attachment 13

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 321 of 342



 
 
 
 

 

5 5 5  S E  M A R T I N  L U T H E R  K I N G  J R  B L V D  
S U I T E  5 0 1 ,  P O R T L A N D ,  O R  9 7 2 1 4  

+  5 0 3  2 2 7  1 2 5 4  
H A C K E R A R C H I T E C T S . C O M  

 

B a s a l t  C o m m o n s  Mu l t i f am i l y   Land Use  Rev iews  Appl i cat ion     P a g e  |  1 3  
 

Impact – Historic 
Districts 

10.5.050.040.C.7 In areas designated as Historic Districts, proposed development and 
redevelopment shall first require review and approval of the Historic 
Landmarks Commission in accordance with the procedures of Chapter 11.12 – 
Historic Resources 
 
RESPONSE: Not applicable.  
The proposed building property is not within a designated Historic District. An 
extension of the expiration date of the land-use reviews nor the additional 
height request affect this criterion. 

Attachment 13

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 322 of 342



 
 
 
 

 

5 5 5  S E  M A R T I N  L U T H E R  K I N G  J R  B L V D  
S U I T E  5 0 1 ,  P O R T L A N D ,  O R  9 7 2 1 4  

+  5 0 3  2 2 7  1 2 5 4  
H A C K E R A R C H I T E C T S . C O M  

 

B a s a l t  C o m m o n s  Mu l t i f am i l y   Land Use  Rev iews  Appl i cat ion     P a g e  |  1 4  
 

 10.3.030.040.D Design Standards – All Development 
 

Requirement Code Reference Standard 

Scale 10.3.030.040.D.1 Buildings with walls greater than 80 feet in length shall include street 
façades that are varied and articulated at regular 20’, 30’, 40’, or 50’ 
intervals along the façade to provide the appearance of smaller buildings.  
Articulation shall be achieved through the use of offsets, jogs, variation of 
finishes, projections, windows, bays, porches, traditional storefront 
elements, entries or other similar distinctive changes. 
 
RESPONSE: Complies 
Exhibit SPR-08 Exterior Elevations depicts the proposed building 
articulation, which comprises an overall length of 301 feet along East 3rd 
St., and a width of 66 feet along Jefferson and Laughlin Streets. To mitigate 
the building's length, the design incorporates shifts in the building plane 
along E. 3rd, breaking the massing into varied facade widths ranging 
between roughly 37 and 92 feet. These varied massings emulate the 
district's building widths, creating deeper usable outdoor seating at the 
ground floor, and directly reflecting the varied residential unit types within 
the building's upper floors. Each resulting facade is further articulated with 
a regular rhythm of piers that reflect the unit widths and the rooms within.  
At the upper floors, pier spacing is varied, and infilled with a variety of 
window types, accent material panels, and Juliette balconies. These varied 
infill strategies reflect the diversity of living uses and enable residents to 
activate the facade and connect with the outdoors. 
The ground floor is differentiated from the upper facades in height, 
material, and amount of glazing and storefront.  Pier spacing is widened to 
allow for transparency and visual connection from the sidewalk to the 
commercial space within.   Storefront windows and entries are recessed 
into the façade to provide necessary articulation and shadow relative to the 
height of the ground floor.  

Parking Location 10.3.030.040.D.2 With exception of driveway parking, parking areas and parking lots shall not 
be located in the front yard setback. 
 
RESPONSE: Complies 
Exhibits SPR-01 and SPR-02 illustrate the proposed parking area which is 
an open, tuck-under surface parking lot.  The lot is located along and 
accessed from the northern alley. The parking lot is set back from both 
Laughlin and Jefferson Streets and screened with the building and 
landscaped outdoor courtyard.  

Attachment 13

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 323 of 342



5 5 5  S E  M A R T I N  L U T H E R  K I N G  J R  B L V D  
S U I T E  5 0 1 ,  P O R T L A N D ,  O R  9 7 2 1 4  

+ 5 0 3  2 2 7  1 2 5 4
H A C K E R A R C H I T E C T S . C O M

B a s a l t  C o m m o n s  Mu l t i f am i l y   Land Use  Rev iews  Appl i cat ion  P a g e  |  1 5  

Fences/Walls 10.3.030.040.D.3 Fences and walls in front yards and corner side yards, individually or in 
combination, shall be no more than 4 feet in height.  A fence and wall are 
considered combined when located less than 5 feet apart at grade. 

RESPONSE: Complies , N/A 
There is no front yard / front lot setback, therefore there are no fences or 
walls proposed in the front yard.  

Parking Lot 
Landscaping 

10.3.030.040.D.4 Where more than 4 contiguous surface parking spaces are provided, the 
requirements of Section 10.7.030.040(B) Landscaping and Screening Along 
a Public Right-of-Way shall apply. 

RESPONSE: Complies , N/A 
Code section 10.7.030.040 (B) states that this standard is not applicable in 
alleys and accessways.  All proposed parking is screened from Jefferson 
and Laughlin streets by the building and a landscaped courtyard.  
Therefore this standard is not relevant.  Refer to exhibits SPR-01, SPR-02 , 
and L-500. 

Pedestrian/Bicycle 
Circulation 

10.3.030.040.D.5 All primary building entrances in a development shall be connected to the 
public right-of-way, on-site parking, and open space areas, if any, by a 
network of paved walkways or sidewalks of not less than 5 feet in width.   

RESPONSE: Complies 
The proposed site plan is depicted on exhibits SPR-01 and SPR-02.  All retail 
entries and the residential lobby entry are directly accessed and connected 
to the public R.O.W. along Laughlin, E. 3rd, and Jefferson.  On-site parking 
is connected to the residential lobby at the southeast corner of the lot, and 
additionally to the retail at the southwest corner of the lot.  

Building Orientation 10.3.030.040.D.6 Except where a building cannot orient to a street because it is accessed 
from a private drive or is part of a multi-building complex and does not 
have street frontage, new buildings shall have their primary orientation to 
the street utilizing features such as front porches, windows, doorways, 
walkways, and traditional storefront elements. 

RESPONSE: Complies  
The proposed building is oriented directly to all streets, with residential unit 
windows, balconies, and storefront entries equally oriented along all street 
facades. Refer to Exhibits SPR-01, and SPR-08. 

Front Porches 10.3.030.040.D.7 The minimum front setback for covered front porches is 5 feet less than the 
standard front setback for the zone.  For purposes of this standard, a 
covered front porch must connect to the primary building entrance. 

RESPONSE: Not applicable. 
There is no front setback required and no front porches are proposed. 
therefore the criterion is met. 

Attachment 13

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 324 of 342



 
 
 
 

 

5 5 5  S E  M A R T I N  L U T H E R  K I N G  J R  B L V D  
S U I T E  5 0 1 ,  P O R T L A N D ,  O R  9 7 2 1 4  

+  5 0 3  2 2 7  1 2 5 4  
H A C K E R A R C H I T E C T S . C O M  

 

B a s a l t  C o m m o n s  Mu l t i f am i l y   Land Use  Rev iews  Appl i cat ion     P a g e  |  1 6  
 

Trim and Details 10.3.030.040.D.8 Trim shall be used around the windows, doors, frieze, and corners of 
buildings.  Details shall be used around the porch, fascia board, and 
window and door tops. 
 
RESPONSE: Complies 
Prefinished sheet metal trim and flashing will be utilized at all windows, 
doors, and cladding seams to provide visual detail, scale, and durability to 
the upper floors of the building.  The ground-floor storefront and entry 
areas will utilize durable trim and steel accent materials to accentuate the 
storefront windows, transoms and canopies and integrate mechanical 
venting. Refer to Exhibit SPR-08. 

 
 

Attachment 13

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 325 of 342



 
 
 
 

 

5 5 5  S E  M A R T I N  L U T H E R  K I N G  J R  B L V D  
S U I T E  5 0 1 ,  P O R T L A N D ,  O R  9 7 2 1 4  

+  5 0 3  2 2 7  1 2 5 4  
H A C K E R A R C H I T E C T S . C O M  

 

B a s a l t  C o m m o n s  Mu l t i f am i l y   Land Use  Rev iews  Appl i cat ion     P a g e  |  1 7  
 

10.3.030.040.E.2  Design Standards – Multifamily dwellings (3 or more units) 
 
 

Requirement Code Reference Standard 

Variation in Roof and 
Elevation 

10.3.030.040.E.2.a Have variation in roof plane and elevation.  This standard is met by 
providing one of the following details: 

i.  Eaves on all sides of the building 
ii. An overhang or projecting roof form, for example, over a 

front porch 
iii. An offset along the ridge of the highest roof form that is at 

least 1 foot in height; or 
iv. At least one secondary roof form in addition to the primary 

or largest roof elevation, such as a cross-gable, dormer, or 
similar roof form as shown in the Figure 1 below 

v. For 3 and 4 dwellings exceeding 25 feet in height, eave or 
parapet at 25 feet and pitched roof for remainder of height. 

 
RESPONSE: Complies 
The referenced Figure 1 illustrates a pitched roof building, with significant 
setback.  Flat rooflines are required in the CBC-2 per 10.5.050.080.B.2, and 
maximum setbacks are zero feet per 10.5.050.060.  Therefore items ii, iv, 
and v are not applicable to a multifamily building within the CBC-2 district.   
 
The proposed massing articulation provides significant variation of the 
elevation/building plane, and a varied roofline. The building is a flat roof 
building like other downtown buildings in context and therefore has no 
eaves or ridge lines in the roof. Instead, a stepped parapet line is provided 
at each alternate massing and is offset 16 inches in height and 12 inches in 
depth to reinforce the feeling of separate buildings provided by the 
massing. Refer to architectural elevations on exhibit SPR-08. 

Stairways 10.3.030.040.E.2.b Have stairways to upper floors which are illuminated to a minimum of 1 foot 
candle (11 lux) and protected by a canopy or enclosure from wind, rain, sun, 
and snow 
 
RESPONSE: Complies 
All residential units and spaces on upper floors are accessed via internal 
elevator, corridor, and stairways.  These accessways will be protected from 
external elements and lit with a minimum 1-foot candle as required by the 
Building Code. Refer to Exhbitis SPR-02 through SPR-07. 

Garages and Carports 10.3.030.040.E.2.c Locate and garages or carports at least 10 feet behind the front building 
line 
 
RESPONSE: Complies. 
The parking lot is separated from the front building line (E. 3rd) by 42 feet 
(the depth of the retail) as depicted on exhibit SPR-01.  

Attachment 13

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 326 of 342



 
 
 
 

 

5 5 5  S E  M A R T I N  L U T H E R  K I N G  J R  B L V D  
S U I T E  5 0 1 ,  P O R T L A N D ,  O R  9 7 2 1 4  

+  5 0 3  2 2 7  1 2 5 4  
H A C K E R A R C H I T E C T S . C O M  

 

B a s a l t  C o m m o n s  Mu l t i f am i l y   Land Use  Rev iews  Appl i cat ion     P a g e  |  1 8  
 

Covered Entrances 10.3.030.040.E.2.d Provide individual covered dwelling unit entrances, such as covered front 
porches, portico or similar architectural detail. 
 
RESPONSE: Complies 
All residential units share a common lobby entrance along E. 3rd.  All units 
are at the upper floors and have individual entries located off an internal 
corridor.  Refer to exhibits SPR-02 through SPR-06. 

Articulation 10.3.030.040.E.2.e Have articulation such that no individual wall plane that is more than 500 
square feet in area; wall planes must be broken up by changes in plane of 
not less than 1 foot. 
 
RESPONSE: Complies. 
Refer to exhibits SPR-01 and SPR-08.  The proposed design is reflective of 
the scale of the context and the buildings in the CBC-2 district or of urban 
mixed-use, pedestrian oriented development.  The building is articulated 
into primary building planes ranging between 2,500 sf and 4,200 2,800-
5,500 sf separated from each other by 7 feet of depth.  
Each façade plane is further articulated by regularized window alignments 
and material detailing, and a horizontal band of material change at every 
floor.  Windows and accent materials are recessed into the primary fiber 
cement panel material by 2 inches and are contrasting in color to the 
primary façade.   This effectively articulates the facade into planes ranging 
between 35 and 80 square feet.  The regularized rhythm of piers with 
recessed windows, accent panels, and Juliette balconies directly reflects 
the structure and units within in a timeless expression of multi-story mixed-
use buildings of the district.  

Horizontal Line 10.3.030.040.E.2.f Have a horizontal line that breaks up the vertical mass of the building; this 
standard is met by providing a belt course, bellyband, change in materials 
or color, or similar detail that extends the width of all exterior walls. 
 
RESPONSE: Complies 
Refer to exhibit SPR-08.  The ground-floor is differentiated from the upper 
floors with a material change – from plastered brick along the ground-floor 
to fiber-cement panels at the upper floors.  The horizontal band of brick is 
34 inches tall, and is additionally strengthened with a 2-inch-tall recessed 
shadow line and horizontal break.  Each upper floor is further articulated 
with an 7-inch-tall horizontal band at each floor line.   

Attachment 13

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 327 of 342



 
 
 
 

 

5 5 5  S E  M A R T I N  L U T H E R  K I N G  J R  B L V D  
S U I T E  5 0 1 ,  P O R T L A N D ,  O R  9 7 2 1 4  

+  5 0 3  2 2 7  1 2 5 4  
H A C K E R A R C H I T E C T S . C O M  

 

B a s a l t  C o m m o n s  Mu l t i f am i l y   Land Use  Rev iews  Appl i cat ion     P a g e  |  1 9  
 

Multifamily Mixed-
Use 

10.3.030.040.E.2.g Where multifamily use is combined with a nonresidential use (mixed-use), 
the site plan review standards of this section (multifamily dwelling design) 
shall apply.  Additionally, as applicable, nonresidential ground floors shall 
have a weather protection canopy or awning, corner entrance (entrance is 
within 20 feet of corner, for corner buildings) and ground floor detailing 
shown in Figure 2 – Mixed Use. 
 
RESPONSE: Partially Complies 
The proposal combines ground-floor nonresidential (retail) with residential 
use on the upper floors.  Figure 2 illustrates a number of requirements.  The 
proposed design is illustrated in exhibits SPR-01, and SPR-08.  Changes in 
building plane are provided with the 7-foot-deep shifts in the proposed 
massing.  The ground floor is articulated with brick piers and varied-width 
bays to differentiate picture windows vs. retail entries.  All entrances are 
oriented directly to the streets and public R.O.W.  Canopies provide weather 
protection at all storefront and entry openings along Laughlin, E. 3rd, and 
Jefferson.  Primary retail entries are at or within 20 feet of the corner, and 
secondary retail entries/exits will be spaces along the street frontages 
between.  The primary residential entry is approximately 23 feet west of the 
southeast building corner, allowing an active resident lounge and library to 
hold the corner.   

Lighting 10.3.030. 040.F Proposed lighting shall not directly illuminate adjoining properties. 
 
RESPONSE: Complies. 
Exterior lighting on the proposed building is illustrated on exhibits SPR-10 
and SPR-11.  All exterior lights illuminate the immediately adjacent on-site 
spaces, or pedestrian path and entries at the surrounding rights-of-way.  
There are no adjoining properties – all are separated by a public right-of-
way. 

City Engineer 
Approval 

10.3.030. 040.G Detailed construction/design plans for public infrastructure, improvements, 
or rights-of-way affected by a or located within a proposed development 
site shall be approved by the City Engineer prior to granting a building 
permit as a condition of site plan review approval. 
 
RESPONSE: Complies 
Exhibits C-200, C-201, C-300, C-400, and C-500 illustrate all proposed 
plans for the  infrastructure and rights-of-way affected by the proposal.  All 
proposed civil design work is in accordance with city standards.  Curb 
Ramp Design Exception Requests have been provided with this application 
for the ADA curb ramps at Laughlin and at Jefferson. 

Attachment 13

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 328 of 342



 
 
 
 

 

5 5 5  S E  M A R T I N  L U T H E R  K I N G  J R  B L V D  
S U I T E  5 0 1 ,  P O R T L A N D ,  O R  9 7 2 1 4  

+  5 0 3  2 2 7  1 2 5 4  
H A C K E R A R C H I T E C T S . C O M  

 

B a s a l t  C o m m o n s  Mu l t i f am i l y   Land Use  Rev iews  Appl i cat ion     P a g e  |  2 0  
 

Waiver of 
Remonstrance 

10.3.030. 040.H Where applicable, the applicant shall agree to waive any future rights to 
remonstrate against future public improvements, per the provision of 
Article 6.110: Waiver of Right to Remonstrate 
 
RESPONSE: Not applicable. 
Not applicable for this phase of site plan review.  

Deferring Approval 10.3.030. 040.I For all land use actions, when another public entity has primary subject 
matter jurisdiction, the City may defer development approval for those 
subjects to the entity with the jurisdiction. 
 
RESPONSE: Not Applicable 

Improvements 
Required of 
Development 

10.3.030. 040.J The proposal complies with all of the applicable LUDO Chapter 10.10 
standards including, but not limited to : 
  Section 10.10.040 Pedestrian Requirements 
 Section 10.10.050 Bicycle Requirements 
 Section 10.10.060 Street Requirements (Ord. 21-1384; Ord. 19-
 1373). 
 
RESPONSE: Complies  
Refer to exhibits C-200, SPR-01 through SPR-06. 
Section 10.10.040 Pedestrian Requirements: 
The proposed plans are showing a design that includes a minimum 6’ 
pedestrian zone, and 4’ tree wells for a local street frontage. This layout is 
similar to the existing conditions shown on E 2nd Street, and is ideal for 
allowing a wider pedestrian movement. The Section 10.10.040.A.1 is 
unclear as to whether the landscape zone is required to be 5’ in width. 
Section 10.10.050 Bicycle Requirements: On-street bike lanes are not 
required along local streets. The three adjacent streets are all local.   
Section 10.10.060 Street Requirements (Ord. 21-1384; Ord. 19-1373): 
- A traffic impact study , parking demand assessment, and parking 
management plan are provided with this application.  
- Half street improvements are being provided (curb, tree wells, sidewalk) 
 

 
 
  

Attachment 13

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 329 of 342



 
 
 
 

 

5 5 5  S E  M A R T I N  L U T H E R  K I N G  J R  B L V D  
S U I T E  5 0 1 ,  P O R T L A N D ,  O R  9 7 2 1 4  

+  5 0 3  2 2 7  1 2 5 4  
H A C K E R A R C H I T E C T S . C O M  

 

B a s a l t  C o m m o n s  Mu l t i f am i l y   Land Use  Rev iews  Appl i cat ion     P a g e  |  2 1  
 

   10.5.050  CBC Central Business Commercial District, Sub-district 2 Downtown Core – Development Standards 
 

Requirement Code Reference Standard 

Permitted uses 10.5.050.030 
10.5.050.040 

Permitted Outright: 
Food Services 
Professional and admin. Offices and services 
Residential uses as Follows:  CBC-2, All dwellings so long as the ground 
floor is a permitted commercial use 
Retail Uses 
 
 
RESPONSE: Complies. 
Proposed uses are tabulated on exhibit  SPR-02.  The proposed uses of 
multifamily residential, retail (or leasable commercial such as restaurant) 
are permitted outright within the CBC-2 zone, provided that the ground 
floor is all commercial use.  The entire ground floor is commercial use 
except for the lobby and leasing spaces for the apartment entry.  All 
residential units are located on upper floors.  

Setbacks – Front and 
Corner Side 

10.5.050.060 0 ft maximum* 
*Applicant may request up to 15-foot exception where outdoor seating for 
food service is proposed. 
 
RESPONSE: Complies. 
The proposed building footprint is depicted in exhibits SPR-01 and SPR-02.  
The proposed development is built up to the right-of-way for the majority of 
the front and side lot lines (facing Laughlin, E. 3rd, and Jefferson).  The 
building is set back 7 feet from the property line at two locations along E. 
3rd Street.  These are intended to expand the usable sidewalk for outdoor 
retail/café seating, help activate the pedestrian walkways and storefront, 
and further articulate the overall bulk of the building to meet other 
standards.  As illustrated in SPR-01, the upper stories of the building step 
back 1.5 feet from the ground floor to accentuate the ground floor, and 
allow separation from existing power lines at the Jefferson and Laughlin 
street frontages.   

Setbacks – Side and 
Rear 

10.5.050.060 No min or max, except 15 ft. where shares lot line with residential zone* 
*Unless there is a vertical grade change between adjacent zones greater 
than 20 feet. 
 
RESPONSE: Complies 
There is no limit to the proposal.  The property does not share a lot line with 
a residentially zoned property and has less than 20 feet vertical grade 
change between adjacent zone districts. 

Attachment 13

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 330 of 342



 
 
 
 

 

5 5 5  S E  M A R T I N  L U T H E R  K I N G  J R  B L V D  
S U I T E  5 0 1 ,  P O R T L A N D ,  O R  9 7 2 1 4  

+  5 0 3  2 2 7  1 2 5 4  
H A C K E R A R C H I T E C T S . C O M  

 

B a s a l t  C o m m o n s  Mu l t i f am i l y   Land Use  Rev iews  Appl i cat ion     P a g e  |  2 2  
 

Lot Size,  Width,  
Depth 

10.5.050.060 No minimum.  One full City block maximum maintaining all public R.O.W. 
(alleys)  
 
RESPONSE: Complies 
The proposal consolidates three parcels into a single lot, surrounded on all 
frontages by public street and alley, and is being reviewed under a Minor 
Partition/Plat review. An extension of the expiration date of the land-use 
reviews provides the time needed for permitting and scheduling a 
development of this scale.  

Building Height 10.5.050.060 55 ft. maximum, except 75 ft. with a conditional use permit.  
 
RESPONSE: The proposed building height is 60 feet, with the additional 
height being reviewed under a Conditional Use Permit CUP 214-24 

Building Orientation  Primarily toward a street or designated accessway rather than a parking 
area. 
 
RESPONSE: Complies 
Refer to exhibit SPR-01.  The proposed building and all primary building 
entrances are oriented to the surrounding streets.  

Pedestrian Access 10.5.050.070 All building entrances shall have a clear pedestrian connection to the street 
and sidewalk per 10.5.050.070.C  
 
RESPONSE: Complies 
Refer to exhibit SPR-01 and SPR-02.  The building entrances are 
immediately open and adjacent to the surrounding right-of-way at Laughlin, 
E. 3rd, and Jefferson. 

Off-Street Parking 
(Bicycles and 
Vehicles 

10.5.050.070 
10.7 

Refer to following responses and tables for Chapter 7. 

Landscaping Article 6.010 
Landscaping 
Standards 

Required :  None in CBC-2 (10.6.010.070) 
 
RESPONSE: Complies. 
No on-site landscaping required in CBC-2. 

Accessory Uses,  
Buildings and 
Structures 

Article 6.030: 
Accessory 
Development 

RESPONSE: Complies 
No accessory uses, buildings, or structures are proposed in the 
development.  

Access Management Article 6.050 Access 
Management 

RESPONSE: Complies 
Refer to Exhibit C-200.  No curb cuts or driveways are proposed off of 
surrounding streets.  A one-way entry, and one-way exit are proposed to 
the on-site parking area and accessed from the alley.  Each driveway is 
separated from the street property lines by at least 27’-0”.  

  

Attachment 13

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 331 of 342



 
 
 
 

 

5 5 5  S E  M A R T I N  L U T H E R  K I N G  J R  B L V D  
S U I T E  5 0 1 ,  P O R T L A N D ,  O R  9 7 2 1 4  

+  5 0 3  2 2 7  1 2 5 4  
H A C K E R A R C H I T E C T S . C O M  

 

B a s a l t  C o m m o n s  Mu l t i f am i l y   Land Use  Rev iews  Appl i cat ion     P a g e  |  2 3  
 

10.5.050.070 Design Standards – All Development 
 

Requirement Code Reference Standard 

Exterior Elevations 10.5.050.070.A.1, 2 Elevations shall incorporate arch. Features such as offsets, balconies, 
projections, base/wall/cornice design, windows, entries, bays, seating, wall 
articulation, traditional storefront elements, or similar elements to 
preclude large expanses of uninterrupted building surfaces. 

1. Horizontal – At least 3 architectural design features shall be 
incorporated along the horizontal face (side to side) of the 
structure 

2. Vertical – At least 2 architectural features shall be incorporated 
along the vertical (top to bottom) face of the structure 

 
RESPONSE: Complies 
The building elevations are depicted on exhibits SPR-08.  Architectural 
features such as building plane offsets, differentiation of the ground floor, 
varied window and opening infill, Juliet balconies, and detailed storefront 
openings help to articulate the overall façade and give prominence to the 
pedestrian level.   
 
Specifically, the following horizontal and vertical features are used: 
Horizontal Features –  
The whole building length is broken down into 4 building plane changes 
with offsets to more relate to the existing context and adjacent building 
scales. Each building plane is further articulated horizontally with piers 
which mark the rhythm of structure and residential rooms within.  Between 
the piers, regular stacks of varied-width window openings are punctuated 
by accent panels, casements, and Juliet Balconies.   
 
Vertical Features –  
A material change, a 32-inch-tall  masonry ‘belly band’, and metal shadow 
reveal differentiate the ground floor from the upper floors.  Storefront 
window and entry openings are vertically articulated with sills raised 2 feet 
above the sidewalk, and a strong transom and canopy datum 12 feet above 
the sidewalk.  Each upper floor is delineated with an horizontal 7-inch-tall 
fiber cement trim board.  At the roofline, the parapet comprises a fiber 
cement trim board, and an a detailed 16-inch-tall metal coping which sets 
back 12 inches. The additional height request allows the ground floor to 
have a truly civic scale that matches existing patterns.  

Entries  1.  Commercial and Residential – Primary entries shall face a public 
street or designated access drive and shall be accessed from a 
public sidewalk per ‘Pedestrian Walkways’  below.  Secondary 
entries may face parking and loading.  Doors shall not swing into 
R.O.W. 

Attachment 13

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 332 of 342



 
 
 
 

 

5 5 5  S E  M A R T I N  L U T H E R  K I N G  J R  B L V D  
S U I T E  5 0 1 ,  P O R T L A N D ,  O R  9 7 2 1 4  

+  5 0 3  2 2 7  1 2 5 4  
H A C K E R A R C H I T E C T S . C O M  

 

B a s a l t  C o m m o n s  Mu l t i f am i l y   Land Use  Rev iews  Appl i cat ion     P a g e  |  2 4  
 

2. Residential Only – Within CBC-2 – Upper story residential uses 
shall have a shared or individual entry on the first level only.  No 
outside stairways serving upper story dwellings are allowed. 

 
RESPONSE: Complies 
Refer to exhibit SPR-01 and SPR-02.  All commercial space entries are 
primarily located at the corners, and secondary entries will be located 
along the streets.  Residential units at the upper floors are accessed 
through a shared residential lobby and leasing area along E. 3rd, and 
individually entered through internal corridors at the upper floors.  No 
exterior stairways are proposed.  

Pedestrian Walkways  (Abbreviated)  Must be designed for the shortest practical distance from 
the main entrance and the public sidewalk.  Must be distinguished from 
driveways/drive aisles with distinctive paving materials.   
 
RESPONSE: Complies 
Refer to exhibit SPR-01.  Concrete sidewalks extend to the recessed building 
entrances with shortest practical distance and easy access. The pedestrian 
sidewalks are on 3 sides of the building with the vehicle driveway/ aisle 
being located and separated from the building in the north along the alley.  

 
  

Attachment 13

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 333 of 342



 
 
 
 

 

5 5 5  S E  M A R T I N  L U T H E R  K I N G  J R  B L V D  
S U I T E  5 0 1 ,  P O R T L A N D ,  O R  9 7 2 1 4  

+  5 0 3  2 2 7  1 2 5 4  
H A C K E R A R C H I T E C T S . C O M  

 

B a s a l t  C o m m o n s  Mu l t i f am i l y   Land Use  Rev iews  Appl i cat ion     P a g e  |  2 5  
 

10.5.050.080 Design Standards – Sub-district CBC-2 
 

Requirement Code Reference Standard 

Building Exteriors 10.5.050.080.B.1 Buildings may be finished with brick (excluding concrete brick), rock, 
stucco, plaster, cut stone such as marble or granite, and similar materials.  
Wood, metal, and vinyl exteriors are prohibited. 
 
RESPONSE: Complies 
Building materials are noted on the building elevations in exhibit SPR-08 
and SPR-09.  The proposed building is primarily clad with masonry at the 
ground floor, and fiber-cementitious paneling at the upper floors.  No 
wood, metal siding, or vinyl materials are proposed as primary materials.  
The upper floor fiber-cement panels will be arranged and detailed to 
minimize panel edges and joints and mimic a similar scale and 
arrangement of joints that would be seen in commercial plaster or brick 
facades (floor line joints, vertical joints at each pier).  Secondary materials 
will include aluminum storefront; prefinished sheet metal flashings, 
copings, and fascia panels; and durable steel detailing at storefront 
openings and entries. Tertiary materials include reclaimed wood siding, art 
screening, and murals.    

Roofs 10.5.050.080.B.2 Buildings shall have flat roof lines.  Roof lines may include parapets. 
 
RESPONSE: Complies 
Refer to exhibits SPR-08 and SPR-07.  The proposed building utilizes a flat 
roof.  

Minimum Building 
Height 

10.5.050.080.B.3 Building shall have at least 16 feet minimum height, with a façade having 
the architectural appearance of a 2-story structure.   
 
RESPONSE: Complies.  Refer to exhibit SPR-08. 
The proposed building is 60 feet, with a requested additional 5 feet of 
height through Conditional Use Review to further accentuate a 17-foot tall 
ground floor.   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Attachment 13

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 334 of 342



 
 
 
 

 

5 5 5  S E  M A R T I N  L U T H E R  K I N G  J R  B L V D  
S U I T E  5 0 1 ,  P O R T L A N D ,  O R  9 7 2 1 4  

+  5 0 3  2 2 7  1 2 5 4  
H A C K E R A R C H I T E C T S . C O M  

 

B a s a l t  C o m m o n s  Mu l t i f am i l y   Land Use  Rev iews  Appl i cat ion     P a g e  |  2 6  
 

10.7 Parking Standards 
 

Requirement Code Reference Standard 

Allowed motor 
vehicle parking 
reductions,  waivers,  
and exemptions 

10.7.060.010, 
10.7.020.070, 
10.7.020. 040.C 

D. Off-Street Parking Waiver.  Minimum off-street parking spaces required 
by Article 7.060: Minimum and Maximum Off-Street Parking Requirements 
may be waived for the following: 
 1. The property is located within the boundaries of a legally adopted 
parking assessment district that provides district-wide parking facilities. 
2. The property is located within Sub-district CBC-2 as defined in Section 
10.5.050.020: Sub-Districts 
 
RESPONSE: Complies.   
The minimum off-street parking requirement is waived for the CBC-2 
subdistrict.  A Traffic Impact Study and Parking Management and Demand 
Analysis has been provided with this application, showing  that the 
proposed parking management plan supports the proposed development. 

Accessible Parking 10.7.030.050 See Table in 10.7.030.050 Accessible Parking 
 
RESPONSE: Complies 
Refer to exhibit SPR-02.  The proposed development provides 35 on-site 
parking stalls.  2 of the proposed will be accessible, and 1 of the accessible 
stalls will be Van Accessible per code.  

Vehicle Loading and 
Unloading 

10.7.030.070 …..>The CBC – Central Business zone district is exempt from these vehicle 
loading/unloading provisions. 
 
RESPONSE: Complies 
None required.  

Stall and Aisle 
Dimensions 

10.7.030.130 See Figure 7-1 
 
RESPONSE: Complies 
Refer to exhibits SPR-02 and C-200.  The proposed parking lot utilizes 60 
deg. Stalls off a one-way drive aisle.  Parking stalls are 19’ deep and 9’wide, 
with a 16’ one-way drive aisle between.  

Minimum Bicycle 
Parking 

10.7.060.010 
10.7.040.030 

Residential – 1 per dwelling unit 
Retail Trade – 0.3 per 1,000 sf 
Restaurant – 1 per 1,000 sf 
 
RESPONSE: Complies 
All required residential bike parking in the proposed development is shown 
in all residential units on the upper floors. Long-term bike parking for the 
possible future commercial tenants will be provided in their respective 
tenant spaces. 8 short-term bike parking  spaces are provided along the E. 
3rd Street sidewalk.  Refer to submitted sheets SPR-01 through  SPR-07. 

 

Attachment 13

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 335 of 342



 
 
 
 

 

5 5 5  S E  M A R T I N  L U T H E R  K I N G  J R  B L V D  
S U I T E  5 0 1 ,  P O R T L A N D ,  O R  9 7 2 1 4  

+  5 0 3  2 2 7  1 2 5 4  
H A C K E R A R C H I T E C T S . C O M  

 

B a s a l t  C o m m o n s  Mu l t i f am i l y   Land Use  Rev iews  Appl i cat ion     P a g e  |  2 7  
 

10.10 Improvements Required with Development 
 

Requirement Code Reference Standard 

Timing of 
Improvements 

10.10.030A A.  General. Except sidewalks which are described below in subsection B, 
all improvements required by the standards in this Chapter shall be 
installed per the provisions of Section 10.9.040.060(H): Installation of 
Required Improvements. The construction, installation, placement, or 
addition of one or more dwelling units on a lot, including one that replaces 
another dwelling or structure, shall initiate the requirement of full public 
improvements, including street, curb, sidewalk, and storm sewer, except 
when the existing dwelling is destroyed by an act of God and the 
replacement dwelling has no more than 110% of the total square footage of 
the original. 
 
RESPONSE: Complies.   
Full public improvements including curbs, sidewalks, and utilities upgrades 
are provided as required to accommodate the new development.  Refer to 
exhibits C-300 through C-303, and C-400. 

 10.10.030B B.  Sidewalks. The timing of the installation of sidewalks shall be as follows: 
Sidewalks and planted areas along arterial and collector streets shall be 
installed with street improvements.  Sidewalks along local streets shall be 
installed per the requirements of any final plat approval, in conjunction with 
development of a particular site unless postponed with City approval. 
Where sidewalks on local streets abut common areas, drainage ways, or 
other publicly owned areas, the sidewalks and planted areas shall be 
installed with street improvements. 
 
RESPONSE: Complies.   
Full public improvements including curbs and sidewalks upgrades are 
provided as required to accommodate the new development.  Refer to 
exhibits C-300 through C-303, and C-400. 

 10.10.030C C.  Phased Development. Where specific approval for a phasing plan has 
been granted for a planned development and/or subdivision, improvements 
may similarly be  phased in accordance with that plan. 
 
RESPONSE: Not applicable.   
No phased development is proposed. 

Attachment 13

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 336 of 342



 
 
 
 

 

5 5 5  S E  M A R T I N  L U T H E R  K I N G  J R  B L V D  
S U I T E  5 0 1 ,  P O R T L A N D ,  O R  9 7 2 1 4  

+  5 0 3  2 2 7  1 2 5 4  
H A C K E R A R C H I T E C T S . C O M  

 

B a s a l t  C o m m o n s  Mu l t i f am i l y   Land Use  Rev iews  Appl i cat ion     P a g e  |  2 8  
 

 10.10.030D D.  Annexation. As part of any development, including, but not limited to, 
new construction, land division, extension of City services, rezone, or a 
change of use, of a parcel inside the urban growth boundary but outside the 
City limits, the City may require annexation or the signing of a consent to 
annexation and a waiver of the one year limitation on consent to 
annexation. 
 
RESPONSE: Not applicable. 
The development is within the current City limits. 

 10.10.030E E.  Waivers of Remonstrance. Developments of other than single-family 
dwellings or duplexes may be able to use the provisions of Article 6.110: 
Waiver of Right to Remonstrate, in lieu of immediate installation of public 
improvements. 
 
RESPONSE: Not applicable.  

Pedestrian 
Requirements 

10.10.040A A.  Sidewalks. Sidewalks shall typically be required along both sides of all 
arterial, collector, and local streets as follows. The approving authority may 
reduce the sidewalk requirement to one side of the street where significant 
topographic barriers exist (such as west Scenic Drive), or in other 
nonresidential areas where the developer can demonstrate that sidewalks 
are not necessary on both sides of the street. 
 1.Local. Sidewalks shall be a minimum of 5 feet wide, and may be 
 separated from curbs by a planting area that provides at least five 
 feet of separation. 
 2.  Collectors. Sidewalks along collector streets shall be a 
 minimum of 5 feet wide and may be required to be separated 
 from curbs by a planting area a minimum of 5 feet wide between 
 the sidewalk and curb. 
 3.  Arterials. Sidewalks along arterial streets may be required to 
 be separated from curbs by a planted area a minimum of 10 feet 
 wide between the sidewalk and curb, and landscaped with trees 
 and plant materials approved by the City. The sidewalks shall be a 
 minimum of 5 feet wide if separated from the street by a 
 10-foot planting area; otherwise the sidewalk shall be 10 feet 
 wide. 
 
RESPONSE: Complies. 
Refer to exhibits C-200 and C-201.  All three streets surrounding the site are 
classified as Local streets.  Public improvements are provided within City 
standards as illustrated on C-200 and detailed on C-201, showing a 
pedestrian zone varying between 6 and 6.5 feet, a 4 foot furnishing and tree 
well zone, and a 6 inch curb.   

Attachment 13

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 337 of 342



 
 
 
 

 

5 5 5  S E  M A R T I N  L U T H E R  K I N G  J R  B L V D  
S U I T E  5 0 1 ,  P O R T L A N D ,  O R  9 7 2 1 4  

+  5 0 3  2 2 7  1 2 5 4  
H A C K E R A R C H I T E C T S . C O M  

 

B a s a l t  C o m m o n s  Mu l t i f am i l y   Land Use  Rev iews  Appl i cat ion     P a g e  |  2 9  
 

 10.10.040B.1 B.  Connectivity. Safe and convenient pedestrian facilities that strive to 
minimize travel distance to the greatest extent practicable shall be 
provided in conjunction with new development within and between new 
subdivisions, planned developments, commercial developments, industrial 
areas, residential areas, and neighborhood activity centers such as schools 
and parks, as follows: 
 1. For the purposes of this Chapter, "safe and convenient" means 
 pedestrian facilities that are reasonably free from hazards which 
 would interfere with or discourage pedestrian travel for short 
 trips, that provide a direct route of travel between destinations, 
 and that meet the travel needs of pedestrians considering 
 destination and length of trip. 
 
RESPONSE: Complies. 
Safe and convenient pedestrian access is provided from the site to adjacent 
developments by an existing network of public sidewalks, crosswalks, and 
right-of-way improvements with this development.  Refer to C-200.  

 10.10.040B.2  2.  To meet the intent of this subsection B, separated pedestrian 
 rights-of-way connecting non-through streets or passing through 
 unusually long or oddly shaped blocks shall be a minimum of 18 
 feet wide. When these connections are less than 220 feet long 
 (measuring both the on-site and the off-site portions of the path) 
 and they directly serve 10 or fewer on-site dwellings, the paved 
 improvement shall be no less than 6 feet wide. Connections that 
 are either longer than 220 feet or serve more than 10 on-site 
 dwellings shall have a minimum 10-foot wide paving width, or 
 wider as specified in Section 10.10.050(C): Pedestrian and Bicycle 
 Facilities Widths. 
 
RESPONSE:  Not applicable. 

Attachment 13

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 338 of 342



 
 
 
 

 

5 5 5  S E  M A R T I N  L U T H E R  K I N G  J R  B L V D  
S U I T E  5 0 1 ,  P O R T L A N D ,  O R  9 7 2 1 4  

+  5 0 3  2 2 7  1 2 5 4  
H A C K E R A R C H I T E C T S . C O M  

 

B a s a l t  C o m m o n s  Mu l t i f am i l y   Land Use  Rev iews  Appl i cat ion     P a g e  |  30  
 

 10.10.040B.3 3. Internal pedestrian circulation shall be encouraged in new developments 
by clustering buildings, constructing convenient pedestrian walkways, 
and/or constructing skywalks where appropriate. Pedestrian walkways shall 
be provided in accordance with the following standards: 

a) The on-site pedestrian circulation system shall connect the 
sidewalk on adjacent street(s) to the main entrance of the 
primary structure on the site to minimize out-of-direction 
pedestrian travel. 

b) Walkways shall be provided to connect the on-site pedestrian 
circulation system with existing or planned pedestrian facilities 
which abut the site but are not adjacent to the streets abutting 
the site. 

c) Walkways shall be as direct as possible and avoid unnecessary 
meandering. 

d) Walkway/driveway crossings shall be minimized, and internal 
parking lot circulation design shall maintain ease of access for 
pedestrians from abutting streets and pedestrian facilities. 

e) Walkways shall be separated from vehicle parking or 
maneuvering areas by grade, different paving material, or 
landscaping. They shall be constructed in accordance with the 
sidewalk standards adopted by the City Engineer. (This provision 
does not require a separated walkway system to collect drivers 
and passengers from cars that have parked on site unless an 
unusual parking lot hazard exists). 

 
RESPONSE:  Complies. 
Refer to exhibits SPR-01 and C-200.  The main entry of the building, and of 
commercial tenants, are directly adjacent and oriented to public sidewalks 
included in public improvements with the proposal.  Walkways directly 
align and connect to surrounding public sidewalks and are as direct as 
possible.  No walkway/driveway crossings are proposed, and all internal 
walkways are separated from vehicle parking and maneuvering by grade 
and/or paving material in the parking lot. 

 10.10.040C C.  Trail Linkages. Where a development site is traversed by or adjacent to a 
future trail linkage identified within The Dalles Transportation System Plan, 
Comprehensive Plan, or Riverfront Plan, improvement of the trail linkage 
shall occur concurrent with development. Dedication of the trail to the 
public shall be provided in accordance with Section 10.10.110(C): Future 
Trail Linkages. 
 
RESPONSE: Not applicable. 
The development is not traversed by or adjacent to a future trail linkage. 

Attachment 13

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 339 of 342



 
 
 
 

 

5 5 5  S E  M A R T I N  L U T H E R  K I N G  J R  B L V D  
S U I T E  5 0 1 ,  P O R T L A N D ,  O R  9 7 2 1 4  

+  5 0 3  2 2 7  1 2 5 4  
H A C K E R A R C H I T E C T S . C O M  

 

B a s a l t  C o m m o n s  Mu l t i f am i l y   Land Use  Rev iews  Appl i cat ion     P a g e  |  3 1  
 

 10.10.040D D. Pedestrian Network. To provide for orderly development of an effective 
pedestrian network, pedestrian facilities installed concurrent with 
development of a site shall be extended through the site to the edge of 
adjacent property(ies). 
 
RESPONSE:  Complies. 
Refer to exhibits SPR-01 and C-200.  All pedestrian facilities are 
immediately adjacent to and connect to the site boundary and ground-floor 
building wall or entries. 

 10.10.040E E. Off-Site Improvements. To ensure improved access between a 
development site and an existing developed facility such as a commercial 
center, school, park, or trail system, the approving authority may require 
off-site pedestrian facility improvements concurrent with development. 
 
RESPONSE: Not applicable. 

Bicycle Requirements 10.10.050A A.  Bike Lanes. On-street bike lanes shall be required on all new arterial and 
major collector streets, and with improvements and widening of such 
streets, and constructed at the time of street improvements. 
 
RESPONSE: Not applicable.   
All surrounding streets are classified as Local Streets. 

 10.10.050B B. Connectivity. Safe and convenient bicycle facilities that strive to minimize 
travel distance to the greatest extent practicable shall be provided in 
conjunction with new development within and between new subdivisions, 
planned developments, commercial developments, industrial areas, 
residential areas, and neighborhood activity centers such as schools and 
parks. To provide for orderly development of an effective bicycle network, 
bicycle facilities installed concurrent with development of a site shall be 
extended through the site to the edge of adjacent property(ies). 
 1. For the purposes of this Chapter, "safe and convenient" means 
 bicycle facilities which are reasonably free from hazards that 
 would interfere with or discourage bicycle travel for short trips, 
 provide a direct route of travel between destinations, and meet 
 the travel needs of bicyclists considering destination and length 
 of trip. 
 2.  Bicycle/pedestrian rights-of-way connecting non-through 
 streets or passing through unusually long or oddly shaped blocks 
 shall be a minimum of 18 feet wide. 
 
RESPONSE: Complies.   
The development and provided public improvements are within City street 
and sidewalk design standards.  Existing shared-roadway bike facilities are 
maintained on all three street frontages.  No new through-block bicycle or 
pedestrian connection is proposed, while access via an existing alley is 
maintained. 

Attachment 13

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 340 of 342



 
 
 
 

 

5 5 5  S E  M A R T I N  L U T H E R  K I N G  J R  B L V D  
S U I T E  5 0 1 ,  P O R T L A N D ,  O R  9 7 2 1 4  

+  5 0 3  2 2 7  1 2 5 4  
H A C K E R A R C H I T E C T S . C O M  

 

B a s a l t  C o m m o n s  Mu l t i f am i l y   Land Use  Rev iews  Appl i cat ion     P a g e  |  3 2  
 

 10.10.050C C.  Pedestrian and Bicycle Facilities Widths. Adequate widths for 
pedestrian/bicycle facilities shall be provided in accordance with the 
following standards: 

1. Eight-foot wide bike paths should be used where long-term 
bicycle and pedestrian usage is expected to be relatively low (a 
neighborhood facility rather than a community-wide facility) and 
with proper alignment to ensure adequate sight distance. 

2. Ten feet shall be used as a standard width for two-way bike 
paths. 

3. 3. Twelve-foot wide bike paths shall be provided in areas with 
high bicycle volumes or multiple use by bicyclists, pedestrians 
and joggers. 

 
RESPONSE: Complies.   
Existing bike facilities are maintained in public improvements in all three 
surrounding streets. 

Street Requirements 10.10.060A – 
10.10.060K 

RESPONSE: Complies.   
Refer to Traffic Impact Study and Update, Parking Demand Assessment, 
and Parking Management Plan reports with this application.  No new street 
development is proposed, and existing public streets are maintained with 
this application. 

Public Utility 
Extensions 

10.10.070 RESPONSE: Complies.   
Refer to exhibit C-400 Utility Plan.  The proposed development provides 
public water, sanitary sewer, and storm drainage and is connected to 
existing public utility lines.  All connections to, or modifications or 
extensions of public utilities in this proposal will be constructed concurrent 
with the proposed development.  All utilities are designed to conform to City 
Standards, and are further illustrated in exhibits C-500 through C-502.  No 
private utility facilities are proposed. 

Public Improvement 
Procedures 

10.10.080 RESPONSE:  Procedural.  All public improvements with this proposal 
conform to City standards and applicable policies.  All improvements will 
be warranted for a full year from completion. 

Final Inspection 
Procedure 

10.10.090 RESPONSE:  Procedural.  All public improvements with this proposal 
conform to City standards and applicable policies.  All improvements will 
be warranted for a full year from completion. 

Attachment 13

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 341 of 342



 
 
 
 

 

5 5 5  S E  M A R T I N  L U T H E R  K I N G  J R  B L V D  
S U I T E  5 0 1 ,  P O R T L A N D ,  O R  9 7 2 1 4  

+  5 0 3  2 2 7  1 2 5 4  
H A C K E R A R C H I T E C T S . C O M  

 

B a s a l t  C o m m o n s  Mu l t i f am i l y   Land Use  Rev iews  Appl i cat ion     P a g e  |  3 3  
 

Franchise Utility 
Installations 

10.10.100 RESPONSE:  Complies.  Refer to exhibits C-101 and C-400.   
Franchise utilities proposed include electrical power, natural gas, 
telecommunication, and cable television.  Franchise utilities are accessed 
from existing gas lines and electrical overhead lines.  All distribution 
facilities are located underground on-site, except for existing overhead 
power and low-voltage lines along all three street frontages and within the 
alley.  The applicant and general contractor are in contact with the 
electrical power provider to coordinate construction and future plans for 
the existing power lines.   
Existing street lighting is maintained on all three frontages with the 
proposal and is compliant with the requirements for Local Streets. 

Land For Public 
Purposes 

10.10.110 RESPONSE: Not applicable. 
No land for public purpose is proposed with this application. 

Mail Delivery 
Facilities 

10.10.120 RESPONSE:  Complies. 
A central mail facility is provided within the residential lobby and amenity  
space.  All mailboxes and parcel lockers , including mailboxes for 
commercial tenants, will be at this area within the building.   

Transit Requirements 10.10.130 RESPONSE: Not appliable. 
The proposal does not include and is not adjacent to a planned or existing 
transit stop.   

 

Attachment 13

Planning Commission Agenda Packet 
August 15 | Page 342 of 342


	Att 6.pdf
	RESOLUTION NO. PC 623A-24
	Denial of Appeal Application 037-24, Bob Wickwire, and affirming the Community Development Director’s approval of Site Plan Review 544-24, requesting approval to construct 116 for-rent apartments, over +/-9,500 sf of retail space, resident amenities a...

	Att 7.pdf
	RESOLUTION NO. PC 623B-24
	Approval of Appeal Application 037-24, Bob Wickwire and reversing the Community Development Director’s approval of Site Plan Review 544-24, requesting approval to construct 116 for-rent apartments, over +/-9,500 sf of retail space, resident amenities ...

	Att 8.pdf
	August 1, 2024
	Certificate of Mailing.pdf
	COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT


	Att 10.pdf
	NOTICE OF ADMINISTRATIVE DECISION
	SPR 544-24


	Att 12.pdf
	June 10, 2024

	Att 13.pdf
	Project Description
	Conditional Use Review Requests
	24-0529_SPR544-24_SPR Documents Rev 1.pdf
	1 - CIVIL
	C-101 EXISTING CONDITIONS PLAN
	C-102 DEMO PLAN
	C-200 SITE PLAN
	C-201 FRONTAGE SECTION
	C-202 TURNING MOVEMENT
	C-300 GRADING PLAN
	C-301 E 3RD ST PLAN AND PROFILE
	C-302 JEFFERSON ST & LAUGHLIN ST PLAN AND PROFILE
	C-303 CURB RAMP PLAN AND PROFILE
	C-304 EARTHWORK PLAN
	C-400 UTILITY PLAN
	C-500 SITE STANDARD DETAILS
	C-501 CITY STANDARD DETAILS
	C-502 CITY STANDARD DETAILS
	C-600 ERSC PLANS
	C-601 ERSC DETAILS

	2 - LANDSCAPE
	L-200 - MATERIALS PLAN
	L-300 - LAYOUT PLAN
	L-500 - PLANTING PLAN
	L-600 - IRRIGATION PLAN
	L-710 - SITE DETAILS
	L-750 - PLANTING DETAILS
	L-760 - IRRIGATION DETAILS

	3 - ARCHITECTURAL
	SPR-01 SITE PLAN
	SPR-02 LEVEL 01 PLAN
	SPR-03 LEVEL 02 FLOOR PLAN
	SPR-04 LEVEL 3 FLOOR PLAN
	SPR-05 LEVEL 4 FLOOR PLAN
	SPR-06 LEVEL 05 FLOOR PLAN
	SPR-07 ROOF PLAN
	SPR-08 EXTERIOR ELEVATIONS
	SPR-09 VIEWS AND  MATERIALITY
	SPR-10 SITE LIGHTING PLAN
	SPR-11 PHOTOMETRIC PLAN


	24-0529_SPR544-24_LUMINAIRE CUT SHEETS PACKAGE.pdf
	TITLE PAGE
	TYPE SD01
	TYPE SL01
	TITLE SW01 SW02

	24-0507 - Basalt Commons - Parking Management Plan and Demand Assessment(v4).pdf
	Contents
	1.0 Executive Summary
	1.1 Estimating Demand
	1.2 Assessment of Adjacent Parking Supply

	2.0 Purpose
	3.0 Parking Demand by Individual Land Use
	3.1 Base Level Parking Demand Ratios – Minimums, Recommended & Waiver
	Parking Credits and Reductions

	3.2  Quantifying Parking Stalls Based on Programmed Land Uses (Stacked Peak Demand)

	4.0 Shared Parking Analysis
	4.1 Parking Demand Analysis – Efficiency of a Shared Parking Supply
	Parking Demand Model Operating Assumptions:
	Shared Demand Model

	4.2 Parking Demand Summary

	5.0 Parking Occupancy Study
	5.1  Measuring Performance
	5.2 Study Area
	5.3 Methodology
	Inventory
	Data Collection Dates
	Data Collection Process

	5.4 Format of the Parking Supply
	On-street
	Off-street

	5.5 Parking Occupancies
	On-Street
	Off-Street
	Heat Maps
	Occupancies During Project’s Peak Demand – Weekday Evening


	5.6  Occupancy Data Summary

	6.0 Assessment Summary
	Appendix A – Weekday/Weekend Off-street Occupancies by Lot
	Appendix B – Off-street Site by Land Use Category





